Specification Volume 1

Specification of the Bluetooth System

Wireless connections made easy



Bluetooth.

v1.0 B December 1st 1999

AFFLT0293229 Samsung Ex. 1316 p. 1

AFFLT0293230 Samsung Ex. 1316 p. 2

	Creatification		
		Bluetooth	
Responsible	e-mail address	Status	
BLUETOOTH DOC	Date / Day-Month-Year N.B. 01 Dec 99	Document No. 1.C.47/1.0 B	
		page 3 of 1082	

of the Bluetooth System

Version 1.0 B

page 4 of 1882

Bluetooth.

Revision History

The Revision History is shown in Appendix I on page 868

Contributors

The persons who contributed to this specification are listed in Appendix II on page 879.

Web Site

This specification can also be found on the Bluetooth website: http://www.bluetooth.com

Disclaimer and copyright notice

THIS SPECIFICATION IS PROVIDED "AS IS" WITH NO WARRANTIES WHATSOEVER, INCLUDING ANY WARRANTY OF MERCHANTABILITY, NONINFRINGEMENT, FITNESS FOR ANY PARTICULAR PURPOSE, OR ANY WARRANTY OTHERWISE ARISING OUT OF ANY PROPOSAL, SPECI-FICATION OR SAMPLE. All liability, including liability for infringement of any proprietary rights, relating to use of information in this document is disclaimed.

No license, express or implied, by estoppel or otherwise, to any intellectual property rights are granted herein.

Copyright © 1999

Telefonaktiebolaget LM Ericsson, International Business Machines Corporation, Intel Corporation, Nokia Corporation, Toshiba Corporation.

*Third-party brands and names are the property of their respective owners.

page 5 of 1082

Bluetooth.

MASTER TABLE OF CONTENTS

For the Bluetooth Profiles, See Volume 2.

Part A Volume 1 (1:2)

RADIO SPECIFICATION

Conte	ente	s[A] 17
	-	Scope
	2	Frequency Bands and Channel Arrangement
	3	Transmitter Characteristics
	4	Receiver Characteristics
	5	Appendix A [A] 28
	6	Appendix B

Part B

Volume 1 (1:2)

BASEBAND SPECIFICATION

Contents	
1	General Description
2	Physical Channel
3	Physical Links
4	Packets
5	Error Correction
6	Logical Channels
7	Data Whitening
8	Transmit/Receive Routines
9	Transmit/Receive Timing
10	Channel Control
11	Hop Selection
12	Bluetooth Audio
13	Bluetooth Addressing
14	Bluetooth Security
15	List of Figures
16	List of Tables
15	List of Tables

page 6 of 1082

Bluetooth.

Part C

Volume 1 (1:2)

LINK MANAGER PROTOCOL

Contents	
1	General
2	Format of LMP[C] 192
3	The Procedure Rules and PDUs[c] 193
4	Connection Establishment
5	Summary of PDUs[C] 226
6	Test Modes
7	Error Handling[C] 239
8	List of Figures[C] 241
9	List of Tables

Part D

6

Volume 1 (1:2)

LOGICAL LINK CONTROL AND ADAPTATION PROTOCOL SPECIFICATION

Contents		\$7
1	Introduction	19
2	General Operation	53
3	State Machine	58
4	Data Packet Format	72
5	Signalling	75
6	Configuration Parameter Options	39
7	Service Primitives	35
8	Summary	13
9	References	14
10	List of Figures	15
11	List of Tables	16
Ten	ms and Abbreviations	17
App	pendix A: Configuration MSCs[D] 31	8
App	pendix B: Implementation Guidelines	21

page 7 of 1082

Bluetooth.

Volume 1 (1:2)

SERVICE DISCOVERY PROTOCOL (SDP)

Contents		[E]	325
1	Introduction	(E)	327
2	Overview	[E]	330
3	Data Representation	(E)	341
4	Protocol Description	[E]	344
5	Service Attribute Definitions	[E]	358
App	endix A- Background Information	(E)	370
Ap	pendix B - Example SDP Transactions	[E]	371

Part F:1

Part E

Volume 1 (1:2)

RFCOMM WITH TS 07.10

****	[F:1] 387
Introduction	[F:1] 389
RFCOMM Service Overview	(F:1) 391
Service Interface Description	[F:1] 395
TS 07.10 Subset Supported by RFCOMM	[F:1] 396
TS 07.10 Adaptations for RFCOMM	(F:1) 398
Flow Control	[F:1] 403
Interaction with Other Entities	[F:1] 405
References	[F:1] 408
Terms and Abbreviations	[F:1] 409
	Introduction

Part F:2

Volume 1 (1:2)

IrDA INTEROPERABILITY

Contents	\$ +>+>+>+>+>+>+>+>+>+>+>+>+>+>+>+>+>+>+>	[F:2]	413
-	Introduction	[F:2]	414
2	OBEX Object and Protocol	(F:2)	417
3	OBEX over RFCOMM	[F:2]	421
4	OBEX over TCP/IP	[F:2]	423
5	Bluetooth Application Profiles using OBEX	(F:2)	425
6	References	[F:2]	427
7	List of Acronyms and Abbreviations	[F:2]	428

page 8 of 1082

Bluetooth.

Part F:3

Volume 1 (1:2)

TELEPHONY CONTROL PROTOCOL SPECIFICATION 1 2 3 4 Connectionless TCS (CL) [F:3] 455 Supplementary Services (SS)......[F:3] 456 5 Message formats[F:3] 459 6 7 Message coding......[F:3] 471 Message Error handling......[F:3] 487 8 9

Part F:4

8

Volume 1 (1:2)

INTEROPERAE	ILITY REQUIREMENTS FOR BLUETOOTH AS A WAP BEARER
Content	s
1	Introduction
2	The Use of WAP In the Bluetooth Environment[F:4] 500
3	WAP Services Overview
4	WAP in the Bluetooth Piconet
5	Interoperability Requirements
6	Service Discovery
7	References

page 9 of 1082

Bluetooth.

Part H:1 Volume 1 (2:2) HOST CONTROLLER INTERFACE FUNCTIONAL SPECIFICATION 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8

Part H:2

Volume 1 (2:2)

HCI USB TRANSPORT LAYER

Contents] 761
1	Overview] 762
2	USB Endpoint Expectations	1764
3	Class Code] 771
4	Device Firmware Upgrade [H:2	1772
5	Limitations	1773

Part H:3

Volume 1 (2:2)

HCI RS232 TRANSPORT LAYER

Conte	ent	s	77
	-	General	78
	2	Overview	79
	3	Negotiation Protocol[H:3] 7	'80
	4	Packet Transfer Protocol [H:3] 7	/84
	5	Using delimiters with COBS for synchronization [H:3] 7	85
	6	Using RTS/CTS for Synchronization	88
	7	References[H:3] 7	'94

28 November 1999

page 10 of 1082

Bluetooth.

Part H:4

Volume 1 (2:2)

HCI UART TRANSPORT LAYER

Contents		[H:4] 7	97
1	General	[H:4] 7	98
2	Protocol	[H:4] 7	99
3	RS232 Settings	(H:4) 8	00
4	Error Recovery	[H:4] 8	01

Part I:1

Volume 1 (2:2)

BLUETOOTH TEST MODE

10

Contents		05
- the second sec	General Description	06
2	Test Scenarios	80
3	Outline of Proposed LMP Messages	17
4	References[I:1] 8	19

Part I:2

Volume 1 (2:2)

BLUETOOTH COMPLIANCE REQUIREMENTS

С	ontent	s ,	
	1	Scope	
	2	Terms Used	
	3	Legal Aspects	
	4	The Value of the Bluetooth Brand[I:2] 829	
	5	The Bluetooth Qualification Program	
	6	Bluetooth License Requirements for Products[I:2] 832	
	7	Bluetooth License Provisions for Early Products[1:2] 836	
	8	Bluetooth Brand License Provisions for Special Products & Marketing	
	9	Recommendations Concerning Information about a Product's Bluetooth Capabilities	
	10	Quality Management, Configuration Management and Version Control	
	11	Appendix A – Example of a "Bluetooth Capability Statement"	
	12	Appendix B - Marketing Names of Bluetooth Profiles [I:2] 841	

page 11 of 1082

Bluetooth.

Part I:3	Volume 1 (2:2)
1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 -	

TEST CONTROL INTERFACE

Part K

Contents	;
1	Introduction
2	General Description
3	Test Configurations
4	TCI-L2CAP Specification[I:3] 856
5	Abbreviations[1:3] 866

Profiles - s	ee Volume 2

Appendix I	Volume 1 (2:	:2)
REVISION HIST	ORY	68
Appendix II	Volume 1 (2:	:2)
CONTRIBUTOR	RS	81
Appendix III	Volume 1 (2:	:2)
ACRONYMS AI	ND ABBREVIATIONS	91
Appendix IV	Volume 1 (2:	:2)
SAMPLE DATA		
Content	9 [Wily] 9	01
1	Encryption Sample Data	02
2	Frequency Hopping Sample Data—Mandatory	
	Scheme	37
3	Access Code Sample Data	50
4	HEC and Packet Header Sample Data	53
5	CRC Sample Data	54
6	Complete Sample Packets	55
7	Whitening Sequence Sample Data	57
8	FEC Sample Data	60
9	Encryption Key Sample Data	61

28 November 1999

page 12 of 1082

Bluetooth.

A CONTRACTOR OF	
Appendix V	Volume 1 (2:2)

BLUETOOTH AU	IDIO		
Contents		[@:V]	987

Appendix VI	Volume 1 (2:2)

BASEBAND TIMERS

Contents		[@:VI]	995
1	Baseband Timers	.[@:VI]	996

Appendix VII

Volume 1 (2:2)

OPTIONAL PAGING SCHEMES

Contents		[@:VII]	1001
1	General	.[@:VII]	1003
2	Optional Paging Scheme I	.[@:VII]	1004

Appendix VIII

Volume 1 (2:2)

BLUETOOTH ASSIGNED NUMBERS

Contents		[@:VIII]	1011
1	Bluetooth Baseband	.[@:VIII]	1012
2	Link Manager Protocol (LMP)	.[@:VIII]	1018
3	Logical Link Control and Adaptation Protocol	.[@:VIII]	1019
4	Service Discovery Protocol (SDP)	.[@:VIII]	1020
5	References	[@:VIII]	1028
6	Terms and Abbreviations	[@:VIII]	1029
7	List of Figures	[@:VIII]	1030
8	List of Tables	.[@:VIII]	1031

page 13 of 1082

Bluetooth.

Appendix IX Volume 1 (2:2) MESSAGE SEQUENCE CHARTS Contents 1 Introduction [@:IX] 1035 [@:IX] 1037

- 2 ACL Connection Establishment and Detachment .[@:IX] 1042 3 4 Optional Activities After ACL Connection SCO Connection Establishment and Detachment [@:IX] 1059 5 6 7 8 9
- Alphabetical Index

1077

page 14 of 1082

Bluetooth.

14

28 November 1999

AFFLT0293242 Samsung Ex. 1316 p. 14



AFFLT0293244 Samsung Ex. 1316 p. 16

page 17 of 1082

Radio Specification

Bluetooth.

CONTENTS

şm	Scoj	Scope			
2	Freq	Frequency Bands and Channel Arrangement			
3	Tran	smitter Characteristics			
	3.1	Modulation Characteristics			
	3,2	Spurious Emissions			
		3.2.2 Out-of-Band Spurious Emission			
	3.3	Radio Frequency Tolerance			
4	Rece	viver Characteristics			
	4.1	Actual Sensitivity Level			
	4.2	Interference Performance			
	4.3	Out-of-band Blocking			
	4.4	Intermodulation Characteristics			
	4.5	4.5 Maximum Usable Level			
	4.6	6 Spurious Emissions			
	4.7	Receiver Signal Strength Indicator (optional)			
	4.8	1.8 Reference Interference-signal Definition			
ŝ	App	pendix A			
6	Appendix B				

page 18 of 1082

Radio Specification

Bluetooth.

1 SCOPE

The Bluetooth transceiver is operating in the 2.4 GHz ISM band. This specification defines the requirements for a Bluetooth transceiver operating in this unlicensed band.

Requirements are defined for two reasons:

- Provide compatibility between the radios used in the system
- Define the quality of the system

The Bluetooth transceiver shall fulfil the stated requirements under the operating conditions specified in Appendix A and Appendix B. The Radio parameters must be measured according to the methods described in the RF Test Specification.

This specification is based on the established regulations for Europe, Japan and North America. The standard documents listed below are only for information, and are subject to change or revision at any time.

Europe (except France and Spain):

Approval Standards: European Telecommunications Standards Institute, ETSI Documents: ETS 300-328, ETS 300-826

Approval Authority: National Type Approval Authorities

France:

L

Approval Standards: La Reglementation en France por les Equipements fonctionnant dans la bande de frequences 2.4 GHz "RLAN-Radio Local Area Network"

Documents: SP/DGPT/ATAS/23, ETS 300-328, ETS 300-826

Approval Authority: Direction Generale des Postes et Telecommunications Note: A new R&TTE EU Directive will be in effect by March 2000, with consequent effects on the manufacturer's declaration of conformity and free circulation of products within the EU.

Spain:

Approval Standards: Supplemento Del Numero 164 Del Boletin Oficial Del Estado (Published 10 July 91, Revised 25 June 93)

Documents: ETS 300-328, ETS 300-826 Approval Authority: Cuadro Nacional De Atribucion De Frecuesias

Japan:

Approval Standards: Association of Radio Industries and Businesses, ARIB Documents: RCR STD-33A Approval Authority: Ministry of Post and Telecommunications, MPT Note: The Japanese rules are in revision. Decisions on the revision will take place in Q2 1999.

29 November 1999

North Americas:

Approval Standards: Federal Communications Commission, FCC, USA Documents: CFR47, Part 15, Sections 15.205, 15.209, 15.247

Approval Standards: Industry Canada, IC, Canada Documents: GL36

Approval Authority: FCC (USA), Industry Canada (Canada)

page 19 of 1082

Radio Specification

Bluetooth.

2 FREQUENCY BANDS AND CHANNEL ARRANGEMENT

The Bluetooth system is operating in the 2.4 GHz ISM (Industrial Scientific Medicine) band. In a vast majority of countries around the world the range of this frequency band is 2400 - 2483.5 MHz. Some countries have however national limitations in the frequency range. In order to comply with these national limitations, special frequency hopping algorithms have been specified for these countries. It should be noted that products implementing the reduced frequency band will not work with products implementing the full band. The products implementing the reduced frequency band use therefore be considered as local versions for a single market. The Bluetooth SIG has launched a campaign to overcome these difficulties and reach total harmonization of the frequency band.

Geography	Regulatory Range	RF Channels	
USA, Europe and most other countries ¹⁾	2.400-2.4835 GHz	f=2402+k MHz, k=0,,78	
Spain ²⁾	2.445-2.475 GHz	f=2449+k MHz, k=0,,22	
France ³⁾	2.4465-2.4835 GHz	f=2454+k MHz, k=0,,22	

Table 2.1: Operating frequency bands

- Note 1. Japan, the MPT announced at the beginning of October 1999 that the Japanese frequency band would be extended to 2400-2483.5 MHz, effective immediately. Testing of devices by TELEC may however need some time to change. The previously specified special frequency-hopping algorithm covering 2471-2497 MHz remains as an option.
- Note 2. There is a proposal in Spain to extend the national frequency band to 2403-2483.5 MHz. The Bluetooth SIG has approached the authorities in Spain to get a full harmonization. The outcome is expected by the beginning of year 2000.
- Note 3. The Bluetooth SIG has established good contacts with the French authorities and are closely following the development of harmonization.

Channel spacing is 1 MHz. In order to comply with out-of-band regulations in each country, a guard band is used at the lower and upper band edge.

Geography	Lower Guard Band	Upper Guard Band
USA	2 MHz	3.5 MHz
Europe (except Spain and France)	2 MHz	3.5 MHz
Spain	4 MHz	26 MHz
France	7.5 MHz	7.5 MHz
Japan	2 MHz	2 MHz

Table 2.2: Guard Bands

Frequency Bands and Channel Arrangement 29 November 1999

Radio Specification

Bluetooth.

3 TRANSMITTER CHARACTERISTICS

The requirements stated in this section are given as power levels at the antenna connector of the equipment. If the equipment does not have a connector, a reference antenna with 0 dBi gain is assumed.

Due to difficulty in measurement accuracy in radiated measurements, it is preferred that systems with an integral antenna provide a temporary antenna connector during type approval.

If transmitting antennas of directional gain greater than 0 dBi are used, the applicable paragraphs in ETSI 300 328 and FCC part 15 must be compensated for.

Power Class	Maximum Output Power (Pmax)	Nominal Output Power	Minimum Output Power ¹⁾	Power Control
1	100 mW (20 dBm)	N/A	1 mW (0 dBm)	Pmin<+4 dBm to Pmax Optional: Pmin ²⁾ to Pmax
2	2.5 mW (4 dBm)	1 mW (0 dBm)	0.25 mW (-6 dBm)	Optional: Pmin ²⁾ to Pmax
3	1 mW (0 dBm)	N/A	N/A	Optional: Pmin ²⁾ to Pmax

The equipment is classified into three power classes.

Table 3.1: Power classes

Note 1. Minimum output power at maximum power setting.

Note 2. The lower power limit Pmin<-30dBm is suggested but is not mandatory, and may be chosen according to application needs.

A power control is required for power class 1 equipment. The power control is used for limiting the transmitted power over 0 dBm. Power control capability under 0 dBm is optional and could be used for optimizing the power consumption and overall interference level. The power steps shall form a monotonic sequence, with a maximum step size of 8 dB and a minimum step size of 2 dB. A class 1 equipment with a maximum transmit power of +20 must be able to control its transmit power down to 4 dBm or less.

Equipment with power control capability optimizes the output power in a link with LMP commands (see Link Manager Protocol). It is done by measuring RSSI and report back if the power should be increased or decreased.

page 21 of 1082

Radio Specification

Bluetooth.

3.1 MODULATION CHARACTERISTICS

The Modulation is GFSK (Gaussian Frequency Shift Keying) with a BT=0.5. The Modulation index must be between 0.28 and 0.35. A binary one is represented by a positive frequency deviation, and a binary zero is represented by a negative frequency deviation. The symbol timing shall be better than ±20 ppm.



Figure 3.1: Figure 3-1 Actual transmit modulation.

For each transmit channel, the minimum frequency deviation (Fmin = the lesser of {Fmin+, Fmin-}) which corresponds to 1010 sequence shall be no smaller than $\pm 80\%$ of the frequency deviation (fd) which corresponds to a 00001111 sequence.

In addition, the minimum deviation shall never be smaller than 115 kHz.

The zero crossing error is the time difference between the ideal symbol period and the measured crossing time. This shall be less than \pm 1/8 of a symbol period.

3.2 SPURIOUS EMISSIONS

The spurious emission, in-band and out-of-band, is measured with a frequency hopping transmitter hopping on a single frequency; this means that the synthesizer must change frequency between receive slot and transmit slot, but always returns to the same transmit frequency.

For the USA, FCC parts 15.247, 15.249, 15.205 and 15.209 are applicable regulations. For Japan, RCR STD-33 applies and, for Europe, ETSI 300 328.

Transmitter Characteristics

page 22 of 1082

Radio Specification

Bluetooth.

3.2.1 In-band Spurious Emission

Within the ISM band the transmitter shall pass a spectrum mask, given in Table 3.2. The spectrum must comply with the FCC's 20-dB bandwidth definition stated below, and should be measured accordingly. In addition to the FCC requirement an adjacent channel power on adjacent channels with a difference in channel number of two or greater an adjacent channel power is defined. This adjacent channel power is defined as the sum of the measured power in a 1 MHz channel. The transmitted power shall be measured in a 100 kHz bandwidth using maximum hold. The transmitter is transmitting on channel M and the adjacent channel power is measured on channel number N. The transmitter is sending a pseudo random data pattern throughout the test.

Frequency offset	Transmit Power	
\pm 550 kHz	-20 dBc	
M-N = 2	-20 dBm	
M-N ≥ 3	-40 dBm	

Table 3.2: Transmit Spectrum mask.

Note: If the output power is less than 0dBm then, wherever appropriate, the FCC's 20 dB relative requirement overrules the absolute adjacent channel power requirement stated in the above table.

"In any 100 kHz bandwidth outside the frequency band in which the spread spectrum intentional radiator is operating, the radio frequency power that is produced by the intentional radiator shall be at least 20 dB below that in the 100 kHz bandwidth within the band that contains the highest level of the desired power, based on either an RF conducted or a radiated measurement. Attenuation below the general limits specified in § 15.209(a) is not required. In addition, radiated emissions which fall in the restricted bands, as defined in § 15.205(a), must also comply with the radiated emission limits specified in § 15.209(a) (see § 15.205(c))."

FCC Part 15.247c

Exceptions are allowed in up to three bands of 1 MHz width centered on a frequency which is an integer multiple of 1 MHz. They must, however, comply with an absolute value of –20 dBm.

3.2.2 Out-of-Band Spurious Emission

The measured power should be measured in a 100 kHz bandwidth.

Frequency Band	Operation mode	Idle mode	
30 MHz - 1 GHz	-36 dBm	-57 dBm	
1 GHz – 12.75 GHz	-30 dBm	-47 dBm	
1.8 GHz – 1.9 GHz	-47 dBm	-47 dBm	
5.15 GHz – 5.3 GHz	-47 dBm	-47 dBm	

Table 3.3: Out-of-band spurious emission requirement

29 November 1999

Transmitter Characteristics

Radio Specification

Bluetooth.

3.3 RADIO FREQUENCY TOLERANCE

The transmitted initial center frequency accuracy must be ±75 kHz from F_c. The initial frequency accuracy is defined as being the frequency accuracy before any information is transmitted. Note that the frequency drift requirement is not included in the ±75 kHz.

The transmitter center frequency drift in a packet is specified in Table 3.4. The different packets are defined in the Baseband Specification.

Type of Packet	Frequency Drift
One-slot packet	±25 kHz
Three-slot packet	±40 kHz
Five-slot packet	±40 kHz
Maximum drift rate ¹⁾	400 Hz/µs

Table 3.4: Frequency drift in a package

Note 1. The maximum drift rate is allowed anywhere in a packet.

Transmitter Characteristics

Radio Specification

Bluetooth.

4 RECEIVER CHARACTERISTICS

In order to measure the bit error rate performance; the equipment must have a "loop back" facility. The equipment sends back the decoded information. This facility is specified in the Test Mode Specification.

The reference sensitivity level referred to in this chapter equals -70 dBm.

4.1 ACTUAL SENSITIVITY LEVEL

The actual sensitivity level is defined as the input level for which a raw bit error rate (BER) of 0.1% is met. The requirement for a Bluetooth receiver is an actual sensitivity level of -70 dBm or better. The receiver must achieve the -70 dBm sensitivity level with any Bluetooth transmitter compliant to the transmitter specification specified in Section 3 on page 20.

4.2 INTERFERENCE PERFORMANCE

The interference performance on Co-channel and adjacent 1 MHz and 2 MHz are measured with the wanted signal 10 dB over the reference sensitivity level. On all other frequencies the wanted signal shall be 3 dB over the reference sensitivity level. Should the frequency of an interfering signal lie outside of the band 2400-2497 MHz, the out-of-band blocking specification (see Section 4.3 on page 25) shall apply. The interfering signal shall be Bluetooth-modulated (see section 4.8 on page 27). The BER shall be $\leq 0.1\%$. The signal to interference ratio shall be:

Requirement	Ratio	
Co-Channel interference, C/I _{co-channel}	11 dB ¹⁾	
Adjacent (1 MHz) interference, C/I _{1MHz}	0 dB ¹	
Adjacent (2 MHz) interference, C/I _{2MHz}	-30 dB	
Adjacent (≥3 MHz) interference, C/I _{≥3MHz}	-40 dB	
Image frequency Interference ^{2) 3)} , C/I _{Image}	-9 dB ¹	
Adjacent (1 MHz) interference to in-band image frequency, C/I _{Image±1MHz}	-20 dB ¹	

Table 4.1: Interference performance

- Note 1. These specifications are tentative and will be fixed within 18 months after the release of the Bluetooth specification version 1.0. Implementations have to fulfil the final specification after a 3-years' convergence period starting at the release of the Bluetooth specification version 1.0. During the convergence period, devices need to achieve a co-channel interference resistance of +14 dB, an ACI (@1MHz) resistance of +4 dB, Image frequency interference resistance of -6 dB and an ACI to in-band image frequency resistance of -16 dB.
- Note 2. In-band image frequency

24

- Note 3. If the image frequency ≠ n*1 MHz, than the image reference frequency is defined as the closest n*1 MHz frequency.
- Note 4. If two adjacent channel specifications from Table 4.1 are applicable to the same channel, the more relaxed specification applies.

Receiver Characteristics

page 25 of 1082

Radio Specification

Bluetooth.

These specifications are only to be tested at nominal temperature conditions with a receiver hopping on one frequency, meaning that the synthesizer must change frequency between receive slot and transmit slot, but always return to the same receive frequency.

Frequencies where the requirements are not met are called spurious response frequencies. Five spurious response frequencies are allowed at frequencies with a distance of \geq 2 MHz from the wanted signal. On these spurious response frequencies a relaxed interference requirement C/I = -17 dB shall be met.

4.3 OUT-OF-BAND BLOCKING

The Out of band blocking is measured with the wanted signal 3 dB over the reference sensitivity level. The interfering signal shall be a continuous wave signal. The BER shall be $\leq 0.1\%$. The Out of band blocking shall fulfil the following requirements:

Interfering Signal Frequency	Interfering Signal Power Level		
30 MHz - 2000 MHz	-10 dBm		
2000 - 2399 MHz	-27 dBm		
2498 – 3000 MHz	-27 dBm		
3000 MHz - 12.75 GHz	-10 dBm		

Table 4.2: Out of Band blocking requirements

24 exceptions are permitted which are dependent upon the given receive channel frequency and are centered at a frequency which is an integer multiple of 1 MHz. At 19 of these spurious response frequencies a relaxed power level -50 dBm of the interferer may used to achieve a BER of 0.1%. At the remaining 5 spurious response frequencies the power level is arbitrary.

4.4 INTERMODULATION CHARACTERISTICS

The reference sensitivity performance, BER = 0.1%, shall be met under the following conditions.

- The wanted signal at frequency f₀ with a power level 6 dB over the reference sensitivity level.
- A static sine wave signal at f₁ with a power level of -39 dBm
- A Bluetooth modulated signal (see Section 4.8 on page 27) at f₂ with a power level of -39 dBm

Such that $f_0=2f_1-f_2$ and $|f_2-f_1|=n*1$ MHz, where n can be 3, 4, or 5. The system must fulfil one of the three alternatives.

Receiver Characteristics

page 26 of 1082

Radio Specification

Bluetooth.

4.5 MAXIMUM USABLE LEVEL

The maximum usable input level the receiver shall operate at shall be better than -20 dBm. The BER shall be less or equal to 0,1% at -20° dBm input power.

4.6 SPURIOUS EMISSIONS

The spurious emission for a Bluetooth receiver shall not be more than:

Frequency Band	Requirement
30 MHz - 1 GHz	-57 dBm
1 GHz – 12.75 GHz	-47 dBm

Table 4.3: Out-of-band spurious emission

The measured power should be measured in a 100 kHz bandwidth.

4.7 RECEIVER SIGNAL STRENGTH INDICATOR (OPTIONAL)

A transceiver that wishes to take part in a power-controlled link must be able to measure its own receiver signal strength and determine if the transmitter on the other side of the link should increase or decrease its output power level. A Receiver Signal Strength Indicator (RSSI) makes this possible.

The way the power control is specified is to have a golden receive power. This golden receive power is defined as a range with a low limit and a high limit. The RSSI must have a minimum dynamic range equal to this range. The RSSI must have an absolute accuracy of \pm 4dB or better when the receive signal power is –60 dBm. In addition, a minimum range of 20 \pm 6 dB must be covered, starting from –60 dB and up (see Figure 4.1 on page 26).



Figure 4.1: RSSI dynamic range and accuracy

Receiver Characteristics

page 27 of 1082

Radio Specification

Bluetooth.

4.8 REFERENCE INTERFERENCE-SIGNAL DEFINITION

A Bluetooth modulated interfering signal is defined as:

Modulation = GFSK Modulation index = 0.32±1% BT= 0.5±1% Bit Rate = 1 Mbps ±1 ppm Modulating Data = PRBS9 Frequency accuracy better than ±1 ppm.

Receiver Characteristics

page 28 of 1082

Radio Specification

Bluetooth.

5 APPENDIX A

5.1 NOMINAL TEST CONDITIONS (NTC)

5.1.1 Nominal temperature

The nominal temperature conditions for tests shall be +15 to +35 °C. When it is impractical to carry out the test under this condition a note to this effect, stating the ambient temperature, shall be recorded. The actual value during the test shall be recorded in the test report.

5.1.2 Nominal Power source

5.1.2.1 Mains Voltage

The nominal test voltage for equipment to be connected to the mains shall be the nominal mains voltage. The nominal voltage shall be declared voltage or any of the declared voltages for which the equipment was designed. The frequency of the test power source corresponding to the AC mains shall be within 2% of the nominal frequency.

5.1.2.2 Lead-acid battery power sources used in vehicles

When radio equipment is intended for operation from the alternator-fed leadacid battery power sources which are standard in vehicles, then the nominal test voltage shall be 1.1 times the nominal voltage of the battery (6V, 12V, etc.).

5.1.2.3 Other power sources

For operation from other power sources or types of battery (primary or secondary), the nominal test voltage shall be as declared by the equipment manufacturer. This shall be recorded in the test report.

28

Appendix A

Radio Specification

Bluetooth.

5.2 EXTREME TEST CONDITIONS

5.2.1 Extreme temperatures

The extreme temperature range is defined as the largest temperature range given by the combination of:

- The minimum temperature range 0 °C to +35 °C
- The product operating temperature range declared by the manufacturer.

This extreme temperature range and the declared operating temperature range shall be recorded in the test report.

5.2.2 Extreme power source voltages

Tests at extreme power source voltages specified below are not required when the equipment under test is designed for operation as part of and powered by another system or piece of equipment. Where this is the case, the limit values of the host system or host equipment shall apply. The appropriate limit values shall be declared by the manufacturer and recorded in the test report.

5.2.2.1 Mains voltage

The extreme test voltage for equipment to be connected to an AC mains source shall be the nominal mains voltage $\pm 10\%$.

5.2.2.2 Lead-acid battery power source used on vehicles

When radio equipment is intended for operation from the alternator-fed leadacid battery power sources which are standard in vehicles, then extreme test voltage shall be 1.3 and 0.9 times the nominal voltage of the battery (6V, 12V etc.)

5.2.2.3 Power sources using other types of batteries

The lower extreme test voltage for equipment with power sources using the following types of battery, shall be

- a) for Leclanche, alkaline, or lithium type battery: 0.85 times the nominal voltage of the battery
- b) for the mercury or nickel-cadmium types of battery: 0.9 times the nominal voltage of the battery.

In both cases, the upper extreme test voltage shall be 1.15 times the nominal voltage of the battery.

Appendix A

page 30 of 1082

Radio Specification

Bluetooth.

5.2.2.4 Other power sources

For equipment using other power sources, or capable of being operated from a variety of power sources (primary or secondary), the extreme test voltages shall be those declared by the manufacturer. These shall be recorded in the test report.

30

29 November 1999

Appendix A

page 31 of 1082

Radio Specification

Bluetooth.

6 APPENDIX B

The Radio parameters shall be tested in the following conditions

Parameter	Temperature	Power source	
Output Power	ETC	ETC	
Power control	NTC	NTC	
Modulation index	ETC	ETC	
Initial Carrier Frequency accuracy	ETC	ETC	
Carrier Frequency drift	ETC	ETC	
In-band spurious emissions	ETC	ETC	
Out-of-band Spurious Emissions	ETC	ETC	
Sensitivity	ETC	ETC	
Interference Performance	NTC	NTC	
Intermodulation Characteristics	NTC	NTC	
Out-of-band blocking	NTC	NTC	
Maximum Usable Level	NTC	NTC	
Receiver Signal Strength Indicator	NTC	NTC	

ETC = Extreme Test Conditions NTC = Nominal Test Conditions

29 November 1999

page 32 of 1882

Radio Specification

Bluetooth.

29 November 1999

Appendix B

Part B

BASEBAND SPECIFICATION

This document describes the specifications of the Bluetooth link controller which carries out the baseband protocols and other low-level link routines.

page 34 of 1082

Baseband Specification

Bluetooth.

page 35 of 1082

Baseband Specification

Bluetooth.

CONTENTS

-	Gen	General Description						
2	Phys	Physical Channel						
	2.1	Frequency Band and RF Channels						
	2.2	Chann	annel Definition					
	2.3	Time §	Fime Slots43					
	2.4	Modulation and Bit Rate44						
3	Phys	sical Lin	ks	45				
	3.1	General						
	3.2	SCOL	CO Link					
	3.3	ACL Link						
4	Pacl	cets						
	4.1	4.1 General Format						
	4.2	Acces	s Code					
		4.2.1	Access	code types				
		4.2.2	Preamb	le				
		4.2.3	Svnc W	ord				
		424	Trailer	50				
	4.3	Packet Header						
		4.3.1	AM AD	DR				
		432	TYPE	51				
		433	FLOW	52				
		1310	ADON	59				
		4.0.4	OCON.					
		4.3.0	SEQN.					
		4.3.6	HEU					
	4.4	Раске	t types					
		4.4.1	Commo	n packet types				
			4.4.1.1	ID packet				
			4.4.1.2	NULL PACKEL				
			4.4.1.3	FUC nacket				
			4.4.1.4	PNM packet				
			4.4.1.3	DMT packet				
		4.4.2	SCO pa	ickets				
			4.4.2.1	HV1 packet				
			4.4.2.2	HV2 packet				
			4.4.2.3	HV3 packet				
			4.4.2.4	DV packet				

page 36 of 1082

BLUETOOTH SPECIFICATION Version 1.0 B

Baseband Specification

Bluetooth.

		4.4.3	ACL nackets	60	
			4431 DM1 nacket	60	
			4.4.3.2 DH1 packet		
			4.4.3.3 DM3 packet		
			4.4.3.4 DH3 packet		
			4.4.3.5 DM5 packet		
			4.4.3.6 DH5 packet		
		-	4.4.3.7 AUX1 packet		
	4.5	Payload Format			
		4.5.1	Voice field		
		4.5.2	Data field		
	4.6 Packet Summary				
5	Erro	Error Correction			
	5.1	FEC Code: Rate 1/3			
	5.2	FEC Code: Rate 2/367			
	5.3	ARQ Scheme			
		5.3.1 Unnumbered ARQ			
		5.3.2	Retransmit filtering		
		5.3.3	5.3.3 Flushing payloads71		
		5.3.4	Multi-slave considerations		
		5.3.5 Broadcast packets			
	5.4	Error Checking			
6	Logi	Logical Channels			
	6.1	LC Channel (Link Control)			
	6.2	LM Channel (Link Manager)77			
	6.3	UA/UI Channel (User Asynchronous/Isochronous data)			
	6.4	US Channel (User Synchronous data)78			
	6.5	Channel Mapping78			
7	Data	a Whitening			
8	Transmit/Receive Routines				
	8.1	TX Ro	TX Routine		
		8.1.1	ACL traffic		
		8.1.2	SCO traffic		
		8.1.3	Mixed data/voice traffic		
		8.1.4	Default packet types		
	8.2	RX Routine			
	8.3	Flow C	ontrol		
		8.3.1	Destination control		
		8.3.2	Source control		
	8.4	Bitstre	m Processes		
Base	band Spe	ecification		Bluetooth.	
------	----------	-------------	--------------------------------------	-------------------------	
9	Trans	smit/Rec	eive Timing		
	9.1	Master	Slave Timing Synchronization		
	9.2	Connec	tion State		
	9.3	Return	From Hold Mode		
	9.4	Park M	ode Wake-up		
	9.5	Page S	tate		
	9.6	FHS Pa	icket		
	9.7	Multi-sl	ave Operation		
10	Char	nel Con	trol		
	10.1	Scope.			
	10.2	Master-	Slave Definition		
	10.3	Bluetoc	th Clock		
	10.4	Overvie	w of States		
	10,5	Standb	y State		
	10.6	Access	Procedures		
		10.6.1	General		
		10.6.2	Page scan		
		10.6.3	Page		
		10.6.4	Page response procedures		
			10.6.4.1 Slave response		
	10.7	Inquiry	Procedures		
		10.7.1	General		
		10.7.2	Inquiry scan		
		10.7.3	Inquiry		
		10.7.4	Inquiry response.		
	10.8	Connec	tion State		
		10.8.1	Active mode		
		10.8.2	Sniff mode		
		10.8.3	Hold mode	114	
		10.9.4	Park moda	145	
		101014	10.8.4.1 Beacon channel	416	
			10.8.4.2 Beacon access window		
			10.8.4.3 Parked slave synchronizatio	n 119	
			10.8.4.4 Parking		
			10.8.4.5 Master-activated unparking.		
			10.8.4.6 Slave-activated unparking		
		40.05	10.0.4.7 Droadcast Scan Window		
		10.8.5	Polling schemes		
			10.6.5.1 Molling in active mode		
			tototaz moleng in park mode	annan ann an an an Albh	

29 November 1999

37

page 38 of 1082

Baseband Specification

Bluetooth.

		10.8.6	Slot reservation scheme	2
		10.8.7	Broadcast scheme	2
	10.9	Scatter	net	2
		10.9.1	General	2
		10.9.2	Inter-piconet communications	3
		10.9.3	Master-slave switch	3
	10.10) Power	Management12	5
		10.10.1	I Packet handling12	5
		10.10.2	Slot occupancy12	5
		10.10.3	Low-power modes	5
	10.11	Link St	ipervision	6
1	Нор	Selectic	12	7
	11.1	Genera	al Selection Scheme	7
	11.2	Selection	on Kernel	9
		11.2.1	First addition operation13	0
		11.2.2	XOR operation	0
		11.2.3	Permutation operation13	1
		11.2.4	Second addition operation	3
		11.2.5	Register bank	3
	11.3	Contro	l Word	3
		11.3.1	Page scan and Inquiry scan substates	5
		11.3.2	Page substate	5
		11.3.3	Page response	6
			11.3.3.1 Slave response	6
			11.3.3.2 Master response 13	6
		11.3.4	Inquiry substate13	7
		11.3.5	Inquiry response13	7
		11.3.6	Connection state	8
12	Blue	tooth Au	<i>i</i> dio	9
	12.1	LOG P	CM CODEC13	9
	12.2	CVSD	CODEC	9
	12.3	Error H	andling	2
	12,4	Genera	Il Audio Requirements	2
		12.4.1	Signal levels	2
		12.4.2	CVSD audio quality	2

Baseb	and Spe	ecification		Bluetooth.
13	Blue	tooth Ac	idressing	
	13.1	Bluetod	oth Device Address (BD_ADDR)	
	13.2	Access	Codes	
		13.2.1	Synchronization word definition	
		13.2.2	Pseudo-random noise sequence generatio	n146
		13.2.3	Reserved addresses for GIAC and DIAC	
	13.3	Active	Member Address (AM_ADDR)	
	13.4	Parked	Member Address (PM_ADDR)	
	13.5	Access	Request Address (AR_ADDR)	148
14	Blue	tooth Se	curity	
	14.1	Rando	m Number Generation	
	14.2	Key Ma	anagement	150
		14.2.1	Key types	
		14.2.2	Key generation and initialization	
			14.2.2.1 Generation of initialization key,	
			14.2.2.2 Authentication	
			14.2.2.3 Generation of a combination key	
			14.2.2.5 Generating the encryption key	
			14.2.2.6 Point-to-multipoint configuration	
			14.2.2.7 Modifying the link keys	
	44.0	The sector	14.2.2.8 Generating a master key	158
	14.3	Encryp	BON	
		14.3.1	Encryption key size negotiation	
		14.3.2	Encryption modes	
		14.3.3	Encryption concept	
		14.3.4	Encryption algorithm	
			14.3.4.1 The operation of the cipher	
		14.3.5	LFSR initialization	
		14.3.6	Key stream sequence	
	14.4	Authen	lication	
	()) () ()	14.4.1	Repeated attempts	
	14.5	The Au	thentication And Key-Generating Functions	
		14.5.1	The authentication function E1	
		14.5.2	The functions Ar and A'r	
			14.5.2.1 The round computations	
			14.5.2.3 Key scheduling	
		14.5.3	E2-Key generation function for authenticati	on
		14.5.4	E3-Key generation function for encryption.	
15	List	of Figur	95	
16	liet.	of Tohio	8	483
10	8.1838 E	st tautes		

29 November 1999 39

page 40 of 1082

Baseband Specification

Bluetooth.

29 November 1999

page 41 of 1082

Baseband Specification

Bluetooth.

1 GENERAL DESCRIPTION

Bluetooth is a short-range radio link intended to replace the cable(s) connecting portable and/or fixed electronic devices. Key features are robustness, low complexity, low power, and low cost.

Bluetooth operates in the unlicensed ISM band at 2.4 GHz. A frequency hop transceiver is applied to combat interference and fading. A shaped, binary FM modulation is applied to minimize transceiver complexity. The symbol rate is 1 Ms/s. A slotted channel is applied with a nominal slot length of 625 μ s. For full duplex transmission, a Time-Division Duplex (TDD) scheme is used. On the channel, information is exchanged through packets. Each packet is transmitted on a different hop frequency. A packet nominally covers a single slot, but can be extended to cover up to five slots.

The Bluetooth protocol uses a combination of circuit and packet switching. Slots can be reserved for synchronous packets. Bluetooth can support an asynchronous data channel, up to three simultaneous synchronous voice channels, or a channel which simultaneously supports asynchronous data and synchronous voice. Each voice channel supports a 64 kb/s synchronous (voice) channel in each direction. The asynchronous channel can support maximal 723.2 kb/s asymmetric (and still up to 57.6 kb/s in the return direction), or 433.9 kb/s symmetric.

The Bluetooth system consists of a radio unit (see Radio Specification), a link control unit, and a support unit for link management and host terminal interface functions, see Figure 1.1 on page 41. The current document describes the specifications of the Bluetooth link controller, which carries out the baseband protocols and other low-level link routines. Link layer messages for link set-up and control are defined in the Link Manager Protocol on page 185.



Figure 1.1: Different functional blocks in the Bluetooth system

The Bluetooth system provides a point-to-point connection (only two Bluetooth units involved), or a point-to-multipoint connection, see Figure 1.2 on page 42. In the point-to-multipoint connection, the channel is shared among several Bluetooth units. Two or more units sharing the same channel form a *piconet*. One Bluetooth unit acts as the master of the piconet, whereas the other unit(s)

General Description

41

page 42 of 1082

Baseband Specification

Bluetooth.

acts as slave(s). Up to seven slaves can be active in the piconet. In addition, many more slaves can remain locked to the master in a so-called parked state. These parked slaves cannot be active on the channel, but remain synchronized to the master. Both for active and parked slaves, the channel access is controlled by the master.

Multiple piconets with overlapping coverage areas form a *scatternet*. Each piconet can only have a single master. However, slaves can participate in different piconets on a time-division multiplex basis. In addition, a master in one piconet can be a slave in another piconet. The piconets shall not be time- or frequency-synchronized. Each piconet has its own hopping channel.



Figure 1.2: Piconets with a single slave operation (a), a multi-slave operation (b) and a scatternet operation (c).

page 43 of 1082

Baseband Specification

Bluetooth.

2 PHYSICAL CHANNEL

2.1 FREQUENCY BAND AND RF CHANNELS

Bluetooth operates in the 2.4 GHz ISM band. Although globally available, the exact location and the width of the band may differ by country. In the US and Europe, a band of 83.5 MHz width is available; in this band, 79 RF channels spaced 1 MHz apart are defined. In Japan, Spain, and France, a smaller band is available; in this band, 23 RF channels spaced 1 MHz apart are defined.

Country	Frequency Range	RF Channels	
Europe [*] & USA	2400 - 2483.5 MHz	f = 2402 + k MHz	k= 0,,78
Japan	2471 - 2497 MHz	f = 2473 + k MHz	k= 0,,22
Spain	2445 - 2475 MHz	f = 2449 + k MHz	k= 0,,22
France	2446.5 - 2483.5 MHz	f = 2454 + k MHz	k= 0,,22

Table 2.1: Available RF channels

*. except Spain and France

2.2 CHANNEL DEFINITION

The channel is represented by a pseudo-random hopping sequence hopping through the 79 or 23 RF channels. The hopping sequence is unique for the piconet and is determined by the Bluetooth device address of the master; the phase in the hopping sequence is determined by the Bluetooth clock of the master. The channel is divided into time slots where each slot corresponds to an RF hop frequency. Consecutive hops correspond to different RF hop frequencies. The nominal hop rate is 1600 hops/s. All Bluetooth units participating in the piconet are time- and hop-synchronized to the channel.

2.3 TIME SLOTS

The channel is divided into time slots, each 625 μ s in length. The time slots are numbered according to the Bluetooth clock of the piconet master. The slot numbering ranges from 0 to 2²⁷-1 and is cyclic with a cycle length of 2²⁷.

In the time slots, master and slave can transmit packets.

A TDD scheme is used where master and slave alternatively transmit, see Figure 2.1 on page 44. The master shall start its transmission in evennumbered time slots only, and the slave shall start its transmission in oddnumbered time slots only. The packet start shall be aligned with the slot start. Packets transmitted by the master or the slave may extend over up to five time slots.

Physical Channel

29 November 1999

43

page 44 of 1082

Baseband Specification

Bluetooth.

The RF hop frequency shall remain fixed for the duration of the packet. For a single packet, the RF hop frequency to be used is derived from the current Bluetooth clock value. For a multi-slot packet, the RF hop frequency to be used for the entire packet is derived from the Bluetooth clock value in the first slot of the packet. The RF hop frequency in the first slot after a multi-slot packet shall use the frequency as determined by the current Bluetooth clock value. Figure 2.2 on page 44 illustrates the hop definition on single- and multi-slot packets. If a packet occupies more than one time slot, the hop frequency applied shall be the hop frequency as applied in the time slot where the packet transmission was started.



Figure 2.1: TDD and timing



Figure 2.2: Multi-slot packets

2.4 MODULATION AND BIT RATE

The data transmitted has a symbol rate of 1 Ms/s. A Gaussian-shaped, binary FSK modulation is applied with a *BT* product of 0.5. A binary one is represented by a positive frequency deviation, a binary zero by a negative frequency deviation. The maximum frequency deviation shall be between 140 kHz and 175 kHz.

```
29 November 1999
```

Physical Channel

page 45 of 1082

Baseband Specification

Bluetooth.

3 PHYSICAL LINKS

3.1 GENERAL

Between master and slave(s), different types of links can be established. Two link types have been defined:

- Synchronous Connection-Oriented (SCO) link
- Asynchronous Connection-Less (ACL) link

The SCO link is a point-to-point link between a master and a single slave in the piconet. The master maintains the SCO link by using reserved slots at regular intervals. The ACL link is a point-to-multipoint link between the master and all the slaves participating on the piconet. In the slots not reserved for the SCO link(s), the master can establish an ACL link on a per-slot basis to any slave, including the slave(s) already engaged in an SCO link.

3.2 SCO LINK

The SCO link is a symmetric, point-to-point link between the master and a specific slave. The SCO link reserves slots and can therefore be considered as a circuit-switched connection between the master and the slave. The SCO link typically supports time-bounded information like voice. The master can support up to three SCO links to the same slave or to different slaves. A slave can support up to three SCO links from the same master, or two SCO links if the links originate from different masters. SCO packets are never retransmitted.

The master will send SCO packets at regular intervals, the so-called SCO interval T_{SCO} (counted in slots) to the slave in the reserved master-to-slave slots.

The SCO slave is always allowed to respond with an SCO packet in the following slave-to-master slot unless a different slave was addressed in the previous master-to-slave slot. If the SCO slave fails to decode the slave address in the packet header, it is still allowed to return an SCO packet in the reserved SCO slot.

The SCO link is established by the master sending an SCO setup message via the LM protocol. This message will contain timing parameters such as the SCO interval T_{SCO} and the offset D_{SCO} to specify the reserved slots.

In order to prevent clock wrap-around problems, an initialization flag in the LMP setup message indicates whether initialization procedure 1 or 2 is being used. The slave shall apply the initialization method as indicated by the initialization flag. The master uses initialization 1 when the MSB of the current master clock (CLK₂₇) is 0; it uses initialization 2 when the MSB of the current master clock (CLK₂₇) is 1. The master-to-slave SCO slots reserved by the master and the slave shall be initialized on the slots for which the clock satisfies the following equation:

page 46 of 1082

Baseband Specification	Bluetooth.
$CLK_{27-1} \mod T_{SCO} = D_{SCO}$	for initialization 1
$(\overline{CLK}_{27}, CLK_{26-1}) \mod T_{SCO} = D_{SCO}$	for initialization 2

The slave-to-master SCO slots shall directly follow the reserved master-toslave SCO slots. After initialization, the clock value CLK(k+1) for the next master-to-slave SCO slot is found by adding the fixed interval T_{SCO} to the clock value of the current master-to-slave SCO slot:

 $CLK(k+1) = CLK(k) + T_{SCO}$

3.3 ACL LINK

In the slots not reserved for SCO links, the master can exchange packets with any slave on a per-slot basis. The ACL link provides a packet-switched connection between the master and all active slaves participating in the piconet. Both asynchronous and isochronous services are supported. Between a master and a slave only a single ACL link can exist. For most ACL packets, packet retransmission is applied to assure data integrity.

A slave is permitted to return an ACL packet in the slave-to-master slot if and only if it has been addressed in the preceding master-to-slave slot. If the slave fails to decode the slave address in the packet header, it is not allowed to transmit.

ACL packets not addressed to a specific slave are considered as broadcast packets and are read by every slave. If there is no data to be sent on the ACL link and no polling is required, no transmission shall take place.

page 47 of 1082

Baseband Specification

Bluetooth.

4 PACKETS

4.1 GENERAL FORMAT

The bit ordering when defining packets and messages in the *Baseband Specification*, follows the *Little Endian format*, i.e., the following rules apply:

- The least significant bit (LSB) corresponds to b₀;
- · The LSB is the first bit sent over the air;
- In illustrations, the LSB is shown on the left side;

The baseband controller interprets the first bit arriving from a higher software layer as b_0 ; i.e. this is the first bit to be sent over the air. Furthermore, data fields generated internally at baseband level, such as the packet header fields and payload header length, are transmitted with the LSB first. For instance, a 3-bit parameter X=3 is sent as $b_0b_1b_2 = 110$ over the air where 1 is sent first and 0 is sent last.

The data on the piconet channel is conveyed in packets. The general packet format is shown in Figure 4.1 on page 47. Each packet consists of 3 entities: the access code, the header, and the payload. In the figure, the number of bits per entity is indicated.

SB 72	54	0 - 2745	MSB
ACCESS CODE	HEADER	PAYLOAD	

Figure 4.1: Standard packet format.

The access code and header are of fixed size: 72 bits and 54 bits respectively. The payload can range from zero to a maximum of 2745 bits. Different packet types have been defined. Packets may consist of the (shortened) access code only (see ID packet on page 55), of the access code – header, or of the access code – header – payload.

page 48 of 1082

Baseband Specification

Bluetooth.

4.2 ACCESS CODE

Each packet starts with an access code. If a packet header follows, the access code is 72 bits long, otherwise the access code is 68 bits long. This access code is used for synchronization, DC offset compensation and identification. The access code identifies all packets exchanged on the channel of the piconet: all packets sent in the same piconet are preceded by the same channel access code. In the receiver of the Bluetooth unit, a sliding correlator correlates against the access code and triggers when a threshold is exceeded. This trigger signal is used to determine the receive timing.

The access code is also used in paging and inquiry procedures. In this case, the access code itself is used as a signalling message and neither a header nor a payload is present.

The access code consists of a preamble, a sync word, and possibly a trailer, see Figure 4.2 on page 48. For details see Section 4.2.1 on page 48.

LSB 4	64	4 MSB
PREAMBLE	SYNC WORD	TRAILER
a card to the second	1000 C 1000 C	

Figure 4.2: Access code format

4.2.1 Access code types

There are three different types of access codes defined:

- Channel Access Code (CAC)
- Device Access Code (DAC)
- Inquiry Access Code (IAC)

The respective access code types are used for a Bluetooth unit in different operating modes. The channel access code identifies a piconet. This code is included in all packets exchanged on the piconet channel. The device access code is used for special signalling procedures, e.g., paging and response to paging. For the inquiry access code there are two variations. A general inquiry access code (GIAC) is common to all devices. The GIAC can be used to discover which other Bluetooth units are in range. The dedicated inquiry access code (DIAC) is common for a dedicated group of Bluetooth units that share a common characteristic. The DIAC can be used to discover only these dedicated Bluetooth units in range.

The CAC consists of a **preamble**, **sync word**, and **trailer** and its total length is 72 bits. When used as self-contained messages without a header, the DAC and IAC do not include the trailer bits and are of length 68 bits.

48

29 November 1999

page 49 of 1082

Baseband Specification

Bluetooth.

The different access code types use different Lower Address Parts (LAPs) to construct the sync word. The LAP field of the BD address is explained in Section 13.1 on page 143. A summary of the different access code types can be found in Table 4.1 on page 49.

Code type	LAP	Code length	Comments	
CAC	Master	72		
DAC	Paged unit	68/72	See also Section 13.2	
GIAC	Reserved	68/72*	on page 143	
DIAC	Dedicated	68/72*		

Table 4.1: Summary of access code types.

*. length 72 is only used in combination with FHS packets

4.2.2 Preamble

The preamble is a fixed zero-one pattern of 4 symbols used to facilitate DC compensation. The sequence is either 1010 or 0101, depending whether the LSB of the following sync word is 1 or 0, respectively. The preamble is shown in Figure 4.3 on page 49.

LSB MSB LSB	LSB MSB LSB
1010 1	0101 0
preamble sync word	preamble sync word

Figure 4.3: Preamble

4.2.3 Sync Word

The sync word is a 64-bit code word derived from a 24 bit address (LAP); for the CAC the master's LAP is used; for the GIAC and the DIAC, reserved, dedicated LAPs are used; for the DAC, the slave unit LAP is used. The construction guarantees large Hamming distance between sync words based on different LAPs. In addition, the good autocorrelation properties of the sync word improve on the timing synchronization process. The derivation of the sync word is described in Section 13.2 on page 143

page 50 of 1082

Baseband Specification

Bluetooth.

4.2.4 Trailer

The trailer is appended to the sync word as soon as the packet header follows the access code. This is typically the case with the CAC, but the trailer is also used in the DAC and IAC when these codes are used in FHS packets exchanged during page response and inquiry response procedures.

The trailer is a fixed zero-one pattern of four symbols. The trailer together with the three MSBs of the syncword form a 7-bit pattern of alternating ones and zeroes which may be used for extended DC compensation. The trailer sequence is either 1010 or 0101 depending on whether the MSB of the sync word is 0 or 1, respectively. The choice of trailer is illustrated in Figure 4.4 on page 50.

MSB LSB MSB	MSB LSB MSB
0 1010	1 0101
sync word trailer	sync word trailer
a)	b)

Figure 4.4: Trailer in CAC when MSB of sync word is 0 (a), and when MSB of sync word is 1 (b).

page 51 of 1082

Baseband Specification

Bluetooth.

4.3 PACKET HEADER

The header contains link control (LC) information and consists of 6 fields:

- AM_ADDR: 3- bit active member address
- TYPE: 4-bit type code
- FLOW: 1-bit flow control
- ARQN: 1-bit acknowledge indication
- SEQN: 1-bit sequence number
- HEC: 8-bit header error check

The total header, including the HEC, consists of 18 bits, see Figure 4.5 on page 51, and is encoded with a rate 1/3 FEC (not shown but described in Section 5.1 on page 67) resulting in a 54-bit header. Note that the AM_ADDR and TYPE fields are sent with their LSB first. The function of the different fields will be explained next.

LSB 3	4	1	1	1	8	MSB
AM_ADDR	TYPE	FLOW	ARONSI	EQN	HEC	

Figure 4.5: Header format.

4.3.1 AM_ADDR

The AM_ADDR represents a member address and is used to distinguish between the active members participating on the piconet. In a piconet, one or more slaves are connected to a single master. To identify each slave separately, each slave is assigned a temporary 3-bit address to be used when it is active. Packets exchanged between the master and the slave all carry the AM_ADDR of this slave; that is, the AM_ADDR of the slave is used in both master-to-slave packets and in the slave-to-master packets. The all-zero address is reserved for broadcasting packets from the master to the slaves. An exception is the FHS packet which may use the all-zero member address but is *not* a broadcast message (Section 4.4.1.4 on page 56). Slaves that are disconnected or parked give up their AM_ADDR. A new AM_ADDR has to be assigned when they re-enter the piconet.

4.3.2 TYPE

Sixteen different types of packets can be distinguished. The 4-bit TYPE code specifies which packet type is used. Important to note is that the interpretation of the TYPE code depends on the physical link type associated with the packet. First, it shall be determined whether the packet is sent on an SCO link or an ACL link. Then it can be determined which type of SCO packet or ACL packet has been received. The TYPE code also reveals how many slots the current packet will occupy. This allows the non-addressed receivers to refrain

page 52 of 1082

Baseband Specification

Bluetooth.

from listening to the channel for the duration of the remaining slots. In Section 4.4 on page 54, each packet type will be described in more detail.

4.3.3 FLOW

This bit is used for flow control of packets over the ACL link. When the RX buffer for the ACL link in the recipient is full and is not emptied, a STOP indication (FLOW=0) is returned to stop the transmission of data temporarily. Note, that the STOP signal only concerns ACL packets. Packets including only link control information (ID, POLL and NULL packets) or SCO packets can still be received. When the RX buffer is empty, a GO indication (FLOW=1) is returned. When no packet is received, or the received header is in error, a GO is assumed implicitly.

4.3.4 ARQN

The 1-bit acknowledgment indication ARQN is used to inform the source of a successful transfer of payload data with CRC, and can be positive acknowledge ACK or negative acknowledge NAK. If the reception was successful, an ACK (ARQN=1) is returned, otherwise a NAK (ARQN=0) is returned. When no return message regarding acknowledge is received, a NAK is assumed implicitly. NAK is also the default return information.

The ARQN is piggy-backed in the header of the return packet. The success of the reception is checked by means of a cyclic redundancy check (CRC) code. An unnumbered ARQ scheme which means that the ARQN relates to the latest received packet from the same source, is used. See Section 5.3 on page 68 for initialization and usage of this bit.

4.3.5 SEQN

The SEQN bit provides a sequential numbering scheme to order the data packet stream. For each new transmitted packet that contains data with CRC, the SEQN bit is inverted. This is required to filter out retransmissions at the destination; if a retransmission occurs due to a failing ACK, the destination receives the same packet twice. By comparing the SEQN of consecutive packets, correctly received retransmissions can be discarded. The SEQN has to be added due to a lack of packet numbering in the unnumbered ARQ scheme. See section 5.3.2 on page 70 for initialization and usage of the SEQN bit. For broadcast packets, a modified sequencing method is used, see Section 5.3.5 on page 72.

4.3.6 HEC

Each header has a header-error-check to check the header integrity. The HEC consists of an 8-bit word generated by the polynomial 647 (octal representation). Before generating the HEC, the HEC generator is initialized with an 8-bit value. For FHS packets sent in **master page response** state, the slave upper

52

page 53 of 1082

Baseband Specification

Bluetooth.

address part (UAP) is used. For FHS packets sent in **inquiry response**, the default check initialization (DCI, see Section 5.4) is used. In all other cases, the UAP of the master device is used. For the definition of Bluetooth device addresses, see Section 13.1 on page 143.

After the initialization, a HEC is calculated for the 10 header bits. Before checking the HEC, the receiver must initialize the HEC check circuitry with the proper 8-bit UAP (or DCI). If the HEC does not check, the entire packet is disregarded. More information can be found in Section 5.4 on page 73.

Packets

29 November 1999

page 54 of 1082

Baseband Specification

Bluetooth.

4.4 PACKET TYPES

The packets used on the piconet are related to the physical links they are used in. Up to now, two physical links are defined: the SCO link and the ACL link. For each of these links, 12 different packet types can be defined. Four control packets will be common to all link types: their TYPE code is unique irrespective of the link type.

To indicate the different packets on a link, the 4-bit TYPE code is used. The packet types have been divided into four segments. The first segment is reserved for the four control packets common to all physical link types; all four packet types have been defined. The second segment is reserved for packets occupying a single time slot; six packet types have been defined. The third segment is reserved for packets occupying three time slots; two packet types have been defined. The fourth segment is reserved for packets occupying five time slots; two packet types have been defined. The fourth segment is reserved for packets occupying five time slots; two packet types have been defined. The slot occupancy is reflected in the segmentation and can directly be derived from the type code. Table 4.2 on page 54 summarizes the packets defined so far for the SCO and ACL link types.

Segment	TYPE code b3b2b1b0	Slot occupancy	SCO link	ACL link
12.17	0000	1	NULL	NULL
	0001	1	POLL	POLL
T	0010	1	FHS	FHS
	0011	1	DM1	DM1
	0100	1	undefined	DH1
	0101	1	HV1	undefined
	0110	1	HV2	undefined
2	0111	1	HV3	undefined
	1000	1	DV	undefined
	1001	1	undefined	AUX1
	1010	3	undefined	DM3
	1011	3	undefined	DH3
.3	1100	3	undefined	undefined
	1101	3	undefined	undefined
	1110	5	undefined	DM5
4	1111	5	undefined	DH5

Table 4.2: Packets defined for SCO and ACL link types

page 55 of 1082

Baseband Specification

Bluetooth.

4.4.1 Common packet types

There are five common packets. In addition to the types listed in segment 1 of the previous table, there is the ID packet not listed. Each packet will now be examined in more detail.

4.4.1.1 ID packet

The identity or ID packet consists of the device access code (DAC) or inquiry access code (IAC). It has a fixed length of 68 bits. It is a very robust packet since the receiver uses a bit correlator to match the received packet to the known bit sequence of the ID packet. The packet is used, for example, in paging, inquiry, and response routines.

4.4.1.2 NULL packet

The NULL packet has no payload and therefore consists of the channel access code and packet header only. Its total (fixed) length is 126 bits. The NULL packet is used to return link information to the source regarding the success of the previous transmission (ARQN), or the status of the RX buffer (FLOW). The NULL packet itself does not have to be acknowledged.

4.4,1.3 POLL packet

The POLL packet is very similar to the NULL packet. It does not have a payload either. In contrast to the NULL packet, it requires a confirmation from the recipient. It is not a part of the ARQ scheme. The POLL packet does not affect the ARQN and SEQN fields. Upon reception of a POLL packet the slave must respond with a packet. This return packet is an implicit acknowledgement of the POLL packet. This packet can be used by the master in a piconet to poll the slaves, which must then respond even if they do not have information to send.

page 56 of 1082

Baseband Specification

Bluetooth.

4.4.1.4 FHS packet

The FHS packet is a special control packet revealing, among other things, the Bluetooth device address and the clock of the sender. The payload contains 144 information bits plus a 16-bit CRC code. The payload is coded with a rate 2/3 FEC which brings the gross payload length to 240 bits. The FHS packet covers a single time slot.

Figure 4.6 on page 56 illustrates the format and contents of the FHS payload. The payload consists of eleven fields. The FHS packet is used in page master response, inquiry response and in master slave switch. In page master response or master slave switch, it is retransmitted until its reception is acknowledged or a timeout has exceeded. In inquiry response, the FHS packet is not acknowledged. The FHS packet contains real-time clock information. This clock information is updated before each retransmission. The retransmission of the FHS payload is thus somewhat different from the retransmission of ordinary data payloads where the same payload is used for each retransmission. The FHS packet is used for frequency hop synchronization before the piconet channel has been established, or when an existing piconet changes to a new piconet. In the former case, the recipient has not been assigned an active member address yet, in which case the AM_ADDR field in the FHS packet header is set to all-zeroes; however, the FHS packet should not be considered as a broadcast packet. In the latter case the slave already has an AM ADDR in the existing piconet, which is then used in the FHS packet header.

.SB 34	24	2	2 2	в	16	24	3	26	MSE 3
Parity bits	LAP	Un- defined	SRSP	UAP	NAP	Class of device	AM_ ADDR	CLK ₂₇₋₂	Page scan mode

Figure 4.6: Format of the FHS payload

Each field is described in more detail below:

Parity bits	This 34-bit field contains the parity bits that form the first part of the sync word of the access code of the unit that sends the FHS packet. These bits are derived from the LAP as described in section 13.2 on page 143.
LAP	This 24-bit field contains the lower address part of the unit that sends the FHS packet.
Undefined	This 2-bit field is reserved for future use and shall be set to zero.
SR	This 2-bit field is the scan repetition field and indicates the interval between two consecutive page scan windows, see also Table 4.4 and Table 10.1 on page 101

Table 4.3: Description of the FHS payload

56

page 57 of 1082

Baseband Specification

101				
- 121	110	t n	10	th
D	uc	; LU	JU	uı

SP	This 2-bit field is the scan period field and indicates the period in which the mandatory page scan mode is applied after transmission of an inquiry response message, see also Table 4.5 and Table 10.6 on page 112.
UAP	This 8-bit field contains the upper address part of the unit that sends the FHS packet.
NAP	This 16-bit field contains the non-significant address part of the unit that sends the FHS packet (see also section 13.1 on page 143 for LAP, UAP, and NAP).
Class of device	This 24-bit field contains the class of device of the unit that sends the FHS packet. The class of device has not been defined yet.
AM_ADDR	This 3-bit field contains the member address the recipient shall use if the FHS packet is used at call setup or master-slave switch. A slave responding to a master or a unit responding to an inquiry request message shall include an all-zero AM_ADDR field if it sends the FHS packet.
CLK ₂₇₋₂	This 26-bit field contains the value of the native system clock of the unit that sends the FHS packet, sampled at the beginning of the transmission of the access code of this FHS packet. This clock value has a resolution of 1.25ms (two-slot interval). For each new transmission, this field is updated so that it accurately reflects the real-time clock value.
Page scan mode	This 3-bit field indicates which scan mode is used by default by the sender of the FHS packet. The interpretation of the page scan mode is illustrated in Table 4.6. Currently, the standard supports one mandatory scan mode and up to three optional scan modes (see also "Appendix VII" on page 999).

Table 4.3: Description of the FHS payload

SR bit format b1b0	SR mode
00	R0
01	R1
10	R2
11	reserved

Table 4.4: Contents of SR field

SP bit format b ₁ b ₀	SP mode
00	P0
01	P1
10	P2
11	reserved

Table 4.5: Contents of SP field

Packets

I

29 November 1999

57

page 58 of 1082

Baseband Specification

Bluetooth.

Bit format b2b1b0	Page scan mode			
000	Mandatory scan mode			
001	Optional scan mode I			
010	Optional scan mode II			
011	Optional scan mode III			
100	Reserved for future use			
101	Reserved for future use			
110	Reserved for future use			
111	Reserved for future use			

Table 4.6: Contents of page scan mode field

The LAP, UAP, and NAP together form the 48-bit IEEE address of the unit that sends the FHS packet. Using the parity bits and the LAP, the recipient can directly construct the channel access code of the sender of the FHS packet.

4.4.1.5 DM1 packet

DM1 serves as part of segment 1 in order to support control messages in any link type. However, it can also carry regular user data. Since the DM1 packet is recognized on the SCO link, it can interrupt the synchronous information to send control information. Since the DM1 packet can be regarded as an ACL packet, it will be discussed in Section 4.4.3 on page 60.

4.4.2 SCO packets

SCO packets are used on the synchronous SCO link. The packets do not include a CRC and are never retransmitted. SCO packets are routed to the synchronous I/O (voice) port. Up to now, three pure SCO packets have been defined. In addition, an SCO packet is defined which carries an asynchronous data field in addition to a synchronous (voice) field. The SCO packets defined so far are typically used for 64 kb/s speech transmission.

4.4.2.1 HV1 packet

The **HV1** packet carries 10 information bytes. The bytes are protected with a rate 1/3 FEC. No CRC is present. The payload length is fixed at 240 bits. There is no payload header present.

HV packets are typically used for voice transmission. HV stands for Highquality Voice. The voice packets are never retransmitted and need no CRC.

58

29 November 1999

page 59 of 1082

Baseband Specification

Bluetooth.

An HV1 packet can carry 1.25ms of speech at a 64 kb/s rate. In that case, an HV1 packet has to be sent every two time slots ($T_{SCO}=2$).

4.4.2.2 HV2 packet

The **HV2** packet carries 20 information bytes. The bytes are protected with a rate 2/3 FEC. No CRC is present. The payload length is fixed at 240 bits. There is no payload header present.

If the HV2 packet is used for voice at a 64 kb/s rate, it can carry 2.5ms of speech. In that case, an HV2 packet has to be sent every four time slots $(T_{SCO}=4)$.

4.4.2.3 HV3 packet

The **HV3** packet carries 30 information bytes. The bytes are not protected by FEC. No CRC is present. The payload length is fixed at 240 bits. There is no payload header present.

If the HV3 packet is used for voice at a 64 kb/s rate, it can carry 3.75ms of speech. In that case, an HV3 packet has to be sent every six time slots ($T_{SCO}=6$).

4.4.2.4 DV packet

The **DV** packet is a combined data - voice packet. The payload is divided into a voice field of 80 bits and a data field containing up to 150 bits, see Figure 4.7. The voice field is not protected by FEC. The data field contains up to 10 information bytes (including the 1-byte payload header) and includes a 16-bit CRC. The data field is encoded with a rate 2/3 FEC. If necessary, extra zeroes are appended to assure that the total number of payload bits is a multiple of 10 prior to FEC encoding. Since the **DV** packet has to be sent at regular intervals due to its synchronous (voice) contents, it is listed under the SCO packet types. The voice and data fields are treated completely separate. The voice field is handled like normal SCO data and is never retransmitted; that is, the voice field is always new. The data field is checked for errors and is retransmitted if necessary.

LSB 72	54	80	32 - 150	MSE
ACCESS	UEADED	VOICE	DATA	
CODE	HEADER	FIELD	FIELD	

Figure 4.7: DV packet format

59

page 60 of 1082

Baseband Specification

Bluetooth.

4.4.3 ACL packets

ACL packets are used on the asynchronous links. The information carried can be user data or control data. Including the DM1 packet, seven ACL packets have been defined. Six of the ACL packets contain a CRC code and retransmission is applied if no acknowledgement of proper reception is received (except in case a flush operation is carried out, see Section 5.3.3 on page 71). The 7th ACL packet, the AUX1 packet, has no CRC and is not retransmitted.

4.4.3.1 DM1 packet

The DM1 packet is a packet that carries data information only. DM stands for Data – Medium rate. The payload contains up to 18 information bytes (including the 1-byte payload header) plus a 16-bit CRC code. The DM1 packet may cover up to a single time slot. The information plus CRC bits are coded with a rate 2/3 FEC which adds 5 parity bits to every 10-bit segment. If necessary, extra zeros are appended after the CRC bits to get the total number of bits (information bits, CRC bits, and tail bits) equal a multiple of 10. The payload header in the DM1 packet is only 1 byte long, see Figure 4.8 on page 62. The length indicator in the payload header specifies the number of user bytes (excluding payload header and the CRC code).

4.4.3.2 DH1 packet

This packet is similar to the DM1 packet, except that the information in the payload is not FEC encoded. As a result, the DH1 packet can carry up to 28 information bytes plus a 16-bit CRC code. DH stands for Data – High rate. The DH1 packet may cover up to a single time slot.

4.4.3.3 DM3 packet

The DM3 packet is a DM1 packet with an extended payload. The DM3 packet may cover up to three time slots. The payload contains up to 123 information bytes (including the 2-bytes payload header) plus a 16-bit CRC code. The payload header in the DM3 packet is 2 bytes long, see Figure 4.9 on page 62. The length indicator in the payload header specifies the number of user bytes (excluding payload header and the CRC code). When a DM3 packet is sent or received, the RF hop frequency shall not change for a duration of three time slots (the first time slot being the slot where the channel access code was transmitted).

4.4.3.4 DH3 packet

This packet is similar to the DM3 packet, except that the information in the payload is not FEC encoded. As a result, the DH3 packet can carry up to 185 information bytes (including the two bytes payload header) plus a 16-bit CRC code.

60

29 November 1999

page 61 of 1082

Baseband Specification

Bluetooth.

The DH3 packet may cover three time slots. When a DH3 packet is sent or received, the hop frequency shall not change for a duration of three time slots (the first time slot being the slot where the channel access code was transmitted).

4.4.3.5 DM5 packet

The DM5 packet is a DM1 packet with an extended payload. The DM5 packet may cover up to five time slots. The payload contains up to 226 information bytes (including the 2-bytes payload header) plus a 16-bit CRC code. The payload header in the DM5 packet is 2 bytes long. The length indicator in the payload header specifies the number of user bytes (excluding payload header and the CRC code). When a DM5 packet is sent or received, the hop frequency shall not change for a duration of five time slots (the first time slot being the slot where the channel access code was transmitted).

4.4.3.6 DH5 packet

This packet is similar to the DM5 packet, except that the information in the payload is not FEC encoded. As a result, the DH5 packet can carry up to 341 information bytes (including the two bytes payload header) plus a 16-bit CRC code. The DH5 packet may cover five time slots. When a DH5 packet is sent or received, the hop frequency shall not change for a duration of five time slots (the first time slot being the slot where the channel access code was transmitted).

4.4.3.7 AUX1 packet

This packet resembles a DH1 packet but has no CRC code. The AUX1 packet can carry up to 30 information bytes (including the 1-byte payload header). The AUX1 packet may cover up to a single time slot.

page 62 of 1082

Baseband Specification

Bluetooth.

4.5 PAYLOAD FORMAT

In the previous packet overview, several payload formats were considered. In the payload, two fields are distinguished: the (synchronous) voice field and the (asynchronous) data field. The ACL packets only have the data field and the SCO packets only have the voice field – with the exception of the DV packets which have both.

4.5.1 Voice field

The voice field has a fixed length. For the HV packets, the voice field length is 240 bits; for the DV packet the voice field length is 80 bits. No payload header is present.

4.5.2 Data field

The data field consists of three segments: a payload header, a payload body, and possibly a CRC code (only the AUX1 packet does not carry a CRC code).

1. Payload header

Only data fields have a payload header. The payload header is one or two bytes long. Packets in segments one and two have a 1-byte payload header; packets in segments three and four have a 2-bytes payload header. The payload header specifies the logical channel (2-bit L_CH indication), controls the flow on the logical channels (1-bit FLOW indication), and has a payload length indicator (5 bits and 9 bits for 1-byte and 2-bytes payload header, respectively). In the case of a 2-byte payload header, the length indicator is extended by four bits into the next byte. The remaining four bits of the second byte are reserved for future use and shall be set to zero. The formats of the 1-byte and 2-bytes payload headers are shown in Figure 4.8 on page 62 and Figure 4.9 on page 62.



Figure 4.8: Payload header format for single-slot packets.



Figure 4.9: Payload header format for multi-slot packets.

62

The L_CH field is transmitted first, the length field last. In Table 4.7 on page 63, more details about the contents of the L_CH field are listed.

29 November 1999

page 63 of 1082

Baseband Specification

Bluetooth.

L_CH code b1b0	Logical Channel	Information
00	NA	undefined
01	UA/UI	Continuation fragment of an L2CAP message
10	UA/UI	Start of an L2CAP message or no fragmentation
11	LM	LMP message

Table 4.7: Logical channel L_CH field contents

An L2CAP message can be fragmented into several packets. Code 10 is used for an L2CAP packet carrying the first fragment of such a message; code 01 is used for continuing fragments. If there is no fragmentation, code 10 is used for every packet. Code 11 is used for LMP messages. Code 00 is reserved for future use.

The flow indicator in the payload is used to control the flow at the L2CAP level. It is used to control the flow per logical channel (when applicable). FLOW=1 means flow-on ("OK to send") and FLOW=0 means flow-off ("stop"). There are no strict real-time requirements on the flow bit in the payload header. Flow bit in the last correctly received payload header determines flow status. The link manager is responsible for setting and processing the flow bit in the payload header. Real-time flow control is carried out at the packet level by the link controller via the flow bit in the packet header (see Section 4.3.3 on page 52). With the payload flow bit, traffic from the remote end can be controlled. It is allowed to generate and send an ACL packet with payload load length zero. L2CAP start- and continue-fragment indications (L CH=10 and L CH=01) also retain their meaning when the payload length is equal to zero (i.e. an empty start-fragment should not be sent in the middle of an on-going L2CAP packet transmission). It is always safe to send an ACL packet with payload length=0 and L CH=10. The payload flow bit has its own meaning for each logical channel (UA/I or LM), see Table 4.8 on page 63. On the LM channel, no flow control is applied and the payload flow bit is always set at one.

L_CH code b ₁ b ₀	Usage and semantics of the ACL payload header FLOW bit
00	Not defined, reserved for future use.
01 or 10	Flow control of the UA/I channels (which are used to send L2CAP messages)
11	Always set FLOW=1 on transmission and ignore the bit on reception

Table 4.8: Use of payload header flow bit on the logical channels.

The length indicator indicates the number of bytes (i.e. 8-bit words) in the payload excluding the payload header and the CRC code; i.e. the payload body only. With reference to Figure 4.8 and Figure 4.9, the MSB of the length field in a 1-byte header is the last (right-most) bit in the payload

page 64 of 1082

Baseband Specification

Bluetooth.

header; the MSB of the length field in a 2-byte header is the fourth bit (from left) of the second byte in the payload header.

2. Payload body

The payload body includes the user host information and determines the effective user throughput. The length of the payload body is indicated in the length field of the payload header.

3. CRC code generation

The 16-bit cyclic redundancy check code in the payload is generated by the CRC-CCITT polynomial 210041 (octal representation). It is generated in a way similar to the HEC. Before determining the CRC code, an 8-bit value is used to initialize the CRC generator. For the CRC code in the FHS packets sent in **master page response** state, the UAP of the slave is used. For the FHS packet sent in **inquiry response** state, the DCI (see Section 5.4) is used. For all other packets, the UAP of the master is used.

The 8 bits are loaded into the 8 least significant (left-most) positions of the LFSR circuit, see Figure 5.10 on page 76. The other 8 bits are at the same time reset to zero. Subsequently, the CRC code is calculated over the information. Then the CRC code is appended to the information; the UAP (or DCI) is disregarded. At the receive side, the CRC circuitry is in the same way initialized with the 8-bit UAP (DCI) before the received information is checked. More information can be found in Section 5.4 on page 73.

page 65 of 1082

Baseband Specification

Bluetooth.

4.6 PACKET SUMMARY

A summary of the packets and their characteristics is shown in Table 4.9, Table 4.10 and Table 4.11. The user payload represents the packet payload excluding FEC, CRC, and payload header.

Туре	User Payload (bytes)	FEC	CRC	Symmetric Max. Rate	Asymmetric Max. Rate
ID	na	na	na	na	na
NULL	na	na	na	na	na
POLL	na	na	na	na	na
FHS	18	2/3	yes	na	na

Table 4.9: Link control packets

Payload		User			Symmetric	Asymmetric Max. Rate (kb/s)	
Туре	Header (bytes)	Payload (bytes)	FEC	CRC	Max. Rate (kb/s)	Forward	Reverse
DM1	1	0-17	2/3	yes	108.8	108.8	108.8
DH1	1	0-27	no	yes	172.8	172.8	172.8
DM3	2	0-121	2/3	yes	258.1	387.2	54.4
DH3	2	0-183	no	yes	390.4	585.6	86.4
DM5	2	0-224	2/3	yes	286.7	477.8	36.3
DH5	2	0-339	no	yes	433.9	723.2	57.6
AUX1	1	0-29	no	no	185.6	185.6	185.6

Table 4.10: ACL packets

Туре	Payload Header (bytes)	User Payload (bytes)	FEC	CRC	Symmetric Max. Rate (kb/s) 64.0	
HV1	na	10	1/3	no		
HV2	na	20	2/3	no	64.0	
HV3	na	30	no	no	64.0	
DV*	1 D	10+(0-9) D	2/3 D	yes D	64.0+57.6 D	

Table 4.11: SCO packets

*. Items followed by 'D' relate to data field only.

page 66 of 1082

Baseband Specification

Bluetooth.

29 November 1999

page 67 of 1082

Baseband Specification

Bluetooth.

5 ERROR CORRECTION

There are three error correction schemes defined for Bluetooth:

- 1/3 rate FEC
- · 2/3 rate FEC
- ARQ scheme for the data

The purpose of the FEC scheme on the data payload is to reduce the number of retransmissions. However, in a reasonable error-free environment, FEC gives unnecessary overhead that reduces the throughput. Therefore, the packet definitions given in Section 4 have been kept flexible to use FEC in the payload or not, resulting in the **DM** and **DH** packets for the ACL link and the **HV** packets for the SCO link. The packet header is always protected by a 1/3 rate FEC; it contains valuable link information and should be able to sustain more bit errors.

Correction measures to mask errors in the voice decoder are not included in this section. This matter is discussed in section Section 12.3 on page 142.

5.1 FEC CODE: RATE 1/3

A simple 3-times repetition FEC code is used for the header. The repetition code is implemented by repeating the bit three times, see the illustration in Figure 5.1 on page 67. The 3-bit repetition code is used for the entire header, and also for the voice field in the **HV1** packet.

1.00		7.209	15.274	100	1.01	1.00	100	1000	
b	b	b	b.	b.	b.	b	b	b	
0	0	0	1	1	1	2	2	2	

Figure 5.1: Bit-repetition encoding scheme.

5.2 FEC CODE: RATE 2/3

The other FEC scheme is a (15,10) shortened Hamming code. The generator polynomial is $g(D) = (D+1)(D^4+D+1)$. This corresponds to 65 in octal notation. The LFSR generating this code is depicted in Figure 5.2 on page 68. Initially all register elements are set to zero. The 10 information bits are sequentially fed into the LFSR with the switches S1 and S2 set in position 1. Then, after the final input bit, the switches S1 and S2 are set in position 2, and the five parity bits are shifted out. The parity bits are appended to the information bits. Consequently, each block of 10 information bits is encoded into a 15 bit codeword. This code can correct all single errors and detect all double errors in each codeword. This 2/3 rate FEC is used in the **DM** packets, in the data field of the **DV** packet, in the **FHS** packet, and in the **HV2** packet. Since the encoder operates with information segments of length 10, tail bits with

Error Correction

29 November 1999

page 68 of 1082

Baseband Specification

Bluetooth.

value zero may have to be appended after the CRC bits. The total number of bits to encode, i.e., payload header, user data, CRC, and tail bits, must be a multiple of 10. Thus, the number of tail bits to append is the least possible that achieves this (i.e., in the interval 0...9). These tail bits are not included in the payload length indicator.



Figure 5.2: LFSR generating the (15,10) shortened Hamming code.

5.3 ARQ SCHEME

With an automatic repeat request scheme, **DM**, **DH** and the data field of **DV** packets are transmitted and retransmitted until acknowledgement of a successful reception is returned by the destination (or timeout is exceeded). The acknowledgement information is included in the header of the return packet, so-called piggy-backing. To determine whether the payload is correct or not, a cyclic redundancy check (CRC) code is added to the packet. The ARQ scheme only works on the payload in the packet (only that payload which has a CRC). The packet header and the voice payload are not protected by the ARQ scheme.

5.3.1 Unnumbered ARQ

68

Bluetooth uses a fast, unnumbered acknowledgment scheme: an ACK (ARQN=1) or a NAK (ARQN=0) is returned in response to the receipt of previously received packet. The slave will respond in the slave-to-master slot directly following the master-to-slave slot; the master will respond at the next event it will address the same slave (the master may have addressed other slaves between the last received packet from the considered slave and the master response to this packet). For a packet reception to be successful, at least the HEC must check. In addition, the CRC must check if present.

At the start of a new connection which may be the result of a page, page scan, master-slave switch or unpark, the master sends a POLL packet to verify the connection. In this packet the master initializes the ARQN bit to NAK. The response packet sent by the slave also has the ARQN bit set to NAK. The subsequent packets use the following rules.

The ARQ bit is affected by data packets containing CRC and empty slots only. As shown in Fig. 5.3 on page 70, upon successful reception of a CRC packet, the ARQN bit is set to ACK. If, in any receive slot in the slave or in a receive

Error Correction

page 69 of 1082

Baseband Specification

Bluetooth.

slot following transmission of a packet in the master, no access code is detected, and the HEC check or the CRC check of a CRC packet fails, then the ARQN bit is set to NAK. Packets that have correct HEC but that are addressed to other slaves, or packets other than DH, DM, or DV packets, do not affect the ARQN bit. In these cases the ARQN bit is left as it was prior to reception of the packet. If a CRC packet with a correct header has the same SEQN as the previously received CRC packet, the ARQN bit is set to ACK and the payload is disregarded without checking the CRC.

The ARQ bit in the FHS packet is not meaningful. Contents of the ARQN bit in the FHS packet should not be checked.

Broadcast packets are checked on errors using the CRC, but no ARQ scheme is applied. Broadcast packets are never acknowledged.

Inactive connection modes HOLD and SNIFF do not affect the ARQN scheme. After return from these modes, packets will continue using values from before the start of hold/sniff modes.

Error Correction

29 November 1999

page 70 of 1082

Baseband Specification

Bluetooth.



Figure 5.3: Receive protocol for determining the ARQN bit.

5.3.2 Retransmit filtering

The data payload is retransmitted until a positive acknowledgment is received (or a timeout is exceeded). A retransmission is carried out either because the packet transmission itself failed, or because the piggy-backed acknowledgment transmitted in the return packet failed (note that the latter has a lower failure probability since the header is more heavily coded). In the latter case, the destination keeps receiving the same payload over and over again. In order to filter out the retransmissions in the destination, the SEQN bit is added in the header. Normally, this bit is alternated for every new CRC data payload transmission. In case of a retransmission, this bit is not changed. So the destination can compare the SEQN bit with the previous SEQN value. If different, a new data payload has arrived; otherwise it is the same data payload and can be discarded. Only new data payloads are transferred to the link manager. Note that CRC data payloads can be carried only by **DM**, **DH** or **DV** packets.

70

Error Correction

page 71 of 1082

Baseband Specification

Bluetooth.

At the start of a new connection which may be the result of a page, page scan, master slave switch or unpark, the master sends a POLL packet to verify the connection. The slave responds with a packet. The SEQN bit of the first CRC data packet, on both the master and the slave sides, is set to 1. The subsequent packets use the rules given below.

The SEQN bit is affected only by the CRC data packets as shown in Figure 5.4. It is inverted every time a new CRC data packet is sent. The CRC data packet is retransmitted with the same SEQN number until an ACK is received or the packet is flushed. When an ACK is received, the SEQN bit is inverted and a new payload is sent. When the packet is flushed (see Section 5.3.3 on page 71), a new payload is sent. The SEQN bit is not necessarily inverted. However, if an ACK is received before the new packet is sent, the SEQN bit is inverted. This procedure prevents loss of the first packet of a message (after the **flush** command has been given) due to the retransmit filtering.



Figure 5.4: Retransmit filtering for packets with CRC.

The SEQN bit in the FHS packet is not meaningful. This bit can be set to any value. Contents of the SEQN bit in the FHS packet should not be checked. During transmission of all other packets the SEQN bit remains the same as it was in the previous packet.

Inactive connection modes HOLD and SNIFF do not affect the SEQN scheme. After return from these modes, packets will continue using values from before the start of hold/sniff modes.

5.3.3 Flushing payloads

The ARQ scheme can cause variable delay in the traffic flow since retransmissions are inserted to assure error-free data transfer. For certain communication

Error Correction

71

page 72 of 1082

Baseband Specification

Bluetooth.

links, only a limited amount of delay is allowed: retransmissions are allowed up to a certain limit at which the current payload must be disregarded and the next payload must be considered. This data transfer is indicated as **isochronous traffic**. This means that the retransmit process must be overruled in order to continue with the next data payload. Aborting the retransmit scheme is accomplished by *flushing* the old data and forcing the Bluetooth controller to take the next data instead.

Flushing results in loss of remaining portions of an L2CAP message. Therefore, the packet following the flush will have a start packet indication of $L_CH =$ 10 in the payload header for the next L2CAP message. This informs the destination of the flush. (see Section 4.5). Flushing will not necessarily result in a change in the SEQN bit value, see the previous section.

5.3.4 Multi-slave considerations

In case of a piconet with multiple slaves, the master carries out the ARQ protocol independently to each slave.

5.3.5 Broadcast packets

Broadcast packets are packets transmitted by the master to all the slaves simultaneously. A broadcast packet is indicated by the all-zero AM_ADDR (note; the FHS packet is the only packet which may have an all-zero address but is not a broadcast packet). Broadcast packets are not acknowledged (at least not at the LC level).

Since broadcast messages are not acknowledged, each broadcast packet is repeated for a fixed number of times. A broadcast packet is repeated N_{BC} times before the next broadcast packet of the same broadcast message is repeated, see Figure 5.5 on page 73.

Broadcast packets with a CRC have their own sequence number. The SEQN of the first broadcast packet with a CRC is set to SEQN = 1 by the master and it is inverted for each new broadcast packet with CRC thereafter. Broadcast packet ets without a CRC have no influence on the sequence number. The slave accepts the SEQN of the first broadcast packet it receives in a connection and checks for change in SEQN for consequent broadcast packets. Since there is no acknowledgement of broadcast messages and there is no end packet indication, it is important to receive the start packets correctly. To ensure this, repetitions of the broadcast packets that are L2CAP start packets and LMP packets will not be filtered out. These packets are indicated by L_CH=1X in the payload header as explained in section 4.5 on page 62. Only repetitions of the L2CAP continuation packets will be filtered out.
page 73 of 1082

Baseband Specification

Bluetooth.



Figure 5.5: Broadcast repetition scheme

5.4 ERROR CHECKING

We can check the packet for errors or wrong delivery using the channel access code, the HEC in the header, and the CRC in the payload. At packet reception, first the access code is checked. Since the 64-bit sync word in the channel access code is derived from the 24-bit master LAP, this checks if the LAP is correct, and prevents the receiver from accepting a packet of another piconet.

The HEC and CRC are used to check both on errors and on a wrong address: to increase the address space with 8 bits, the UAP is normally included in the HEC and CRC checks. Then, even when a packet with the same access code – i.e., an access code of a device owning the same LAP but different UAP – passes the access code test, it will be discarded after the HEC and CRC tests when the UAP bits do not match. However, there is an exception where no common UAP is available in the transmitter and receiver. This is the case when the HEC and CRC are generated for the FHS packet in **inquiry response** state. In this case the default check initialization (DCI) value is used. The DCI is defined to be 0×00 (hexadecimal).

The generation and check of the HEC and CRC are summarized in Figure 5.8 on page 75 and Figure 5.11 on page 76. Before calculating the HEC or CRC, the shift registers in the HEC/CRC generators are initialized with the 8-bit UAP (or DCI) value. Then the header and payload information is shifted into the HEC and CRC generators, respectively (with the LSB first).

The HEC generating LFSR is depicted in Figure 5.6 on page 74. The generator polynomial is $g(D) = (D+1)(D^7 + D^4 + D^3 + D^2 + 1) = D^8 + D^7 + D^5 + D^2 + D + 1$. Initially this circuit is pre-loaded with the 8-bit UAP such that the LSB of the UAP (denoted UAP₀) goes to the left-most shift register element, and, UAP₇ goes to the right-most element. The initial state of the HEC LFSR is depicted in Figure 5.7 on page 75. Then the data is shifted in with the switch S set in position 1. When the last data bit has been clocked into the LFSR, the switch S is set in position 2, and, the HEC can be read out from the register. The LFSR bits

Error Correction

page 74 of 1082

Baseband Specification

Bluetooth.

are read out from right to left (i.e., the bit in position 7 is the first to be transmitted, followed by the bit in position 6, etc.).



Figure 5.6: The LFSR circuit generating the HEC.

page 75 of 1082

Baseband Specification

Bluetooth.

Position: 0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 LFSR: UAP₀ UAP₁ UAP₂ UAP₃ UAP₄ UAP₅ UAP₆ UAP₇





Figure 5.8: HEC generation and checking.

The 16 bit LFSR for the CRC is constructed similarly using the CRC-CCITT generator polynomial $g(D) = D^{16} + D^{12} + D^5 + 1$ (see Figure 5.9 on page 75). For this case, the 8 left-most bits are initially loaded with the 8-bit UAP (UAP₀ to the left and UAP₇ to the right) while the 8 right-most bits are reset to zero. The initial state of the 16 bit LFSR is depicted in Figure 5.10 on page 76. The switch S is set in position 1 while the data is shifted in. After the last bit has entered the LFSR, the switch is set in position 2, and, the register's contents are transmitted, from right to left (i.e., starting with position 15, then position 14, etc.).



Figure 5.9: The LFSR circuit generating the CRC,

Error Correction

29 November 1999

page 76 of 1082

Baseband Specification

Bluetooth.

Position:	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13	14	15
LFSR:	UAP ₀	UAP1	UAP2	UAP3	UAP4	UAP5	UAP ₆	UAP7	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0





Figure 5.11: CRC generation and checking

Error Correction

page 77 of 1082

Bluetooth.

Baseband Specification

6 LOGICAL CHANNELS

In the Bluetooth system, five logical channels are defined:

- LC control channel
- LM control channel
- UA user channel
- · UI user channel
- US user channel

The control channels LC and LM are used at the link control level and link manager level, respectively. The user channels UA, UI, and US are used to carry asynchronous, isochronous, and synchronous user information, respectively. The LC channel is carried in the packet header; all other channels are carried in the packet payload. The LM, UA, and UI channels are indicated in the L_CH field in the payload header. The US channel is carried by the SCO link only; the UA and UI channels are normally carried by the ACL link; however, they can also be carried by the data in the DV packet on the SCO link. The LM channel can be carried either by the SCO or the ACL link.

6.1 LC CHANNEL (Link Control)

The LC control channel is mapped onto the packet header. This channel carries low level link control information like ARQ, flow control, and payload characterization. The LC channel is carried in every packet except in the **ID** packet which has no packet header.

6.2 LM CHANNEL (Link Manager)

The LM control channel carries control information exchanged between the link managers of the master and the slave(s). Typically, the LM channel uses protected **DM** packets. The LM channel is indicated by the L_CH code 11 in the payload header.

6.3 UA/UI CHANNEL (User Asynchronous/Isochronous Data)

The UA channel carries L2CAP transparent asynchronous user data. This data may be transmitted in one or more baseband packets. For fragmented messages, the start packet uses an L_CH code of 10 in the payload header. Remaining continuation packets use L_CH code 01. If there is no fragmentation, all packets use the L2CAP start code 10.

Isochronous data channel is supported by timing start packets properly at higher levels. At the baseband level, the L_CH code usage is the same as the UA channel.

Logical Channels

page 78 of 1082

Baseband Specification

Bluetooth.

6.4 US CHANNEL (User Synchronous Data)

The US channel carries transparent synchronous user data. This channel is carried over the SCO link.

6.5 CHANNEL MAPPING

The LC channel is mapped onto the packet header. All other channels are mapped onto the payload. The US channel can only be mapped onto the SCO packets. All other channels are mapped on the ACL packets, or possibly the SCO **DV** packet. The LM, UA, and UI channels may interrupt the US channel if it concerns information of higher priority.

Logical Channels

page 79 of 1082

Baseband Specification

Bluetooth.

7 DATA WHITENING

Before transmission, both the header and the payload are scrambled with a data whitening word in order to randomize the data from highly redundant patterns and to minimize DC bias in the packet. The scrambling is performed prior to the FEC encoding.

At the receiver, the received data is descrambled using the same whitening word generated in the recipient. The descrambling is performed after FEC decoding.

The whitening word is generated with the polynomial $g(D) = D^7 + D^4 + 1$ (i.e., 221 in octal representation) and is subsequently EXORed with the header and the payload. The whitening word is generated with the linear feedback shift register shown in Figure 7.1 on page 79. Before each transmission, the shift register is initialized with a portion of the master Bluetooth clock, CLK₆₋₁, extended with an MSB of value one. This initialization is carried out with CLK1 written to position 0, CLK₂ written to position 1, etc. An exception forms the FHS packet sent during frequency hop acquisition, where initialization of the whitening register is carried out differently. Instead of the master clock, the Xinput used in the inquiry or page response (depending on current state) routine is used, see Table 11.3 and Table 11.4 for the 79-hop and 23-hop systems, respectively. In case of a 79-hop system, the 5-bit values is extended with two MSBs of value one. In case of a 23-hop system, the 4-bit value is extended with three bits; the two MSBs are set to one and the third most significant bit is set to zero. During register initialization, the LSB of X (i.e., X₀) is written to position 0, X₁ is written to position 1, etc.



Figure 7.1: Data whitening LFSR.

After initialization, the packet header and the payload (including the CRC) are scrambled. The payload whitening continues from the state the whitening LFSR had at the end of HEC. There is no re-initialization of the shift register between packet header and payload. The first bit of the "Data In" sequence is the LSB of the packet header.

page 80 of 1082

Baseband Specification

Bluetooth.

29 November 1999

Data Whitening

page 81 of 1082

Baseband Specification

Bluetooth.

8 TRANSMIT/RECEIVE ROUTINES

This section describes the way to use the packets as defined in Section 4 in order to support the traffic on the ACL and SCO links. Both single-slave and multi-slave configurations are considered. In addition, the use of buffers for the TX and RX routines are described.

The TX and RX routines described in sections 8.1 and 8.2 are of an informative character only. The final implementation may be carried out differently.

8.1 TX ROUTINE

The TX routine is carried out separately for each ACL link and each SCO link. Figure 8.1 on page 81 shows the ACL and SCO buffers as used in the TX routine. In this figure, only a single TX ACL buffer and a single TX SCO buffer are shown. In the master, there is a separate TX ACL buffer for each slave. In addition there may be one or more TX SCO buffers for each SCO slave (different SCO links may either reuse the same TX SCO buffer, or each have their own TX SCO buffer). Each TX buffer consists of two FIFO registers: one **current** register which can be accessed and read by the Bluetooth controller in order to compose the packets, and one **next** register that can be accessed by the Bluetooth Link Manager to load new information. The positions of the switches S1 and S2 determine which register is current and which register is next; the switches are controlled by the Bluetooth Link Controller. The switches at the input and the output of the FIFO registers can never be connected to the same register simultaneously.



Figure 8.1: Functional diagram of TX buffering.

Of the packets common on the ACL and SCO links (ID, NULL, POLL, FHS, DM1) only the DM1 packet carries a payload that is exchanged between the Link Controller and the Link Manager; this common packet makes use of the

page 82 of 1082

Baseband Specification

Bluetooth.

ACL buffer. All ACL packets make use of the ACL buffer. All SCO packets make use of the SCO buffer except for the **DV** packet where the voice part is handled by the SCO buffer and the data part is handled by the ACL buffer. In the next sections, the operation for ACL traffic, SCO traffic, and combined data-voice traffic on the SCO link will be considered.

8.1.1 ACL traffic

In the case of pure (asynchronous) data, only the TX ACL buffer in Figure 8.1 on page 81 has to be considered. In this case, only packet types **DM** or **DH** are used, and these can have different lengths. The length is indicated in the payload header. The selection of high-rate data or medium-rate data shall depend on the quality of the link. When the quality is good, the FEC in the data payload can be omitted, resulting in a **DH** packet. Otherwise, **DM** packets must be used.

The default TYPE in pure data traffic is **NULL**. This means that, if there is no data to be sent (the data traffic is asynchronous, and therefore pauses occur in which no data is available) or no slaves need to be polled, **NULL** packets are sent instead – in order to send link control information to the other Bluetooth unit (e.g. ACK/STOP information for received data). When no link control information is available either (no need to acknowledge and/or no need to stop the RX flow) no packet is sent at all.

The TX routine works as follows. The Bluetooth Link Manager loads new data information in the register to which the switch S1a points. Next, it gives a **flush** command to the Bluetooth Link Controller, which forces the switch S1 to change (both S1a and S1b switch in synchrony). When the payload needs to be sent, the packet composer reads the current register and, depending on the packet TYPE, builds a payload which is appended to the channel access code and the header and is subsequently transmitted. In the response packet (which arrives in the following RX slot if it concerned a master transmission, or may be postponed until some later RX slot if it concerned a slave transmission), the result of the transmission is reported back. In case of an ACK, the switch S1 changes position; if a NAK (explicit or implicit) is received instead, the switch S1 will not change position. In that case, the same payload is retransmitted at the next TX occasion.

As long as the Link Manager keeps loading the registers with new information, the Bluetooth Link Controller will automatically transmit the payload; in addition, retransmissions are performed automatically in case of errors. The Link Controller will send **NULL** or nothing when no new data is loaded. If no new data has been loaded in the **next** register, during the last transmission, the packet composer will be pointing to an empty register after the last transmission has been acknowledged and the **next** register becomes the **current** register. If new data is loaded in the **next** register, a **flush** command is required to switch the S1 switch to the proper register. As long as the Link Manager keeps loading the data and type registers before each TX slot, the data is automatically processed by the Link Controller since the S1 switch is controlled by the

82

29 November 1999

page 83 of 1082

Baseband Specification

Bluetooth.

ACK information received in response. However, if the traffic from the Link Manager is interrupted once and a default packet is sent instead, a **flush** command is required to continue the flow in the Link Controller.

The **flush** command can also be used in case of time-bounded (isochronous) data. In case of a bad link, many retransmission are necessary. In certain applications, the data is time-bounded: if a payload is retransmitted all the time because of link errors, it may become outdated, and the system might decide to continue with more recent data instead and skip the payload that does not come through. This is accomplished by the **flush** command as well. With the **flush**, the switch S1 is forced to change and the Link Controller is forced to consider the next data payload and overrules the ACK control.

8.1.2 SCO traffic

In case of an SCO link, we only use **HV** packet types. The synchronous port continuously loads the **next** register in the SCO buffer. The S2 switches are changed according to the T_{sco} interval. This T_{sco} interval is negotiated between the master and the slave at the time the SCO link is established.

For each new SCO slot, the packet composer reads the **current** register after which the S2 switch is changed. If the SCO slot has to be used to send control information with high priority concerning a control packet between the master and the considered SCO slave, or a control packet between the master and any other slave, the packet composer will discard the SCO information and use the control information instead. This control information must be sent in a DM1 packet. Data or link control information can also be exchanged between the master and the SCO slave by using the **DV** or **DM1** packets. Any ACL type of packet can be used to sent data or link control information to any other ACL slave. This is discussed next.

8.1.3 Mixed data/voice traffic

In Section 4.4.2 on page 58, a **DV** packet has been defined that can support both data and voice simultaneously on a single SCO link. When the TYPE is **DV**, the Link Controller reads the data register to fill the data field and the voice register to fill the voice field. Thereafter, the switch S2 is changed. However, the position of S1 depends on the result of the transmission like on the ACL link: only if an ACK has been received will the S1 switch change its position. In each **DV** packet, the voice information is new, but the data information might be retransmitted if the previous transmission failed. If there is no data to be sent, the SCO link will automatically change from **DV** packet type to the current **HV** packet type used before the mixed data/voice transmission. Note that a **flush** command is required when the data stream has been interrupted and new data has arrived.

Combined data-voice transmission can also be accomplished by using separate ACL links in addition to the SCO link(s) if channel capacity permits this.

page 84 of 1082

Baseband Specification

Bluetooth.

8.1.4 Default packet types

On the ACL links, the default type is always **NULL** both for the master and the slave. This means that if no user information needs to be send, either a **NULL** packet is sent if there is **ACK** or **STOP** information, or no packet is sent at all. The **NULL** packet can be used by the master to allocate the next slave-to-master slot to a certain slave (namely the one addressed). However, the slave is not forced to respond to the **NULL** packet from the master. If the master requires a response, it has to send a **POLL** packet.

The SCO packet type is negotiated at the LM level when the SCO link is established. The agreed packet type is also the default packet type for the SCO slots.

8.2 RX ROUTINE

The RX routine is carried out separately for the ACL link and the SCO link. However, in contrast to the master TX ACL buffer, a single RX buffer is shared among all slaves. For the SCO buffer, it depends how the different SCO links are distinguished whether extra SCO buffers are required or not. Figure 8.2 on page 84 shows the ACL and SCO buffers as used in the RX routine. The RX ACL buffer consists of two FIFO registers: one register that can be accessed and loaded by the Bluetooth Link Controller with the payload of the latest RX packet, and one register that can be accessed by the Bluetooth Link Manager to read the previous payload. The RX SCO buffer also consists of two FIFO registers: one register which is filled with newly arrived voice information, and one register which can be read by the voice processing unit.



Figure 8.2: Functional diagram of RX buffering

Since the TYPE indication in the header of the received packet indicates whether the payload contains data and/or voice, the packet de-composer can automatically direct the traffic to the proper buffers. The switch S1 changes

page 85 of 1082

Baseband Specification

Bluetooth.

every time the Link Manager has read the old register. If the next payload arrives before the RX register is emptied, a STOP indication must be included in the packet header of the next TX packet that is returned. The STOP indication is removed again as soon as the RX register is emptied. The SEQN field is checked before a new ACL payload is stored into the ACL register (flush indication in L_CH and broadcast messages influence the interpretation of the SEQN field see Section 5.3 on page 68).

The S2 switch is changed every T_{SCO} . If – due to errors in the header – no new voice payload arrives, the switch still changes. The voice processing unit then has to process the voice signal to account for the missing speech parts.

8.3 FLOW CONTROL

Since the RX ACL buffer can be full while a new payload arrives, flow control is required. As was mentioned earlier, the header field FLOW in the return TX packet can use STOP or GO in order to control the transmission of new data.

8.3.1 Destination control

As long as data cannot be received, a STOP indication is transmitted which is automatically inserted by the Link Controller into the header of the return packet. STOP is returned as long as the RX ACL buffer is not emptied by the Link Manager. When new data can be accepted again, the GO indication is returned. GO is the default value. Note that all packet types not including data can still be received. Voice communication for example is not affected by the flow control. Also note that although a Bluetooth unit cannot receive new information, it can still continue to transmit information: the flow control is separate for each direction.

8.3.2 Source control

On the reception of a STOP signal, the Link Controller will automatically switch to the default packet type. The current TX ACL buffer status is frozen. Default packets are sent as long as the STOP indication is received. When no packet is received, GO is assumed implicitly. Note that the default packets contain link control information (in the header) for the receive direction (which may still be open) and may contain voice (**HV** packets). When a GO indication is received, the Link Controller resumes to transmit the data as is present in the TX ACL buffers.

In a multi-slave configuration, only the transmission to the slave that issued the STOP signal is stalled. This means that the previously described routine implemented in the master only concerns the TX ACL buffer that corresponds to the slave that cannot accept data momentarily.

Transmit/Receive Routines

page 86 of 1082

Baseband Specification

Bluetooth.

8.4 BITSTREAM PROCESSES

Before the user information is sent over the air interface, several bit manipulations are performed in the transmitter to increase reliability and security. To the packet header, an HEC is added, the header bits are scrambled with a whitening word, and FEC coding is applied. In the receiver, the inverse processes are carried out. Figure 8.3 on page 86 shows the processes carried out for the packet header both at the transmit and the receive side. All header bit processes are mandatory.



Figure 8.3: Header bit processes.

For the payload, similar processes are performed. It depends on the packet type, which processes are carried out. Figure 8.4 on page 86 shows the processes that may be carried out on the payload. In addition to the processes defined for the packet header, encryption can be applied on the payload. Only whitening and de-whitening, as explained in Section 7 on page 79, are mandatory for every payload; all other processes are optional and depend on the packet type and the mode enabled. In Figure 8.4 on page 86, optional processes are indicated by dashed blocks.



Figure 8.4: Payload bit processes.

page 87 of 1082

Baseband Specification

Bluetooth.

9 TRANSMIT/RECEIVE TIMING

The Bluetooth transceiver applies a time-division duplex (TDD) scheme. This means that it alternately transmits and receives in a synchronous manner. It depends on the mode of the Bluetooth unit what the exact timing of the TDD scheme is. In the normal connection mode, *the master transmission shall always start at even numbered time slots (master CLK1=0) and the slave transmission shall always start at odd numbered time slots (master CLK1=1).* Due to packet types that cover more than a single slot, master transmission may continue in odd numbered slots and slave transmission may continue in even numbered slots.

All timing diagrams shown in this chapter are based on the signals as present at the antenna. The term "exact" when used to describe timing refers to an ideal transmission or reception and neglects timing jitter and clock frequency imperfections.

The average timing of master packet transmission must not drift faster than 20 ppm relative to the ideal slot timing of 625 μ s. The instantaneous timing must not deviate more than 1 μ s from the average timing. Thus, the absolute packet transmission timing r_k of slot boundary k must fulfill the equation:

$$t_{k} = \left(\sum_{j=1}^{n} (1+d_{j})T_{N}\right) + j_{k} + \text{offset}, \tag{EQ 1}$$

where T_N is the nominal slot length (625 µs), j_k denotes jitter ($|j_k| \le 1$ µs) at slot boundary k, and, d_k , denotes the drift ($|d_k| \le 20$ ppm) within slot k. The jitter and drift may vary arbitrarily within the given limits for every slot, while "offset" is an arbitrary but fixed constant. For hold, park and sniff mode the drift and jitter parameters as described in Link Manager Protocol Section 3.9 on page 203 apply.

9.1 MASTER/SLAVE TIMING SYNCHRONIZATION

The piconet is synchronized by the system clock of the master. The master never adjusts its system clock during the existence of the piconet: it keeps an exact interval of Mx625 μ s (where M is an even, positive integer larger than 0) between consecutive transmissions. The slaves adapt their native clocks with a timing offset in order to match the master clock. This offset is updated each time a packet is received from the master: by comparing the exact RX timing of the received packet with the estimated RX timing, the slaves correct the offset for any timing misalignments. Note that the slave RX timing can be corrected with any packet sent in the master-to-slave slot, since only the channel access code is required to synchronize the slave.

The slave TX timing shall be based on the most recent slave RX timing. The RX timing is based on the latest successful trigger during a master-to-slave slot. For ACL links, this trigger must have occurred in the master-to-slave slot directly pre-

Transmit/Receive Timing

page 88 of 1082

Baseband Specification

Bluetooth

ceding the current slave transmission; for SCO links, the trigger may have occurred several master-to-slave slots before since a slave is allowed to send an SCO packet even if no packet was received in the preceding master-to-slave slot. The slave shall be able to receive the packets and adjust the RX timing as long as the timing mismatch remains within the $\pm 10 \,\mu s$ uncertainty window.

The master TX timing is strictly related to the master clock. The master shall keep an exact interval of Mx1250 μs (where M is a positive integer larger than 0) between the start of successive transmissions; the RX timing is based on this TX timing with a shift of exactly Nx625 μs (where N is an odd, positive integer larger than 0). During the master RX cycle, the master will also use the $\pm 10\mu$ uncertainty window to allow for slave misalignments. The master will adjust the RX processing of the considered packet accordingly, but will **not** adjust its RX/TX timing for the following TX and RX cycles.

Timing behaviour may differ slightly depending on the current state of the unit. The different states are described in the next sections.

9.2 CONNECTION STATE

In the connection mode, the Bluetooth transceiver transmits and receives alternately, see Figure 9.1 on page 88 and Figure 9.2 on page 89. In the figures, only single-slot packets are shown as an example. Depending on the type and the payload length, the packet size can be up to 366 μ s. Each RX and TX transmission is at a different hop frequency. For multi-slot packets, several slots are covered by the same packet, and the hop frequency used in the first slot will be used throughout the transmission.



Figure 9.1: RX/TX cycle of Bluetooth master transceiver in normal mode for single-slot packets.

Transmit/Receive Timing

page 89 of 1082

Baseband Specification

Bluetooth.



Figure 9.2: RX/TX cycle of Bluetooth slave transceiver in normal mode for single-slot packets.

The master TX/RX timing is shown in Figure 9.1 on page 88. In figures 9.1 through 9.6, f(k) is used for the frequencies of the page hopping sequence and f(k) denotes the corresponding page response sequence frequencies. The channel hopping frequencies are indicated by g(m). After transmission, a return packet is expected Nx625 μ s after the start of the TX burst where N is an odd, positive integer. N depends on the type of the transmitted packet. To allow for some time slipping, an uncertainty window is defined around the exact receive timing. During normal operation, the window length is 20 μ s, which allows the RX burst to arrive up to 10 μ s too early or 10 μ s too late. During the beginning of the RX cycle, the access correlator searches for the correct channel access code over the uncertainty window. If no trigger event occurs, the receiver goes to sleep until the next RX event. If in the course of the search, it becomes apparent that the correlation output will never exceed the final threshold, the receiver may go to sleep earlier. If a trigger event does occur, the receiver remains open to receive the rest of the packet.

The current master transmission is based on the previous master transmission: it is scheduled Mx1250 μ s after the start of the previous master TX burst where M depends on the transmitted and received packet type. Note that the master TX timing is not affected by time drifts in the slave(s). If no transmission takes place during a number of consecutive slots, the master will take the TX timing of the latest TX burst as reference.

The slave's transmission is scheduled Nx625 μ s after the start of the slave's RX burst. If the slave's RX timing drifts, so will its TX timing. If no reception takes place during a number of consecutive slots, the slave will take the RX timing of the latest RX burst as reference.

page 90 of 1082

Baseband Specification

Bluetooth.

9.3 RETURN FROM HOLD MODE

In the connection state, the Bluetooth unit can be placed in a **hold** mode, see Section 10.8 on page 112. In the **hold** mode, a Bluetooth transceiver neither transmits nor receives information. When returning to the normal operation after a **hold** mode in a slave Bluetooth unit, the slave must listen for the master before it may send information. In that case, the search window in the slave unit may be increased from $\pm 10 \,\mu$ s to a larger value X μ s as illustrated in Figure 9.3 on page 90. Note that only RX hop frequencies are used: the hop frequency used in the master-to-slave (RX) slot is also used in the uncertainty window extended into the preceding time interval normally used for the slaveto-master (TX) slot.

If the search window exceeds 625 μ s, consecutive windows shall not be centered at the start of RX hops g(2m), g(2m+2), ... g(2m+2i) (where 'i' is an integer), but at g(2m), g(2m+4), ... g(2m+4i), or even at g(2m), g(2m+6), ...g(2m+6i) etc. to avoid overlapping search windows. The RX hop frequencies used shall correspond to the RX slot numbers.

It is recommended that single slot packets are used upon return from hold to minimize the synchronization time, especially after long hold periods that require search windows exceeding $625 \, \mu s$.



Figure 9.3: RX timing of slave returning from hold state.

9.4 PARK MODE WAKE-UP

The **park** mode is similar to the **hold** mode. A parked slave periodically wakes up to listen to beacons from the master and to re-synchronize its clock offset. As in the return from hold mode, a parked slave when waking up may increase the search window from $\pm 10 \ \mu s$ to a larger value X μs as illustrated in Figure 9.3 on page 90.

page 91 of 1082

Baseband Specification

Bluetooth.

9.5 PAGE STATE

In the page state, the master transmits the device access code (ID packet) corresponding to the slave to be connected, rapidly on a large number of different hop frequencies. Since the ID packet is a very short packet, the hop rate can be increased from 1600 hops/s to 3200 hops/s. In a single TX slot interval, the paging master transmits on two different hop frequencies. In a single RX slot interval, the paging transceiver listens on two different hop frequencies; see Figure 9.4 on page 91. During the TX slot, the paging unit sends an ID packet at the TX hop frequencies f(k) and f(k+1). In the RX slot, it listens for a response on the corresponding RX hop frequencies f'(k) and f'(k+1). The listening periods are exactly timed 625 μ s after the corresponding paging packets, and include a $\pm 10 \ \mu$ s uncertainty window.



Figure 9.4: RX/TX cycle of Bluetooth transceiver in PAGE mode.

9.6 FHS PACKET

At connection setup and during a master-slave switch, an FHS packet is transferred from the master to the slave. This packet will establish the timing and frequency synchronization (see also Section 4.4.1.4 on page 56). After the slave unit has received the page message, it will return a response message which again consists of the ID packet and follows exactly 625 µs after the receipt of the page message. The master will send the FHS packet in the TX slot following the RX slot in which it received the slave response, according the RX/TX timing of the master. The time difference between the response and FHS message will depend on the timing of the page message the slave received. In Figure 9.5 on page 92, the slave receives the paging message sent first in the master-to-slave slot. It will then respond with an ID packet in the first half of the slave-to-master slot. The timing of the FHS packet is based on the timing of the page message sent first in the preceding master-to-slave slot: there is an exact 1250 us delay between the first page message and the **FHS** packet. The packet is sent at the hop frequency f(k+1) which is the hop frequency following the hop frequency f(k) the page message was received in. In Figure 9.6 on page 92, the slave receives the paging message sent secondly in the master-to-slave slot. It will then respond with an ID packet in the

Transmit/Receive Timing

page 92 of 1082

Baseband Specification

Bluetooth.

second half of the slave-to-master slot exactly 625 μ s after the receipt of the page message. The timing of the **FHS** packet is still based on the timing of the page message sent **first** in the preceding master-to-slave slot: there is an exact 1250 μ s delay between the **first** page message and the **FHS** packet. The packet is sent at the hop frequency *f*(*k*+2) which is the hop frequency following the hop frequency *f*(*k*+1) the page message was received in.



Figure 9.5: Timing of FHS packet on successful page in first half slot.



Figure 9.6: Timing of FHS packet on successful page in second half slot.

29 November 1999

Transmit/Receive Timing

page 93 of 1082

Baseband Specification

Bluetooth.

The slave will adjust its RX/TX timing according to the reception of the **FHS** packet (and not according to the reception of the page message). That is, the second response message that acknowledges the reception of the FHS packet is transmitted 625 μ s after the start of the **FHS** packet.

9.7 MULTI-SLAVE OPERATION

As was mentioned in the beginning of this chapter, the master always starts the transmission in the even-numbered slots whereas the slaves start their transmission in the odd-numbered slots. This means that the timing of the master and the slave(s) is shifted by one slot (625 μ s), see Figure 9.7 on page 93.

Only the slave that is addressed by its AM_ADDR can return a packet in the next slave-to-master slot. If no valid AM_ADDR is received, the slave may only respond if it concerns its reserved SCO slave-to-master slot. In case of a broadcast message, no slave is allowed to return a packet (an exception is found in the access window for access requests in the park mode, see Section 10.8.4 on page 115).



Figure 9.7: RX/TX timing in multi-slave configuration

Transmit/Receive Timing

page 94 of 1082

Baseband Specification

Bluetooth.

page 95 of 1082

Baseband Specification

Bluetooth.

10 CHANNEL CONTROL

10.1 SCOPE

This section describes how the channel of a piconet is established and how units can be added to and released from the piconet. Several states of operation of the Bluetooth units are defined to support these functions. In addition, the operation of several piconets sharing the same area, the so-called scatternet, is discussed. A special section is attributed to the Bluetooth clock which plays a major role in the FH synchronization.

10.2 MASTER-SLAVE DEFINITION

The channel in the piconet is characterized entirely by the master of the piconet. The Bluetooth device address (BD_ADDR) of the master determines the FH hopping sequence and the channel access code; the system clock of the master determines the phase in the hopping sequence and sets the timing. In addition, the master controls the traffic on the channel by a polling scheme.

By definition, the **master** is represented by the Bluetooth unit that initiates the connection (to one or more **slave** units). Note that the names 'master' and 'slave' only refer to the protocol on the channel: the Bluetooth units themselves are identical; that is, any unit can become a master of a piconet. Once a piconet has been established, master-slave roles can be exchanged. This is described in more detail in Section 10.9.3 on page 123.

10.3 BLUETOOTH CLOCK

Every Bluetooth unit has an internal system clock which determines the timing and hopping of the transceiver. The Bluetooth clock is derived from a free running native clock which is never adjusted and is never turned off. For synchronization with other units, only offsets are used that, added to the native clock, provide temporary Bluetooth clocks which are mutually synchronized. It should be noted that the Bluetooth clock has no relation to the time of day; it can therefore be initialized at any value. The Bluetooth clock provides the heart beat of the Bluetooth transceiver. Its resolution is at least half the TX or RX slot length, or 312.5 μ s. The clock has a cycle of about a day. If the clock is implemented with a counter, a 28-bit counter is required that wraps around at 2²⁸-1. The LSB ticks in units of 312.5 μ s, giving a clock rate of 3.2 kHz.

The timing and the frequency hopping on the channel of a piconet is determined by the Bluetooth clock of the master. When the piconet is established, the master clock is communicated to the slaves. Each slave adds an offset to its native clock to be synchronized to the master clock. Since the clocks are free-running, the offsets have to be updated regularly.

Channel Control

page 96 of 1082

Baseband Specification

Bluetooth.

The clock determines critical periods and triggers the events in the Bluetooth receiver. Four periods are important in the Bluetooth system: 312.5 μ s, 625 μ s, 1.25 ms, and 1.28 s; these periods correspond to the timer bits CLK₀, CLK₁, CLK₂, and CLK₁₂, respectively, see Figure 10.1 on page 96. Master-to-slave transmission starts at the even-numbered slots when CLK₀ and CLK₁ are both zero.



Figure 10.1: Bluetooth clock.

In the different modes and states a Bluetooth unit can reside in, the clock has different appearances:

- CLKN native clock
- CLKE estimated clock
- CLK master clock

CLKN is the free-running native clock and is the reference to all other clock appearances. In states with high activity, the native clock is driven by the reference crystal oscillator with worst case accuracy of +/-20ppm. In the low power states, like **STANDBY, HOLD, PARK**, the native clock may be driven by a low power oscillator (LPO) with relaxed accuracy (+/-250ppm).

CLKE and CLK are derived from the reference CLKN by adding an offset. CLKE is a clock estimate a paging unit makes of the native clock of the recipient; i.e. an offset is added to the CLKN of the pager to approximate the CLKN of the recipient, see Figure 10.2 on page 97. By using the CLKN of the recipient, the pager speeds up the connection establishment.

CLK is the master clock of the piconet. It is used for all timing and scheduling activities in the piconet. All Bluetooth devices use the CLK to schedule their transmission and reception. The CLK is derived from the native clock CLKN by adding an offset, see Figure 10.3 on page 97. The offset is zero for the master since CLK is identical to its own native clock CLKN. Each slave adds an appropriate offset to its CLKN such that the CLK corresponds to the CLKN of the master. Although all CLKNs in the Bluetooth devices run at the same nominal rate, mutual drift causes inaccuracies in CLK. Therefore, the offsets in the slaves must be regularly updated such that CLK is approximately CLKN of the master.

page 97 of 1082

Baseband Specification

Bluetooth.



Figure 10.2: Derivation of CLKE



Figure 10.3: Derivation of CLK in master (a) and in slave (b).

10.4 OVERVIEW OF STATES

Figure 10.4 on page 98 shows a state diagram illustrating the different states used in the Bluetooth link controller. There are two major states: **STANDBY** and **CONNECTION**; in addition, there are seven substates, **page, page scan**, **inquiry, inquiry scan**, **master response**, **slave response**, and **inquiry response**. The substates are interim states that are used to add new slaves to a piconet. To move from one state to the other, either commands from the Bluetooth link manager are used, or internal signals in the link controller are used (such as the trigger signal from the correlator and the timeout signals).

page 98 of 1082

Baseband Specification

Bluetooth.



Figure 10.4: State diagram of Bluetooth link controller.

10.5 STANDBY STATE

The **STANDBY** state is the default state in the Bluetooth unit. In this state, the Bluetooth unit is in a low-power mode. Only the native clock is running at the accuracy of the LPO (or better).

The controller may leave the **STANDBY** state to scan for page or inquiry messages, or to page or inquiry itself. When responding to a page message, the unit will not return to the **STANDBY** state but enter the **CONNECTION** state as a slave. When carrying out a successful page attempt, the unit will enter the **CONNECTION** state as a master. The intervals with which scan activities can be carried out are discussed in Section 10.6.2 on page 99 and Section 10.7.2 on page 109.

29 November 1999

AFFLT0293326 Samsung Ex. 1316 p. 98

page 99 of 1082

Baseband Specification

Bluetooth.

10.6 ACCESS PROCEDURES

10.6.1 General

In order to establish new connections the procedures inquiry and paging are used. The inquiry procedure enables a unit to discover which units are in range, and what their device addresses and clocks are. With the paging procedure, an actual connection can be established. Only the Bluetooth device address is required to set up a connection. Knowledge about the clock will accelerate the setup procedure. A unit that establishes a connection will carry out a page procedure and will automatically be the master of the connection.

In the paging and inquiry procedures, the device access code (DAC) and the inquiry access code (IAC) are used, respectively. A unit in the **page scan** or **inquiry scan** substate correlates against these respective access codes with a matching correlator.

For the paging process, several paging schemes can be applied. There is one mandatory paging scheme which has to be supported by each Bluetooth device. This mandatory scheme is used when units meet for the first time, and in case the paging process directly follows the inquiry process. Two units, once connected using a mandatory paging/scanning scheme, may agree on an optional paging/scanning scheme. Optional paging schemes are discussed in "Appendix VII" on page 999. In the current chapter, only the mandatory paging scheme is considered.

10.6.2 Page scan

In the **page scan** substate, a unit listens for its own device access code for the duration of the scan window $T_{w \ page \ scan}$. During the scan window, the unit listens at a single hop frequency, its correlator matched to its device access code. The scan window shall be long enough to completely scan 16 page frequencies.

When a unit enters the **page scan** substate, it selects the scan frequency according to the page hopping sequence corresponding to this unit, see Section 11.3.1 on page 135. This is a 32-hop sequence (or a 16-hop sequence in case of a reduced-hop system) in which each hop frequency is unique. The page hopping sequence is determined by the unit's Bluetooth device address (BD_ADDR). The phase in the sequence is determined by CLKN₁₆₋₁₂ of the unit's native clock (CLKN₁₅₋₁₂ in case of a reduced-hop system); that is, every 1.28s a different frequency is selected.

If the correlator exceeds the trigger threshold during the **page scan**, the unit will enter the **slave response** substate, which is described in Section 10.6.4.1 on page 105.

Channel Control

page 100 of 1082

Baseband Specification

Bluetooth.

The page scan substate can be entered from the STANDBY state or the CON-NECTION state. In the STANDBY state, no connection has been established and the unit can use all the capacity to carry out the page scan. Before entering the page scan substate from the CONNECTION state, the unit preferably reserves as much capacity for scanning. If desired, the unit may place ACL connections in the HOLD mode or even use the PARK mode, see Section 10.8.3 on page 114 and Section 10.8.4 on page 115. SCO connections are preferably not interrupted by the page scan. In this case, the page scan may be interrupted by the reserved SCO slots which have higher priority than the page scan. SCO packets should be used requiring the least amount of capacity (HV3 packets). The scan window shall be increased to minimize the setup delay. If one SCO link is present using HV3 packets and T_{SCO}=6 slots, a total scan window T_{w page scan} of at least 36 slots (22.5ms) is recommended; if two SCO links are present using HV3 packets and T_{SCO}=6 slots, a total scan window of at least 54 slots (33.75ms) is recommended.

The scan interval $T_{page \ scan}$ is defined as the interval between the beginnings of two consecutive page scans. A distinction is made between the case where the scan interval is equal to the scan window $T_{w \ page \ scan}$ (continuous scan), the scan interval is maximal 1.28s, or the scan interval is maximal 2.56s. These three cases determine the behavior of the paging unit; that is, whether the paging unit shall use R0, R1 or R2, see also Section 10.6.3 on page 101. Table 10.1 illustrates the relationship between $T_{page \ scan}$ and modes R0, R1 and R2. Although scanning in the R0 mode is continuous, the scanning may be interrupted by for example reserved SCO slots. The scan interval information is included in the SR field in the FHS packet.

100

page 101 of 1082

Baseband Specification

Bluetooth.

During page scan the Bluetooth unit may choose to use an optional scanning scheme. (An exception is the page scan after returning an inquiry response message. See Section 10.7.4 on page 111 for details.)

SR mode	T _{page scan}	Npage
R0	continuous	≥1
R1	≤ 1.28s	≥ 128
R2	≤ 2.56s	≥ 256
Reserved		

Table 10.1: Relationship between scan interval, train repetition, and paging modes R0, R1 and R2.

10.6.3 Page

The **page** substate is used by the master (source) to activate and connect to a slave (destination) which periodically wakes up in the **page scan** substate. The master tries to capture the slave by repeatedly transmitting the slave's device access code (DAC) in different hop channels. Since the Bluetooth clocks of the master and the slave are not synchronized, the master does not know exactly when the slave wakes up and on which hop frequency. Therefore, it transmits a train of identical DACs at different hop frequencies, and listens in between the transmit intervals until it receives a response from the slave.

The page procedure in the master consists of a number of steps. First, the slave's device address is used to determine the page hopping sequence, see Section 11.3.2 on page 135. This is the sequence the master will use to reach the slave. For the phase in the sequence, the master uses an estimate of the slave's clock. This estimate can for example be derived from timing information that was exchanged during the last encounter with this particular device (which could have acted as a master at that time), or from an inquiry procedure. With this estimate CLKE of the slave's Bluetooth clock, the master can predict when the slave wakes up and on which hop channel.

The estimate of the Bluetooth clock in the slave can be completely wrong. Although the master and the slave use the same hopping sequence, they use different phases in the sequence and will never meet each other. To compensate for the clock drifts, the master will send its page message during a short time interval on a number of wake-up frequencies. It will in fact transmit also on hop frequencies just before and after the current, predicted hop frequency. During each TX slot, the master sequentially transmits on two different hop frequencies. Since the page message is the ID packet which is only 68 bits in length, there is ample of time (224.5 µs minimal) to switch the synthesizer. In the following RX slot, the receiver will listen sequentially to two corresponding RX hops for ID packet. The RX hops are selected according to the page_response hopping sequence. The page_response hopping sequence is strictly related to the page hopping sequence; that is: for each page hop there is a corresponding page_response hop. The RX/TX timing in the **page** sub-

Channel Control

page 102 of 1082

Baseband Specification

Bluetooth.

state has been described in Section 9, see also Figure 9.4 on page 91. In the next TX slot, it will transmit on two hop frequencies different from the former ones. The synthesizer hop rate is increased to 3200 hops/s.

A distinction must be made between the 79-hop systems and the 23-hop systems. First the 79-hop systems are considered. With the increased hopping rate as described above, the transmitter can cover 16 different hop frequencies in 16 slots or 10 ms. The page hopping sequence is divided over two paging trains **A** and **B** of 16 frequencies. Train **A** includes the 16 hop frequencies surrounding the current, predicted hop frequency f(k), where k is determined by the clock estimate CLKE₁₆₋₁₂. So the first train consists of hops

f(k-8), f(k-7),...,f(k),...,f(k+7)

When the difference between the Bluetooth clocks of the master and the slave is between -8x1.28 s and +7x1.28 s, one of the frequencies used by the master will be the hop frequency the slave will listen to. However, since the master does not know when the slave will enter the **page scan** substate, he has to repeat this train **A** N_{page} times or until a response is obtained. If the slave scan interval corresponds to R1, the repetition number is at least 128; if the slave scan interval corresponds to R2, the repetition number is at least 256. Note that CLKE₁₆₋₁₂ changes every 1.28 s; therefore, every 1.28 s, the trains will include different frequencies of the page hopping set.

When the difference between the Bluetooth clocks of the master and the slave is less than -8x1.28 s or larger than +7x1.28 s, more distant hops must be probed. Since in total, there are only 32 dedicated wake-up hops, the more distant hops are the remaining hops not being probed yet. The remaining 16 hops are used to form the new 10 ms train **B**. The second train consists of hops

f(k-16), f(k-15),...,f(k-9),f(k+8)...,f(k+15)

Train **B** is repeated for N_{page} times. If still no response is obtained, the first train **A** is tried again N_{page} times. Alternate use of train A and train B is continued until a response is received or the timeout *pageTO* is exceeded. If during one of the listening occasions, a response is returned by the slave, the master unit enters the **master response** substate.

The description for paging and **page scan** procedures given here has been tailored towards the 79-hop systems used in the US and Europe. For the 23-hop systems as used in Japan and some European countries, the procedure is slightly different. In the 23-hop case, the length of the page hopping sequence is reduced to 16. As a consequence, there is only a single train (train **A**) including all the page hopping frequencies. The phase to the page hopping sequence is not CLKE₁₆₋₁₂ but CLKE₁₅₋₁₂. An estimate of the slave's clock does not have to be made.

The page substate can be entered from the STANDBY state or the CONNEC-TION state. In the STANDBY state, no connection has been established and

29 November 1999

page 103 of 1082

Baseband Specification

Bluetooth.

the unit can use all the capacity to carry out the page. Before entering the page substate from the CONNECTION state, the unit shall free as much capacity as possible for scanning. To ensure this, it is recommended that the ACL connections are put on hold or park. However, the SCO connections shall not be disturbed by the page. This means that the page will be interrupted by the reserved SCO slots which have higher priority than the page. In order to obtain as much capacity for paging, it is recommended to use the SCO packets which use the least amount of capacity (HV3 packets). If SCO links are present, the repetition number N_{page} of a single train shall be increased, see Table 10.2. Here it has been assumed that the HV3 packet are used with an interval $T_{\rm SCO}$ =6 slots, which would correspond to a 64 kb/s voice link.

SR mode	no SCO link	one SCO link (HV3)	two SCO links (HV3)
R0	N _{page} ≥1	N _{page} ≥2	N _{page} ≥3
R1	N _{page} ≥128	N _{page} ≥256	N _{page} ≥384
R2	N _{page} ≥256	N _{page} ≥512	N _{page} ≥768

Table 10.2: Relationship between train repetition, and paging modes R0, R1 and R2 when SCO links are present.

The construction of the page train is independent on the presence of SCO links; that is, SCO packets are sent on the reserved slots but do not affect the hop frequencies used in the unreserved slots, see Figure 10.5 on page 103.



Figure 10.5: Conventional page (a), page while one SCO link present (b), page while two SCO links present (c).

For the descriptions of optional paging schemes see "Appendix VII" on page 999.

Channel Control

29 November 1999

page 104 of 1082

Baseband Specification

Bluetooth.

10.6.4 Page response procedures

When a page message is successfully received by the slave, there is a coarse FH synchronization between the master and the slave. Both the master and the slave enter a response routine to exchange vital information to continue the connection setup. Important for the piconet connection is that both Bluetooth units use the same channel access code, use the same channel hopping sequence, and that their clocks are synchronized. These parameters are derived from the master unit. The unit that initializes the connection (starts paging) is defined as the master unit (which is thus only valid during the time the piconet exists). The channel access code and channel hopping sequence are derived from the Bluetooth device address (BD_ADDR) of the master. The timing is determined by the master clock. An offset is added to the slave's native clock to temporarily synchronize the slave clock to the master to the slave. The messaging between the master and the slave at start-up will be considered in this section.

The initial messaging between master and slave is shown in Table 10.3 on page 104 and in Figure 10.6 on page 105 and Figure 10.7 on page 105. In those two figures frequencies f(k), f(k+1), etc. are the frequencies of the page hopping sequence determined by the slave's BD_ADDR. The frequencies f'(k), f'(k+1), etc. are the corresponding page_response frequencies (slave-to-master). The frequencies g(m) belong to the channel hopping sequence.

Step	Message	Direction	Hopping Sequence	Access Code and Clock	
1	slave ID	master to slave	page	slave	
2	slave ID	slave to master	page response	slave	
3	FHS	master to slave	page	slave	
4	slave ID	slave to master page response		slave	
5	1st packet master	master to slave	channel	master	
6	1st packet slave	slave to master	channel	master	

Table 10.3: Initial messaging during start-up.

In step 1 (see Table 10.3 on page 104), the master unit is in **page** substate and the slave unit in the **page scan** substate. Assume in this step that the page message (= slave's device access code) sent by the master reaches the slave. On recognizing its device access code, the slave enters the **slave response** in step 2. The master waits for a reply from the slave and when this arrives in step 2, it will enter the **master response** in step 3. Note that during the initial message exchange, all parameters are derived from the slave's BD_ADDR, and that only the page hopping and page_response hopping sequences are used

104

29 November 1999

page 105 of 1082

Baseband Specification

Bluetooth.

(which are also derived from the slave's BD_ADDR). Note that when the master and slave enter the response states, their clock input to the page and page_response hop selection is frozen as is described in Section 11.3.3 on page 136.









10.6.4.1 Slave response

After having received its own device access code in step 1, the slave unit transmits a response message in step 2. This response message again only consists of the slave's device access code. The slave will transmit this response 625 μ s after the beginning of the received page message (slave ID packet) and at the response hop frequency that corresponds to the hop frequency in which the page message was received. The slave transmission is therefore time

Channel Control

page 106 of 1082

Baseband Specification

Bluetooth.

aligned to the master transmission. During initial messaging, the slave still uses the page response hopping sequence to return information to the master. The clock input CLKN₁₆₋₁₂ is frozen at the value it had at the time the page message was received.

After having sent the response message, the slave's receiver is activated (312.5 μ s after the start of the response message) and awaits the arrival of a **FHS** packet. Note that a **FHS** packet can already arrive 312.5 μ s after the arrival of the page message as shown in Figure 10.7 on page 105, and not after 625 μ s as is usually the case in the RX/TX timing. More details about the timing can be found in Section 9.6 on page 91.

If the setup fails before the **CONNECTION** state has been reached, the following procedure is carried out. The slave will keep listening as long as no **FHS** packet is received until *pagerespTO* is exceeded. Every 1.25 ms, however, it will select the next master-to-slave hop frequency according to the page hop sequence. If nothing is received after *pagerespTO*, the slave returns back to the **page scan** substate for one scan period. Length of the scan period depends on the SCO slots present. If no page message is received during this additional scan period, the slave will resume scanning at its regular scan interval and return to the state it was in prior to the first page scan state.

If a **FHS** packet is received by the slave in the **slave response** substate, the slave returns a response (slave's device access code only) in step 4 to acknowledge the reception of the **FHS** packet (still using the page response hopping sequence). The transmission of this response packet is based on the reception of the **FHS** packet. Then the slave changes to the channel (master's) access code and clock as received from the **FHS** packet. Only the 26 MSBs of the master clock are transferred: the timing is assumed such that CLK₁ and CLK₀ are both zero at the time the **FHS** packet was received as the master transmits in even slots only. From the master clock in the **FHS** packet, the offset between the master's clock and the slave's clock is determined and reported to the slave's link manager.

Finally, the slave enters the **CONNECTION** state in step 5. From then on, the slave will use the master's clock and the master BD_ADDR to determine the channel hopping sequence and the channel access code. The connection mode starts with a POLL packet transmitted by the master. The slave responds with any type of packet. If the POLL packet is not received by the slave, or the response packet is not received by the master, within *newconnectionTO* number of slots after FHS packet acknowledgement, the master and the slave will return to page and page scan substates, respectively.See Section 10.8 on page 112

page 107 of 1082

Baseband Specification

Bluetooth.

10.6.4.2 Master response

When the master has received a response message from the slave in step 2, it will enter the **master response** routine. It freezes the current clock input to the page hop selection scheme. Then the master will transmit a **FHS** packet in step 3 containing the master's real-time Bluetooth clock, the master's 48-bit BD_ADDR address, the BCH parity bits, and the class of device. The **FHS** packet contains all information to construct the channel access code without requiring a mathematical derivation from the master device address. The **FHS** packet is transmitted at the beginning of the master-to-slave slot following the slot in which the slave has responded. So the TX timing of the **FHS** is not based on the reception of the response packet from the slave. The **FHS** packet may therefore be sent 312.5 μ s after the reception of the response packet like shown in Figure 10.7 on page 105 and not 625 μ s after the received packet as is usual in the RX/TX timing, see also Section 9.6 on page 91.

After the master has sent its **FHS** packet, it waits for a second response from the slave in step 4 which acknowledges the reception of the **FHS** packet. Again this is only the slave's device access code. If no response is received, the master retransmits the **FHS** packet, but with an updated clock and still using the slave's parameters. It will retransmit (the clock is updated every retransmission) until a second slave response is received, or the timeout of *pagerespTO* is exceeded. In the latter case, the master turns back to the **page** substate and sends an error message to the link manager. During the retransmissions of the **FHS** packet, the master keeps using the page hopping sequence.

If the slave's response is indeed received, the master changes to the master parameters, so the channel access code and the master clock. The lower clock bits CLK_0 and CLK_1 are zero at the start of the **FHS** packet transmission and are not included in the **FHS** packet. Finally, the master enters the **CONNEC-TION** state in step 5. The master BD_ADDR is used to change to a new hopping sequence, the *channel hopping sequence*. The channel hopping sequence uses all 79 hop channels in a (pseudo) random fashion, see also Section 11.3.6 on page 138. The master can now send its first traffic packet in a hop determined with the new (master) parameters. This first packet will be a POLL packet. See Section 10.8 on page 112.

The master can now send its first traffic packet in a hop determined with the new (master) parameters. The first packet in this state is a POLL packet sent by the master. This packet will be sent within *newconnectionTO* number of slots after reception of the FHS packet acknowledgement. The slave will respond with any type of packet. If the POLL packet is not received by the slave or the POLL packet response is not received by the master within *newconnectionTO* number of slots, the master and the slave will return to page and page scan substates, respectively.

page 108 of 1082

Baseband Specification

Bluetooth.

10.7 INQUIRY PROCEDURES

10.7.1 General

In the Bluetooth system, an inquiry procedure is defined which is used in applications where the destination's device address is unknown to the source. One can think of public facilities like printers or facsimile machines, or access points to a LAN. Alternatively, the inquiry procedure can be used to discover which other Bluetooth units are within range. During an **inquiry** substate, the discovering unit collects the Bluetooth device addresses and clocks of all units that respond to the inquiry message. It can then, if desired, make a connection to any one of them by means of the previously described page procedure.

The inquiry message broadcasted by the source does not contain any information about the source. However, it may indicate which class of devices should respond. There is one general inquiry access code (GIAC) to inquire for any Bluetooth device, and a number of dedicated inquiry access codes (DIAC) that only inquire for a certain type of devices. The inquiry access codes are derived from reserved Bluetooth device addresses and are further described in Section 4.2.1.

A unit that wants to discover other Bluetooth units enters an **inquiry** substate. In this substate, it continuously transmits the inquiry message (which is the ID packet, see Section 4.4.1.1 on page 55) at different hop frequencies. The **inquiry** hop sequence is always derived from the LAP of the GIAC. Thus, even when DIACs are used, the applied hopping sequence is generated from the GIAC LAP. A unit that allows itself to be discovered, regularly enters the **inquiry scan** substate to respond to inquiry messages. The following sections describe the message exchange and contention resolution during inquiry response. The inquiry response is optional: a unit is not forced to respond to an inquiry message.
page 109 of 1082

Baseband Specification

Bluetooth.

10.7.2 Inquiry scan

The **inquiry scan** substate is very similar to the **page scan** substate. However, instead of scanning for the unit's device access code, the receiver scans for the inquiry access code long enough to completely scan for 16 inquiry frequencies. The length of this scan period is denoted $T_{w_iinquiry_scan}$. The scan is performed at a single hop frequency. As in the page procedure, the inquiry procedure uses 32 dedicated inquiry hop frequencies according to the *inquiry hopping sequence*. These frequencies are determined by the general inquiry address. The phase is determined by the native clock of the unit carrying out the **inquiry scan**; the phase changes every 1.28s.

Instead or in addition to the general inquiry access code, the unit may scan for one or more dedicated inquiry access codes. However, the scanning will follow the inquiry hopping sequence which is determined by the general inquiry address. If an inquiry message is recognized during an inquiry wake-up period, the Bluetooth unit enters the **inquiry response** substate.

The inquiry scan substate can be entered from the STANDBY state or the CONNECTION state. In the STANDBY state, no connection has been established and the unit can use all the capacity to carry out the inquiry scan. Before entering the inquiry scan substate from the CONNECTION state, the unit preferably reserves as much capacity as possible for scanning. If desired, the unit may place ACL connections in the HOLD mode or even use the PARK mode, see Section 10.8.3 on page 114. SCO connections are preferably not interrupted by the inquiry scan. In this case, the inquiry scan may be interrupted by the reserved SCO slots which have higher priority than the inquiry scan. SCO packets should be used requiring the least amount of capacity (HV3 packets). The scan window, Tw inquiry scan, shall be increased to increase the probability to respond to an inquiry message. If one SCO link is present using HV3 packets and T_{SCO}=6 slots, a total scan window of at least 36 slots (22.5ms) is recommended; if two SCO links are present using HV3 packets and T_{SCO}=6 slots, a total scan window of at least 54 slots (33.75ms) is recommended.

The scan interval T_{inquiry scan} is defined as the interval between two consecutive inquiry scans. The **inquiry scan** interval shall be at most 2.56 s.

Channel Control

page 110 of 1082

Baseband Specification

Bluetooth.

10.7.3 Inquiry

The **inquiry** substate is used by the unit that wants to discover new devices. This substate is very similar to the page substate, the same TX/RX timing is used as used for paging, see Section 9.6 on page 91 and Figure 9.4 on page 91. The TX and RX frequencies follow the inquiry hopping sequence and the inquiry response hopping sequence, and are determined by the general inquiry access code and the native clock of the discovering device. In between inquiry transmissions, the Bluetooth receiver scans for inquiry response messages. When found, the entire response packet (which is in fact a FHS packet) is read, after which the unit continues with the inquiry transmissions. So the Bluetooth unit in an inquiry substate does not acknowledge the inquiry response messages. It keeps probing at different hop channels and in between listens for response packets. Like in the page substate, two 10 ms trains A and B are defined, splitting the 32 frequencies of the inquiry hopping sequence into two 16-hop parts. A single train must be repeated for at least Ninguiry=256 times before a new train is used. In order to collect all responses in an error-free environment, at least three train switches must have taken place. As a result, the inquiry substate may have to last for 10.24 s unless the inquirer collects enough responses and determines to abort the inquiry substate earlier. If desired, the inquirer can also prolong the inquiry substate to increase the probability of receiving all responses in an error-prone environment. If an inquiry procedure is automatically initiated periodically (say a 10 s period every minute), then the interval between two inquiry instances must be determined randomly. This is done to avoid two Bluetooth units to synchronize their inquiry procedures.

The **inquiry** substate is continued until stopped by the Bluetooth link manager (when it decides that it has sufficient number of responses), or when a timeout has been reached (*inquiryTO*).

The **inquiry** substate can be entered from the **STANDBY** state or the **CON-NECTION** state. In the **STANDBY** state, no connection has been established and the unit can use all the capacity to carry out the inquiry. Before entering the inquiry substate from the **CONNECTION** state, the unit shall free as much capacity as possible for scanning. To ensure this, it is recommended that the ACL connections are put on hold or park. However, the SCO connections shall not be disturbed by the inquiry. This means that the inquiry will be interrupted by the reserved SCO slots which have higher priority than the inquiry. In order to obtain as much capacity for inquiry, it is recommended to use the SCO packets which use the least amount of capacity (**HV3** packets). If SCO links are present, the repetition number N_{inquiry} shall be increased, see Table 10.4 on page 111.

Here it has been assumed that the HV3 packet are used with an interval T_{SCO} =6 slots, which would correspond to a 64 kb/s voice link.

page 111 of 1082

Baseband Specification

Bluetooth.

	no SCO link	one SCO link (HV3)	two SCO links (HV3)
Ninguiry	≥ 256	≥ 512	≥ 768

Table 10.4: Increase of train repetition when SCO links are present.

10.7.4 Inquiry response

For the inquiry operation, there is only a slave response, no master response. The master listens between inquiry messages for responses, but after reading a response, it continues to transmit inquiry messages. The slave response routine for inquiries differs completely from the slave response routine applied for pages. When the inquiry message is received in the inquiry scan substate, a response message containing the recipient's address must be returned. This response message is a conventional FHS packet carrying the unit's parameters. However, a contention problem may arise when several Bluetooth units are in close proximity to the inquiring unit and all respond to an inquiry message at the same time. First of all, every Bluetooth unit has a free running clock; therefore, it is highly unlikely that they all use the same phase of the inquiry hopping sequence. However, in order to avoid collisions between units that do wake up in the same inquiry hop channel simultaneously, the following protocol in the slave's inquiry response is used. If the slave receives an inquiry message, it generates a random number RAND between 0 and 1023. In addition, it freezes the current input value (phase) to the hop selection scheme, see also Section 11.3.5 on page 137. The slave then returns to the CONNEC-TION or STANDBY state for the duration of RAND time slots. Before returning to the CONNECTION or STANDBY state, the unit may go through the page scan substate; this page scan must use the mandatory page scan scheme. After at least RAND slots, the unit will return to the inquiry response substate. On the first inquiry message received the slave returns an FHS response packet to the master. If during the scan no trigger occurs within a timeout period of ingrespTO, the slave returns to the STANDBY or CONNECTION state. If the unit does receive an inquiry message and returns an FHS packet, it adds an offset of 1 to the phase in the inquiry hop sequence (the phase has a 1.28 s resolution) and enters the inquiry scan substate again. If the slave is triggered again, it repeats the procedure using a new RAND. The offset to the clock accumulates each time a FHS packet is returned. During a 1.28 s probing window, a slave on average responses 4 times, but on different frequencies and at different times. Possible SCO slots should have priority over response packets; that is, if a response packet overlaps with an SCO slot, it is not sent but the next inquiry message is awaited.

The messaging during the inquiry routines is summarized in Table 10.5 on page 112. In step 1, the master transmits an inquiry message using the inquiry access code and its own clock. The slave responds with the **FHS** packet which contains the slave's device address, native clock and other slave information. This **FHS** packet is returned at a semi-random time. The **FHS** packet is not acknowledged in the inquiry routine, but it is retransmitted at other times and frequencies as long as the master is probing with inquiry messages.

Channel Control

page 112 of 1082

Baseband Specification

BI	ue	to	0	tł	1
	20		-	•••	a na

step	message	direction	hopping sequence	access code
1	ID	master to slave	inquiry	inquiry
2	FHS	slave to master	inquiry response	inquiry

Table 10.5: Messaging during inquiry routines.

If the scanning unit uses an optional scanning scheme, after responding to an inquiry with an FHS packet, it will perform page scan using the mandatory page scan scheme for $T_{mandatory \, pscan}$ period. Every time an inquiry response is sent the unit will start a timer with a timeout of $T_{mandatory \, pscan}$. The timer will be reset at each new inquiry response. Until the timer times out, when the unit performs page scan, it will use the mandatory page scanning scheme in the SR mode it uses for all its page scan intervals. Using the mandatory page scan scheme after the inquiry procedure enables all units to connect even if they do not support an optional paging scheme (yet). In addition to using the mandatory page scan scheme, an optional page scan scheme can be used in parallel for the $T_{mandatory \, pscan}$ period.

The $T_{mandatory pscan}$ period is included in the SP field of the FHS packet returned in the inquiry response routine, see Section 4.4.1.4 on page 56. The value of the period is indicated in the Table 10.6

SP mode	Tmandatory pscan
P0	≥20s
P1	≥40s
P2	≥60s
Reserved	

Table 10.6: Mandatory scan periods for P0, P1, P2 scan period modes.

10.8 CONNECTION STATE

In the **CONNECTION** state, the connection has been established and packets can be sent back and forth. In both units, the channel (master) access code and the master Bluetooth clock are used. The hopping scheme uses the *channel hopping sequence*. The master starts its transmission in even slots ($CLK_{1-0}=00$), the slave starts its transmission in odd slots ($CLK_{1-0}=10$)

The **CONNECTION** state starts with a POLL packet sent by the master to verify the switch to the master's timing and channel frequency hopping. The slave can respond with any type of packet. If the slave does not receive the POLL packet or the master does not receive the response packet for *newconnectionTO* number of slots, both devices will return to **page/page scan** substates.

page 113 of 1082

Baseband Specification

Bluetooth.

The first information packets in the **CONNECTION** state contain control messages that characterize the link and give more details regarding the Bluetooth units. These messages are exchanged between the link managers of the units. For example, it defines the SCO links and the sniff parameters. Then the transfer of user information can start by alternately transmitting and receiving packets.

The **CONNECTION** state is left through a **detach** or **reset** command. The **detach** command is used if the link has been disconnected in the normal way. All configuration data in the Bluetooth link controller is still valid. The **reset** command is a hard reset of all controller processes. After a reset, the controller has to be reconfigured.

The Bluetooth units can be in several modes of operation during the **CONNEC-TION** state: active mode, sniff mode, hold mode, and park mode. These modes are now described in more detail.

10.8.1 Active mode

In the active mode, the Bluetooth unit actively participates on the channel. The master schedules the transmission based on traffic demands to and from the different slaves. In addition, it supports regular transmissions to keep slaves synchronized to the channel. Active slaves listen in the master-to-slave slots for packets. If an active slave is not addressed, it may sleep until the next new master transmission. From the type indication in the packet, the number of slots the master has reserved for its transmission can be derived; during this time, the non-addressed slaves do not have to listen on the master-to-slave slots. A periodic master transmission is required to keep the slaves synchronized to the channel. Since the slaves only need the channel access code to synchronize with, any packet type can be used for this purpose.

Channel Control

29 November 1999

page 114 of 1082

Baseband Specification

Bluetooth.

10.8.2 Sniff mode

In the sniff mode, the duty cycle of the slave's listen activity can be reduced. If a slave participates on an ACL link, it has to listen in every ACL slot to the master traffic. With the sniff mode, the time slots where the master can start transmission to a specific slave is reduced; that is, the master can only start transmission in specified time slots. These so-called sniff slots are spaced regularly with an interval of $T_{sniff.}$

The slave has to listen at D_{sniff} slot every sniff period, T_{sniff} for a $N_{sniff attempt}$ number of times. If the slave receives a packet in one of the $N_{sniff attempt}$ RX slots, it should continue listening as long as it receives packets to its own AM_ADDR. Once it stops receiving packets, it should continue listening for $N_{sniff timeout}$ RX slots or remaining of the $N_{sniff attempt}$ number of RX slots, whichever is greater.

To enter the sniff mode, the master shall issue a sniff command via the LM protocol. This message will contain the sniff interval T_{sniff} and an offset D_{sniff} . The timing of the sniff mode is then determined similar as for the SCO links. In addition, an initialization flag indicates whether initialization procedure 1 or 2 is being used. The master uses initialization 1 when the MSB of the current master clock (CLK₂₇) is 0; it uses initialization 2 when the MSB of the current master clock (CLK₂₇) is 1. The slave shall apply the initialization method as indicated by the initialization flag irrespective of its clock bit value CLK₂₇. The master-to-slave sniff slots determined by the master and the slave shall be initialized on the slots for which the clock satisfies the following equation

$CLK_{27-1} \mod T_{sniff} = D_{sniff}$	for initialization 1	
$\overline{\text{CLK}}_{27}, \text{CLK}_{26-1}$) mod $T_{\text{sniff}} = D_{\text{sniff}}$	for initialization 2	

The slave-to-master sniff slot determined by the master and the slave shall be initialized on the slots after the master-to-slave sniff slot defined above. After initialization, the clock value CLK(k+1) for the next master-to-slave SNIFF slot is found by adding the fixed interval T_{sniff} to the clock value of the current master-to-slave sniff slot:

 $CLK(k+1) = CLK(k) + T_{sniff}$

10.8.3 Hold mode

During the **CONNECTION** state, the ACL link to a slave can be put in a **hold** mode. This means that the slave temporarily does not support ACL packets on the channel any more (note: possible SCO links will still be supported). With the **hold** mode, capacity can be made free to do other things like scanning, paging, inquiring, or attending another piconet. The unit in **hold** mode can also enter a low-power sleep mode. During the **hold** mode, the slave unit keeps its active member address (AM_ADDR).

29 November 1999

page 115 of 1082

Baseband Specification

Bluetooth.

Prior to entering the hold mode, master and slave agree on the time duration the slave remains in the hold mode. A timer is initialized with the *holdTO* value. When the timer is expired, the slave will wake up, synchronize to the traffic on the channel and will wait for further master instructions.

10.8.4 Park mode

When a slave does not need to participate on the piconet channel, but still wants to remain synchronized to the channel, it can enter the park mode which is a low-power mode with very little activity in the slave. In the park mode, the slave gives up its active member address AM_ADDR. Instead, it receives two new addresses to be used in the park mode

- PM_ADDR: 8-bit Parked Member Address
- AR_ADDR: 8-bit Access Request Address

The PM_ADDR distinguishes a parked slave from the other parked slaves. This address is used in the master-initiated unpark procedure. In addition to the PM_ADDR, a parked slave can also be unparked by its 48-bit BD_ADDR. The all-zero PM_ADDR is a reserved address: if a parked unit has the all-zero PM_ADDR it can only be unparked by the BD_ADDR. In that case, the PM_ADDR has no meaning. The AR_ADDR is used by the slave in the slaveinitiated unpark procedure. All messages sent to the parked slaves have to be carried by broadcast packets (the all-zero AM_ADDR) because of the missing AM_ADDR.

The parked slave wakes up at regular intervals to listen to the channel in order to re-synchronize and to check for broadcast messages. To support the synchronization and channel access of the parked slaves, the master supports a beacon channel described in the next section. The beacon structure is communicated to the slave when it is being parked. When the beacon structure changes, the parked slaves are updated through broadcast messages.

In addition for using it for low power consumption, the park mode is used to connect more than seven slaves to a single master. At any one time, only seven slaves can be active. However, by swapping active and parked slaves out respectively in the piconet, the number of slave virtually connected can be much larger (255 if the PM_ADDR is used, and even a larger number if the BD_ADDR is used). There is no limitation to the number of slaves that can be parked.

10.8.4.1 Beacon channel

To support parked slaves, the master establishes a beacon channel when one or more slaves are parked. The beacon channel consists of one beacon slot or a train of equidistant beacon slots which is transmitted periodically with a constant time interval. The beacon channel is illustrated in Figure 10.8 on page 117. A train of N_B ($N_B \ge 1$) beacon slots is defined with an interval of T_B slots.

Channel Control

page 116 of 1082

Baseband Specification

Bluetooth.

The beacon slots in the train are separated by Δ_B . The start of the first beacon slot is referred to as the **beacon instant** and serves as the beacon timing reference. The beacon parameters N_B and T_B are chosen such that there are sufficient beacon slots for a parked slave to synchronize to during a certain time window in an error-prone environment.

When parked, the slave will receive the beacon parameters through an LMP command. In addition, the timing of the beacon instant is indicated through the offset D_B . Like for the SCO link (see Section 3.2 on page 45), two initialization procedures 1 or 2 are used. The master uses initialization 1 when the MSB of the current master clock (CLK₂₇) is 0; it uses initialization 2 when the MSB of the current master clock (CLK₂₇) is 1. The chosen initialization procedure is also carried by an initialization flag in the LMP command. The slave shall apply the initiations method as indicated by the initialization flag irrespective of its clock bit CLK₂₇. The master-to-slave slot positioned at the beacon instant shall be initialized on the slots for which the clock satisfies the following equation

$CLK_{27-1} \mod T_B = D_B$	for initialization 1	
$(\overline{\text{CLK}}_{27}, \text{CLK}_{26-1}) \mod T_{\text{B}} = D_{\text{B}}$	for initialization 2	

After initialization, the clock value CLK(k+1) for the next beacon instant is found by adding the fixed interval T_B to the clock value of the current beacon instant:

 $CLK(k+1) = CLK(k) + T_B$

The beacon channel serves four purposes:

- 1. transmission of master-to-slave packets which the parked slaves can use for re-synchronization
- 2. carrying messages to the parked slaves to change the beacon parameters
- 3. carrying general broadcast messages to the parked slaves
- 4. unparking of one or more parked slaves

Since a slave can synchronize to any packet which is preceded by the proper channel access code, the packets carried on the beacon slots do not have to contain specific broadcast packets for parked slaves to be able to synchronize; any packet can be used. The only requirement placed on the beacon slots is that there is master-to-slave transmission present. If there is no information to be sent, **NULL** packets can be transmitted by the master. If there is indeed broadcast information to be sent to the parked slaves, the first packet of the broadcast message shall be repeated in every beacon slot of the beacon train. However, synchronous traffic like on the SCO link, may interrupt the beacon transmission.

page 117 of 1082

Baseband Specification

Bluetooth.



Figure 10.8: General beacon channel format

10.8.4.2 Beacon access window

In addition to the beacon slots, an access window is defined where the parked slaves can send requests to be unparked. To increase reliability, the access window can be repeated M_{access} times ($M_{access} \ge 1$), see Figure 10.9 on page 117. The access window starts a fixed delay D_{access} after the beacon instant. The width of the access window is T_{access} .



Figure 10.9: Definition of access window

The access window may support different slave access techniques, like polling, random access, or other forms of access. At this stage, only the polling technique has been defined. The format of the polling technique is shown in Figure 10.10 on page 118. The same TDD structure is used as on the piconet channel, i.e. master-to-slave transmission is alternated by slave-to-master transmission. The slave-to-master slot is divided into two half slots of 312.5 μ s each. The half slot a parked slave is allowed to respond in corresponds to its access request address (AR_ADDR), see also section 10.8.4.6 on page 120. For counting the half slots to determine the access request slot, the start of the access window is used, see Figure 10.10 on page 118. The slave is only allowed to send an access request in the proper slave-to-master half slot if in the preceding master-to-slave slot a broadcast packet has been received. In this way, the master polls the parked slaves.

Baseband Specification





Figure 10.10: Access procedure applying the polling technique.

However, the slots of the access window can also be used for traffic on the piconet if required. For example, if an SCO connection has to be supported, the slots reserved for the SCO link may carry SCO information instead of being used for access requests, i.e. if the master-to-slave slot in the access window contains a packet different from a broadcast packet, the following slave-to-master slot cannot be used for slave access requests. Slots in the access window not affected by traffic can still be used according to the defined access structure; an example is shown in Figure 10.11 on page 118: the access procedure is continued as if no interruption had taken place.

When the slave is parked, it is indicated what type of access scheme will be used. For the polling scheme, the number of slave-to-master access slots N_{acc} slot is indicated.



Figure 10.11: Disturbance of access window by SCO traffic

By default, the access window is always present. However, its activation depends on the master sending broadcast messages to the slave at the appropriate slots in the access window. A broadcast LMP command in the beacon slots may indicate that the access window following will not be activated. This prevents unnecessary scanning of parked slaves that want to request access.

page 119 of 1082

Baseband Specification

Bluetooth.

10.8.4.3 Parked slave synchronization

Parked slaves sleep most of the time. However, periodically they wake up to re-synchronize to the channel. Any packet exchanged on the channel can be used for synchronization. Since master transmission is mandatory on the beacon slots, parked slaves will exploit the beacon channel to re-synchronize. A parked slave will wake-up at the beacon instant to read the packet sent on the first beacon slot. If this fails, it will retry on the next beacon slot in the beacon train; in total, there are N_B opportunities per beacon instant to re-synchronize. During the search, the slave may increase its search window, see also Section 9.4 on page 90. The separation between the beacon slots in the beacon train Δ_B is chosen such that consecutive search windows will not overlap.

The parked slave does not have to wake up at every beacon instant. Instead, a sleep interval can be applied which is longer than the beacon interval T_B , see Figure 10.12 on page 119. The slave sleep window must be a multiple N_{B_sleep} of T_B . The precise beacon instant the slave shall wake up on is indicated by the master with D_{B_sleep} which indicates the offset (in multiples of T_B) with respect to the beacon instant ($0 < D_{B_sleep} < N_{B_sleep}^{-1}$). To initialize the wake-up period, the following equations are used:

 $CLK_{27-1} \mod (N_{B_sleep} \bullet T_B) = D_B + D_{B_sleep} \bullet T_B$ for initialization 1

 $(\overline{\text{CLK}}_{27},\text{CLK}_{26\text{-}1}) \mod (N_{B_sleep} \bullet T_{\text{B}}) = D_{\text{B}} + D_{\text{B_sleep}} \bullet T_{\text{B}} \text{ for initialization } 2$

where initialization 1 is chosen by the master if the MSB in the current master clock is 0 and initialization 2 is chosen if the MSB in the current master clock is 1.

When the master wants to send broadcast messages to the parked slaves, it may use the beacon slots for these broadcast messages. However, if $N_B < N_{BC}$, the slots following the last beacon slot in the beacon train shall be used for the remaining N_{BC} N_B broadcast packets. If $N_B > N_{BC}$, the broadcast message is repeated on all N_B beacon slots.

A parked slave shall at least read the broadcast messages sent in the beacon slot(s) it wakes up in; the minimum wake-up activity is to read the channel access code for re-synchronization and the packet header to check for broad-cast messages.



Figure 10.12: Extended sleep interval of parked slaves.

Channel Control

29 November 1999

page 120 of 1082

Baseband Specification

Bluetooth.

10.8.4.4 Parking

A master can park an active slave through the exchange of one or a few LMP commands. Before put into the park mode, the slave is assigned a PM_ADDR and an AR_ADDR. Every parked slave has a unique PM_ADDR; however, the AR_ADDR is not necessarily unique. Also, the beacon parameters are given by the master when the slave is parked. The slave then gives up its AM_ADDR and enters the park mode. A master can park only a single slave at a time. The park message is carried with a normal data packet and addresses the slave through its AM_ADDR.

10.8.4.5 Master-activated unparking

The master can unpark a parked slave by sending a dedicated LMP unpark command including the parked slave's address. This message is sent in a broadcast packet on the beacon slots. Either the slave's PM_ADDR is used, or its full BD_ADDR is used. The message also includes the active member address AM_ADDR the slave will use after it has re-entered the piconet. The unpark message can include a number of slave addresses so that multiple slaves can be unparked simultaneously. For each slave, a different AM_ADDR is assigned.

After having received the unpark message, the parked slave matching the PM_ADDR or BD_ADDR will leave the park mode and enter the active mode. It will keep listening to the master until it is addressed by the master through its AM_ADDR. The first packet sent by the master should be a POLL packet. The return packet in response to the POLL packet confirms that the slave has been unparked. If no response packets from the slave is received for *newconnectionTO* number of slots after the end of beacon repetition period, the master will unpark the slave again. If the slave does not receive the POLL packet for *newconnectionTO* number of slots after the end of beacon repetition period, it will return to park, with the same beacon parameters. After confirming that the slave is active, the master decides in which mode the slave will continue.

10.8.4.6 Slave-activated unparking

A slave can request access to the channel through the access window defined in section 10.8.4.2 on page 117. As shown in Figure 10.10 on page 118, the access window includes several slave-to-master half slots where the slave can send an access request message. The specific half slot the slave is allowed to respond in, corresponds to its access request address (AR_ADDR) which it has received when it was parked. The order of the half slots (in Figure 10.10 the AR_ADDR numbers linearly increase from 1 to 5) is not fixed: an LMP command sent in the beacon slots may reconfigure the access window. When a slave desires access to the channel, it sends an access request message in the proper slave-to-master half slot. The access request message of the slave is the **ID** packet containing the device access code (DAC) of the master (which is in this case the channel access code without the trailer). The parked slave is

120

29 November 1999

page 121 of 1082

Baseband Specification

Bluetooth.

only allowed to transmit an access request message in the half slot when in the preceding master-to-slave slot, a broadcast packet has been received. This broadcast message can contain any kind of broadcast information not necessarily related to the parked slave(s). If no broadcast information is available, a broadcast **NULL** or broadcast **POLL** packet shall be sent.

After having sent an access request, the parked slave will listen for an unpark message from the master. As long as no unpark message is received, the slave will repeat the access requests in the subsequent access windows. After the last access window (there are M_{access} windows in total, see Section 10.8.4.2 on page 117), the parked slave shall listen for an additional N_{poll} time slots for an unpark message. If no unpark message is received within N_{poll} slots after the end of the last access window, the slave may return to sleep and retry an access attempt after the next beacon instant.

After having received the unpark message, the parked slave matching the PM_ADDR or BD_ADDR will leave the park mode and enter the active mode. It will keep listening to the master until it is addressed by the master through its AM_ADDR. The first packet sent by the master should be a POLL packet. The return packet in response to the POLL packet confirms that the slave has been unparked. If no response packet from the slave is received for *newconnectionTO* number of slots after N_{poll} slots after the end of the last access window, the master will send the unpark message to the slave again. If the slave does not receive the POLL packet for *newconnectionTO* number of slots after N_{poll} slots after the slave again. If the slave does not receive the POLL packet for *newconnectionTO* number of slots after N_{poll} slots after the slave is active, the master decides in which mode the slave will continue.

10.8.4.7 Broadcast scan window

In the beacon train, the master can support broadcast messages to the parked slaves. However, it may extend its broadcast capacity by indicating to the parked slaves that more broadcast information is following after the beacon train. This is achieved by a special LMP command ordering the parked slaves (as well as the active slaves) to listen to the channel for broadcast messages during a limited time window. This time window starts at the beacon instant and continues for the period as indicated in the LMP command sent in the beacon train.

10.8.5 Polling schemes

10.8.5.1 Polling in active mode

The master always has full control over the piconet. Due to the stringent TDD scheme, slaves can only communicate with the master and not to other slaves. In order to avoid collisions on the ACL link, a slave is only allowed to transmit in the slave-to-master slot when addressed by the AM_ADDR in the packet

Channel Control

page 122 of 1082

Baseband Specification

Bluetooth.

header in the preceding master-to-slave slot. If the AM_ADDR in the preceding slot does not match, or an AM_ADDR cannot be derived from the preceding slot, the slave is not allowed to transmit.

On the SCO links, the polling rule is slightly modified. The slave is allowed to transmit in the slot reserved for his SCO link unless the (valid) AM_ADDR in the preceding slot indicates a different slave. If no valid AM_ADDR can be derived in the preceding slot, the slave is still allowed to transmit in the reserved SCO slot.

10.8.5.2 Polling in park mode

In the park mode, parked slaves are allowed to send access requests in the access window provided a broadcast packet is received in the preceding master-to-slave slot. Slaves in active mode will not send in the slave-to-master slots following the broadcast packet since they are only allowed to send if addressed specifically.

10.8.6 Slot reservation scheme

The SCO link is established by negotiations between the link managers which involves the exchange of important SCO timing parameters like T_{SCO} and D_{SCO} through LMP messages.

10.8.7 Broadcast scheme

The master of the piconet can broadcast messages which will reach all slaves. A broadcast packet is characterized by the all-zero AM_ADDR. Each new broadcast message (which may be carried by a number of packets) shall start with the flush indication (L_CH=10).

A broadcast packet is never acknowledged. In an error-prone environment, the master may carry out a number of retransmissions N_{BC} to increase the probability for error-free delivery, see also Section 5.3.5 on page 72.

In order to support the **park** mode (as described in Section 10.8.4 on page 115), a master transmission shall take place at fixed intervals. This master transmission will act as a beacon to which slaves can synchronize. If no traffic takes place at the beacon event, broadcast packets shall be sent. More information is given in Section 10.8.4 on page 115.

10.9 SCATTERNET

10.9.1 General

Multiple piconets may cover the same area. Since each piconet has a different master, the piconets hop independently, each with their own channel hopping

29 November 1999

page 123 of 1082

Baseband Specification

Bluetooth.

sequence and phase as determined by the respective master. In addition, the packets carried on the channels are preceded by different channel access codes as determined by the master device addresses. As more piconets are added, the probability of collisions increases; a graceful degradation of performance results as is common in frequency-hopping spread spectrum systems.

If multiple piconets cover the same area, a unit can participate in two or more overlaying piconets by applying time multiplexing. To participate on the proper channel, it should use the associated master device address and proper clock offset to obtain the correct phase. A Bluetooth unit can act as a slave in several piconets, but only as a master in a single piconet: since two piconets with the same master are synchronized and use the same hopping sequence, they are one and the same piconet. A group of piconets in which connections consists between different piconets is called a **scatternet**.

A master or slave can become a slave in another piconet by being paged by the master of this other piconet. On the other hand, a unit participating in one piconet can page the master or slave of another piconet. Since the paging unit always starts out as master, a master-slave role exchange is required if a slave role is desired. This is described in the section 10.9.3 on page 123.

10.9.2 Inter-piconet communications

Time multiplexing must be used to switch between piconets. In case of ACL links only, a unit can request to enter the **hold** or **park** mode in the current piconet during which time it may join another piconet by just changing the channel parameters. Units in the **sniff** mode may have sufficient time to visit another piconet in between the sniff slots. If SCO links are established, other piconets can only be visited in the non-reserved slots in between. This is only possible if there is a single SCO link using **HV3** packets. In the four slots in between, one other piconet can be visited. Since the multiple piconets are not synchronized, guard time must be left to account for misalignment. This means that only 2 slots can effectively be used to visit another piconet in between the **HV3** packets.

Since the clocks of two masters of different piconets are not synchronized, a slave unit participating in two piconets has to take care of two offsets that, added to its own native clock, create one or the other master clock. Since the two master clocks drift independently, regular updates of the offsets are required in order for the slave unit to keep synchronization to both masters.

10.9.3 Master-slave switch

In principle, the unit that creates the piconet is the master. However, a masterslave (MS) switch can take place when a slave wants to become a master. For the two units involved in the switch, the MS switch results in a reversal of their TX and RX timing: a <u>TDD switch</u>. However, since the piconet parameters are derived from the device address and clock of the master, a master-slave switch inherently involves a redefinition of the piconet as well: a <u>piconet switch</u>. The

Channel Control

page 124 of 1082

Baseband Specification

Bluetooth.

new piconet's parameters are derived from the former slave's device address and clock. As a consequence of this piconet switch, other slaves in the piconet not involved in the switch have to be moved to the new piconet, changing their timing and their hopping scheme. The new piconet parameters have to be communicated to each slave. The scenario to achieve this is described below. Assume unit A wants to become master; unit B was the former master. The following steps are taken.

- Slave A and master B agree to exchange roles.
- When confirmed by both units, both slave A and master B do the TDD switch but keep the former hopping scheme (still using the device address and clock of unit B), so there is no piconet switch yet.
- Unit A is now the master of the piconet. Since the old and new masters' clocks are asynchronous, the 1.25 ms resolution of the clock information given in the FHS packet is not sufficient for aligning the slot boundaries of the two piconets. Prior to sending the FHS packet, the new master A sends an LMP packet giving the delay between the start of the master-to-slave slots of the old and new piconet channels. This timing information ranges from 0 to 1249 μ s with a resolution of 1 μ s. It is used together with the clock information in the FHS packet to accurately position the correlation window when switching to the new master's timing after acknowledgment of the FHS packet.
- After the time alignment LMP message, Master A sends an FHS packet including the new AM_ADDR to slave B (the AM_ADDR in the FHS packet header is the all-zero address) still using the "old" piconet parameters. After the FHS acknowledgement, which consists of the ID packet and is sent by the slave on the old hopping sequence, both master A and slave B turn to the new channel parameters of the new piconet as indicated by the FHS and time alignment LMP packets (at least for the A-B connection).
- A piconet switch is enforced on each slave separately. Master A sends a time alignment and an FHS packets and waits for an acknowledgement. Transmission of the FHS packet and the acknowledgement continues on the "old" piconet parameters of unit B (compare this to the page hopping scheme used during connection establishment, see Section 10.6.4 on page 104). After FHS acknowledgement using an ID packet sent by the slave, the communication to this slave continues with the new device address and clock of unit A. The FHS packet sent to each slave has the old AM_ADDR in the FHS packet header and their new AM_ADDR in the FHS packet payload (the new AM_ADDR may be identical to the old AM_ADDR).
- After reception of the FHS packet acknowledgement, the new master A switches to its own timing and sends a POLL packet to verify the switch. Both the master and the slave will start a timer with a time out of *newconnectionTO* on FHS packet acknowledgement. If no response is received, the master resends the POLL packet until *newconnectionTO* is reached. After this timeout both the slave and the master return to the old piconet timing (but the TDD switch remains). The master sends the FHS packet again and the procedure is repeated.

page 125 of 1082

Baseband Specification

Bluetooth.

 The new master repeats the above procedure for each slave in the old piconet.

Summarized, the MS-switch takes place in two steps: first a TDD switch of the considered master and slave, and then a piconet switch of all participants. When all slaves have acknowledged the reception of the FHS packet, each unit uses the new piconet parameters defined by the new master and the piconet switch is a fact. The information on the AM_ADDR, PM_ADDR, and other features of the old slaves is transferred from the old master to the new master. The transfer procedure is outside the scope of this procedure. Parked slaves shall be activated (using the old park parameters), be changed to the new piconet parameters, and then return to the **park** mode using the new park parameters.

10.10 POWER MANAGEMENT

Features are included into Bluetooth to ensure a low-power operation. These features are both at the microscopic level when handling the packets, and at the macroscopic level using certain operation modes.

10.10.1 Packet handling

In order to minimize power consumption, packet handling is minimized both at TX and RX sides. At the TX side, power is minimized by only sending useful data. This means that if only link control information needs to be exchanged, **NULL** packets will be used. No transmission is carried out at all if there is no link control information or involves a NAK only (NAK is implicit on no reply). If there is data to be sent, the payload length is adapted in order to send only the valid data bytes. At the RX side, packet processing takes place in different steps. If no valid access code is found in the search window, the transceiver returns to sleep. If an access code is found, the receiver unit is woken up and starts to process the packet header. If the HEC fails, the unit will return to sleep after the packet header. A valid header will indicate if a payload will follow and how many slots are involved.

10.10.2 Slot occupancy

As was described in Section 4.4 on page 54, the packet type indicates how many slots a packet may occupy. A slave not addressed in the first slot can go to sleep for the remaining slots the packet may occupy. This can be read from the TYPE code.

10.10.3 Low-power modes

In Section 10.8 on page 112, three modes were described during the **CON-NECTION** state which reduce power consumption. If we list the modes in increasing order of power efficiency then the **sniff** mode has the higher duty

page 126 of 1082

Baseband Specification

Bluetooth.

cycle, followed by the **hold** mode with a lower duty cycle, and finishing with the **park** mode with the lowest duty cycle.

10.11 LINK SUPERVISION

A connection may break down due to various reasons such as a device moving out of range or a power failure condition. Since this may happen without any prior warning, it is important to monitor the link on both the master and the slave side to avoid possible collisions when the AM_ADDR is reassigned to another slave.

To be able to supervise link loss, both the master and the slave use link supervision timers, T _{supervision}. Upon reception of a packet that passes the HEC check and has the correct AM_ADDR, the timer is reset. If at any time in connection state, the timer reaches the *supervisionTO* value, the connection is reset. The same timeout value is used for both SCO and ACL connections.

The timeout period, *supervisionTO*, is negotiated at the LM level. Its value is chosen so that the supervision timeout will be longer than hold and sniff periods. Link supervision of a parked slave will be done by unparking and re-parking the slave.

126

Baseband Specification

Bluetooth.

11 HOP SELECTION

- In total, 10 types of hopping sequences are defined five for the 79-hop and five for the 23-hop system, respectively. Using the notation of parentheses () for figures related to the 23-hop system, these sequences are:
 - A page hopping sequence with 32 (16) unique wake-up frequencies distributed equally over the 79 (23) MHz, with a period length of 32 (16);
 - A page response sequence covering 32 (16) unique response frequencies that all are in an one-to-one correspondence to the current page hopping sequence. The master and slave use different rules to obtain the same sequence;
 - An inquiry sequence with 32 (16) unique wake-up frequencies distributed equally over the 79 (23) MHz, with a period length of 32 (16);
 - A inquiry response sequence covering 32 (16) unique response frequencies that all are in an one-to-one correspondence to the current inquiry hopping sequence.
 - A channel hopping sequence which has a very long period length, which does not show repetitive patterns over a short time interval, but which distributes the hop frequencies equally over the 79 (23) MHz during a short time interval;

For the page hopping sequence, it is important that we can easily shift the phase forward or backward, so we need a 1-1 mapping from a counter to the hop frequencies. For each case, both a hop sequence from master to slave and from slave to master are required.

The inquiry and inquiry response sequences always utilizes the GIAC LAP as lower address part and the DCI (Section 5.4 on page 73) as upper address part in deriving the hopping sequence, even if it concerns a DIAC inquiry.

11.1 GENERAL SELECTION SCHEME

The selection scheme consists of two parts:

- selecting a sequence;
- mapping this sequence on the hop frequencies;

The general block diagram of the hop selection scheme is shown in Figure 11.1 on page 128. The mapping from the input to a particular hop frequency is performed in the selection box. Basically, the input is the native clock and the current address. In **CONNECTION** state, the native clock (CLKN) is modified by an offset to equal the master clock (CLK). Only the 27 MSBs of the clock are used. In the **page** and **inquiry** substates, all 28 bits of the clock are used. However, in **page** substate the native clock will be modified to the master's estimate of the paged unit.

Hop Selection

page 128 of 1082

Baseband Specification

Bluetooth.

The address input consists of 28 bits, i.e., the entire LAP and the 4 LSBs of the UAP. In **CONNECTION** state, the address of the master is used. In **page** substate the address of the paged unit is used. When in **inquiry** substate, the UAP/LAP corresponding to the GIAC is used. The output constitutes a pseudo-random sequence, either covering 79 hop or 23 hops, depending on the state.



Figure 11.1: General block diagram of hop selection scheme.

For the 79-hop system, the selection scheme chooses a segment of 32 hop frequencies spanning about 64 MHz and visits these hops once in a random order. Next, a different 32-hop segment is chosen, etc. In case of the **page**, **page scan**, or **page response** substates, the same 32-hop segment is used all the time (the segment is selected by the address; different units will have different paging segments). In connection state, the output constitutes a pseudo-random sequence that slides through the 79 hops or 23 hops, depending on the selected hop system. For the 23-hop systems, the segment size is 16. The principle is depicted in Figure 11.2



Figure 11.2: Hop selection scheme in CONNECTION state.

page 129 of 1082

Baseband Specification

Bluetooth.

11.2 SELECTION KERNEL

The hop selection kernels for the 79 hop system and the 23 hop system are shown in Figure 11.3 on page 129 and Figure 11.4 on page 129, respectively. The X input determines the phase in the 32-hop segment, whereas Y1 and Y2 selects between master-to-slave and slave-to-master transmission. The inputs A to D determine the ordering within the segment, the inputs E and F determine the mapping onto the hop frequencies. The kernel addresses a register containing the hop frequencies. This list should be created such that first all even hop frequencies are listed and then all odd hop frequencies. In this way, a 32-hop segment spans about 64 MHz, whereas a 16-hop segment spans the entire 23-MHz.



Figure 11.3: Block diagram of hop selection kernel for the 79-hop system.



Figure 11.4: Block diagram of hop selection kernel for the 23-hop system.

Hop Selection

29 November 1999

page 130 of 1082

Baseband Specification

Bluetooth.

The selection procedure consists of an addition, an XOR operation, a permutation operation, an addition, and finally a register selection. In the remainder of this chapter, the notation A_i is used for bit i of the BD_ADDR.

11.2.1 First addition operation

The first addition operation only adds a constant to the phase and applies a modulo 32 or a modulo 16 operation. For the page hopping sequence, the first addition is redundant since it only changes the phase within the segment. However, when different segments are concatenated (as in the channel hopping sequence), the first addition operation will have an impact on the resulting sequence.

11.2.2 XOR operation

Let Z' denote the output of the first addition. In the XOR operation, the four LSBs of Z' are modulo-2 added to the address bits A_{22-19} . The operation is illustrated in Figure 11.5 on page 130.



Figure 11.5: XOR operation for the 79-hop system. The 23-hop system is the same except for the Z'_4/Z_4 wire that does not exist.

Baseband Specification

Bluetooth.

11.2.3 Permutation operation

The permutation operation involves the switching from 5 inputs to 5 outputs for the 79 hop system and from 4 inputs to 4 outputs for 23 hop system, in a manner controlled by the control word. In Figure 11.6 on page 132 and Figure 11.7 on page 132 the permutation or switching box is shown. It consists of 7 stages of butterfly operations. Table 11.1 and Table 11.2 shows the control of the butterflies by the control signals P. Note that P₀₋₈ corresponds to D₀₋₈, and, P_{*i*+9} corresponds to C_{*i*} \oplus Y1 for *i* = 0...4 in Figure 11.3 and Figure 11.4.

Control signal	Butterfly	Control signal	Butterfly
P ₀	$\{Z_0, Z_1\}$	P ₈	{Z1.Z4}
P ₁	$\{Z_2, Z_3\}$	P ₉	${Z_0, Z_3}$
P ₂	$\{Z_1, Z_2\}$	P ₁₀	$\{Z_2, Z_4\}$
P ₃	$\{Z_3, Z_4\}$	P ₁₁	${Z_1, Z_3}$
P ₄	$\{Z_0, Z_4\}$	P ₁₂	$\{Z_0, Z_3\}$
P ₅	$\{Z_1, Z_3\}$	P ₁₃	$\{Z_1, Z_2\}$
P ₆	$\{Z_0, Z_2\}$		
P ₇	$\{Z_3, Z_4\}$		

Control signal	Butterfly	Control signal	Butterfly
P ₀	{Z ₀ ,Z ₁ }	P ₈	$\{Z_0, Z_2\}$
P ₁	$\{Z_2, Z_3\}$	P ₉	$\{Z_1, Z_3\}$
P ₂	$\{Z_0, Z_3\}$	P ₁₀	$\{Z_0, Z_3\}$
P ₃	$\{Z_1, Z_2\}$	P ₁₁	$\{Z_1, Z_2\}$
P ₄	$\{Z_0, Z_2\}$	P ₁₂	$\{Z_0, Z_1\}$
P ₅	$\{Z_1, Z_3\}$	P ₁₃	$\{Z_2, Z_3\}$
P ₆	${Z_0, Z_1}$		1
P ₇	{Z ₂ ,Z ₃ }		

Table 11.1: Control of the butterflies for the 79 hop system

Table 11.2: Control of the butterflies for the 23 hop system

The Z input is the output of the XOR operation as described in the previous section. The butterfly operation can be implemented with multiplexers as depicted in Figure 11.8 on page 132.

Hop Selection

page 132 of 1082

Baseband Specification

Bluetooth.



Figure 11.6: Permutation operation for the 79 hop system.



Figure 11.7: Permutation operation for the 23 hop system.



Figure 11.8: Butterfly implementation.

132

29 November 1999

page 133 of 1082

Baseband Specification

Bluetooth.

11.2.4 Second addition operation

The addition operation only adds a constant to the output of the permutation operation. As a result, the 16-hop or 32-hop segment is mapped differently on the hop frequencies. The addition is applied modulo 79 or modulo 23 depending on the system type (Europe/US vs. others).

11.2.5 Register bank

The output of the adder addresses a bank of 79 or 23 registers. The registers are loaded with the synthesizer code words corresponding to the hop frequencies 0 to 78 or 0 to 22. Note that the upper half of the bank contains the even hop frequencies, whereas the lower half of the bank contains the odd hop frequencies.

11.3 CONTROL WORD

In the following section X_{j-i} , i < j, will denote bits *i*, i+1,...,j of the bit vector X. By convention, X_0 is the least significant bit of the vector X.

The control word P of the kernel is controlled by the overall control signals X, Y1, Y2, and A to F as illustrated in Figure 11.3 on page 129 and Figure 11.4 on page 129. During paging and inquiry, the inputs A to E use the address values as given in the corresponding columns of Table 11.3 on page 134 and Table 11.4 on page 134. In addition, the inputs X, Y1 and Y2 are used. The F input is unused. In the 79-hop system, the clock bits CLK_{6-2} (i.e., input X) specifies the phase within the length 32 sequence, while for the 23-hop system, CLK_{5-2} specifies the phase within the length 16 sequence. For both systems, CLK_1 (i.e., inputs Y1 and Y2) is used to select between TX and RX. The address inputs determine the sequence order within segments. The final mapping onto the hop frequencies is determined by the register contents.

In the following we will distinguish between three types of clocks: the piconet's master clock, the Bluetooth unit's native clock, and the clock estimate of a paged Bluetooth unit. These types are marked in the following way:

1. CLK₂₇₋₀: Master clock of the current piconet.

2. CLKN₂₇₋₀: Native clock of the unit.

CLKE₂₇₋₀: The paging unit's estimate of the paged unit's native clock.

During the **CONNECTION** state, the inputs A, C and D result from the address bits being bit-wise XORed with the clock bits as shown in the "Connection state" column of Table 11.3 on page 134 and Table 11.4 on page 134 (the two MSBs are XORed together, the two second MSBs are XORed together, etc.). Consequently, after every 32 (16) time slots, a new length 32 (16) segment is selected in the 79-hop (23-hop) system. The sequence order within a specific

page 134 of 1082

Baseband Specification

Bluetooth.

segment will not be repeated for a very long period. Thus, the overall hopping sequence consists of concatenated segments of 32-hops each. Since each 32-hop sequence spans more than 80% of the 79 MHz band, the desired frequency spreading over a short time interval is obtained.

	Page scan/ Inquiry scan	Page/Inquiry	Page response (master/slave) and Inquiry response	Connection state
x	CLKN ₁₆₋₁₂	$Xp_{4-0}^{(79)}/Xi_{4-0}^{(79)}$	$Xprm_{4-0}^{(79)}/Xprs_{4-0}^{(79)}$	CLK ₆₋₂
Y1	0	CLKE1/CLKN1	CLKE ₁ /CLKN ₁	CLK1
Y2	0	$32 \times \text{CLKE}_1 /$ $32 \times \text{CLKN}_1$	$32 \times \text{CLKE}_1 /$ $32 \times \text{CLKN}_1$	$32 \times CLK_1$
A	A ₂₇₋₂₃	A ₂₇₋₂₃	A ₂₇₋₂₃	$A_{27-23} \oplus \text{CLK}_{25-21}$
в	A ₂₂₋₁₉	A ₂₂₋₁₉	A ₂₂₋₁₉	A _{22 - 19}
с	A 8, 6, 4, 2, 0	A 8, 6, 4, 2, 0	A 8, 6, 4, 2, 0	$A_{8, 6, 4, 2, 0} \oplus \text{CLK}_{20-16}$
D	A ₁₈₋₁₀	A_{18-10}	A ₁₈₋₁₀	$A_{18-10} \oplus \text{CLK}_{15-7}$
E	A _{13, 11, 9, 7, 5, 3, 1}	A 13, 11, 9, 7, 5, 3, 1	A _{13, 11, 9, 7, 5, 3, 1}	A _{13, 11, 9, 7, 5, 3, 1}
F	0	0	0	$16 \times CLK_{27-7} \mod{79}$

Table 11.3: Control for 79-hop system.

	Page scan/ Inquiry scan	Page/Inquiry	Page response (master/slave) and Inquiry response	Connection state
х	CLKN _{15 - 12}	$Xp_{3-0}^{(23)}/Xi_{3-0}^{(23)}$	$X prm_{3-0}^{(23)} / X prs_{3-0}^{(23)}$	CLK ₅₋₂
Y1	0	CLKE1/CLKN1	CLKE1/CLKN1	CLK1
Y2	0	$16 \times \text{CLKE}_1 /$ $16 \times \text{CLKN}_1$	$16 \times \text{CLKE}_1 /$ $16 \times \text{CLKN}_1$	$16 \times \text{CLK}_1$
A	A _{27 - 23}	A ₂₇₋₂₃	A ₂₇₋₂₃	$A_{27-23} \oplus \text{CLK}_{25-21}$
В	A ₂₂₋₁₉	A ₂₂₋₁₉	A ₂₂₋₁₉	A ₂₂₋₁₉
С	A 8, 6, 4, 2, 0	A _{8,6,4,2,0}	A 8, 6, 4, 2, 0	$A_{8, 6, 4, 2, 0} \oplus \text{CLK}_{20-16}$
D	A ₁₈₋₁₀	A ₁₈₋₁₀	A ₁₈₋₁₀	$A_{18-10} \oplus \mathrm{CLK}_{15-7}$
E	A _{13, 11, 9, 7, 5, 3, 1}	A _{13, 11, 9, 7, 5, 3, 1}	A _{13, 11, 9, 7, 5, 3, 1}	A _{13, 11, 9, 7, 5, 3, 1}
F	0	0	0	$8 \times \text{CLK}_{27-6} \mod 23$

Table 11.4: Control for 23-hop system.

page 135 of 1082

Baseband Specification

Bluetooth.

11.3.1 Page scan and Inquiry scan substates

In **page scan**, the Bluetooth device address of the scanning unit is used as address input. In **inquiry scan**, the GIAC LAP and the four LSBs of the DCI (as A_{27-24}), are used as address input for the hopping sequence. Naturally, for the transmitted access code and in the receiver correlator, the appropriate GIAC or DIAC is used. The application decides which inquiry access code to use depending on the purpose of the inquiry.

The five X input bits vary depending on the current state of the unit. In the **page scan** and **inquiry scan** substates, the native clock (CLKN) is used. In **CON-NECTION** state the master clock (CLK) is used as input. The situation is somewhat more complicated for the other states.

11.3.2 Page substate

In the **page** substate of the 79-hop system, the paging unit shall start using the **A**-train, i.e., {f(k - 8), ..., f(k), ..., f(k + 7)}, where f(k) is the source's estimate of the current receiver frequency in the paged unit. Clearly, the index k is a function of all the inputs in Figure 11.3. There are 32 possible paging frequencies within each 1.28 second interval. Half of these frequencies belongs to the **A**-train, the rest (i.e., {f(k + 8), ..., f(k + 15), f(k - 16), ..., f(k - 9)}) belongs to the **B**-train. In order to achieve the -8 offset of the **A**-train, a constant of 24 can be added to the clock bits (which is equivalent to -8 due to the modulo 32 operation). Clearly, the **B**-train may be accomplished by setting the offset to 8. A cyclic shift of the order within the trains is also necessary in order to avoid a possible repetitive mismatch between the paging and scanning units. Thus,

 $Xp^{(79)} = [CLKE_{16-12} + k_{offset} + (CLKE_{4-2,0} - CLKE_{16-12}) \mod 16] \mod 32$, (EQ 2)

where

$$k_{offset} = \begin{cases} 24 & \text{A-train,} \\ 8 & \text{B-train.} \end{cases}$$
(EQ 3)

Alternatively, each switch between the **A**- and **B**-trains may be accomplished by adding 16 to the current value of k_{affset} (originally initialized with 24).

In the **page** substate of the 23-hop system, the paging unit makes use of the **A**-train only. A constant offset of 8 is used in order to start with f(k-8). Moreover, only four bits are needed since the additions are modulo 16. Consequently,

$$Xp^{(23)} = [CLKE_{15-12} + 8 + CLKE_{4-2,0}] \mod 16,$$
 (EQ 4)

Hop Selection

29 November 1999

page 136 of 1882

Baseband Specification

Bluetooth.

11.3.3 Page response

11.3.3.1 Slave response

A unit in the **page scan** substate recognizing its own access code enters the **slave response** substate. In order to eliminate the possibility of loosing the link due to discrepancies of the native clock CLKN and the master's clock estimate CLKE, the four bits CLKN₁₆₋₁₂ must be frozen at their current value. The value is frozen to the content it has in the slot where the recipient's access code is detected. Note that the actual native clock is *not* stopped; it is merely the values of the bits used for creating the X-input that are kept fixed for a while. In the sequel, a frozen value is marked by an asterisk (*).

For each response slot the paged unit will use an X-input value one larger (modulo 32 or 16) than in the preceding response slot. However, the first response is made with the X-input kept at the same value as it was when the access code was recognized. Let N be a counter starting at zero. Then, the X-input in the (N + 1) -th response slot (the first response slot being the one immediately following the page slot now responding to) of the **slave response** substate becomes

$$Xprs^{(79)} = [CLKN*_{16-12} + N] \mod 32,$$
 (EQ 5)

and

$$Xprs^{(23)} = [CLKN*_{15-12} + N] \mod 16,$$
 (EQ 6)

for the 79-hop and 23-hop systems, respectively. The counter N is set to zero in the slot where the slave acknowledges the page (see Figure 10.6 on page 105 and Figure 10.7 on page 105). Then, the value of N is increased by one each time CLKN₁ is set to zero, which corresponds to the start of a master TX slot. The X-input is constructed this way until the first accepted **FHS** packet is received *and* the immediately following response packet has been transmitted. After this the slave enters the **CONNECTION** state using the parameters received in the **FHS** packet.

11.3.3.2 Master response

The paging unit enters **master response** substate upon receiving a slave response. Clearly, also the master must freeze its estimated slave clock to the value that triggered a response from the paged unit. It is equivalent to using the values of the clock estimate when receiving the slave response (since only $CLKE_1$ will differ from the corresponding page transmission). Thus, the values are frozen when the slave ID packet is received. In addition to the used clock bits, also the current value of k_{affser} must be frozen. The master will adjust its X-input in the same way the paged unit does, i.e., by incrementing this value by

page 137 of 1082

Baseband Specification

Bluetooth.

one for each time $CLKE_1$ is set to zero. The first increment shall be done before sending the **FHS** packet to the paged unit. Let *N* be a counter starting at one. The rules for forming the X-inputs become

$$Xprm^{(79)} = [CLKE*_{16-12} + k_{offset}* + (EQ 7)]$$

$$(CLKE*_{4-2,0} - CLKE*_{16-12}) \mod 16 + N] \mod 32,$$

and

$$Xprm^{(23)} = [CLKE_{15-12}^* + 8 + CLKE_{4-2,0}^* + N] \mod 16,$$
 (EQ 8)

for the 79-hop and 23-hop systems, respectively. The value of N is increased each time $CLKE_1$ is set to zero, which corresponds to the start of a master TX slot.

11.3.4 Inquiry substate

The X-input of the **inquiry** substate is quite similar to what is used in the **page** substate. Since no particular unit is addressed, the native clock CLKN of the inquirer is used. Moreover, which of the two train offsets to start with is of no real concern in this state. Consequently,

$$Xi^{(79)} = [CLKN_{16-12} + k_{offset} + (CLKN_{4-2.0} - CLKN_{16-12}) \mod 16] \mod 32, (EQ 9)$$

where k_{offser} is defined by (EQ 3). The initial choice of the offset is arbitrary. For the 23-hop system,

$$Ki^{(23)} = [CLKN_{15-12} + 8 + CLKN_{4-2,0}] \mod 16,$$
 (EQ 10)

The GIAC LAP and the four LSBs of the DCI (as A_{27-24}) are used as address input for the hopping sequence generator.

11.3.5 Inquiry response

The **inquiry response** substate is similar to the **slave response** with respect to the X-input. Thus, (EQ 5) and (EQ 6) holds. However, the counter N is increased not on $CLKN_1$ basis, but rather after each **FHS** packet has been transmitted in response to the inquiry.

The GIAC LAP and the four LSBs of the DCI (as A_{27-24}) are used as address input for the hopping sequence generator. The other input bits to the generator are the same as in the case of page response.

Hop Selection

page 138 of 1082

Baseband Specification

Bluetooth.

11.3.6 Connection state

In **CONNECTION** state, the clock bits to use in the channel hopping sequence generation are always according to the master clock, CLK. The address bits are taken from the Bluetooth device address of the master.

page 139 of 1082

Baseband Specification

Bluetooth.

12 BLUETOOTH AUDIO

On the Bluetooth air-interface, either a 64 kb/s log PCM format (A-law or μ -law) is used, or a 64 kb/s CVSD (Continuous Variable Slope Delta Modulation) is used. The latter format applies an adaptive delta modulation algorithm with syllabic companding.

The voice coding on the line interface should have a quality equal to or better than the quality of 64 kb/s log PCM.

Table 12.1 on page 139 summarizes the voice coding schemes supported on the air interface. The appropriate voice coding scheme is selected after negotiations between the Link Managers.

Voice Codecs	
linear	CVSD
o ka kasadakada	A-law
o-bit logantininic	μ-law

Table 12.1: Voice coding schemes supported on the air interface.

12.1 LOG PCM CODEC

Since the voice channels on the air-interface can support a 64 kb/s information stream, a 64 kb/s log PCM traffic can be used for transmission. Either A-law or μ -law compression can be applied. In the event that the line interface uses A-law and the air interface uses μ -law or vice versa, a conversion from A-law to μ -law is performed. The compression method follows ITU-T recommendations G. 711.

12.2 CVSD CODEC

A more robust format for voice over the air interface is a delta modulation. This modulation scheme follows the waveform where the output bits indicate whether the prediction value is smaller or larger then the input waveform. To reduce slope overload effects, syllabic companding is applied: the step size is adapted according to the average signal slope. The input to the CVSD encoder is 64 ksamples/s linear PCM. Block diagrams of the CVSD encoder and CVSD decoder are shown in Figure 12.1 on page 140, Figure 12.2 on page 140 and Figure 12.3 on page 140. The system is clocked at 64 kHz.

Baseband Specification

Bluetooth.



Figure 12.1: Block diagram of CVSD encoder with syllabic companding.



Figure 12.2: Block diagram of CVSD decoder with syllabic companding.



Figure 12.3: Accumulator procedure

Let sgn(x) = 1 for $x \ge 0$, otherwise sgn(x) = -1. On air these numbers are represented by the sign bit; i.e. negative numbers are mapped on "1" and positive numbers are mapped on "0". Denote the CVSD encoder output bit b(k), the accumulator contents y(k), and the step size $\delta(k)$. Furthermore, let *h* be the decay factor for the accumulator, let β denote the decay factor for the step size, and, let α be the syllabic companding parameter. The latter parameter monitors the slope by considering the *K* most recent output bits

Let

$$\widehat{x}(k) = hy(k). \tag{EQ 11}$$

Then, the CVSD encoder internal state is updated according to the following set of equations:

$$b(k) = \operatorname{sgn}\{x(k) - x(k-1)\}, \quad (EQ 12)$$

29 November 1999

Bluetooth Audio

page 141 of 1082

Baseband Specification

Bluetooth.

$$\alpha = \begin{cases} 1, & \text{if } J \text{ bits in the last } K \text{ output bits are equal,} \\ 0, & \text{otherwise,} \end{cases}$$
(EQ 13)

$$\delta(k) = \begin{cases} \min\{\delta(k-1) + \delta_{\min}, \delta_{\max}\}, & \alpha = 1, \\ \max\{\beta\delta(k-1), \delta_{\min}\}, & \alpha = 0, \end{cases}$$
(EQ 14)

$$y(k) = \begin{cases} \min\{\hat{y}(k), y_{max}\}, & \hat{y}(k) \ge 0, \\ \max\{\hat{y}(k), y_{min}\}, & \hat{y}(k) < 0. \end{cases}$$
(EQ 15)

where

$$\hat{y}(k) = \hat{x}(k-1) + b(k)\delta(k).$$
 (EQ 16)

In these equations, δ_{min} and δ_{max} are the minimum and maximum step sizes, and, y_{min} and y_{max} are the accumulator's negative and positive saturation values, respectively.

For a 64 kb/s CVSD, the parameters as shown in Table 12.2 must be used. The numbers are based on a 16 bit signed number output from the accumulator. These values result in a time constant of 0.5 ms for the accumulator decay, and a time constant of 16 ms for the step size decay

Parameter	Value	
h	$1 - \frac{1}{32}$	
β	$1 - \frac{1}{1024}$	
J	4	
К	4	
δ_{min}	10	
δ_{max}	1280	
Y _{min}	-2^{15} or $-2^{15}+1$	
Y _{max}	$2^{15} - 1$	

Table 12.2: CVSD parameter values. The values are based on a 16 bit signed number output from the accumulator.

Baseband Specification

Bluetooth.

12.3 ERROR HANDLING

In the **DV** and **HV3** packet, the voice is not protected by FEC. The quality of the voice in an error-prone environment then depends on the robustness of the voice coding scheme. CVSD, in particular, is rather insensitive to random bit errors, which are experienced as white background noise. However, when a packet is rejected because either the channel access code or the HEC test was unsuccessful, measures have to be taken to "fill" in the lost speech segment.

The voice payload in the **HV2** packet is protected by a 2/3 rate FEC. If errors occur which cannot be corrected, these should be ignored. That is, from the 15-bit FEC segment with uncorrected errors, the 10-bit information part as found before the FEC decoder should be used. The **HV1** packet is protected by a 3-repeat FEC. In the majority detection scheme uncorrected errors cannot occur.

12.4 GENERAL AUDIO REQUIREMENTS

These specifications are tentative and will be fixed within 18 months after the release of the Bluetooth Specification version 1.0 Draft Foundation.

12.4.1 Signal levels

For A-law and μ -law log-PCM encoded signals the requirements on signal levels follows ITU-T G.711.

Full swing at the 16 bit linear PCM interface to the CVSD encoder is defined to be 3 dBm0. A digital CVSD encoded test signal is provided in a Test Signal file available on the website. This signal is generated by a software implementation of a reference CVSD encoder. The digital encoder input signal (1020 Hz, sine-wave) generating the test signal has a nominal power of -15 dBm0. When the CVSD encoded test signal is fed through the CVSD receiver chain, the nominal output power should be -15 \pm 1.0 dBm0.

12.4.2 CVSD audio quality

For Bluetooth audio quality the requirements are put on the transmitter side. The 64 ksamples/s linear PCM input signal must have negligible spectral power density above 4 kHz. A set of reference input signals are encoded by the transmitter and sent through a reference decoder (available on the website). The power spectral density in the 4-32 kHz band of the decoded signal at the 64 ksample/s linear PCM output, should be more than 20 dB below the maximum in the 0-4 kHz range.

Bluetooth Audio

page 143 of 1082

Baseband Specification

Bluetooth.

13 BLUETOOTH ADDRESSING

13.1 BLUETOOTH DEVICE ADDRESS (BD_ADDR)

Each Bluetooth transceiver is allocated a unique 48-bit Bluetooth device address (BD_ADDR). This address is derived from the IEEE802 standard. This 48-bit address is divided into three fields:

- LAP field: lower address part consisting of 24 bits
- · UAP field: upper address part consisting of 8 bits
- NAP field: non-significant address part consisting of 16 bits

The LAP and UAP form the significant part of the BD_ADDR. The total address space obtained is 2³².

LSB 24	8	16 MSB
LAP	UAP	NAP

Figure 13.1: Format of BD_ADDR

13.2 ACCESS CODES

In the Bluetooth system, 72-bit and 68-bit access codes are used for signalling purposes. Three different access codes are defined, see also Section 4.2.1 on page 48:

- device access code (DAC)
- channel access code (CAC)
- inquiry access code (IAC)

There is one general IAC (GIAC) for general inquiry operations and there are 63 dedicated IACs (DIACs) for dedicated inquiry operations. All codes are derived from a LAP of the BD_ADDR. The device access code is used during page, page scan and page response substates. It is a code derived from the unit's BD_ADDR. The channel access code characterizes the channel of the piconet and forms the preamble of all packets exchanged on the channel. The channel access code is used in inquiry operations. A general inquiry access code is used in inquiry operations. A general inquiry access code is used to inquire for classes of devices.

The access code is also used to indicate to the receiver the arrival of a packet. It is used for timing synchronization and offset compensation. The receiver correlates against the entire sync word in the access code, providing a very robust signalling. During channel setup, the code itself is used as an ID packet to sup-

Bluetooth Addressing

page 144 of 1082

Baseband Specification

Bluetooth.

port the acquisition process. In addition, it is used during random access procedures in the PARK state.

The access code consists of preamble, sync word and a trailer, see Section 4.2 on page 48. The next two sections describe the generation of the sync word.

13.2.1 Synchronization word definition

The sync words are based on a (64,30) expurgated block code with an overlay (bit-wise XOR) of an 64 bit full length PN-sequence. The expurgated code guarantees large Hamming distance ($d_{min} = 14$) between sync words based on different addresses. The PN sequence improves the autocorrelation properties of the access code. The following steps describe how to generate the sync word:

- 1. Generate information sequence;
- XOR this with the "information covering" part of the PN overlay sequence;
- 3. Generate the codeword;
 - 4. XOR the codeword with all 64 bits of the PN overlay sequence;

The information sequence is generated by appending 6 bits to the 24 bit LAP (step 1). The appended bits are 001101 if the MSB of the LAP equals 0. If the MSB of the LAP is 1 the appended bits are 110010. The LAP MSB together with the appended bits constitute a length-seven Barker sequence. The purpose of including a Barker sequence is to further improve the autocorrelation properties. In step 2 the information is pre-scrambled by XORing it with the bits $p_{34}...p_{63}$ of the *pseudo-random noise* (PN) sequence (defined in section 13.2.2)

on page 146). After generating the codeword (step 3), the complete PN sequence is XORed to the codeword (step 4). This step de-scrambles the information part of the codeword. At the same time the parity bits of the codeword are scrambled. Consequently, the original LAP and Barker sequence are ensured a role as a part of the access code sync word, and the cyclic properties of the underlying code is removed. The principle is depicted in Figure 13.2 on page 145

In the sequel, binary sequences will be denoted by their corresponding Dtransform (in which D^i represents a delay of *i* time units). Let $p(D) = p_0^* + p_1^*D + ... + p_{62}^*D^{62}$ be the 63 bit pseudo-random sequence, where p_0^* is the first bit (LSB) leaving the PRNG (see Figure 13.3 on page 147), and, p_{62}^* is the last bit (MSB). To obtain 64 bits, an extra zero is appended at the *end* of this sequence (thus, p(D) is unchanged). For notational convenience, the reciprocal of this extended polynomial, $p(D) = D^{63}p(1/D)$, will be used in the sequel. This is the sequence p(D) in reverse order. We denote the 24 bit lower

144

I

29 November 1999

Bluetooth Addressing
page 145 of 1082

Baseband Specification

Bluetooth.

address part (LAP) of the Bluetooth address by $a(D) = a_0 + a_1D + ... + a_{23}D^{23}$ (a_0 is the LSB of the Bluetooth address).



Figure 13.2: Construction of the sync word.

The (64,30) block code generator polynomial is denoted g(D) = (1 + D)g'(D), where g'(D) is the generator polynomial 157464165547 (octal notation) of a primitive binary (63,30) BCH code. Thus, in octal notation we have

$$g(D) = 260534236651,$$
 (EQ 17)

the left-most bit corresponds to the high-order (g_{34}) coefficient. The DC-free four bit sequences 0101 and 1010 can be written

$$\begin{cases} F_0(D) = D + D^3, \\ F_1(D) = 1 + D^2, \end{cases}$$
 (EQ 18)

respectively. Furthermore, we define

Bluetooth Addressing

page 146 of 1082

Bluetooth.

Baseband Specification

$$\begin{cases} B_0(D) = D^2 + D^3 + D^5, \\ B_1(D) = 1 + D + D^4, \end{cases}$$
 (EQ 19)

which are used to create the length seven Barker sequences. Then, the access code is generated by the following procedure:

1. Format the 30 information bits to encode:

$$x(D) = a(D) + D^{24}B_{a_{12}}(D).$$

Add the information covering part of the PN overlay sequence:

 $\hat{x}(D) = x(D) + p_{34} + p_{35}D + \dots + p_{63}D^{29}.$

3. Generate parity bits of the (64,30) expurgated block code:1

 $\hat{c}(D) = D^{34}\hat{x}(D) \mod g(D).$

Create the codeword:

I

 $\hat{s}(D) = D^{34}\hat{x}(D) + \hat{c}(D).$

5. Add the PN sequence:

 $s(D) = \tilde{s}(D) + p(D).$

6. Append the (DC-free) preamble and trailer:

 $y(D) = F_{v_0}(D) + D^4 s(D) + D^{68} F_{a_0}(D).$

13.2.2 Pseudo-random noise sequence generation

To generate the pseudo-random noise sequence we use the primitive polynomial $h(D) = 1 + D + D^3 + D^4 + D^6$. The LFSR and its starting state are shown in Figure 13.3 on page 147. The PN sequence generated (including the extra terminating zero) becomes (hexadecimal notation) 83848D96BBCC54FC. The LFSR output starts with the left-most bit of this PN sequence. This corresponds to p'(D) of the previous section. Thus, using the reciprocal p(D) as overlay gives the 64 bit sequence

p = 3F2A33DD69B121C1, (EQ 20)

29 November 1999

Bluetooth Addressing

^{1.} $x(D) \mod y(D)$ denotes the rest when x(D) is divided by y(D).

page 147 of 1082

Baseband Specification

Bluetooth.

where the left-most bit is $p_0 = 0$ (there are two initial zeros in the binary representation of the hexadecimal digit 3), and $p_{63} = 1$ is the right-most bit.



Figure 13.3: LFSR and the starting state to generate p'(D)

13.2.3 Reserved addresses for GIAC and DIAC

There is a block of 64 contiguous LAPs reserved for Bluetooth inquiry operations; one LAP common to all Bluetooth devices is reserved for general inquiry, the remaining 63 LAPs are reserved for dedicated inquiry of specific classes of Bluetooth devices. The same 64-block is used regardless of the contents of UAP and NAP. Consequently, none of these LAPs can be part of a user BD_ADDR.

When initializing HEC and CRC for the FHS packet of **inquiry response**, the UAP is replaced by DCI. Likewise, whenever one of the reserved BD_ADDRs is used for generating a frequency hop sequence, the UAP will be replaced by the DCI.

The reserved LAP addresses are tentatively chosen as 0x9E8B00-0x9E8B3F. The general inquiry LAP is tentatively chosen to 0x9E8B33. All addresses have the LSB at the rightmost position, hexadecimal notation.

13.3 ACTIVE MEMBER ADDRESS (AM_ADDR)

Each slave active in a piconet is assigned a 3-bit active member address (AM_ADDR). The all-zero AM_ADDR is reserved for broadcast messages. The master does not have an AM_ADDR. Its timing relative to the slaves distinguishes it from the slaves. A slave only accepts a packet with a matching AM_ADDR and broadcast packets. The AM_ADDR is carried in the packet header. The AM_ADDR is only valid as long as a slave is active on the channel. As soon as it is disconnected or parked, it loses the AM_ADDR.

The AM_ADDR is assigned by the master to the slave when the slave is activated. This is either at connection establishment or when the slave is unparked. At connection establishment, the AM_ADDR is carried in the **FHS** payload (the **FHS** header itself carries the all-zero AM_ADDR). When unparking, the AM_ADDR is carried in the unpark message.

Bluetooth Addressing

page 148 of 1082

Baseband Specification

Bluetooth.

13.4 PARKED MEMBER ADDRESS (PM_ADDR)

A slave in park mode can be identified by its BD_ADDR or by a dedicated parked member address (PM_ADDR). This latter address is a 8-bit member address that separates the parked slaves. The PM_ADDR is only valid as long as the slave is parked. When the slave is activated it is assigned an AM_ADDR but loses the PM_ADDR. The PM_ADDR is assigned to the slave the moment it is parked.

The all-zero PM_ADDR is reserved for parked slaves that only use their BD_ADDR to be unparked.

13.5 ACCESS REQUEST ADDRESS (AR_ADDR)

The access request address is used by the parked slave to determine the slave-to-master half slot in the access window it is allowed to send access request messages in, see also Section 10.8.4.6 on page 120. The AR_ADDR is assigned to the slave when it enters the park mode and is only valid as long as the slave is parked. The AR_ADDR is not necessarily unique; i.e. different parked slaves may have the same AR_ADDR.

148

Bluetooth Addressing

page 149 of 1082

Baseband Specification

Bluetooth.

14 BLUETOOTH SECURITY

The Bluetooth technology provides peer-to-peer communications over short distances. In order to provide usage protection and information confidentiality, the system has to provide security measures both at the application layer and the link layer. These measures shall be appropriate for a peer environment. This means that in each Bluetooth unit, the authentication and encryption routines are implemented in the same way. Four different entities are used for maintaining security at the link layer: a public address which is unique for each

user¹, two secret keys, and a random number which is different for each new transaction. The four entities and their sizes as used in Bluetooth are summarized in Table 14.1.

Entity	Size
BD_ADDR	48 bits
Private user key, authentication	128 bits
Private user key, encryption configurable length (byte-wise)	8-128 bits
RAND	128 bits

Table 14.1: Entities used in authentication and encryption procedures.

The Bluetooth device address (BD_ADDR) is the 48-bit IEEE address which is unique for each Bluetooth unit. The Bluetooth addresses are publicly known, and can be obtained via MMI interactions, or, automatically, via an inquiry routine by a Bluetooth unit.

The secret keys are derived during initialization and are further never disclosed. Normally, the encryption key is derived from the authentication key during the authentication process. For the authentication algorithm, the size of the key used is always 128 bits. For the encryption algorithm, the key size may vary between 1 and 16 octets (8 - 128 bits). The size of the encryption key shall be configurable for two reasons. The first has to do with the many different requirements imposed on cryptographic algorithms in different countries – both w.r.t. export regulations and official attitudes towards privacy in general. The second reason is to facilitate a future upgrade path for the security without the need of a costly redesign of the algorithms and encryption hardware; increasing the effective key size is the simplest way to combat increased computing power at the opponent side. Currently (1999) it seems that an encryption key size of 64 bits gives satisfying protection for most applications.

The encryption key is entirely different from the authentication key (even though the latter is used when creating the former, as is described in Section 14.5.4 on page 177). Each time encryption is activated, a new encryption key

Bluetooth Security

^{1.} The BD_ADDR is not a secured identity.

page 150 of 1082

Baseband Specification

Bluetooth.

shall be generated. Thus, the lifetime of the encryption key does not necessarily correspond to the lifetime of the authentication key.

It is anticipated that the authentication key will be more static in its nature than the encryption key – once established, the particular application running on the Bluetooth device decides when, or if, to change it. To underline the fundamental importance of the authentication key to a specific Bluetooth link, it will often be referred to as the link key.

The RAND is a random number which can be derived from a random or pseudo-random process in the Bluetooth unit. This is not a static parameter, it will change frequently.

In the remainder of this chapter, the terms user and application will be used interchangeably to designate the entity that is at the originating or receiving side.

14.1 RANDOM NUMBER GENERATION

Each Bluetooth unit has a random number generator. Random numbers are used for many purposes within the security functions – for instance, for the challenge-response scheme, for generating authentication and encryption keys, etc. Ideally, a true random generator based on some physical process with inherent randomness is used. Examples of such processes are thermal noise from a semiconductor or resistor and the frequency instability of a free running oscillator. For practical reasons, a software based solution with a pseudo-random generator is probably preferable. In general, it is quite difficult to classify the randomness of a pseudo-random sequence. Within Bluetooth, the requirements placed on the random numbers used are that they be nonrepeating and randomly generated.

The expression 'non-repeating' means that it shall be highly unlikely that the value should repeat itself within the lifetime of the authentication key. For example, a non-repeating value could be the output of a counter that is unlikely to repeat during the lifetime of the authentication key, or a date/time stamp.

The expression 'randomly generated' means that it shall not be possible to predict its value with a chance that is significantly larger than 0 (e.g., greater than $1/2^{L}$ for a key length of L bits).

Clearly, the LM can use such a generator for various purposes; i.e. whenever a random number is needed (such as the RANDs, the unit keys, K_{init} , K_{master} , and random back-off or waiting intervals).

14.2 KEY MANAGEMENT

It is important that the encryption key size within a specific unit cannot be set by the user – this must be a factory preset entity. In order to prevent the user

29 November 1999

Bluetooth Security

page 151 of 1082

Baseband Specification

Bluetooth.

from over-riding the permitted key size, the Bluetooth baseband processing does not accept an encryption key given from higher software layers. Whenever a new encryption key is required, it must be created as defined in Section 14.5.4 on page 177.

Changing a link key should also be done through the defined baseband procedures. Depending on what kind of link key it is, different approaches are required. The details are found in Section 14.2.2.7 on page 157.

14.2.1 Key types

The link key is a 128-bit random number which is shared between two or more parties and is the base for all security transactions between these parties. The link key itself is used in the authentication routine. Moreover, the link key is used as one of the parameters when the encryption key is derived.

In the following, a session is defined as the time interval for which the unit is a member of a particular piconet. Thus, the session terminates when the unit disconnects from the piconet.

The link keys are either semi-permanent or temporary. A semi-permanent link key is stored in non-volatile memory and may be used after the current session is terminated. Consequently, once a semi-permanent link key is defined, it may be used in the authentication of several subsequent connections between the Bluetooth units sharing it. The designation semi-permanent is justified by the possibility to change it. How to do this is described in Section 14.2.2.7 on page 157.

The lifetime of a temporary link key is limited by the lifetime of the current session – it cannot be reused in a later session. Typically, in a point-to-multipoint configuration where the same information is to be distributed securely to several recipients, a common encryption key is useful. To achieve this, a special link key (denoted master key) can temporarily replace the current link keys. The details of this procedure are found in Section 14.2.2.6 on page 157.

In the sequel we sometimes refer to what is denoted as the current link key. This is simply the link key in use at the current moment. It can be semipermanent or temporary. Thus, the current link key is used for all authentications and all generation of encryption keys in the on-going connection (session).

In order to accommodate for different types of applications, four types of link keys have been defined:

- the combination key K_{AB}
- the unit key K_A
- the temporary key K_{master}
- the initialization key Kinit

Bluetooth Security

29 November 1999

page 152 of 1082

Baseband Specification

Bluetooth.

In addition to these keys there is an encryption key, denoted K_c . This key is derived from the current link key. Whenever the encryption is activated by a LM command, the encryption key shall be changed automatically. The purpose of separating the authentication key and encryption key is to facilitate the use of a shorter encryption key without weakening the strength of the authentication procedure. There are no governmental restrictions on the strength of authentication the strength of encryption algorithms.

For a Bluetooth unit, the combination key K_{AB} and the unit key K_A are functionally indistinguishable; the difference is in the way they are generated. The unit key K_A is generated in, and therefore dependent on, a single unit A. The unit key is generated once at installation of the Bluetooth unit; thereafter, it is very rarely changed. The combination key is derived from information in both units A and B, and is therefore always dependent on two units. The combination key is derived for each new combination of two Bluetooth units.

It depends on the application or the device whether a unit key or a combination key is used. Bluetooth units which have little memory to store keys, or, when installed in equipment that must be accessible to a large group of users, will preferably use their own unit key. In that case, they only have to store a single key. Applications that require a higher security level preferably use the combination keys. These applications will require more memory since a combination key for each link to a different Bluetooth unit has to be stored.

The master key, K_{master} is a link key only used during the current session. It will replace the original link key only temporarily. For example, this may be utilized when a master wants to reach more than two Bluetooth units simultaneously using the same encryption key, see Section 14.2.2.6 on page 157.

The initialization key, K_{init} , is used as link key during the initialization process when no combination or unit keys have been defined and exchanged yet or when a link key has been lost. The initialization key protects the transfer of initialization parameters. The key is derived from a random number, an L-octet PIN code, and the BD_ADDR of the claimant unit. This key is only to be used during initialization.

The PIN can be a fixed number provided with the Bluetooth unit (for example when there is no MMI as in a PSTN plug). Alternatively, the PIN can be selected arbitrarily by the user, and then entered in both units that have to be matched. The latter procedure is used when both units have an MMI, for example a phone and a laptop. Entering a PIN in both units is more secure than using a fixed PIN in one of the units, and should be used whenever possible. Even if a fixed PIN is used, it shall be possible to change the PIN; this in order to prevent re-initialization by users who once got hold of the PIN. If no PIN is available, a default value of zero is to be used.

For many applications the PIN code will be a relatively short string of numbers. Typically, it may consist of only four decimal digits. Even though this gives suffi-

Bluetooth Security

page 153 of 1082

Baseband Specification

Bluetooth.

cient security in many cases, there exist countless other, more sensitive, situations where this is not reliable enough. Therefore, the PIN code can be chosen to be any length from 1 to 16 octets. For the longer lengths, we envision the units exchanging PIN codes not through mechanical (i.e. human) interaction, but rather through means supported by software at the application layer. For example, this can be a Diffie-Hellman key agreement, where the exchanged key is passed on to the K_{init} generation process in both units, just as in the case of a shorter PIN code.

14.2.2 Key generation and initialization

The link keys have to be generated and distributed among the Bluetooth units in order to be used in the authentication procedure. Since the link keys must be secret, they cannot be obtained through an inquiry routine in the same way as the Bluetooth addresses. The exchange of the keys takes place during an initialization phase which has to be carried out separately for each two units that want to implement authentication and encryption. All initialization procedures consist of the following five parts:

- · generation of an initialization key
- authentication
- generation of link key
- link key exchange
- generating of encryption key in each unit

After the initialization procedure, the units can proceed to communicate, or the link can be disconnected. If encryption is implemented, the E_0 algorithm is used with the proper encryption key derived from the current link key. For any new connection established between units A and B, they will use the common link key for authentication, instead of once more deriving K_{init} from the PIN. A new encryption key derived from that particular link key will be created next time encryption is activated.

If no link key is available, the LM shall automatically start an initialization procedure.

14.2.2.1 Generation of initialization key, Kinit

A link key used temporarily during initialization is derived – the initialization key K_{init} . This key is derived by the E_{22} algorithm from the BD_ADDR of the claimant unit, a PIN code, the length of the PIN (in octets), and a random number IN_RAND_A issued (and created) by verifier. The principle is depicted in Figure 14.15 on page 177. The 128-bit output from E_{22} will be used for key exchange during the generation of a link key. It is also used for authentication when two

page 154 of 1082

Baseband Specification

Bluetooth.

units have no record of a previous link key. When the units have performed the link key exchange, the initialization key shall be discarded.

When the initialization key is generated, the PIN is augmented with the BD_ADDR of the claimant unit. Since the maximum length of the PIN used in the algorithm cannot exceed 16 octets, it is possible that not all octets of BD_ADDR will be used. This procedure ensures that K_{init} depends on the identity of the unit trying to connect to it (at least when short PIN codes are used). A fraudulent Bluetooth unit may try to test a large number of PINs by each time claiming another BD_ADDR. It is the application's responsibility to take countermeasures against this threat. If the device address is kept fixed, the waiting interval until next try is permitted is increased exponentially (see Section 14.4.1 on page 170).

The details of the E_{22} algorithm can be found in Section 14.5.3 on page 175.

14.2.2.2 Authentication

The authentication procedure is carried out as described in Section 14.4 on page 169. If the two units have not been in contact before, the initialization key K_{init} is used as link key. Note that during each authentication, a new AU_RAND_A is issued.

Mutual authentication is achieved by first performing the authentication procedure in one direction and, if successful, immediately followed by performing the authentication procedure in the opposite direction.

As a side effect of a successful authentication procedure an auxiliary parameter, the Authenticated Ciphering Offset (ACO), will be computed. The ACO is used for ciphering key generation as described in Section 14.2.2.5 on page 156. In case of mutual authentication, the ACO value from the second authentication is retained. However, in some situations an authentication event may be initiated simultaneously in both devices. When this happens, there is no way of telling which is the first and which is the second event. Then, both units shall use the ACO resulting from the challenge generated in the master unit.

The claimant/verifier status is determined by the LM.

14.2.2.3 Generation of a unit key

A unit key K_d is generated when the Bluetooth unit is for the first time in operation; i.e. not during each initialization! The unit key is generated by the E_{21} algorithm as described in Section 14.5.3 on page 175. Once created, the unit key is stored in non-volatile memory and (almost) never changed. If after initialization the unit key is changed, the previously initialized units will possess a wrong link key. At initialization, the application has to determine which of the

29 November 1999

page 155 of 1082

Baseband Specification

Bluetooth.

two parties will provide the unit key as link key. Typically, this will be the unit with restricted memory capabilities, since this unit only has to remember its own unit key. The unit key is transferred to the other party and then stored as link key for that particular party. So, for example in Figure 14.1 on page 155, the unit key of unit A, K_A , is being used as link key for the connection A-B; unit A sends the unit key K_A to unit B; unit B will store K_A as the link key K_{BA} . For another initialization, for example with unit C, unit A will reuse its unit key K_A , whereas unit C stores it as K_{CA} .



Figure 14.1: Generation of unit key. When the unit key has been exchanged, the initialization key shall be discarded in both units.

14.2.2.4 Generation of a combination key

If it is desired to use a combination key, this key is first generated during the initialization procedure. The combination key is the combination of two numbers generated in unit A and B, respectively. First, each unit generates a random number, say LK_RAND_A and LK_RAND_B. Then, utilizing E_{21} with the random number and the own BD_ADDR, the two random numbers

$$LK_{K_{A}} = E_{21}(LK_{RAND_{A}}, BD_{A}DDR_{A}), \qquad (EQ 21)$$

and

$$LK_K_B = E_{21}(LK_RAND_B, BD_ADDR_B),$$
(EQ 22)

are created in unit A and unit B, respectively. These numbers constitute the units' contribution to the combination key that is to be created. Then, the two random numbers LK_RAND_A and LK_RAND_B are exchanged securely by XOR:ing with the current link key, say *K*. Thus, unit A sends $K \oplus LK_RAND_A$ to unit B, while unit B sends $K \oplus LK_RAND_B$ to unit A. Clearly, if this is done during the initialization phase the link key $K = K_{init}$.

When the random numbers LK_RAND_A and LK_RAND_B have been mutually exchanged, each unit recalculates the other units contribution to the combination key. This is possible since each unit knows the Bluetooth device address of the other unit. Thus, unit A calculates (EQ 22) and unit B calculates (EQ 21).

Bluetooth Security

page 156 of 1082

Baseband Specification

Bluetooth.

After this, both units combine the two numbers to generate the 128-bit link key. The combining operation is a simple bitwise modulo-2 addition (i.e. XOR). The result is stored in unit A as the link key K_{AB} and in unit B as the link key K_{BA} . When both units have derived the new combination key, a mutual authentication procedure shall be initiated to confirm the success of the transaction. The old link key shall be discarded after a successful exchange of a new combination key. The message flow between master and slave and the principle for creating the combination key is depicted in Figure 14.2 on page 156.



Figure 14.2: Generating a combination key. The old link key (K) shall be discarded after the exchange of a new combination key has succeeded

14.2.2.5 Generating the encryption key

The encryption key, K_C , is derived by algorithm E_3 from the current link key, a 96-bit Ciphering OFfset number (COF), and a 128-bit random number. The COF is determined in one of two ways. If the current link key is a master key, then COF is derived from the master BD_ADDR. Otherwise the value of COF is set to the value of ACO as computed during the authentication procedure. More precisely, we have¹

$$COF = \begin{cases} BD_ADDR \cup BD_ADDR, & if link key is a master key \\ ACO, & otherwise. \end{cases}$$
 (EQ 23)

There is an explicit call of E_3 when the LM activates encryption. Consequently, the encryption key is automatically changed each time the unit enters the

156

^{1.} $x \cup y$ denotes the concatenation of the octet strings x and y.

page 157 of 1082

Baseband Specification

Bluetooth.

encryption mode. The details of the key generating function E_3 can be found in Section 14.5.4 on page 177.

14.2.2.6 Point-to-multipoint configuration

It is quite possible for the master to use separate encryption keys for each slave in a point-to-multipoint configuration with ciphering activated. Then, if the application requires more than one slave to listen to the same payload, each slave must be addressed individually. This may cause unwanted capacity loss for the piconet. Moreover, a Bluetooth unit (slave) is not capable of switching between two or more encryption keys in real time (e.g., after looking at the AM_ADDR in the header). Thus, the master cannot use different encryption keys for broadcast messages and individually addressed traffic. Alternatively, the master may tell several slave units to use a common link key (and, hence, indirectly also to use a common encryption key) and broadcast the information encrypted. For many applications, this key is only of temporary interest. In the sequel, this key is denoted K_{master} .

The transfer of necessary parameters is protected by the routine described in Section 14.2.2.8 on page 158. After the confirmation of successful reception in each slave, the master shall issue a command to the slaves to replace their respective current link key by the new (temporary) master key. Before encryption can be activated, the master also has to generate and distribute a common EN_RAND to all participating slaves. Using this random number and the newly derived master key, each slave generates a new encryption key.

Note that the master must negotiate what encryption key length to use individually with each slave who wants to use the master key. Since the master has already negotiated at least once with each slave, it has some knowledge of what sizes can be accepted by the different slaves. Clearly, there might be situations where the permitted key lengths of some units are incompatible. In that case, the master must have the limiting unit excluded from the group.

When all slaves have received the necessary data, the master can communicate information on the piconet securely using the encryption key derived from the new temporary link key. Clearly, each slave in possession of the master key can eavesdrop on all encrypted traffic, not only the traffic intended for itself. If so desired, the master can tell all participants to fall back to their old link keys simultaneously.

14.2.2.7 Modifying the link keys

In certain circumstances, it is desirable to be able to modify the link keys. A link key based on a unit key can be changed, but not very easily. The unit key is created once during the first use. Changing the unit key is a less desirable alternative, as several units may share the same unit key as link key (think of a printer whose unit key is distributed among all users using the printer's unit key

Bluetooth Security

page 158 of 1082

Baseband Specification

Bluetooth.

as link key). Changing the unit key will require re-initialization of all units trying to connect. In certain cases, this might be desirable; for example to deny access to previously allowed units.

If the key change concerns combination keys, then the procedure is rather straightforward. The change procedure can be identical to the procedure illustrated in Figure 14.2 on page 156, using the current value of the combination key as link key. This procedure can be carried out at any time after the authentication and encryption start. In fact, since the combination key corresponds to a single link, it can be modified each time this link is established. This will improve the security of the system since then old keys lose their validity after each session.

Of course, starting up an entirely new initialization procedure is also a possibility. In that case, user interaction is necessary since a PIN is required in the authentication and encryption procedures.

14.2.2.8 Generating a master key

The key-change routines described so far are semi-permanent. To create the master link key, which can replace the current link key during an initiated session (see Section 14.2.2.6), other means are needed. First, the master creates a new link key from two 128-bit random numbers, RAND1 and RAND2. This is done by

$$K_{plaster} = E_{22}$$
(RAND1, RAND2, 16). (EQ 24)

Clearly, this key is a 128-bit random number. The reason to use the output of E_{22} and not directly chose a random number as the key, is to avoid possible problems with degraded randomness due to a poor implementation of the random number generator within the Bluetooth unit.

Then, a third random number, say RAND, is transmitted to the slave. Using E_{22} with the current link key and RAND as inputs, both the master and slave computes a 128-bit overlay. The master sends the bitwise XOR of the overlay and the new link key to the slave. The slave, who knows the overlay, recalculates K_{master} . To confirm the success of this transaction, the units can perform an authentication procedure using the new link key (with the master as verifier and the slave as claimant). This procedure is then repeated for each slave who shall receive the new link key. The ACO values from the involved authentications should not replace the current existing ACO as this ACO is needed to (re)compute a ciphering key when the master wants to fall back to the previous link (non-temporary) key.

When so required – and potentially long after the actual distribution of the master key – the master activates encryption by an LM command. Before doing that, the master must ensure that all slaves receive the same random number,

158

29 November 1999

page 159 of 1082

Baseband Specification

Bluetooth.

say EN_RAND, since the encryption key is derived through the means of E_3 individually in all participating units. Then, each slave computes a new encryption key,

$$K_C = E_3(K_{master}, \text{EN_RAND, COF}), \qquad (EQ 25)$$

where the value of COF is derived from the master's BD_ADDR as specified by equation (EQ 23). The details on the encryption key generating function can be found in Section 14.5.4 on page 177. The principle of the message flow between the master and slave when generating the master key is depicted in Figure 14.3. Note that in this case the ACO produced during the authentication is not used when computing the ciphering key.



Figure 14.3: Master link key distribution and computation of the corresponding encryption key.

14.3 ENCRYPTION

User information can be protected by encryption of the packet payload; the access code and the packet header are never encrypted. The encryption of the payloads is carried out with a stream cipher called E_0 that is re-synchronized for every payload. The overall principle is shown in Figure 14.4 on page 160.

The stream cipher system E_0 consists of three parts. One part performs the initialization (generation of the payload key), the second part generates the key stream bits, and the third part performs the encryption and decryption. The payload key generator is very simple – it merely combines the input bits in an appropriate order and shift them into the four LFSRs used in the key stream generator. The main part of the cipher system is the second, as it also will be used for the initialization. The key stream bits are generated by a method derived from the summation stream cipher generator attributable to Massey and Rueppel. The method has been thoroughly investigated, and there exist good estimates of its strength with respect to presently known methods for cryptanalysis. Although the summation generator has weaknesses that can be

Bluetooth Security

page 160 of 1082

Baseband Specification

Bluetooth.

used in so-called correlation attacks, the high re-synchronization frequency will disrupt such attacks.



Figure 14.4: Stream ciphering for Bluetooth with E₀.

14.3.1 Encryption key size negotiation

Each Bluetooth device implementing the baseband specification needs a parameter defining the maximal allowed key length, L_{max} , $1 \le L_{max} \le 16$ (number of octets in the key). For each application, a number L_{min} is defined indicating the smallest acceptable key size for that particular application. Before generating the encryption key, the involved units must negotiate to decide what key size to actually use.

The master sends a suggested value, $L_{sug}^{(M)}$, to the slave. Initially, the suggested value is set to $L_{max}^{(M)}$. If $L_{min}^{(S)} \leq L_{sug}^{(M)}$, and, the slave supports the suggested length, the slave acknowledges and this value will be the length of the encryption key for this link. However, if both conditions are not fulfilled, the slave sends a new proposal, $L_{sug}^{(S)} < L_{sug}^{(M)}$, to the master. This value should be the largest among all supported lengths less than the previous master suggestion. Then, the master performs the corresponding test on the slave suggestion. This procedure is repeated until a key length agreement is reached, or, one unit aborts the negotiation. An abortion may be caused by lack of support for L_{sug} and all smaller key lengths, or if $L_{sug} < L_{min}$ in one of the units. In case of abortion Bluetooth link encryption can not be employed.

The possibility of a failure in setting up a secure link is an unavoidable consequence of letting the application decide whether to accept or reject a suggested key size. However, this is a necessary precaution. Otherwise a fraudulent unit could enforce a weak protection on a link by claiming a small maximum key size.

Baseband Specification

Bluetooth.

14.3.2 Encryption modes

If a slave has a semi-permanent link key (i.e. a combination key or a unit key), it can only accept encryption on slots individually addressed to itself (and, of course, in the reverse direction to the master). In particular, it will assume that broadcast messages are not encrypted. The possible traffic modes are described in Table 14.2. When an entry in the table refers to a link key, it means that the encryption/decryption engine uses the encryption key derived from that link key.

Broadcast traffic	Individually addressed traffic	
No encryption	No encryption	
No encryption	Encryption, Semi-permanent link key	

Table 14.2: Possible traffic modes for a slave using a semi-permanent link key.

If the slave has received a master key, there are three possible combinations as defined in Table 14.3 on page 161. In this case, all units in the piconet uses a common link key, K_{master} . Since the master uses encryption keys derived from this link key for all secure traffic on the piconet, it is possible to avoid ambiguity in the participating slaves on which encryption key to use. Also in this case the default mode is that broadcast messages are not encrypted. A specific LM-command is required to activate encryption – both for broadcast and for individually addressed traffic.

Broadcast traffic	Individually addressed traffic	
No encryption	No encryption	
No encryption	Encryption, K_{master}	
Encryption, K_{master}	Encryption, K _{master}	

Table 14.3: Possible encryption modes for a slave in possession of a master key.

The master can issue an LM-command to the slaves telling them to fall back to their previous semi-permanent link key. Then, regardless of the previous mode they were in, they will end up in the first row of Table 14.2 on page 161; i.e. no encryption.

14.3.3 Encryption concept

For the encryption routine, a stream cipher algorithm will be used in which ciphering bits are bit-wise modulo-2 added to the data stream to be sent over the air interface. The payload is ciphered after the CRC bits are appended, but, prior to the FEC encoding.

page 162 of 1082

Baseband Specification

Bluetooth.

Each packet payload is ciphered separately. The cipher algorithm E_0 uses the master Bluetooth address, 26 bits of the master realtime clock (CLK ₂₆₋₁) and the encryption key K_c as input, see Figure 14.5 on page 162 (where it is assumed that unit A is the master).

The encryption key K_C is derived from the current link key, COF, and a random number, EN_RAND_A (see Section 14.5.4 on page 177). The random number is issued by the master before entering encryption mode. Note that EN_RAND_A is publicly known since it is transmitted as plain text over the air.

Within the E_0 algorithm, the encryption key K_C is modified into another key denoted K'_C . The maximum effective size of this key is factory preset and may be set to any multiple of eight between one and sixteen (8-128 bits). The procedure for deriving the key is described in Section 14.3.5 on page 165.

The real-time clock is incremented for each slot. The E_0 algorithm is re-initialized at the start of each new packet (i.e. for Master-to-Slave as well as for Slave-to-Master transmission). By using CLK₂₆₋₁ at least one bit is changed between two transmissions. Thus, a new keystream is generated after each reinitialization. For packets covering more than a single slot, the Bluetooth clock as found in the first slot is being used for the entire packet.

The encryption algorithm E_0 generates a binary keystream, K_{cipher} , which is modulo-2 added to the data to be encrypted. The cipher is symmetric; decryption is performed in exactly the same way using the same key as used for encryption.



Figure 14.5: Functional description of the encryption procedure

162

29 November 1999

page 163 of 1082

Baseband Specification

Bluetooth.

14.3.4 Encryption algorithm

The system uses linear feedback shift registers (LFSRs) whose output is combined by a simple finite state machine (called the summation combiner) with 16 states. The output of this state machine is the key stream sequence, or, during initialization phase, the randomized initial start value. The algorithm is presented with an encryption key K_c , an 48-bit Bluetooth address, the master clock bits CLK₂₆₋₁, and a 128-bit RAND value. Figure 14.6 on page 163 shows the setup.

There are four LFSRs (LFSR₁,...,LFSR₄) of lengths $L_1 = 25$, $L_2 = 31$, $L_3 = 33$, and, $L_4 = 39$, with feedback polynomials as specified in Table 14.4 on page 164. The total length of the registers is 128. These polynomials are all primitive. The Hamming weight of all the feedback polynomials is chosen to be five – a reasonable trade-off between reducing the number of required XOR gates in the hardware realization and obtaining good statistical properties of the generated sequences.



Figure 14.6: Concept of the encryption engine.

Baseband Specification

Bluetooth.

i	L_i	feedback $f_i(t)$	weight
1	25	$t^{25} + t^{20} + t^{12} + t^8 + 1$	5
2	31	$t^{31} + t^{24} + t^{16} + t^{12} + 1$	5
3	33	$t^{33} + t^{28} + t^{24} + t^4 + 1$	5
4	39	$t^{39} + t^{36} + t^{28} + t^4 + 1$	5

Table 14.4: The four primitive feedback polynomials.

Let x_i^i denote the *i*th symbol of LSFR_i. From the four-tuple $x_i^1, ..., x_i^4$ we derive the value y_i as

$$y_t = \sum_{t=1}^{4} x_t^t,$$
 (EQ 26)

where the sum is over the integers. Thus y_i can take the values 0,1,2,3, or 4. The output of the summation generator is now given by the following equations

$$z_{t} = x_{t}^{1} \oplus x_{t}^{2} \oplus x_{t}^{3} \oplus x_{t}^{4} \oplus c_{t}^{0} \in \{0, 1\},$$
(EQ 27)

$$s_{t+1} = (s_{t+1}^1, s_{t+1}^0) = \left\lfloor \frac{y_t + c_t}{2} \right\rfloor \in \{0, 1, 2, 3\},$$
(EQ 28)

$$c_{t+1} = (c_{t+1}^1, c_{t+1}^0) = s_{t+1} \oplus T_1[c_t] \oplus T_2[c_{t-1}],$$
(EQ 29)

where $T_1[.]$ and $T_2[.]$ are two different linear bijections over GF(4). Suppose GF(4) is generated by the irreducible polynomial $x^2 + x + 1$, and let α be a zero of this polynomial in GF(4). The mappings T_1 and T_2 are now defined as

$$T_1: \operatorname{GF}(4) \to \operatorname{GF}(4)$$

 $x \mapsto x$
 $T_2: \operatorname{GF}(4) \to \operatorname{GF}(4)$

 $x \mapsto (\alpha + 1)x$.

We can write the elements of GF(4) as binary vectors. This is summarized in Table 14.5.

Since the mappings are linear, we can realize them using XOR gates; i.e.

29 November 1999

page 165 of 1082

Baseband S	Specification
------------	---------------

Bluetooth.

x	$T_1[x]$	$T_2[x]$	
00	00	00	
01	01	11	
10	10	01	
11	11	10	

Table 14.5: The mappings T_1 and T_2 .

T_1 :	$(x_1,x_0)\mapsto (x_1,x_0),$
T_2 :	$(x_1, x_0) \mapsto (x_0, x_1 \oplus x_0).$

14.3.4.1 The operation of the cipher

Figure 14.7 on page 165 gives an overview of the operation in time. The encryption algorithm shall run through the initialization phase before the start of transmitting or receiving a new packet. Thus, for multislot packets the cipher is initialized using the clock value of the first slot in the multislot sequence.



Figure 14.7: Overview of the operation of the encryption engine. Between each start of a packet (TX or RX), the LFSRs are re-initialized.

14.3.5 LFSR initialization

The key stream generator needs to be loaded with an initial value for the four LFSRs (in total 128 bits) and the 4 bits that specify the values of c_0 and c_{-1} . The 132 bit initial value is derived from four inputs by using the key stream generator itself. The input parameters are the key K_C , a 128-bit random number RAND, a 48-bit Bluetooth address, and the 26 master clock bits CLK₂₆₋₁.

The effective length of the encryption key can vary between 8 and 128 bits. Note that the actual key length as obtained from E_3 is 128 bits. Then, within E_0 , the key length is reduced by a modulo operation between K_C and a polynomial of desired degree. After reduction, the result is encoded with a block code in

Bluetooth Security

page 166 of 1082

Baseband Specification

Bluetooth.

order to distribute the starting states more uniformly. The operation is defined in (EQ 30).

When the encryption key has been created the LFSRs are loaded with their initial values. Then, 200 stream cipher bits are created by operating the generator. Of these bits, the last 128 are fed back into the key stream generator as an initial value of the four LFSRs. The values of c_t and c_{t-1} are kept. From this point on, when clocked the generator produces the encryption (decryption) sequence which is bitwise XORed to the transmitted (received) payload data.

In the following, we will denote octet *i* of a binary sequence X by the notation X[i]. We define bit 0 of X to be the LSB. Then, the LSB of X[i] corresponds to bit 8*i* of the sequence X, the MSB of X[i] is bit 8*i* + 7 of X. For instance, bit 24 of the Bluetooth address is the LSB of ADR[3].

The details of the initialization are as follows:

1. Create the encryption key to use from the 128-bit secret key K_C and the 128-bit publicly known EN_RAND. Let $L, 1 \le L \le 16$, be the effective key length in number of octets. The resulting encryption key will be denoted K_C :

$$K'_C(x) = g_2^{(L)}(x)(K_C(x) \mod g_1^{(L)}(x)),$$
 (EQ 30)

where $deg(g_1^{(L)}(x)) = 8L$ and $deg(g_2^{(L)}(x)) \le 128 - 8L$. The polynomials are defined in Table 14.6.

- 2. Shift in the 3 inputs K²_C, the Bluetooth address, the clock, and the sixbit constant 111001 into the LFSRs. In total 208 bits are shifted in.
 - a) Open all switches shown in Figure 14.8 on page 168;
 - b) Arrange inputs bits as shown in Figure 14.8; Set the content of all shift register elements to zero. Set t = 0.
 - c) Start shifting bits into the LFSRs. The rightmost bit at each level of Figure 14.8 is the first bit to enter the corresponding LFSR.
 - d) When the first input bit at level i reaches the rightmost position of LFSR_i, close the switch of this LFSR.
 - e) At t = 39 (when the switch of LFSR₄ is closed), reset both blend registers $c_{39} = c_{39-1} = 0$; Up to this point, the content of c_i and c_{t-1} has been of no concern. However, from this moment forward their content will be used in computing the output sequence.
 - f) From now on output symbols are generated. The remaining input bits are continuously shifted into their corresponding shift register. When the last bit has been shifted in, the shift register is clocked with input = 0;

Note: When finished, LFSR₁ has effectively clocked 30 times with feedback closed, LFSR₂ has clocked 24 times, LFSR₃ has

page 167 of 1082

Baseband Specification

Bluetooth.

clocked 22 times, and LFSR₄ has effectively clocked 16 times with feedback closed.

- To mix initial data, continue to clock until 200 symbols have been produced with all switches closed (*t* = 239);
- 4. Keep blend registers c_t and c_{t-1} , make a parallel load of the last 128 generated bits into the LFSRs according to Figure 14.9 at t = 240;

After the parallel load in item 4, the blend register contents will be updated for each subsequent clock.

L	deg	$g_1^{(L)}$	deg	g ₂ ^(L)
1	[8]	00000000 00000000 00000000 0000011d	[119]	00e275a0 abd218d4 cf928b9b bf6cb08f
2	[16]	00000000 0000000 0000000 0001003£	[112]	0001e3f6 3d7659b3 7f18c258 cff6efef
3	[24]	00000000 00000000 0000000 010000db	[104]	000001be f66c6c3a b1030a5a 1919808b
4	[32]	00000000 00000000 0000000 000000af	[96]	00000001 6ab89965 de17467f d3736ad9
5	[40]	00000000 00000000 00000100 00000039	[88]	00000000 01630632 91da50ec 55715247
6	[48]	00000000 0000000 00010000 00000291	[77]	00000000 00002c93 52aa6cc0 54468311
7	[56]	00000000 00000000 01000000 00000095	[71]	00000000 000000b3 f7fffce2 79f3a073
8	[64]	00000000 00000001 00000000 0000001b	[63]	00000000 00000000 alab815b c7ec8025
9	[72]	00000000 00000100 00000000 00000609	[49]	00000000 00000000 0002c980 11d8b04d
10	[80]	00000000 00010000 0000000 00000215	[42]	00000000 00000000 0000058e 24£9a4bb
11	[88]	00000000 01000000 0000000 0000013b	[35]	00000000 00000000 0000000c a76024d7
12	[96]	66000000 00000000 0000000 10000000	[28]	00000000 0000000 00000000 1c9c26b9
13	[104]	00000100 00000000 0000000 0000049d	[21]	00000000 00000000 00000000 0026d9e3
14	[112]	00010000 0000000 0000000 000014E	[14]	00000000 0000000 0000000 00004377
15	[120]	01000000 0000000 0000000 000000e7	[7]	0000000 0000000 0000000 0000000
16	[128]	1 00000000 0000000 0000000 00000000	[0]	00000000 00000000 00000000 00000001

Table 14.6: Polynomials used when creating K_C° .

All polynomials are in hexadecimal notation. The LSB is in the rightmost position.

In Figure 14.8, all bits are shifted into the LFSRs, starting with the least significant bit (LSB). For instance, from the third octet of the address, ADR[2], first ADR₁₆ is entered, followed by ADR₁₇, etc. Furthermore, CL₀ corresponds to CLK₁,..., CL₂₅ corresponds to CLK₂₆.

Note that the output symbols x_p^i , i = 1, ..., 4 are taken from the positions 24, 24, 32, and 32 for LFSR₁, LFSR₂, LFSR₃, and LFSR₄, respectively (counting the leftmost position as number 1).

Bluetooth Security

Baseband Specification





Figure 14.8: Arranging the input to the LFSRs.

In Figure 14.9, the 128 binary output symbols $Z_0,..., Z_{127}$ are arranged in octets denoted Z[0],..., Z[15]. The LSB of Z[0] corresponds to the first of these symbols, the MSB of Z[15] is the latest output from the generator. These bits shall be loaded into the LFSRs according to the figure. It is a parallel load and no update of the blend registers is done. The first output symbol is generated at the same time. The octets are written into the registers with the LSB in the leftmost position (i.e. the opposite of before). For example, Z_{24} is loaded into position 1 of LFSR₄.



Figure 14.9: Distribution of the 128 last generated output symbols within the LFSRs.

14.3.6 Key stream sequence

When the initialization is finished, the output from the summation combiner is used for encryption/decryption. The first bit to use is the one produced at the parallel load, i.e. at t = 240. The circuit is run for the entire length of the current payload. Then, before the reverse direction is started, the entire initialization process is repeated with updated values on the input parameters.

page 169 of 1082

Baseband Specification

Bluetooth.

Sample data of the encryption output sequence can be found in "Appendix IV" on page 899, Encryption Sample Data. A necessary, but not sufficient, condition for all Bluetooth-compliant implementations is to produce these encryption streams for identical initialization values.

14.4 AUTHENTICATION

The entity authentication used in Bluetooth uses a challenge-response scheme in which a claimant's knowledge of a secret key is checked through a 2-move protocol using symmetric secret keys. The latter implies that a correct claimant/ verifier pair share the same secret key, for example K. In the challengeresponse scheme the verifier challenges the claimant to authenticate a random input (the challenge), denoted by AU_RAND_A, with an authentication code, denoted by E_1 , and return the result SRES to the verifier, see Figure 14.10 on page 169. This figure shows also that in Bluetooth the input to E_1 consists of the tuple AU_RAND_A and the Bluetooth device address (BD_ADDR) of the claimant. The use of this address prevents a simple reflection attack¹. The secret K shared by units A and B is the current link key.



Figure 14.10: Challenge-response for the Bluetooth.

The challenge-response scheme for symmetric keys used in the Bluetooth is depicted in Figure 14.11 on page 170.

Bluetooth Security

The reflection attack actually forms no threat in Bluetooth because all service requests are dealt with on a FIFO bases. When pre-emption is introduced, this attack is potentially dangerous.

page 170 of 1082

Baseband Specification

Bluetooth.



Figure 14.11: Challenge-response for symmetric key systems.

In the Bluetooth, the verifier is not necessarily the master. The application indicates who has to be authenticated by whom. Certain applications only require a one-way authentication. However, in some peer-to-peer communications, one might prefer a mutual authentication in which each unit is subsequently the challenger (verifier) in two authentication procedures. The LM coordinates the indicated authentication preferences by the application to determine in which direction(s) the authentication(s) has to take place. For mutual authentication with the units of Figure 14.10 on page 169, after unit A has successfully authenticated unit B, unit B could authenticate unit A by sending a AU_RAND_B (different from the AU_RAND_A that unit A issued) to unit A, and deriving the SRES and SRES' from the new AU_RAND_B, the address of unit A, and the link key K_{AB}.

If an authentication is successful the value of ACO as produced by E_1 should be retained.

14.4.1 Repeated attempts

When the authentication attempt fails, a certain waiting interval must pass before a new authentication attempt can be made. For each subsequent authentication failure with the same Bluetooth address, the waiting interval shall be increased exponentially. That is, after each failure, the waiting interval before a new attempt can be made, for example, twice as long as the waiting interval prior to the previous attempt¹. The waiting interval shall be limited to a maximum. The maximum waiting interval depends on the implementation. The waiting time shall exponentially decrease to a minimum when no new failed attempts are being made during a certain time period. This procedure prevents an intruder to repeat the authentication procedure with a large number of different keys.

^{1.} An other appropriate value larger than 1 may be used.

page 171 of 1082

Baseband Specification

Bluetooth.

To make the system somewhat less vulnerable to denial-of-service attacks, the Bluetooth units should keep a list of individual waiting intervals for each unit it has established contact with. Clearly, the size of this list must be restricted only to contain the N units with which the most recent contact has been made. The number N can vary for different units depending on available memory size and user environment.

14.5 THE AUTHENTICATION AND KEY-GENERATING FUNCTIONS

This section describes the algorithmic means for supporting the Bluetooth security requirements on authentication and key generation.

14.5.1 The authentication function E1

The authentication function E_1 proposed for the Bluetooth is a computationally secure authentication code, or often called a MAC. E_1 uses the encryption

function called SAFER+. The algorithm is an enhanced version¹ of an existing 64-bit block cipher SAFER-SK128, and it is freely available. In the sequel the block cipher will be denoted as the function A_r , which maps under a 128-bit key, a 128-bit input to a 128-bit output, i.e.

$$A_r: \{0, 1\}^{128} \times \{0, 1\}^{128} \to \{0, 1\}^{128}$$

$$(EQ 31)$$

$$(k \times x) \mapsto t.$$

The details of A_r are given in the next section. The function E_1 is constructed using A_r as follows

$$E_1: \{0, 1\}^{128} \times \{0, 1\}^{128} \times \{0, 1\}^{48} \to \{0, 1\}^{32} \times \{0, 1\}^{96}$$
(EQ 32)
(K, RAND, address) \mapsto (SRES, ACO).

where SRES = Hash(K, RAND, address, 6)[0, ..., 3], where Hash is a keyed hash function defined as²,

$$\begin{aligned} Hash: \{0,1\}^{128} \times \{0,1\}^{128} \times \{0,1\}^{8\times L} \times \{6,12\} \to \{0,1\}^{128} \\ (K,I_1,I_2,L) &\mapsto \mathcal{A}_r([\tilde{K}], [E(I_2,L) +_{16} (\mathcal{A}_r(K,I_1) \oplus_{16} I_1)]), \end{aligned} \tag{EQ 33}$$

and where

Bluetooth Security

29 November 1999

It is presently one of the contenders for the Advanced Encryption Standard (AES) submitted by Cylink, Corp, Sunnyvale, USA

The operator +₁₆ denotes bytewise addition mod 256 of the 16 octets, and the operator ⊕₁₆ denotes bytewise XORing of the 16 octets.

page 172 of 1082

Baseband Specification

 $E: \{0, 1\}^{8 \times L} \times \{6, 12\} \to \{0, 1\}^{8 \times 16}$ (EQ 34) $(X[0, ..., L-1], L) \mapsto (X[i(\text{mod L})] \text{ for } i = 0...15),$

is an expansion of the *L* octet word \tilde{X} into a 128-bit word. Thus we see that we have to evaluate the function A_r twice for each evaluation of E_1 . The key \tilde{K} for the second use of A_r (actually A_r^*) is offseted from *K* as follows¹

K[0] = (K[0] + 233)	mod 256, $K[1] = K[1] \oplus 229$,	
$\tilde{K}[2] = (K[2] + 223)$	mod 256, $K[3] = K[3] \oplus 193$,	
$\tilde{K}[4] = (K[4] + 179)$	mod 256, $K[5] = K[5] \oplus 167$,	
$\tilde{K}[6] = (K[6] + 149)$	mod 256, $K[7] = K[7] \oplus 131$,	(EO 35)
$\tilde{K}[8] = K[8] \oplus 233,$	$\tilde{K}[9] = (K[9] + 229) \mod 256,$	100.001
$\tilde{K}[10] = K[10] \oplus 223,$	$\tilde{K}[11] = (K[11] + 193) \mod 256,$	
$\tilde{K}[12] = K[12] \oplus 179,$	$\tilde{K}[13] = (K[13] + 167) \mod 256,$	
$\tilde{K}[14] = K[14] \oplus 149,$	$\tilde{K}[15] = (K[15] + 131) \mod 256.$	

A data flowchart of the computation of E_1 is depicted in Figure 14.12 on page 173. E_1 is also used to deliver the parameter ACO (Authenticated Ciphering Offset) that is used in the generation of the ciphering key by E_3 , see equations (EQ 23) and (EQ 43). The value of ACO is formed by the octets 4 through 15 of the output of the hash function defined in (EQ 33), i.e.

$$ACO = Hash(K, RAND, address, 6)[4, ..., 15].$$
(EQ 36)

1. The constants are the first largest primes below 257 for which 10 is a primitive root.

29 November 1999

page 173 of 1082

Baseband Specification

Bluetooth.



Figure 14.12: Flow of data for the computation of E_1 .

14.5.2 The functions Ar and A'r

The function A_r is identical to SAFER+. It consists of a set of 8 layers, (each layer is called a round) and a parallel mechanism for generating the sub keys $K_p[j]$, p = 1, 2, ..., 17, the so-called round keys to be used in each round. The function will produce a 128-bit result from a 128-bit "random" input string and a 128-bit "key". Besides the function A_r , a slightly modified version referred to as A'_r is used in which the input of round 1 is added to the input of the 3rd round. This is done to make the modified version non-invertible and prevents the use of A'_r (especially in E_{2x}) as an encryption function. See Figure 14.13 on page 174 for details.

14.5.2.1 The round computations

The computations in each round are a composition of encryption with a round key, substitution, encryption with the next round key, and, finally, a Pseudo Hadamard Transform (PHT). The computations in a round are shown in Figure 14.13 on page 174. The sub keys for round r, r = 1, 2, ..., 8 are denoted

Bluetooth Security

page 174 of 1082

Baseband Specification

174

Bluetooth.

 $K_{2r-1}[j]$, $K_{2r}[j]$, j = 0, 1, ..., 15. After the last round $k_{17}[j]$ is applied in a similar fashion as all previous odd numbered keys.

14.5.2.2 The substitution boxes "e" and "I"

In Figure 14.13 on page 174 two boxes occur, marked "e" and "I". These boxes implement the same substitutions as used in SAFER+; i.e. they implement

 $\begin{array}{rcl} e,l & : & \{0,...,255\} \to \{0,...,255\}, \\ e & : & i \mapsto (45^i \ (\text{mod} \ 257)) \ (\text{mod} \ 256), \\ l & : & i \mapsto j \ \text{s.t.} \ i = e(j). \end{array}$

Their role, as in the SAFER+ algorithm, is to introduce non-linearity.



Figure 14.13: One round in A_r and A_r . The permutation boxes show how input byte indices are mapped onto output byte indices. Thus, position 0 (leftmost) is mapped on position 8, position 1 is mapped on position 11, et cetera.

29 November 1999

page 175 of 1082

Baseband Specification

Bluetooth.

14.5.2.3 Key scheduling

In each round, 2 batches of 16 octet-wide keys are needed. These so-called round keys are derived as specified by the key scheduling in SAFER+. Figure 14.14 on page 175 gives an overview of how the round keys $K_p[j]$ are determined. The bias vectors B₂, B₃, ..., B₁₇ are computed according to following equation:

$$B_p[i] = ((45^{(45^{17p+i-1} \mod 257)} \mod 257) \mod 256), \text{ for } i = 0, ..., 15.$$
(EQ 37)



Figure 14.14: Key scheduling in A,.

14.5.3 E₂-Key generation function for authentication

The key used for authentication is derived through a procedure that is shown in Figure 14.15 on page 177. The figure shows two different modes of operation for the algorithm. In the first mode, the function E_2 should produce on input of a 128-bit RAND value and a 48-bit address, a 128-bit link key *K*. This mode is utilized when creating unit keys and combination keys. In the second mode the function E_2 should produce, on input of a 128-bit RAND value and an *L* octet user PIN, a 128-bit link key *K*. The second mode is used to create the initialization key, and also whenever a master key is to be generated.

Bluetooth Security

page 176 of 1082

Baseband Specification

Bluetooth.

When the initialization key is generated, the PIN is augmented with the BD_ADDR of the claimant unit. The augmentation always starts with the least significant octet of the address immediately following the most significant octet of the PIN. Since the maximum length of the PIN used in the algorithm cannot exceed 16 octets, it is possible that not all octets of BD_ADDR will be used.

This key generating algorithm again exploits the cryptographic function. Formally E_2 can be expressed for mode 1 (denoted E_{21}) as

$$\begin{split} E_{21}: \ \{0,1\}^{128} \times \{0,1\}^{48} &\to \{0,1\}^{128} \\ (\text{RAND, address}) &\mapsto \mathcal{A}_{r}^{*}(X,Y) \end{split} \tag{EQ 38}$$

where (for mode 1)

$$\begin{cases} X = \operatorname{RAND}[0...14] \cup (\operatorname{RAND}[15] \oplus 6) \\ 15 \\ Y = \bigcup_{i=0} \operatorname{address}[i \pmod{6}] \\ i = 0 \end{cases}$$
(EQ 39)

Let L be the number of octets in the user PIN. The augmenting is defined by

$$PIN^{*} = \begin{cases} PIN[0...L-1] \cup BD_ADDR_B[0...min\{5, 15-L\}], & L < 16, \\ PIN[0...L-1], & L = 16, \end{cases}$$
(EQ 40)

where it is assumed that unit B is the claimant. Then, in mode 2, E_2 (denoted E_{22}) can be expressed as

$$E_{22}: \{0, 1\}^{8L^*} \times \{0, 1\}^{128} \times \{1, 2, ..., 16\} \to \{0, 1\}^{128}$$
(EQ 41)
(PIN', RAND, L') $\mapsto A_r^*(X, Y)$

where

$$\begin{cases} 15 \\ X = \bigcup_{i=0}^{15} \operatorname{PIN}^{i}[i \pmod{L^{n}}], \\ Y = \operatorname{RAND}[0...14] \cup (\operatorname{RAND}[15] \oplus L^{n}), \end{cases}$$
(EQ 42)

and $L^* = \min\{16, L+6\}$ is the number of octets in PIN'.

29 November 1999

page 177 of 1082

Baseband Specification

Bluetooth.



Figure 14.15: Key generating algorithm E_2 and its two modes. Mode 1 is used for unit and combination keys, while mode 2 is used for K_{init} and K_{master} .

14.5.4 E₃-Key generation function for encryption

The ciphering key K_C used by E_0 is generated by E_3 . The function E_3 is constructed using $A_{i,2}$ as follows

$$E_{3}; \{0, 1\}^{128} \times \{0, 1\}^{128} \times \{0, 1\}^{96} \to \{0, 1\}^{128}$$

$$(K, \text{RAND}, \text{COF}) \mapsto Hash(K, \text{RAND}, \text{COF}, 12)$$
(EQ 43)

where *Hash* is the hash function as defined by (EQ 33). Note that the produced key length is 128 bits. However, before use within E_0 , the encryption key K_C will be shortened to the correct encryption key length, as described in Section 14.3.5 on page 165. A block scheme of E_3 is depicted in Figure 14.16.

The value of COF is determined as specified by equation (EQ 23).



Figure 14.16: Generation of the encryption key.

Bluetooth Security

29 November 1999

page 178 of 1082

Baseband Specification

Bluetooth.

29 November 1999

page 179 of 1082

Baseband Specification

Bluetooth.

15 LIST OF FIGURES

List of Figures	29 November 1999 179
Figure 9.3:	RX timing of slave returning from hold state
A CAR CARL CONT	single-slot packets
Figure 9.2:	RX/TX cycle of Bluetooth slave transceiver in normal mode for
Ligare et t	single-slot packets
Figure 9.1	RX/TX cycle of Bluetooth master transceiver in normal mode for
Figure 8.4:	Payload bit processes
Figure 8.3:	Header bit processes
Figure 8.2:	Functional diagram of RX buffering
Figure 8.1:	Functional diagram of TX buffering81
Figure 7.1:	Data whitening LFSR
Figure 5.11:	CRC generation and checking
Figure 5.10:	Initial state of the CRC generating circuit76
Figure 5.9:	The LFSR circuit generating the CRC75
Figure 5.8:	HEC generation and checking
Figure 5.7:	Initial state of the HEC generating circuit
Figure 5.6:	The LFSR circuit generating the HEC74
Figure 5.5:	Broadcast repetition scheme73
Figure 5.4:	Retransmit filtering for packets with CRC
Figure 5.3:	Receive protocol for determining the ARQN bit
Figure 5.2:	LFSR generating the (15,10) shortened Hamming code68
Figure 5.1:	Bit-repetition encoding scheme
Figure 4.9;	Payload header format for multi-slot packets
Figure 4.8:	Payload header format for single-slot packets
Figure 4.7:	DV packet format
Figure 4.6:	Format of the FHS payload
Figure 4.5:	Header format
	of sync word is 1 (b)
Figure 4.4:	Trailer in CAC when MSB of sync word is 0 (a), and when MSB
Figure 4.3:	Preamble
Figure 4.2:	Access code format
Figure 4.1:	Standard packet format
riguis sis.	won-siot packets
Figure 2.1.	Auti elet packate
Elouro 2.1	TDD and timing 44
riguie 1.2.	operation (b) and a scatternet operation (c)
Eigure 1.1.	Disercete with a stable clove exerction (a) a multi clove
Cinum 4 4	Different functional blacks in the Quisteeth suctors dt

page 180 of 1082

Baseband Specification

Bluetooth.

Figure 9.4:	RX/TX cycle of Bluetooth transceiver in PAGE mode
Figure 9.5:	Timing of FHS packet on successful page in first half slot92
Figure 9.6:	Timing of FHS packet on successful page in second half slot92
Figure 9.7:	RX/TX timing in multi-slave configuration
Figure 10.1:	Bluetooth clock
Figure 10.2:	Derivation of CLKE
Figure 10.3:	Derivation of CLK in master (a) and in slave (b)
Figure 10.4:	State diagram of Bluetooth link controller
Figure 10.5:	Conventional page (a), page while one SCO link present (b), page while two SCO links present (c)
Figure 10.6:	Messaging at initial connection when slave responds to first page message
Figure 10.7:	Messaging at initial connection when slave responds to second page message 105
Figure 10.8:	General beacon channel format
Figure 10.9:	Definition of access window
Figure 10.10	Access procedure applying the polling technique
Figure 10.11	Disturbance of access window by SCO traffic
Figure 10.12	Extended sleep interval of parked slaves
	A
Figure 11.1:	General block diagram of hop selection scheme
Figure 11.2:	Hop selection scheme in CONNECTION state
Figure 11.3:	Block diagram of hop selection kernel for the 79-hop system. 129
Figure 11.4:	Block diagram of hop selection kernel for the 23-hop system. 129
Figure 11.5:	same except for the Z'4/Z4 wire that does not exist
Figure 11.6:	Permutation operation for the 79 hop system
Figure 11.7:	Permutation operation for the 23 hop system
Figure 11.8:	Butterfly implementation
Flaure 12.1:	Block diagram of CVSD encoder with svilabic companding140
Figure 12.2:	Block diagram of CVSD decoder with svilabic companding,140
Figure 12.3:	Accumulator procedure
Eleuro 12 fr	Earmat of RD_ADDD 142
Eigure 13.1.	Construction of the sum word 145
Elouro 12.2	I CCD and the starting state in generatio
119016 10.0.	ישר הייני מווט דוב סומו נווען סומנס וש עלאפומנס הייני איזאיז איזיאיזיאיזאיזאיזאיזאיזאיזאיזאיזאיזאיזאי
Figure 14.1:	Generation of unit key. When the unit key has been exchanged, the initialization key shall be discarded in both units
Figure 14.2:	Generating a combination key. The old link key (K) shall be discarded after the exchange of a new combination key has
	SUCCEEVED International Antonio Contraction (190

180

List of Figures
page 181 of 1082

Baseband Specification

Bluetooth.

Figure 14.3:	Master link key distribution and computation of the
	corresponding encryption key
Figure 14.4:	Stream ciphering for Bluetooth with E0
Figure 14.5:	Functional description of the encryption procedure
Figure 14.6:	Concept of the encryption engine
Figure 14.7:	Overview of the operation of the encryption engine. Between each start of a packet (TX or RX), the LFSRs are
	re-initialized
Figure 14.8:	Arranging the input to the LFSRs
Figure 14.9:	Distribution of the 128 last generated output symbols within the
	LFSRs
Figure 14.10	:Challenge-response for the Bluetooth
Figure 14.11	Challenge-response for symmetric key systems
Figure 14.12	Flow of data for the computation of <i>E</i> ₁
Figure 14.13	One round in A _r and A _r 174
Figure 14.14	Key scheduling in A _r
Figure 14.15	:Key generating algorithm E2 and its two modes.
	Mode 1 is used for unit and combination keys, while mode 2 is
	used for K _{init} and K _{master}
Figure 14.16	:Generation of the encryption key

List of Figures.

29 November 1999

181

page 182 of 1082

Baseband Specification

Bluetooth.

29 November 1999

List of Figures

page 183 of 1082

Baseband Specification

Bluetooth.

16 LIST OF TABLES

Table 2.1:	Available RF channels43		
Table 4.1:	Summary of access code types		
Table 4.2:	Packets defined for SCO and ACL link types		
Table 4.3:	Description of the FHS payload		
Table 4.4:	Contents of SR field		
Table 4.5:	Contents of SP field		
Table 4.6:	Contents of page scan mode field		
Table 4.7:	Logical channel L_CH field contents63		
Table 4.8:	Use of payload header flow bit on the logical channels		
Table 4.9:	Link control packets		
Table 4.10:	ACL packets		
Table 4.11:	SCO packets		
Table 10.1:	Relationship between scan interval, train repetition, and paging modes R0, R1 and R2		
Table 10.2:	Relationship between train repetition, and paging modes R0, R1 and R2 when SCO links are present		
Table 10.3:	Initial messaging during start-up		
Table 10.4:	Increase of train repetition when SCO links are present 111		
Table 10.5:	essaging during inquiry routines		
Table 10.6:	ble 10.6: Mandatory scan periods for P0, P1, P2 scan period modes		
Table 11.1;	Control of the butterflies for the 79 hop system		
Table 11.2:	Control of the butterflies for the 23 hop system		
Table 11.3:	Control for 79-hop system		
Table 11.4:	Control for 23-hop system		
Table 12.1:	Voice coding schemes supported on the air interface		
Table 12.2:	CVSD parameter values. The values are based on a 16 bit signed number output from the accumulator141		
Table 14.1:	Entities used in authentication and encryption procedures149		
Table 14.2:	Possible traffic modes for a slave using a semi-permanent link		
	key161		
Table 14.3:	Possible encryption modes for a slave in possession of a master		
	key		
Table 14.4:	The four primitive feedback polynomials		
Table 14.5:	The mappings T ₁ and T ₂ 165		

183

page 184 of 1082

Baseband Specification Blu		oth.
Table 14.6:	Polynomials used when creating . All polynomials are in hexadecimal notation. The LSB is in the rightmost position.	.167
Table 14.6:	Polynomials used when creating . All polynomials are in hexadecimal notation. The LSB is in the rightmost position	167

Part C

LINK MANAGER PROTOCOL

This specification describes the Link Manager Protocol (LMP) which is used for link set-up and control. The signals are interpreted and filtered out by the Link Manager on the receiving side and are not propagated to higher layers.

page 186 of 1082

Link Manager Protocol

Bluetooth.

29 November 1999

page 187 of 1082

Link Manager Protocol

Bluetooth.

CONTENTS

-	Gene	neral		
Z	Form	nat of LI	MP	
3	The l	Procedu	ure Rules and PDUs	
	3.1	Gener	al Response Messages	
	3,2	Auther 3.2.1	ntication Claimant has link key	
		3.2.2	Claimant has no link key	
		3.2.3	Repeated attempts	
	3.3	Pairing 3.3.1	Claimant accepts pairing	
		3.3.2	Claimant requests to become verifier	
		3.3.3	Claimant rejects pairing	
		3.3.4	Creation of the link key	
		3.3.5	Repeated altempts	
	3.4	Chang	je Link Key	
	3.5	Chang 3.5.1	e the Current Link Key Change to a temporary link key	
		3.5.2	Make the semi-permanent link key the curre link key	ent 199
	3.6	Encry 3.6.1	otion Encryption mode	
		3.6.2	Encryption key size	
		3.6.3	Start encryption	
		3.6.4	Stop encryption	
		3.6.5	Change encryption mode, key or random n	umber 202
	3.7	Clock	Offset Request	
	3.8	Slot O	ffset Information	
	3.9	Timing	Accuracy Information Request	
	3.10	LMP V	/ersion	
	3.11	Suppo	rted Features	
	3.12	Switch	of Master-Slave Role	
	3.13	Name	Request	
	3.14	Detacl	9	
	3.15	Hold N	Aode	
		3.15.1	Master forces hold mode	
		3.15.2	Slave forces hold mode	
		3.15.3	Master or slave requests hold mode	209

29 November 1999

page 188 of 1082

Link Manager Protocol

Bluetooth.

	3.16	Sniff Mode 209 3.16.1 Master forces a slave into sniff mode 210
		3.16.2 Master or slave requests sniff mode
		3.16.3 Moving a slave from sniff mode to active mode
	3.17	Park Mode
		3.17.2 Master requests slave to enter park mode
		3.17.3 Slave requests to be placed in park mode
		3.17.4 Master sets up broadcast scan window
		3.17.5 Master modifies beacon parameters
		3.17.6 Unparking slaves
	3.18	Power Control
	3.19	Channel Quality-driven Change Between DM and DH
	3.20	Quality of Service (QoS) 218 3.20.1 Master notifies slave of the quality of service 218
		3.20.2 Device requests new quality of service
	3.21	SCO Links
		3.21.2 Slave initiates an SCO link
		3.21.3 Master requests change of SCO parameters
		3.21.4 Slave requests change of SCO parameters
		3.21.5 Remove an SCO link
	3.22	Control of Multi-slot Packets
	3.23	Paging Scheme 223 3.23.1 Page mode 223
		3.23.2 Page scan mode
	3.24	Link Supervision
4	Con	ection Establishment
5	Sum	mary of PDUs
	5.1	Description of Parameters
		5.1.2 List of error reasons
	5.2	Default Values

page 189 of 1082

Link Manager Protocol

Bluetooth.

Test	Modes
6.1	Activation and Deactivation of Test Mode
6.2	Control of Test Mode
6.3	Summary of Test Mode PDUs
Erro	r Handling
List	of Figures
List	of Tables
	Test 6.1 6.2 6.3 Erro List List

29 November 1999

page 190 of 1082

Link Manager Protocol

Bluetooth.

190

29 November 1999

page 191 of 1082

Link Manager Protocol

Bluetooth.

1 GENERAL

LMP messages are used for link set-up, security and control. They are transferred in the payload instead of L2CAP and are distinguished by a reserved value in the L_CH field of the payload header. The messages are filtered out and interpreted by LM on the receiving side and are not propagated to higher layers.



Figure 1.1: Link Manager's place on the global scene.

Link Manager messages have higher priority than user data. This means that if the Link Manager needs to send a message, it shall not be delayed by the L2CAP traffic, although it can be delayed by many retransmissions of individual baseband packets.

We do not need to explicitly acknowledge the messages in LMP since LC (see Baseband Specification Section 5, on page 67) provides us with a reliable link.

The time between receiving a baseband packet carrying an LMP PDU and sending a baseband packet carrying a valid response PDU, according to the procedure rules in Section 3 on page 193, must be less than the LMP Response Timeout. The value of this timeout is 30 seconds.

page 192 of 1082

Link Manager Protocol

Bluetooth.

2 FORMAT OF LMP

LM PDUs are always sent as single-slot packets and the payload header is therefore one byte. The two least significant bits in the payload header determine the logical channel. For LM PDUs these bits are set.

L_CH code	Logical Channel	Information
00	NA	undefined
01	UA/I	Continuing L2CAP message
10	UA/I	Start L2CAP message
11	LM	LMP message

Table 2.1: Logical channel L_CH field contents.

The FLOW bit in the payload header is always one and is ignored on the receiving side. Each PDU is assigned a 7-bit opcode used to uniquely identify different types of PDUs, see Table 5.1 on page 226. The opcode and a one-bit transaction ID are positioned in the first byte of the payload body. The transaction ID is positioned in the LSB. It is 0 if the PDU belongs to a transaction initiated by the master and 1 if the PDU belongs to a transaction initiated by the slave. If the PDU contains one or more parameters these are placed in the payload starting at the second byte of the payload body. The number of bytes used depends on the length of the parameters. If an SCO link is present using HV1 packets and length of *content* is less than 9 bytes the PDUs can be transmitted in DV packets. Otherwise DM1 packets must be used. All parameters have little endian format, i.e. the least significant byte is transmitted first.

The source/destination of the PDUs is determined by the AM_ADDR in the packet header.

SB		MSE
OpCode and transaction Id	Content	

Figure 2.1: Payload body when LM PDUs are sent.

192

Each PDU is either mandatory or optional. The M/O field in the tables of Section 3 indicates this. The LM does not need to be able to transmit a PDU that is optional. The LM must recognize all optional PDUs that it receives and, if a response is required, send a valid response according to the procedure rules in Section 3. The reason that should be used in this case is *unsupported LMP feature.* If the optional PDU that is received does not require a response, no response is sent. Which of the optional PDUs a device supports can be requested, see Section 3.11 on page 205.

29 November 1999

Format of LMP

page 193 of 1082

Link Manager Protocol

Bluetooth.

3 THE PROCEDURE RULES AND PDUs

Each procedure is described and depicted with a sequence diagram. The following symbols are used in the sequence diagrams:



Figure 3.1: Symbols used in sequence diagrams.

PDU1 is a PDU sent from A to B. PDU2 is a PDU sent from B to A. PDU3 is a PDU that is optionally sent from A to B. PDU4 is a PDU that is optionally sent from B to A. PDU5 is a PDU sent from either A or B. A vertical line indicates that more PDUs can optionally be sent.

3.1 GENERAL RESPONSE MESSAGES

The PDUs LMP_accepted and LMP_not_accepted are used as response messages to other PDUs in a number of different procedures. The PDU LMP_accepted includes the opcode of the message that is accepted. The PDU LMP_not_accepted includes the opcode of the message that is not accepted and the reason why it is not accepted.

M/O	PDU	Contents	
М	LMP_accepted	op code	-
M	LMP_not_accepted	op code	
		reason	

Table 3.1: General response messages.

page 194 of 1082

Link Manager Protocol

Bluetooth.

3.2 AUTHENTICATION

The authentication procedure is based on a challenge-response scheme as described in Baseband Specification Section 14.4, on page 169. The verifier sends an LMP_au_rand PDU which contains a random number (the challenge) to the claimant. The claimant calculates a response, which is a function of the challenge, the claimant's BD_ADDR and a secret key. The response is sent back to the verifier, which checks if the response was correct or not. How the response should be calculated is described in Baseband Specification Section 14.5.1, on page 171. A successful calculation of the authentication response requires that two devices share a secret key. How this key is created is described in Section 3.3 on page 195. Both the master and the slave can be verifiers. The following PDUs are used in the authentication procedure:

M/O	PDU	Contents	
М	LMP_au_rand	random number	
М	LMP_sres	authentication response	

Table 3.2: PDUs used for authentication.

3.2.1 Claimant has link key

If the claimant has a link key associated with the verifier, it calculates the response and sends it to the verifier with LMP_sres. The verifier checks the response. If the response is not correct, the verifier can end the connection by sending LMP_detach with the reason code *authentication failure*, see Section 3.14 on page 207.



Sequence 1: Authentication. Claimant has link key.

3.2.2 Claimant has no link key

194

If the claimant does not have a link key associated with the verifier it sends LMP_not_accepted with the reason code *key missing* after receiving LMP_au_rand.



Sequence 2: Authentication fails. Claimant has no link key.

29 November 1999

The Procedure Rules and PDUs

page 195 of 1082

Link Manager Protocol

Bluetooth.

3.2.3 Repeated attempts

The scheme described in Baseband Specification Section 14.4.1, on page 170 shall be applied when an authentication fails. This will prevent an intruder from trying a large number of keys in a relatively short time.

3.3 PAIRING

When two devices do not have a common link key an initialization key (K_{init}) is created based on a PIN and a random number. The K_{init} is created when the verifier sends LMP_in_rand to the claimant. How the K_{init} is calculated is described in Baseband Specification Section 14.5.3, on page 175. Authentication then needs to be done, whereby the calculation of the authentication response is based on K_{init} instead of the link key. After a successful authentication, the link key is created. The PDUs used in the pairing procedure are:

M/O	PDU	Contents	
М	LMP_in_rand	random number	
M	LMP_au_rand	random number	
м	LMP_sres	authentication response	
м	LMP_comb_key	random number	
м	LMP_unit_key	key	

Table 3.3: PDUs used for pairing.

3.3.1 Claimant accepts pairing

The verifier sends LMP_in_rand and the claimant replies with LMP_accepted. Both devices calculate K_{init} , and an authentication (see Sequence 1) based on this key needs to be done. The verifier checks the authentication response and if correct, the link key is created; see Section 3.3.4 on page 196. If the authentication response is not correct the verifier can end the connection by sending LMP_detach with the reason code *authentication failure*.



Sequence 3: Claimant accepts pairing.

3.3.2 Claimant requests to become verifier

If the claimant has a fixed PIN it may request a switch of the claimant-verifier role in the pairing procedure by generating a new random number and send it

The Procedure Rules and PDUs

page 196 of 1082

Link Manager Protocol

Bluetooth.

back in LMP_in_rand. If the device that started the pairing procedure has a variable PIN it must accept this and respond with LMP_accepted. The roles are then successfully switched and the pairing procedure continues as described in Section 3.3.1 on page 195.



Sequence 4: Claimant accepts pairing but requests to be verifier.

If the device that started the pairing procedure has a fixed PIN and the other device requests a role switch, the switch is rejected by sending LMP_not_accepted with the reason *pairing not allowed*; the pairing procedure is then ended.



Sequence 5: Unsuccessful switch of claimant-verifier role.

3.3.3 Claimant rejects pairing

If the claimant rejects pairing, it sends LMP_not_accepted with the reason *pair-ing not allowed* after receiving LMP_in_rand.



Sequence 6: Claimant rejects pairing.

3.3.4 Creation of the link key

When the authentication is finished the link key must be created. This link key will be used in the authentication between the two units for all subsequent connections until it is changed; see Section 3.4 and Section 3.5. The link key cre-

page 197 of 1082

Link Manager Protocol

Bluetooth.

ated in the pairing procedure will either be a combination key or one of the unit's unit keys. The following rules apply to the selection of the link key:

- if one unit sends LMP_unit_key and the other unit sends LMP_comb_key, the unit key will be the link key,
- if both units send LMP_unit_key, the master's unit key will be the link key,
- if both units send LMP_comb_key, the link key is calculated as described in Baseband Specification Section 14.2.2, on page 153.

The content of LMP_unit_key is the unit key bitwise XORed with K_{init}. The content of LMP_comb_key is LK_RAND bitwise XORed with K_{init}. Any device configured to use a combination key will store the link key in non-volatile memory.



Sequence 7: Creation of the link key.

3.3.5 Repeated attempts

When the authentication during pairing fails because of a wrong authentication response, the same scheme is applied as in Section 3.2.3 on page 195. This prevents an intruder from trying a large number of different PINs in a relatively short time.

3.4 CHANGE LINK KEY

If two devices are paired and the link key is derived from combination keys, the link key can be changed. If the link key is a unit key, the units must go through the pairing procedure in order to change the link key. The contents of the PDU is protected by a bitwise XOR with the current link key.

M/O	PDU	Contents
М	LMP_comb_key	random number
М	LMP_unit_key	key

Table 3.4: PDUs used for change of link key.



Sequence 8: Successful change of the link key.

The Procedure Rules and PDUs

29 November 1999

197

page 198 of 1082

Link Manager Protocol

Bluetooth.

initiating	LM	
LM		
and the second s		1910 - Harrison Street
		LMP_comb_key
-		LMP not accepted

Sequence 9: Change of the link key not possible since the other unit uses a unit key.

If the change of link key is successful the new link key is stored in non-volatile memory, and the old link key is discarded. The new link key will be used as link key for all the following connections between the two devices until the link key is changed again. The new link key also becomes the current link key. It will remain the current link key until the link key is changed again, or until a temporary link key is created, see Section 3.5 on page 198.

If encryption is used on the link and the current link key is a temporary link key, the procedure of changing link key must be immediately followed by a stop of the encryption by invoking the procedure in Section 3.6.4 on page 202. Encryption can then be started again. This is to assure that encryption with encryption parameters known by other devices in the piconet is not used when the semi-permanent link key is the current link key.

3.5 CHANGE THE CURRENT LINK KEY

The current link key can be a semi-permanent link key or a temporary link key key. It can be changed temporarily, but the change is only valid for the session, see Baseband Specification Section 14.2.1, on page 151. Changing to a temporary link key is necessary if the piconet is to support encrypted broadcast.

м/о	PDU	Contents
М	LMP_temp_rand	random number
М	LMP_temp_key	key
М	LMP_use_semi_perm anent_key	•

Table 3.5: PDUs used to change the current link key.

3.5.1 Change to a temporary link key

In the following, we use the same terms as in Baseband Specification Section 14.2.2.8, on page 158. The master starts by creating the master key K_{master} as described in Baseband Specification (EQ 24), on page 158. Then the master issues a random number RAND and sends it to the slave in LMP_temp_rand. Both sides can then calculate an overlay denoted OVL as OVL= E_{22} (current link key, RAND, 16). Then the master sends K_{master} protected by a modulo-2 addition with OVL to the slave in LMP_temp_key. The slave, who knows OVL,

The Procedure Rules and PDUs

page 199 of 1082

Link Manager Protocol

Bluetooth.

calculates K_{master}. After this, K_{master} becomes the current link key. It will be the current link key until a new temporary key is created or until the link key is changed, see Section 3.4 on page 197.



Sequence 10: Change to a temporary link key.

3.5.2 Make the semi-permanent link key the current link key

After the current link key has been changed to K_{master} this change can be undone and the semi-permanent link key becomes the current link key again. If encryption is used on the link, the procedure of going back to the semi-permanent link key must be immediately followed by a stop of the encryption by invoking the procedure described in Section 3.6.4 on page 202. Encryption can then be started again. This is to assure that encryption with encryption parameters known by other devices in the piconet is not used when the semi-permanent link key is the current link key.



Sequence 11: Link key changed to the semi-permanent link key.

3.6 ENCRYPTION

If at least one authentication has been performed encryption may be used. If the master wants all slaves in the piconet to use the same encryption parameters it must issue a temporary key (K_{master}) and make this key the current link key for all slaves in the piconet before encryption is started, see Section 3.5 on page 198. This is necessary if broadcast packets should be encrypted.

M/O	PDU	Contents
0	LMP_encryption_mode_req	encryption mode
0	LMP_encryption_key_size_req	key size
0	LMP_start_encryption_req	random number
0	LMP_stop_encryption_req	-

Table 3.6: PDUs used for handling encryption.

199

page 200 of 1082

Link Manager Protocol

Bluetooth.

3.6.1 Encryption mode

First of all the master and the slave must agree upon whether to use encryption or not and if encryption shall only apply to point-to-point packets or if encryption shall apply to both point-to-point packets and broadcast packets. If master and slave agree on the encryption mode, the master continues to give more detailed information about the encryption.



Sequence 12: Negotiation for encryption mode.

3.6.2 Encryption key size

The next step is to determine the size of the encryption key. In the following we use the same terms as in Baseband Specification Section 14.3.1, on page 160. The master sends LMP_encryption_key_size_req including the suggested key size Lsug, m, which is initially equal to $L_{max, m}$. If $L_{min, s} \leq L_{sug, m}$ and the slave supports $L_{sug, m}$ it responds with LMP_accepted and $L_{sug, m}$ will be used as the key size. If both conditions are not fulfilled the slave sends back LMP_encryption_key_size_req including the slave's suggested key size $L_{sug, m}$. This value is the slave's largest supported key size that is less than $L_{sug, m}$. Then the master performs the corresponding test on the slave's suggestion. This procedure is repeated until a key size agreement is reached or it becomes clear that no such agreement can be reached. If an agreement is reached a unit sends LMP_accepted and the key size in the last

LMP_encryption_key_size_req will be used. After this, the encryption is started; see Section 3.6.3 on page 201. If an agreement is not reached a unit sends LMP_not_accepted with the reason code *Unsupported parameter value* and the units are not allowed to communicate using Bluetooth link encryption.".



Sequence 13: Encryption key size negotiation successful.

page 201 of 1082

Link Manager Protocol

Bluetooth.



Sequence 14: Encryption key size negotiation failed.

3.6.3 Start encryption

Finally, encryption is started. The master issues the random number EN_RAND and calculates the encryption key as $K_c=E_3$ (current link key, EN_RAND, COF). See Baseband Specification Section 14.2.2.5, on page 156 and 14.2.2.2 for the definition of the COF. The random number must be the same for all slaves if the piconet should support encrypted broadcast. Then the master sends LMP_start_encryption_req, which includes EN_RAND. The slave calculates K_c when this message is received and acknowledges with LMP_accepted. On both sides, K_c and EN_RAND are used as input to the encryption algorithm E_o .



Sequence 15: Start of encryption.

Before starting encryption, higher-layer data traffic must be temporarily stopped to prevent reception of corrupt data. The start of encryption will be done in three steps:

- Master is configured to transmit unencrypted packets, but to receive encrypted packets.
- 2. Slave is configured to transmit and receive encrypted packets.
- 3. Master is configured to transmit and receive encrypted packets.

Between step 1 and step 2, master-to-slave transmission is possible. This is when LMP_start_encryption_req is transmitted. Step 2 is triggered when the slave receives this message. Between step 2 and step 3, slave-to-master transmission is possible. This is when LMP_accepted is transmitted. Step 3 is triggered when the master receives this message.

page 202 of 1082

Bluetooth

Link Manager Protocol

3.6.4 Stop encryption



Sequence 16: Stop of encryption.

Before stopping encryption, higher-layer data traffic must be temporarily stopped to prevent reception of corrupt data. Stopping of encryption is then done in three steps, similar to the procedure for starting encryption.

- Master is configured to transmit encrypted packets, but to receive unencrypted packets.
- 2. Slave is configured to transmit and receive unencrypted packets.
- 3. Master is configured to transmit and receive unencrypted packets.

Between step 1 and step 2 master to slave transmission is possible. This is when LMP_stop_encryption_req is transmitted. Step 2 is triggered when the slave receives this message. Between step 2 and step 3 slave to master transmission is possible. This is when LMP_accepted is transmitted. Step 3 is triggered when the master receives this message.

3.6.5 Change encryption mode, key or random number

If the encryption mode, encryption key or encryption random number need to be changed, encryption must first be stopped and then re-started with the new parameters.

3.7 CLOCK OFFSET REQUEST

When a slave receives the FHS packet, the difference is computed between its own clock and the master's clock included in the payload of the FHS packet. The clock offset is also updated each time a packet is received from the master. The master can request this clock offset anytime during the connection. By saving this clock offset the master knows on what RF channel the slave wakes up to PAGE SCAN after it has left the piconet. This can be used to speed up the paging time the next time the same device is paged.

M/O	PDU	Contents
М	LMP_clkoffset_req	
м	LMP_clkoffset_res	clock offset

Table 3.7: PDUs used for clock offset request.

29 November 1999

The Procedure Rules and PDUs

page 203 of 1082

Link Manager Protocol

Bluetooth.



Sequence 17: Clock offset requested.

3.8 SLOT OFFSET INFORMATION

With LMP_slot_offset the information about the difference between the slot boundaries in different piconets is transmitted. This PDU carries the parameters slot offset and BD_ADDR. The slot offset is the time in µs between the start of the master's TX slot in the piconet where the PDU is transmitted and the start of the master's TX slot in the piconet where the BD_ADDR device is master.

Before doing a master-slave switch, see Section 3.12 on page 206, this PDU shall be transmitted from the device that becomes master in the switch procedure. If the master initiates the switch procedure, the slave sends LMP_slot_offset before sending LMP_accepted. If the slave initiates the switch procedure, the slave sends LMP_slot_offset before sending LMP_slot_offset before sending LMP_switch_req. The PDU can also be useful in inter-piconet communications.

м/о	PDU	Contents
0	LMP_slot_offset	slot offset
		BD_ADDR

Table 3.8: PDU used for slot offset information.



Sequence 18: Slot offset information is sent.

3.9 TIMING ACCURACY INFORMATION REQUEST

LMP supports requests for the timing accuracy. This information can be used to minimize the scan window for a given hold time when returning from hold and to extend the maximum hold time. It can also be used to minimize the scan window when scanning for the sniff mode slots or the park mode beacon packets. The timing accuracy parameters returned are the long term drift measured in ppm and the long term jitter measured in μ s of the clock used during hold, sniff and park mode. These parameters are fixed for a certain device and must be identical when requested several times. If a device does not support the tim-

The Procedure Rules and PDUs

203

page 204 of 1082

Link Manager Protocol

Bluetooth.

ing accuracy information it sends LMP_not_accepted with the reason code unsupported LMP feature when the request is received. The requesting device must in this case assume worst case values (drift=250ppm and jitter=10µs).

M/O	PDU	Contents
0	LMP_timing_accuracy_req	
0	LMP_timing_accuracy_res	drift
		jitter

Table 3.9: PDUs used for requesting timing accuracy information.



Sequence 19: The requested device supports timing accuracy information.



Sequence 20: The requested device does not support timing accuracy information.

Link Manager Protocol

Bluetooth.

3.10 LMP VERSION

LMP supports requests for the version of the LM protocol. The requested device will send a response with three parameters: VersNr, Compld and Sub-VersNr. VersNr specifies the version of the Bluetooth LMP specification that the device supports. Compld is used to track possible problems with the lower Bluetooth layers. All companies that create a unique implementation of the Link Manager shall have their own Compld. The same company is also responsible for the administration and maintenance of the SubVersNr. It is recommended that each company has a unique SubVersNr for each RF/BB/LM implementation. For a given VersNr and Compld, the values of the SubVersNr must increase each time a new implementation is released. For both Compld and SubVersNr the value 0xFFFF means that no valid number applies. There is no ability to negotiate the version of the LMP. The sequence below is only used to exchange the parameters.

M/O	PDU	Contents	
м	LMP_version_req	VersNr Compld SubVersNr	
М	LMP_version_res	VersNr Compid SubVersNr	

Table 3.10: PDUs used for LMP version request.



Sequence 21: Request for LMP version.

3.11 SUPPORTED FEATURES

The Bluetooth radio and link controller may support only a subset of the packet types and features described in Baseband Specification and Radio Specification. The PDU LMP_features_req and LMP_features_res are used to exchange this information. A device may not send any packets other than ID, FHS, NULL, POLL, DM1 or DH1 before it is aware of the supported features of the other device. After the features request has been carried out, the intersection of the supported packet types for both sides may also be transmitted. Whenever a request is issued, it must be compatible with the supported features of the other device. For instance, when establishing an SCO link the initiator may not propose to use HV3 packets if that packet type is not supported by the other device. Exceptions to this rule are LMP switch reg and LMP slot offset, which can be sent as the first LMP messages when two Bluetooth

The Procedure Rules and PDUs

page 206 of 1082

Link Manager Protocol

Bluetooth.

devices have been connected and before the requesting side is aware of the other side's features (switch is an optional feature).

M/O	PDU	Contents
М	LMP_features_req	features
м	LMP_features_res	features

Table 3.11: PDUs used for features request.



Sequence 22: Request for supported features.

3.12 SWITCH OF MASTER-SLAVE ROLE

Since the paging device always becomes the master of the piconet, a switch of the master-slave role is sometimes needed, see Baseband Specification Section 10.9.3, on page 123. Suppose device A is slave and device B is master. The device that initiates the switch finalizes the transmission of the current L2CAP message and then sends LMP_switch_req.

If the switch is accepted, the other device finalizes the transmission of the current L2CAP message and then responds with LMP_accepted. After this, the procedure described from the 2nd bullet in Baseband Specification Section 10.9.3, on page 123 is carried out.

If the switch is rejected, the other device responds with LMP_not_accepted and no switch is performed.

M/O	PDU	Contents	
0	LMP_switch_req		

Table 3.12: PDU used for master slave switch.



Sequence 23: Master-slave switch accepted.

page 207 of 1082

Link Manager Protocol

Bluetooth.



Sequence 24: Master-slave switch not accepted.

3.13 NAME REQUEST

LMP supports name request to another Bluetooth device. The name is a userfriendly name associated with the Bluetooth device and consists of a maximum of 248 bytes coded according to the UTF-8 standard. The name is fragmented over one or more DM1 packets. When the LMP_name_req is sent, a name offset indicates which fragment is expected. The corresponding LMP_name_res carries the same name offset, the name length indicating the total number of bytes in the name of the Bluetooth device and the name fragment, where:

- name fragment(N) = name(N + name offset), if (N + name offset) < name length
- name fragment(N) = 0 ,otherwise.

Here $0 \le N \le 13$. In the first sent LMP_name_req, name offset=0. Sequence 25 is then repeated until the initiator has collected all fragments of the name.

M/O	PDU	Contents
М	LMP_name_req	name offset
м	LMP_name_res	name offset name length name fragment

Table 3.13: PDUs used for name request.



Sequence 25: Device's name requested and it responses.

3.14 DETACH

The connection between two Bluetooth devices can be closed anytime by the master or the slave. A reason parameter is included in the message to inform the other party of why the connection is closed.

M/O	PDU	Contents	
М	LMP_detach	reason	T.

Table 3.14: PDU used for detach.

The Procedure Rules and PDUs

29 November 1999

207

page 208 of 1082

Link Manager Protocol



initiating	LM		
LM			
		LMP detach	

Sequence 26: Connection closed by sending LMP_detach.

3.15 HOLD MODE

The ACL link of a connection between two Bluetooth devices can be placed in hold mode for a specified hold time. During this time no ACL packets will be transmitted from the master. The hold mode is typically entered when there is no need to send data for a relatively long time. The transceiver can then be turned off in order to save power. But the hold mode can also be used if a device wants to discover or be discovered by other Bluetooth devices, or wants to join other piconets. What a device actually does during the hold time is not controlled by the hold message, but it is up to each device to decide.

M/O	PDU	Contents	
0	LMP_hold	hold time	
0	LMP_hold_req	hold time	

Table 3.15: PDUs used for hold mode.

3.15.1 Master forces hold mode

The master can force hold mode if there has previously been a request for hold mode that has been accepted. The hold time included in the PDU when the master forces hold mode cannot be longer than any hold time the slave has previously accepted when there was a request for hold mode.



Sequence 27: Master forces slave into hold mode.

3.15.2 Slave forces hold mode

The slave can force hold mode if there has previously been a request for hold mode that has been accepted. The hold time included in the PDU when the slave forces hold mode cannot be longer than any hold time the master has previously accepted when there was a request for hold mode.

page 209 of 1082

Link Manager Protocol

Bluetooth.

Master	Slave		
LM	LM		
-		LMP hold	
		LMP hold	

Sequence 28: Slave forces master into hold mode.

3.15.3 Master or slave requests hold mode

The master or the slave can request to enter hold mode. Upon receipt of the request, the same request with modified parameters can be returned or the negotiation can be terminated. If an agreement is seen LMP_accepted terminates the negotiation and the ACL link is placed in hold mode. If no agreement is seen, LMP_not_accepted with the reason code *unsupported parameter value* terminates the negotiation and hold mode is not entered.



Sequence 29: Negotiation for hold mode.

3.16 SNIFF MODE

To enter sniff mode, master and slave negotiate a sniff interval T_{sniff} and a sniff offset, D_{sniff} , which specifies the timing of the sniff slots. The offset determines the time of the first sniff slot; after that the sniff slots follows periodically with the sniff interval T_{sniff} . To avoid problems with a clock wrap-around during the initialization, one of two options is chosen for the calculation of the first sniff slot. A timing control flag in the message from the master indicates this. Note: Only bit1 of this field is valid.

When the link is in sniff mode the master can only start a transmission in the sniff slot. Two parameters control the listening activity in the slave. The sniff attempt parameter determines for how many slots the slave must listen, beginning at the sniff slot, even if it does not receive a packet with its own AM address. The sniff timeout parameter determines for how many additional slots the slave must listen if it continues to receive only packets with its own AM address.

The Procedure Rules and PDUs

page 210 of 1082

Bluetooth.

Link Manager Protocol

M/O	PDU	Contents
0	LMP_sniff	timing control flags D _{sniff} T _{sniff} sniff attempt sniff timeout
0	LMP_sniff_req	timing control flags D _{sniff} T _{sniff} sniff attempt sniff timeout
0	LMP unsniff req	-

Table 3.16: PDUs used for sniff mode.

3.16.1 Master forces a slave into sniff mode



Sequence 30: Master forces slave into sniff mode.

3.16.2 Master or slave requests sniff mode

The master or the slave can request to enter sniff mode. Upon receipt of the request, the same request with modified parameters can be returned or the negotiation can be terminated. If an agreement is seen LMP_accepted terminates the negotiation and the ACL link is placed in sniff mode. If no agreement is seen, LMP_not_accepted with the reason code *unsupported parameter value* terminates the negotiation and sniff mode is not entered.



Sequence 31: Negotiation for sniff mode.

page 211 of 1082

Link Manager Protocol

Bluetooth.

3.16.3 Moving a slave from sniff mode to active mode

Sniff mode is ended by sending the PDU LMP_unsniff_req. The requested device must reply with LMP_accepted. If the slave requests it will enter active mode after receiving LMP_accepted. If the master requests, the slave will enter active mode after receiving LMP_unsniff_req.



Sequence 32: Slave moved from sniff mode to active mode.

3.17 PARK MODE

If a slave does not need to participate in the channel, but still should be FHsynchronized, it can be placed in park mode. In this mode the device gives up its AM_ADDR but still re-synchronizes to the channel by waking up at the beacon instants separated by the beacon interval. The beacon interval, a beacon offset and a flag indicating how the first beacon instant is calculated determine the first beacon instant. After this the beacon instants follow periodically at the predetermined beacon interval. At the beacon instant the parked slave can be activated again by the master, the master can change the park mode parameters, transmit broadcast information or let the parked slaves request access to the channel.

All PDUs sent from the master to the parked slaves are broadcast. These PDUs (LMP_set_broadcast_scan_window, LMP_modify_beacon, LMP_unpark_BD_addr_req and LMP_unpark_PM_addr_req) are the only PDUs that can be sent to a slave in park mode and the only PDUs that can be broadcast. To increase reliability for broadcast, the packets are made as short as possible. Therefore the format for these LMP PDUs are somewhat different. The parameters are not always byte-aligned and the length of the PDUs is variable.

The messages for controlling the park mode include many parameters, which are all defined in Baseband Specification Section 10.8.4, on page 115. When a slave is placed in park mode it is assigned a unique PM_ADDR, which can be used by the master to unpark that slave. The all-zero PM_ADDR has a special meaning; it is not a valid PM_ADDR. If a device is assigned this PM_ADDR, it must be identified with its BD_ADDR when it is unparked by the master.

page 212 of 1082

Link Manager Protocol

Bluetooth.

M/O	PDU	Contents
0	LMP_park_req	*
0	LMP_park	timing control flags D_B T_B N_B Δ_B PM_ADDR AR_ADDR N_{Bsleep} D_{Bsleep} D_{access} T_{access} $N_{acc-slots}$ N_{poll} M_{access} access scheme
0	LMP_set_broadcast_scan_window	timing control flags D _B (optional) broadcast scan window
0	LMP_modify_beacon	timing control flags D_B (optional) T_B N_B Δ_B D_{access} T_{access} $N_{acc-slots}$ N_{poll} M_{access} access scheme
0	LMP_unpark_PM_ADDR_req	timing control flags D _B (optional) AM_ADDR PM_ADDR AM_ADDR (optional) PM_ADDR (optional) (totally 1-7 pairs of AM_ADDR, PM_ADDR)
0	LMP_unpark_BD_ADDR _req	timing control flags D _B (optional) AM_ADDR BD_ADDR AM_ADDR (optional) BD_ADDR (optional)

Table 3.17: PDUs used for park mode.

The Procedure Rules and PDUs

page 213 of 1082

Link Manager Protocol

Bluetooth.

3.17.1 Master forces a slave into park mode

The master can force park mode. The master finalizes the transmission of the current L2CAP message and then sends LMP_park. When this PDU is received by the slave, it finalizes the transmission of the current L2CAP message and then sends LMP_accepted.



Sequence 33: Slave forced into park mode.

3.17.2 Master requests slave to enter park mode

The master can request park mode. The master finalizes the transmission of the current L2CAP message and then sends LMP_park_req. If the slave accepts to enter park mode it finalizes the transmission of the current L2CAP message and then responds with LMP_accepted. Finally the master sends LMP_park. If the slave rejects park mode it sends LMP_not_accepted.



Sequence 34: Slave accepts to be placed in park mode.



Sequence 35: Slave rejects to be placed in park mode.

3.17.3 Slave requests to be placed in park mode

The slave can request park mode. The slave finalizes the transmission of the current L2CAP message and then sends LMP_park_req. If the master accepts park mode it finalizes the transmission of the current L2CAP message and then sends LMP_park. If the master rejects park mode it sends LMP_not_accepted.

page 214 of 1082

Link Manager Protocol





Sequence 36: Master accepts and places slave in park mode.



Sequence 37: Master rejects to place slave in park mode.

3.17.4 Master sets up broadcast scan window

If more broadcast capacity is needed than the beacon train, the master can indicate to the slaves that more broadcast information will follow the beacon train by sending LMP_set_broadcast_scan_window. This message is always sent in a broadcast packet at the beacon slot(s). The scan window starts in the beacon instant and is only valid for the current beacon.



Sequence 38: Master notifies all slaves of increase in broadcast capacity.

3.17.5 Master modifies beacon parameters

When the beacon parameters change the master notifies the parked slaves of this by sending LMP_modify_beacon. This message is always sent in a broad-cast packet at the beacon slot(s).



Sequence 39: Master modifies beacon parameters.

3.17.6 Unparking slaves

The master can unpark one or many slaves by sending a broadcast LMP message including the PM_ADDR or the BD_ADDR of the device(s) it wishes to

29 November 1999

page 215 of 1082

Link Manager Protocol

Bluetooth.

unpark at the beacon slot(s). This message also includes the AM_ADDR that the master assigns to the slave(s). After sending this message, the master must check the success of the unpark by polling each unparked slave, i.e. sending POLL packets, so that the slave is granted access to the channel. The unparked slave must then send a response with LMP_accepted. If this message is not received from the slave within a certain time after the master sent the unpark message, the unpark failed and the master must consider the slave as still being in park mode.

One message is used where the parked device is identified with the PM_ADDR, and another message is used where it is identified with the BD_ADDR. Both messages have variable length depending on the number of slaves the master unparks. For each slave the master wishes to unpark an AM_ADDR followed by the PM/BD_ADDR of the device that is assigned this AM_ADDR is included in the payload. If the slaves are identified with the PM_ADDR a maximum of 7 slaves can be unparked with the same message. If they are identified with the BD_ADDR a maximum of 2 slaves can be unparked with the same message.



Sequence 40: Master unparks slaves addressed with their BD_ADDR.



Sequence 41: Master unparks slaves addressed with their PM_ADDR.

3.18 POWER CONTROL

If the RSSI value differs too much from the preferred value of a Bluetooth device, it can request an increase or a decrease of the other device's TX power. Upon receipt of this message, the output power is increased or decreased one step. See Radio Specification Section 3.1, on page 21 for the definition of the step size. At the master side the TX power is completely independent for different slaves; a request from one slave can only effect the master's TX power for that same slave.

Bluetooth.

Link Manager Protocol

M/O	PDU	Contents
0	LMP_incr_power_req	for future use (1 Byte)
0	LMP_decr_power_req	for future use (1 Byte)
0	LMP_max_power	+
0	LMP_min_power	-

Table 3.18: PDUs used for power control.



Sequence 42: A device requests a change of the other device's TX power.

If the receiver of LMP_incr_power_req already transmits at maximum power LMP_max_power is returned. The device may then only request an increase again after having requested a decrease at least once. Similarly, if the receiver of LMP_decr_power_req already transmits at minimum power then LMP_min_power is returned and the device may only request a decrease again after having requested an increase at least once.



Sequence 43: The TX power cannot be increased.



Sequence 44: The TX power cannot be decreased.

One byte is reserved in LMP_incr/decr_power_req for future use. It could, for example, be the mismatch between preferred and measured RSSI. The receiver of LMP_incr/decr_power_req could then use this value to adjust to the correct power at once, instead of only changing it one step for each request. The parameter value must be 0x00 for all versions of LMP where this parameter is not yet defined.
page 217 of 1082

Link Manager Protocol

Bluetooth.

3.19 CHANNEL QUALITY-DRIVEN CHANGE BETWEEN DM AND DH

A device is configured to always use DM packets or to always use DH packets or to automatically adjust its packet type according to the quality of the channel. Nevertheless, all devices are capable of transmitting either DM or DH packets. The difference between DM and DH is that the payload in a DM packet is protected with a 2/3 FEC code, whereas the payload of a DH is not protected with any FEC. If a device wants to automatically adjust between DM and DH it sends LMP_auto_rate to the other device. Based upon quality measures in LC, the device determines if throughput will be increased by a change of packet type. If so, LMP_preferred_rate is sent to the other device. The PDUs used for this are:

M/O	PDU	Contents
0	LMP_auto_rate	-
0	LMP_preferred_rate	data rate

Table 3.19: PDUs used for quality driven change of the data rate.



Sequence 45: The left-hand unit is configured to automatically change between DM and DH.



Sequence 46: The right-hand device orders the left-hand device to change data rate.

page 218 of 1082

Link Manager Protocol

Bluetooth.

3.20 QUALITY OF SERVICE (QoS)

The Link Manager provides Quality of Service capabilities. A poll interval, which is defined as the maximum time between subsequent transmissions from the master to a particular slave, is used to support bandwidth allocation and latency control. The poll interval is guaranteed except when there are collisions with page, page scan, inquiry and inquiry scan.

In addition, master and slave negotiate the number of repetitions for broadcast packets (NBC), see Baseband Specification Section 5.3, on page 68.

M/O	PDU	Contents
М	LMP_quality_of_service	poll interval N _{BC}
М	LMP_quality_of_service_req	poll interval N _{BC}

Table 3.20: PDUs used for quality of service.

3.20.1 Master notifies slave of the quality of service

In this case the master notifies the slave of the new poll interval and N_{BC} . The slave cannot reject the notification.



Sequence 47: Master notifies slave of new quality of service.

29 N

page 219 of 1082

Link Manager Protocol

Bluetooth.

3.20.2 Device requests new quality of service

In this case the master or slave requests a new poll interval and $N_{BC}.$ The parameter N_{BC} is meaningful only when it is sent by a master to a slave. For transmission of LMP_quality_of_service_req PDUs from a slave, this parameter is ignored by the master. The request can be accepted or rejected. This will allow the master and slave to dynamically negotiate the quality of service as needed.



Sequence 48: Device accepts new quality of service



Sequence 49: Device rejects new quality of service.

3.21 SCO LINKS

When a connection has been established between two Bluetooth devices the connection consists of an ACL link. One or more SCO links can then be established. The SCO link reserves slots separated by the SCO interval, T_{sco} . The first slot reserved for the SCO link is defined by T_{sco} and the SCO delay, D_{sco} . After that the SCO slots follows periodically with the SCO interval. To avoid problems with a wrap-around of the clock during initialization of the SCO link, a flag indicating how the first SCO slot should be calculated is included in a message from the master. Note: Only bit0 and bit1 of this field is valid. Each SCO link is distinguished from all other SCO links by an SCO handle. The SCO handle zero is never used.

M/O	PDU	Contents	
0	LMP_SCO_link_req	SCO handle timing control flags D _{sco} T _{sco} SCO packet air mode	
o	LMP_remove_SCO_link_req	SCO handle reason	

Table 3.21: PDUs used for managing the SCO links.

The Procedure Rules and PDUs

page 220 of 1082

Link Manager Protocol

Bluetooth.

3.21.1 Master initiates an SCO link

When establishing an SCO link the master sends a request with parameters that specify the timing, packet type and coding that will be used on the SCO link. For each of the SCO packets Bluetooth supports three different voice coding formats on the air-interface: μ -law log PCM, A-law log PCM and CVSD.

The slots used for the SCO links are determined by three parameters controlled by the master: T_{sco} , D_{sco} and a flag indicating how the first SCO slot should be calculated. After the first slot, the SCO slots follows periodically with the T_{sco} .

If the slave does not accept the SCO link, but is willing to consider another possible set of SCO parameters, it can indicate what it does not accept in the error reason field of LMP_not_accepted. The master then has the possibility to issue a new request with modified parameters.

The SCO handle in the message must be different from any already existing SCO link(s).



Sequence 50: Master requests an SCO link.

3.21.2 Slave initiates an SCO link

The slave can also initiate the establishment of an SCO link. The slave sends LMP_SCO_link_req, but the parameters timing control flags and D_{sco} are invalid as well as the SCO handle, which must be zero. If the master is not capable of establishing an SCO link, it replies with LMP_not_accepted. Otherwise it sends back LMP_SCO_link_req. This message includes the assigned SCO handle, D_{sco} and the timing control flags. For the other parameters, the master should try to use the same parameters as in the slave request; if the master cannot meet that request, it is allowed to use other values. The slave must then reply with LMP_accepted or LMP_not_accepted.



Sequence 51: Master rejects slave's request for an SCO link.

page 221 of 1082

Link Manager Protocol

Bluetooth.



Sequence 52: Master accepts slave's request for an SCO link.

3.21.3 Master requests change of SCO parameters

The master sends LMP_SCO_link_req, where the SCO handle is the handle of the SCO link the master wishes to change parameters for. If the slave accepts the new parameters, it replies with LMP_accepted and the SCO link will change to the new parameters. If the slave does not accept the new parameters, it replies with LMP_not_accepted and the SCO link is left unchanged. When the slave replies with LMP_not_accepted it shall indicate in the error reason parameter what it does not accept. The master can then try to change the SCO link again with modified parameters. The sequence is the same as in Section 3.21.1 on page 220.

3.21.4 Slave requests change of SCO parameters

The slave sends LMP_SCO_link_req, where the SCO handle is the handle of the SCO link the slave wishes to change parameters for. The parameters timing control flags and D_{sco} are not valid in this message. If the master does not accept the new parameters it replies with LMP_not_accepted and the SCO link is left unchanged. If the master accepts the new parameters it replies with LMP_SCO_link_req, where it must use the same parameters as in the slave request. When receiving this message the slave replies with LMP_not_accepted if it does not accept the new parameters. The SCO link is then left unchanged. If the slave accepts the new parameters it replies with LMP_not_accepted if it does not accept the new parameters. The SCO link is then left unchanged. If the slave accepts the new parameters. The sequence is the same as in Section 3.21.2 on page 220.

3.21.5 Remove an SCO link

Master or slave can remove the SCO link by sending a request including the SCO handle of the SCO link to be removed and a reason indicating why the SCO link is removed. The receiving party must respond with LMP_accepted.



Sequence 53: SCO link removed.

29 November 1999

The Procedure Rules and PDUs

page 222 of 1082

Link Manager Protocol

Bluetooth.

3.22 CONTROL OF MULTI-SLOT PACKETS

The number of slots used by a slave in its return packet can be limited. The master allows the slave to use a maximal number of slots by sending the PDU LMP_max_slots providing max slots as parameter. Each slave can request to use a maximal number of slots by sending the PDU LMP_max_slot_req providing max slots as parameter. The default value is 1 slot, i.e. if the slave has not been informed about the number of slots, it may only use 1-slot packets. Two PDUs are used for the control of multi-slot packets.

M/O	PDU	Contents
м	LMP_max_slot	max slots
М	LMP_max_slot_req	max slots

Table 3.22: PDUs used to control the use of multi-slot packets.



Sequence 54: Master allows slave to use a maximal number of slots.



Sequence 55: Slave requests to use a maximal number of slots. Master accepts.



Sequence 56: Slave requests to use a maximal number of slots. Master rejects.

page 223 of 1082

Link Manager Protocol

Bluetooth.

3.23 PAGING SCHEME

In addition to the mandatory paging scheme, Bluetooth defines optional paging schemes; see "Appendix VII" on page 999. LMP provides a means to negotiate the paging scheme, which is to be used the next time a unit is paged.

M/O	PDU	Contents
0	LMP_page_mode_req	paging scheme paging scheme settings
0	LMP_page_scan_mode_req	paging scheme paging scheme settings

Table 3.23: PDUs used to request paging scheme.

3.23.1 Page mode

This procedure is initiated from device A and negotiates the paging scheme used when device A pages device B. Device A proposes a paging scheme including the parameters for this scheme and device B can accept or reject. On rejection the old setting is not changed. A request to switch back to the mandatory scheme may be rejected.



Sequence 57: Negotiation for page mode.

3.23.2 Page scan mode

This procedure is initiated from device A and negotiates the paging scheme used when device B pages device A. Device A proposes a paging scheme including the parameters for this scheme and device B can accept or reject. On rejection the old setting is not changed. A request to switch to the mandatory scheme must be accepted.



Sequence 58: Negotiation for page scan mode

The Procedure Rules and PDUs

page 224 of 1082

Link Manager Protocol

Bluetooth.

3.24 LINK SUPERVISION

Each Bluetooth link has a timer that is used for link supervision. This timer is used to detect link loss caused by devices moving out of range, a device's power-down, or other similar failure cases. The scheme for link supervision is described in Baseband Specification Section 10.11, on page 126. An LMP procedure is used to set the value of the supervision timeout.

M/O	PDU	Contents
М	LMP_supervision_timeout	supervision timeout

Table 3.24: PDU used to set the supervision timeout.



Sequence 59: Setting the link supervision timeout.

page 225 of 1082

Link Manager Protocol

Bluetooth.

4 CONNECTION ESTABLISHMENT

After the paging procedure, the master must poll the slave by sending POLL or NULL packets, with a max poll interval as defined in Table 5.5 on page 236. LMP procedures that do not require any interactions between the LM and the host at the paged unit's side can then be carried out.



Figure 4.1: Connection establishment.

When the paging device wishes to create a connection involving layers above LM, it sends LMP_host_connection_req. When the other side receives this message, the host is informed about the incoming connection. The remote device can accept or reject the connection request by sending LMP_accepted or LMP not accepted.

When a device does not require any further link set-up procedures, it will send LMP_setup_complete. The device will still respond to requests from the other device. When the other device is also ready with link set-up, it will send LMP_setup_complete. After this, the first packet on a logical channel different from LMP can then be transmitted.

M/O	PDU	Contents	
М	LMP_host_connection_req	*	
М	LMP_setup_complete	·	

Table 4.1: PDUs used for connection establishment.

Connection Establishment

page 226 of 1082

Bluetooth.

Link Manager Protocol

5 SUMMARY OF PDUs

LMP PDU	Length (bytes)	op code	Packet type	Possible direction	Contents	Position in payload
LMP_accepted	2	3	DM1/ DV	m⇔s	op code	2
LMP_au_rand	17	11	DM1	m⇔s	random number	2-17
LMP_auto_rate	1	35	DM1/ DV	m⇔s	-	
LMP_clkoffset_req	1	5	DM1/ DV	$m\tos$	-	
LMP_clkoffset_res	3	6	DM1/ DV	m ← s	clock offset	2–3
LMP_comb_key	17	9	DM1	$m\leftrightarrows$	random number	2-17
LMP_decr_power_req	2	32	DM1/ DV	m⇔s	for future use	2
LMP_detach	2	7	DM1/ DV	m ↔ s	reason	2
LMP_encryption_key_size _req	2	16	DM1/ DV	m⇔s	key size	2
LMP_encryption_mode_ req	2	15	DM1/ DV	$m\leftrightarrows$	encryption mode	2
LMP_features_req	9	39	DM1/ DV	m⇔s	features	2-9
LMP_features_res	9	40	DM1/ DV	m⇔s	features	2-9
LMP_host_connection_req	1	51	DM1/ DV	m ↔ s	-	111
LMP_hold	3	20	DM1/ DV	$m\leftrightarrows$	hold time	2-3
LMP_hold_req	3	21	DM1/ DV	m ↔ s	hold time	2-3
LMP_incr_power_req	2	31	DM1/ DV	m ↔ s	for future use	2
LMP_in_rand	17	8	DM1	$m\leftrightarrows$	random number	2-17
LMP_max_power	1	33	DM1/ DV	$m\leftrightarrows$	÷	

Table 5.1: Coding of the different LM PDUs.

226

29 November 1999

page 227 of 1082

Link Manager Protocol

Bluetooth.

LMP PDU	Length (bytes)	op code	Packet type	Possible direction	Contents	Position in payload
LMP_max_slot	2	45	DM1/ DV	$m \rightarrow s$	max slots	2
LMP_max_slot_req	2	46	DM1/ DV	m ← s	max slots	2
LMP_min_power	1	34	DM1/ DV	$m\leftrightarrows$	•	
					timing control flags	2
					D _B	3-4
					Т _В	5-6
					NB	7
LMP_modify_beacon	11 or	28	$\begin{array}{c c} DM1 & m \to s & \begin{array}{c} \Delta_{B} & & s \\ D_{access} & & g \\ T_{access} & & 1 \\ N & s & & s \end{array}$		Δ _B	8
				$m \rightarrow s$	D _{access}	9
	13			10		
					s D _{access} T _{access} N _{acc-slots} N _{poll}	11
					N _{poll}	12
					Maccess	13:0-3
					access scheme	13:4-7
LMP_name_req	2	1	DM1/ DV	$m\leftrightarrows$	name offset	2
					name offset	2
LMP_name_res	17	2	DM1	$m\leftrightarrows$	name length	3
					name fragment	4-17
LMP not accepted	3	4	DM1/	m⇔s	op code	2
			DV		reason	3
LMP_page_mode_req	3	53	DM1/ DV	$m\leftrightarrows$	paging scheme	2
					paging scheme settings	2
LMP_page_scan_mode_ req	3	54	DM1/ DV	$m\leftrightarrows$	paging scheme settings	3

Table 5.1: Coding of the different LM PDUs.

page 228 of 1082

Link Manager Protocol

Bluetooth.

LMP PDU	Length (bytes)	op code	Packet type	Possible direction	Contents	Position in payload
					timing control flags	2
					D _B	3-4
					Т _В	5-6
					NB	7
					Δ_{B}	8
					PM_ADDR	9
					AR_ADDR	10
LMP_park	17	26	DM	$m \rightarrow s$	N _{Bsleep}	11
	- 6				D _{Bsleep}	12
		-	10		D _{access} T _{access}	13
						14
				N _{acc-slots}	15	
					N _{poll}	16
			h - 1		Maccess	17:0-3
					access scheme	17:4-7
LMP_park_req	1	25	DM1/ DV	$m\leftrightarrows$	-	
LMP_preferred_rate	2	36	DM1/ DV	m ↔ s	data rate	2
I MP quality of service	4	41	DM1/	m → s	poll interval	2-3
		1	DV	in yo	N _{BC}	4
LMP_quality_of_service_	4	42	DM1/	m⇔s	poll interval	2-3
req		12	DV		N _{BC}	4
LMP_remove_SCO_link_	3	44	DM1/	m⇔s	SCO handle	2
req		1	DV		reason	3

Table 5.1: Coding of the different LM PDUs.

page 229 of 1082

Link Manager Protocol

Bluetooth.

LMP PDU	Length (bytes)	op code	Packet type	Possible direction	Contents	Position in payload
					SCO handle	2
					eContentsSCO handletiming control flagsDscoTscoSCO packetair modetiming control flagsDsbroadcast scan windowslot offsetBD_ADDRtiming control flagsDsniffTsniffsniff attemptsniff attemp	3
	_		DM1/		D _{sco}	4
LMP_SCO_link_req	()	43	DV	m⇔s	T _{sco}	5
			1.1		SCO packet	6
					air mode	7
					timing control flags	2
LMP_set_broadcast_ scan_window	4 or 6	27	DM1	$m \rightarrow s$	D _B	3-4
					broadcast scan window	5-6
LMP_setup_complete	1	49	DM1	m⇔s		
I MP slot offsat	0	50	DM1/	maria	slot offset	2-3
LWF_SIOLOUSEL	9	52	DV	III ↔ 5	BD_ADDR	4-9
				=	timing control flags	2
					Contents SCO handle timing control flags D _{sco} T _{sco} SCO packet air mode timing control flags D _B broadcast scan window - slot offset BD_ADDR timing control flags D _{sniff} T _{sniff} sniff attempt sniff timeout timing control flags D _{sniff} T _{sniff} sniff attempt sniff timeout timing control flags D _{sniff} T _{sniff} sniff attempt sniff attempt	3-4
LMP_sniff	10	22	DM1	acket ypePossible directionContentsypedirectionContentsype $Airection$ SCO handle timing control flagsymu/ vm \leftrightarrow s D_{sco} ymu/ vm \leftrightarrow sSCO packet air modeymu ymu vm \leftrightarrow s D_B broadcast scan windowymu ymu vm \leftrightarrow s $-$ ymu ymu vm \leftrightarrow s $-$ ymu ymu ymum \leftrightarrow s $-$ ymu ymu ymu $ -$ ymu ymu ymu $ -$ ymu ymu ymu $ -$ ymu ymu ymu ymu $ -$ ymu ymu ymu ymu $ -$ ymu ymu ymu ymu $ -$ ymu ymu ymu ymu <t< td=""><td>5-6</td></t<>	5-6	
	12	10			sniff attempt	7-8
	-	_			Contents SCO handle timing control flags D _{sco} T _{sco} SCO packet air mode timing control flags D _B broadcast scan window - slot offset BD_ADDR timing control flags D _{sniff} T _{sniff} sniff attempt sniff timeout timing control flags D _{sniff} sniff attempt sniff attempt sniff attempt sniff attempt sniff attempt sniff attempt sniff attempt sniff timeout authentication response random number	9-10
					timing control flags	2
					D _{sniff}	3-4
LMP_sniff_req	10	23	DM1	$m\leftrightarrows$	T _{sniff}	5-6
					sniff attempt	7-8
					sniff timeout	9-10
LMP_sres	5	12	DM1/ DV	$m\leftrightarrows$	authentication response	2-5
LMP_start_encryption_req	17	17	DM1	$m \rightarrow s$	random number	2-17
LMP_stop_encryption_req	1	18	DM1/ DV	$m \rightarrow s$	-	
LMP_supervision_timeou t	3	55	DM1/ DV	$m\leftrightarrows$	supervision timeout	2-3
LMP_switch_req	1	19	DM1/ DV	$m\leftrightarrows$	-	

Table 5.1: Coding of the different LM PDUs.

page 230 of 1082

Link Manager Protocol

Bluetooth.

LMP PDU	Length (bytes)	op code	Packet type	Possible direction	Contents	Position in payload
LMP_temp_rand	17	13	DM1	$m \rightarrow s$	random number	2-17
LMP_temp_key	17	14	DM1	$m \rightarrow s$	key	2-17
LMP_timing_accuracy_req	1	47	DM1/ DV	$m\leftrightarrows$	-	
I MP, fiming, accuracy, ros	3	48	DM1/	marc	drift	2
LMF_Unning_accuracy_res	5	40	DV	111 (7 5	jitter	3
LMP_unit_key	17	10	DM1	$m\leftrightarrows$	key	2-17
					timing control flags	2
					D _B	3-4
LMP unpark BD ADDR	variable			-	AM_ADDR 1 st unpark	5:0-3
_req		29	DM1	$m \rightarrow s$	AM_ADDR 2 nd unpark	5:4-7
					$m \rightarrow s$ $AM_ADDR 1^{st} unpark$ $AM_ADDR 2^{nd} unpark$ $BD_ADDR 1^{st} unpark$ $BD_ADDR 2^{nd} unpark$ timing control flags D_B	6-11
					BD_ADDR 2 nd unpark	12-17
	Rvariable30DM1m \rightarrow stiming control flags2DB3-AM_ADDR 1 st unpark5:AM_ADDR 2 nd unpark5:				timing control flags	2
					D _B	3-4
IMP uppark PM ADDR					AM_ADDR 1 st unpark	5:0-3
_req		5:4-7				
			-		key timing control flags D _B AM_ADDR 1 st unpark AM_ADDR 2 nd unpark BD_ADDR 1 st unpark BD_ADDR 2 nd unpark timing control flags D _B AM_ADDR 1 st unpark AM_ADDR 2 nd unpark PM_ADDR 1 st unpark PM_ADDR 1 st unpark PM_ADDR 2 nd unpark PM_ADDR 2 nd unpark	6
		1.14		14.5	PM_ADDR 2 nd unpark	7
LMP_unsniff_req	1	24	DM1/ DV	m ↔ s	-	
LMP_use_semi_ permanent_key	1	50	DM1/ DV	$m \rightarrow s$	-	
					VersNr	2
LMP_version_req	6	37	DM1/	$m\leftrightarrows$	Compld	3-4
	$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	5-6				
	1.1.1	1.7	1.53		VersNr	2
LMP_version_res	6	38	DM1/ DV	m⇔s	Compld	3-4
		11.			SubVersNr	5-6

Table 5.1: Coding of the different LM PDUs.

Note1: For LMP_set_broadcast_scan_window, LMP_modify_beacon, LMP_unpark_BD_ADDR_req and LMP_unpark_PM_ADDR_req the parameter

page 231 of 1082

Link Manager Protocol

Bluetooth.

 D_B is optional. This parameter is only present if bit0 of *timing control flags* is 0. If the parameter is not included, the position in payload for all parameters following D_B are decreased by 2.

Note2: For LMP_unpark_BD_ADDR the AM_ADDR and the BD_ADDR of the 2nd unparked slave are optional. If only one slave is unparked AM_ADDR 2nd unpark should be zero and BD_ADDR 2nd unpark is left out.

Note3: For LMP_unpark_PM_ADDR the AM_ADDR and the PM_ADDR of the $2^{nd} - 7^{th}$ unparked slaves are optional. If N slaves are unparked, the fields up to and including the Nth unparked slave are present. If N is odd, the *AM_ADDR* $(N+1)^{th}$ unpark must be zero. The length of the message is x + 3N/2 if N is even and x + 3(N+1)/2 - 1 if N is odd, where x = 2 or 4 depending on if the D_B is incluDed Or Not (See Note1).

Name	Length (bytes)	Туре	Unit	Detailed
access scheme	1	u_int4		0: polling technique 1-15: Reserved
air mode	1	u_int8		0: μ-law log 1: A-law log 2: CVSD 3-255: Reserved
AM_ADDR	1	u_int4		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
AR_ADDR	1	u_int8		
authentication response	4	multiple bytes		
BD_ADDR	6	multiple bytes		
broadcast scan window	2	u_int16	slots	
clock offset	2	u_int16	1.25ms	(CLKN ₁₆₋₂ slave - CLKN ₁₆₋₂ master) mod 2 ¹⁵ MSbit of second byte not used.
Compld	2	u_int16		see BT Assigned Numbers Section 2.1 on page 1018
D _{access}	1	u_int8	slots	
DB	2	u_int16	slots	

5.1 DESCRIPTION OF PARAMETERS

Table 5.2: Parameters in LM PDUs.

page 232 of 1082

Link Manager Protocol

Bluetooth.

Name	Length (bytes)	Туре	Unit	Detailed	
D _{Bsleep}	1	u_int8	slots		
data rate	1	u_int8		0: medium rate 1: high rate 2-255: Reserved	
drift	1	u_int8	ppm		
D _{sco}	1	u_int8	slots		
D _{sniff}	2	u_int16	slots		
encryption mode	1	u_int8		0: no encryption 1: point-to-point encryption 2: point-to-point and broadcast encryption 3 -255: Reserved	
features	8	multiple bytes		See Table 5.3 on page 234	
hold time	2	u_int16	slots		
jitter	1	u_int8	μs		
key	16	multiple bytes			
key size	1	u_int8	byte		
M _{access}	1	u_int4	slots		
max slots	1	u_int8	slots		
N _{acc-slots}	1	u_int8	slots	17.5.5.5	
name fragment	14	multiple bytes		UTF-8 characters.	
name length	1	u_int8	bytes		
name offset	1	u_int8	bytes		
N _B	1	u_int8			
N _{BC}	1	u_int8			
N _{Bsleep}	1	u_int8	slots		
N _{poll}	1	u_int8	slots		
op code	1	u_int8			
paging scheme	1	u_int8		0: mandatory scheme 1: optional scheme 1 2-255: Reserved	

Table 5.2: Parameters in LM PDUs.

page 233 of 1082

Link Manager Protocol

Bluetooth.

Name	Length (bytes)	Туре	Unit	Detailed
paging scheme settings	1	u_int8		For mandatory scheme: 0: R0 1: R1 2: R2 3-255: Reserved For optional scheme 1: 0: Reserved 1: R1 2: R2 3-255: Reserved
PM_ADDR	1	u_int8		
poll interval	2	u_int16	slots	
random number	16	multiple bytes		
reason	1	u_int8		See Table 5.4 on page 235.
SCO handle	1	u_int8		
SCO packet	1	u_int8		0: HV1 1: HV2 2: HV3 3-255: Reserved
slot offset	2	u_int16	μs	$0 \le \text{slot offset} < 1250$
sniff attempt	2	u_int16	slots	
sniff timeout	2	u_int16	slots	
SubVersNr	2	u_int16		Defined by each company
supervision time- out	2	u_int16	slots	
T _{access}	1	u_int8	slots	
Τ _Β	2	u_int16	slots	
timing control flags	1	u_int8		bit0 = 0: no timing change bit0 = 1: timing change bit1 = 0: use initialization 1 bit1 = 1: use initialization 2 bit2 = 0: access window bit2 = 1: no access window bit3-7: Reserved

Table 5.2: Parameters in LM PDUs.

Summary of PDUs

29 November 1999

page 234 of 1082

Link Manager Protocol

```
Bluetooth.
```

Name	Length (bytes)	Туре	Unit	Detailed
T _{sco}	1	u_int8	slots	
T _{sniff}	2	u_int16	slots	
VersNr	1	u_int8		0: Bluetooth LMP 1.0 1-255: Reserved
Δ_{B}	1	u_int8	slots	

Table 5.2: Parameters in LM PDUs.

5.1.1 Coding of features

This parameter is a bitmap with information about the Bluetooth radio-, baseband- and LMP features which a device supports. The bit shall be one if the feature is supported. The feature parameter bits that are not defined in Table 5.3 shall be zero.

Byte	Bit	Supported feature
-	0	3-slot packets
	1	5-slot packets
	2	encryption
	3	slot offset
5	4	timing accuracy
	5	switch
	6	hold mode
	7	sniff mode
	0	park mode
	1	RSSI
	2	channel quality driven data rate
	3	SCO link
	4	HV2 packets
	5	HV3 packets
	6	u-law log
	7	A-law log
	0	CVSD
2	1	paging scheme
	2	power control

Table 5.3: Coding of the parameter features.

page 235 of 1082

Link Manager Protocol

Bluetooth.

5.1.2 List of error reasons

The following table contains the codes of the different error reasons used in LMP.

Reason	Description
0x05	Authentication Failure
0x06	Key Missing
0x0A	Max Number Of SCO Connections To A Device (The maximum number of SCO connections to a particle device has been reached. All allowed SCO connection handles to that device are used.)
0x0D	Host Rejected due to limited resources (The host at the remote side has rejected the connection because the remote host did not have enough additional resources to accept the connection.)
0x0E	Host Rejected due to security reasons (The host at the remote side has rejected the connection because the remote host determined that the local host did not meet its security criteria.)
0x0F	Host Rejected due to remote device is only a personal device (The host at the remote side has rejected the connection because the remote host is a personal device and will only accept the connection from one particle remote host.)
0x10	Host Timeout (Used at connection accept timeout, the host did not respond to an incoming connection attempt before the connection accept timer expired.)
0x13	Other End Terminated Connection: User Ended Connection
0x14	Other End Terminated Connection: Low Resources
0x15	Other End Terminated Connection: About to Power Off
0x16	Connection Terminated by Local Host
0x17	Repeated Attempts (An authentication or pairing attempt is made too soon after a previously failed authentication or pairing attempt.)
0x18	Pairing Not Allowed
0x19	Unknown LMP PDU
0x1A	Unsupported LMP Feature
0x1B	SCO Offset Rejected
0x1C	SCO Interval Rejected
0x1D	SCO Air Mode Rejected
0x1E	Invalid LMP Parameters
0x1F	Unspecified Error
0x20	Unsupported parameter value
0x21	Switch not allowed
0x23	LMP Error Transaction Collision
0x24	PDU not allowed

Table 5.4: List of error reasons.

Summary of PDUs

1

page 236 of 1082

Link Manager Protocol

Bluetooth.

5.2 DEFAULT VALUES

The Bluetooth device must use these values before anything else has been negotiated:

Parameter	Value
drift	250
jitter	10
max slots	1
poll interval	40

Table 5.5: Default values.

page 237 of 1082

Link Manager Protocol

Bluetooth.

6 TEST MODES

LMP has PDUs to support different Bluetooth test modes, which are used for certification and compliance testing of the Bluetooth radio and baseband. See "Bluetooth Test Mode" on page 803 for a detailed description of these test modes.

6.1 ACTIVATION AND DEACTIVATION OF TEST MODE

The test mode is activated by sending LMP_test_activate to the device under test (DUT). The DUT is always the slave. The link manager must be able to receive this message anytime. If entering test mode is locally enabled in the DUT it responds with LMP_accepted and test mode is entered. Otherwise the DUT responds with LMP_not_accepted and the DUT remains in normal operation. The reason code in LMP_not_accepted shall be *PDU not allowed*.



Sequence 60: Activation of test mode successful.



Sequence 61: Activation of test mode fails. Slave is not allowed to enter test mode.

The test mode can be deactivated in two ways. Sending LMP_test_control with the test scenario set to "exit test mode" exits the test mode and the slave returns to normal operation still connected to the master. Sending LMP_detach to the DUT ends the test mode and the connection.

6.2 CONTROL OF TEST MODE

When the DUT has entered test mode, the PDU LMP_test_control can be sent to the DUT to start a specific test. This PDU is acknowledged with LMP_accepted. If a device that is not in test mode receives LMP_test_control it responds with LMP_not_accepted, where the reason code shall be PDU not allowed.

page 238 of 1082

Link Manager Protocol





Sequence 62: Control of test mode successful.



Sequence 63: Control of test mode rejected since slave is not in test mode.

6.3 SUMMARY OF TEST MODE PDUs

The PDUs used for test purposes are summarized in the following table. For a detailed description of the parameters, see Bluetooth Test Mode Table 3.2 on page 817.

	M/O	LMP PDU	Length	op code	Packet type	Possible direction	Contents	Position in payload	
Ľ	М	LMP_test_activate	1	56	DM1/DV	$m \rightarrow s$	-		
							test scenario	2	
		LMP_test_control 10 57 DM1			DM1	$m \rightarrow s$	hopping mode	3	
							TX frequency	4	
			rol 10	57			RX frequency	5	
	M						power control mode	6	
								poll period	7
							packet type	8	
J					length of test data	9-10			

Table 6.1: Test mode PDUs.

29 November 1999

page 239 of 1082

Link Manager Protocol

Bluetooth.

7 ERROR HANDLING

If the Link Manager receives a PDU with unrecognized opcode, it responds with LMP_not_accepted with the reason code *unknown LMP PDU*. The opcode parameter that is echoed back is the unrecognized opcode.

If the Link Manager receives a PDU with invalid parameters, it responds with LMP_not_accepted with the reason code *invalid LMP parameters*.

If the maximum response time, see Section 1 on page 191, is exceeded or if a link loss is detected (see Baseband Specification Section 10.11, on page 126), the party that waits for the response shall conclude that the procedure has terminated unsuccessfully.

Erroneous LMP messages can be caused by errors on the channel or systematic errors at the transmit side. To detect the latter case, the LM should monitor the number of erroneous messages and disconnect if it exceeds a threshold, which is implementation-dependent.

Since LMP PDUs are not interpreted in real time, collision situations can occur where both LMs initiate the same procedure and both cannot be completed. In this situation, the master shall reject the slave-initiated procedure by sending LMP_not_accepted with the reason code 'LMP Error Transaction Collision'. The master-initiated procedure shall then be completed.

Error Handling

29 November 1999

page 240 of 1082

Link Manager Protocol

Bluetooth.

29 November 1999

Error Handling

page 241 of 1082

Link Manager Protocol

Bluetooth.

8 LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.1: Li	ink Manager's place on the global scene
Figure 2.1: P	ayload body when LM PDUs are sent
Figure 3.1: S	ymbols used in sequence diagrams
Sequence 1:	Authentication. Claimant has link key
Sequence 2:	Authentication fails. Claimant has no link key
Sequence 3:	Claimant accepts pairing
Sequence 4:	Claimant accepts pairing but requests to be verifier
Sequence 5:	Unsuccessful switch of claimant-venfier role
Sequence 6:	Claimant rejects pairing
Sequence 7:	Creation of the link key
Sequence 8:	Successful change of the link key
Sequence 9:	Change of the link key not possible since the other
	unit uses a unit key
Sequence 10:	Change to a temporary link key
Sequence 11:	Link key changed to the semi-permanent link key
Sequence 12:	Negotiation for encryption mode
Sequence 13:	Encryption key size negotiation successful
Sequence 14:	Encryption key size negotiation failed
Sequence 15:	Start of encryption
Sequence 16:	Stop of encryption
Sequence 17:	Clock offset requested
Sequence 18:	Slot offset information is sent
Sequence 19:	The requested device supports timing accuracy
D 00-	mormation
Sequence zu:	I ne requested device does not support timing
Secure 21.	Dequest for LMD version 205
Sequence 21	Pequest for supported features 206
Sequence 22.	Master since witch accepted
Sequence 24:	Master slave switch accepted
Seruence 25	Device's nome requested and it reconnect 207
Sequence 26:	Connection closed by pending LMD datach 208
Sequence 27.	Maeter forces sigue into hold mode 208
Sequence 27.	Stave forces master into hold mode.
Sequence 20:	Magatistion for hold made
Sequence 30:	Moster forces clove into eniff made 210
Sequence 31	Magnia for chiff mode 230
Sequence 22	Slave moved from shift mode to active mode 214
Sequence 32:	Clave forced into park mode 042
Sequence 33.	Claus accosts to be placed in park mode.
Sequence 34:	orave accepts to be placed in park mode

List of Figures

29 November 1999

page 242 of 1082

Link Manager Protocol

Bluetooth.

Sequence 35:	Slave rejects to be placed in park mode 213
Sequence 36:	Master accepts and places slave in park mode
Sequence 37:	Master rejects to place slave in park mode 214
Sequence 38	Master notifies all slaves of increase in broadcast
and a number of the	capacity
Sequence 39:	Master modifies beacon parameters,
Sequence 40:	Master unparks slaves addressed with their BD_ADDR215
Sequence 41:	Master unparks slaves addressed with their PM_ADDR215
Sequence 42:	A device requests a change of the other device's
	TX power
Sequence 43:	The TX power cannot be increased
Sequence 44:	The TX power cannot be decreased
Sequence 45:	The left-hand unit is configured to automatically
	change between DM and DH
Sequence 46:	The right-hand device orders the left-hand device
Site and second state	to change data rate
Sequence 47:	Master notifies slave of new quality of service
Sequence 48:	Device accepts new quality of service
Sequence 49:	Device rejects new quality of service
Sequence 50:	Master requests an SCO link
Sequence 51:	Master rejects slave's request for an SCO link
Sequence 52:	Master accepts slave's request for an SCO link
Sequence 53:	SCO link removed
Sequence 54:	Master allows slave to use a maximal number of slots,222
Sequence 55:	Slave requests to use a maximal number of slots.
	Master accepts
Sequence 56:	Slave requests to use a maximal number of slots.
a	Master rejects
Sequence 57:	Negotiation for page mode
Sequence 58:	Negotiation for page scan mode223
Sequence 59:	Setting the link supervision timeout
Figure 4.1: C	ormection establishment
Sequence 60:	Activation of test mode successful
Sequence 61:	Activation of test mode fails. Slave is not allowed to
	enter test mode
Sequence 62:	Control of test mode successful
Sequence 63:	Control of test mode rejected since slave is not in
	lest mode

List of Figures

page 243 of 1082

Link Manager Protocol

Bluetooth.

9 LIST OF TABLES

Table 2.1:	Logical channel L_CH field contents
Table 3.1:	General response messages
Table 3.2:	PDUs used for authentication
Table 3.3:	PDUs used for pairing
Table 3.4:	PDUs used for change of link key197
Table 3.5:	PDUs used to change the current link key
Table 3.6:	PDUs used for handling encryption
Table 3.7:	PDUs used for clock offset request
Table 3.8:	PDU used for slot offset information
Table 3.9:	PDUs used for requesting timing accuracy information
Table 3.10:	PDUs used for LMP version request
Table 3.11:	PDUs used for features request
Table 3.12:	PDU used for master slave switch
Table 3.13:	PDUs used for name request
Table 3.14:	PDU used for delach
Table 3.15:	PDUs used for hold mode
Table 3.16:	PDUs used for sniff mode
Table 3.17:	PDUs used for park mode
Table 3.18:	PDUs used for power control
Table 3.19:	PDUs used for quality driven change of the data rate
Table 3.20:	PDUs used for quality of service
Table 3.21:	PDUs used for managing the SCO links
Table 3.22:	PDUs used to control the use of multi-slot packets
Table 3.23:	PDUs used to request paging scheme
Table 3.24:	PDU used to set the supervision timeout
Table 4.1:	PDUs used for connection establishment
Table 5.1:	Coding of the different LM PDUs
Table 5.2:	Parameters in LM PDUs
Table 5.3:	Coding of the parameter features
Table 5.4:	List of error reasons
Table 5.5:	Default values
Table 6.1:	Test mode PDUs

page 244 of 1082

Link Manager Protocol

Bluetooth.

29 November 1999

List of Tables

Part D

LOGICAL LINK CONTROL AND ADAPTATION PROTOCOL SPECIFICATION

This document describes the Bluetooth logical link control and adaptation protocol (L2CAP). This protocol supports higher level protocol multiplexing, packet segmentation and reassembly, and the conveying of quality of service information. This document is part of the Bluetooth Specification. This document describes the protocol state machine, packet format and composition, and a test interface required for the Bluetooth test and certification program.

AFFLT0293474 Samsung Ex. 1316 p. 246

page 247 of 1082

Logical Link Control and Adaptation Protocol Specification

Bluetooth.

CONTENTS

-	Intro	duction					
	1.1	L2CAP Functional Requirements					
	1.2	Assumptions					
	1.3	Scope					
2	Gene	General Operation					
	2.1	Channel Identifiers					
	2.2	Operation Between Devices					
	2.3	Operation Between Layers	254				
	2.4	Segmentation and Reassembly					
		2.4.1 Segmentation Procedures					
		2.4.2 Reassembly Procedures	256				
3	State	Machine					
	3.1	Events					
		3.1.1 Lower-Laver Protocol (LP) to L2CAP events					
		3.1.2 L2CAP to L2CAP Signalling events					
		3.1.3 L2CAP to L2CAP Data events					
		3.1.4 Upper-Laver to L2CAP events					
		3.1.5 Timer events					
	3.2	Actions					
		3.2.1 L2CAP to Lower Layer actions					
		3.2.2 L2CAP to L2CAP Signalling actions					
		3.2.3 L2CAP to L2CAP Data actions					
		3.2.4 L2CAP to Upper Layer actions					
	3.3	Channel Operational States					
	3.4	Mapping Events to Actions					
4	Data	Packet Format					
	4.1	Connection-oriented Channel					
	4.2	4.2 Connectionless Data Channel					
5	Sign	lling					
	5.1	Command Reject (code 0x01)					
	5.2	Connection Request (code 0x02)					
	5.3	Connection Response (code 0x03)					
	5.4	Configuration Request (code 0x04)					
	5,5	Configure Response (code 0x05)					
	5.6	Disconnection Request (code 0x06)					
	5.7	Disconnection Response (code 0x07)					
	5.8	Echo Request (code 0x08)					
	5.9	Echo Response (code 0x09)					
	5.10	Information Request (CODE 0x0A)					
	5.11	Information Response (CODE 0x0B)					

29 November 1999

Logic	al Link C	ontrol and Adaptation Protocol Specification	Bluetooth.			
6	Conf	iguration Parameter Options				
	6.1	6.1 Maximum Transmission Unit (MTU)				
	6.2	Flush Timeout Option				
	6.3	Quality of Service (QoS) Option				
	6.4	Configuration Process				
		6.4.1 Request Path				
		6.4.2 Response Path				
		6.4.3 Configuration State Machine				
7	Service Primitives					
	7,1	Event Indication				
		7.1.1 L2CA Connectind Caliback				
		7.1.2 L2CA ConfigInd Callback				
		7.1.3 L2CA_DisconnectInd Callback				
		7.1.4 L2CA_QoSViolationInd Callback				
	7.2	Connect				
	7.3	Connect Response				
	7.4	Configure				
	7.5	Configuration Response				
	7.6	Disconnect				
	7.7	Write				
	7.8	Read				
	7.9					
	7.10	Group Close				
	7.11	Group Add Member				
	7.12	Group Remove Member				
	7.13	Get Group Membership				
	7.14	Ping				
	7.15	GetInfo				
	7.16	Disable Connectionless Traffic				
	7.17	Enable Connectionless Traffic				
8	Sum	mary				
9	Refe	rences				
10	List	of Figures				
11	List	of Tables				
Tern	ns and	Abbreviations				
App	endix A	Configuration MSCs				
App	endix E	: Implementation Guidelines				

248

I

29 November 1999

page 249 of 1082

Logical Link Control and Adaptation Protocol Specification

Bluetooth.

1 INTRODUCTION

This section of the Bluetooth Specification defines the Logical Link Control and Adaptation Layer Protocol, referred to as L2CAP. L2CAP is layered over the Baseband Protocol and resides in the data link layer as shown in Figure 1.1. L2CAP provides connection-oriented and connectionless data services to upper layer protocols with protocol multiplexing capability, segmentation and reassembly operation, and group abstractions. L2CAP permits higher level protocols and applications to transmit and receive L2CAP data packets up to 64 kilobytes in length.



Figure 1.1: L2CAP within protocol layers

The "Baseband Specification" on page 33 defines two link types: Synchronous Connection-Oriented (SCO) links and Asynchronous Connection-Less (ACL) links. SCO links support real-time voice traffic using reserved bandwidth. ACL links support best effort traffic. The L2CAP Specification is defined for only ACL links and no support for SCO links is planned.

For ACL links, use of the AUX1 packet on the ACL link is prohibited. This packet type supports no data integrity checks (no CRC). Because L2CAP depends on integrity checks in the Baseband to protect the transmitted information, AUX1 packets must never be used to transport L2CAP packets.

The format of the ACL payload header is shown below. Figure 1.2 on page 250 displays the payload header used for single-slot packets and Figure 1.3 displays the header used in multi-slot packets. The only difference is the size of the length field. The packet type (a field in the Baseband header) distinguishes single-slot packets from multi-slot packets.

Introduction	
--------------	--

Logical Link Control and Adaptation Protocol Specification

Bluetooth.

LSB 2	1	5	MSB
-	1 1	-	
L_CH	ELOW.	LENGTH	

Figure 1.2: ACL Payload Header for single-slot packets



Figure 1.3: ACL Payload Header for multi-slot packets

The 2-bit logical channel (L_CH) field, defined in Table 1.1, distinguishes L2CAP packets from Link Manager Protocol (page 185) packets. The remaining code is reserved for future use.

L_CH code	Logical Channel	Information
00	RESERVED	Reserved for future use
01	L2CAP	Continuation of L2CAP packet
10	L2CAP	Start of L2CAP packet
11	LMP	Link Manager Protocol

Table 1.1: Logical channel L_CH field contents

The FLOW bit in the ACL header is managed by the Link Controller (LC), a Baseband implementation entity, and is normally set to 1 ('flow on'). It is set to 0 ('flow off') when no further L2CAP traffic shall be sent over the ACL link. Sending an L2CAP packet with the FLOW bit set to 1 resumes the flow of incoming L2CAP packets. This is described in more detail in "Baseband Specification" on page 33.

1.1 L2CAP FUNCTIONAL REQUIREMENTS

The functional requirements for L2CAP include protocol multiplexing, segmentation and reassembly (SAR), and group management. Figure 1.4 illustrates how L2CAP fits into the Bluetooth Protocol Stack. L2CAP lies above the Baseband Protocol (page 33) and interfaces with other communication protocols such as the Bluetooth Service Discovery Protocol (SDP, page 323), RFCOMM (page 385), and Telephony Control (TCS, page 429). Voice-quality channels for audio and telephony applications are usually run over Baseband SCO links. Packetized audio data, such as IP Telephony, may be sent using communication protocols running over L2CAP.

250

29 November 1999

Introduction

page 251 of 1082

Logical Link Control and Adaptation Protocol Specification

Bluetooth.



Figure 1.4: L2CAP in Bluetooth Protocol Architecture

Essential protocol requirements for L2CAP include simplicity and low overhead. Implementations of L2CAP must be applicable for devices with limited computational resources. L2CAP should not consume excessive power since that significantly sacrifices power efficiency achieved by the Bluetooth Radio. Memory requirements for protocol implementation should also be kept to a minimum.

The protocol complexity should be acceptable to personal computers, PDAs, digital cellular phones, wireless headsets, joysticks and other wireless devices supported by Bluetooth. Furthermore, the protocol should be designed to achieve reasonably high bandwidth efficiency.

Protocol Multiplexing

L2CAP must support protocol multiplexing because the Baseband Protocol does not support any 'type' field identifying the higher layer protocol being multiplexed above it. L2CAP must be able to distinguish between upper layer protocols such as the Service Discovery Protocol (page 323), RFCOMM (page 385), and Telephony Control (page 429).

Segmentation and Reassembly

Compared to other wired physical media, the data packets defined by the Baseband Protocol (page 33) are limited in size. Exporting a maximum transmission unit (MTU) associated with the largest Baseband payload (341 bytes for DH5 packets) limits the efficient use of bandwidth for higher layer protocols that are designed to use larger packets. Large L2CAP packets must be segmented into multiple smaller Baseband packets prior to their transmission over the air. Similarly, multiple received Baseband packets may be reassembled into a single larger L2CAP packet following a simple integrity check (described in Section 2.4.2 on page 256). The Segmentation and Reassembly (SAR) functionality is absolutely necessary to support protocols using packets larger than those supported by the Baseband.

Quality of Service

The L2CAP connection establishment process allows the exchange of information regarding the quality of service (QoS) expected between two Blue-

Introduction

page 252 of 1082

Logical Link Control and Adaptation Protocol Specification

Bluetooth.

tooth units. Each L2CAP implementation must monitor the resources used by the protocol and ensure that QoS contracts are honoured.

Groups

Many protocols include the concept of a group of addresses. The Baseband Protocol supports the concept of a piconet, a group of devices synchronously hopping together using the same clock. The L2CAP group abstraction permits implementations to efficiently map protocol groups on to piconets. Without a group abstraction, higher level protocols would need to be exposed to the Baseband Protocol and Link Manager functionality in order to manage groups efficiently.

1.2 ASSUMPTIONS

The protocol is designed based on the following assumptions:

- 1. The ACL link between two units is set up using the Link Manager Protocol (page 185). The Baseband provides orderly delivery of data packets, although there might be individual packet corruption and duplicates. No more than 1 ACL link exists between any two devices.
- The Baseband always provides the impression of full-duplex communication channels. This does not imply that all L2CAP communications are bi-directional. Multicasts and unidirectional traffic (e.g., video) do not require duplex channels.
- 3. L2CAP provides a reliable channel using the mechanisms available at the Baseband layer. The Baseband always performs data integrity checks when requested and resends data until it has been successfully acknowledged or a timeout occurs. Because acknowledgements may be lost, timeouts may occur even after the data has been successfully sent. The Baseband protocol uses a 1-bit sequence number that removes duplicates. Note that the use of Baseband broadcast packets is prohibited if reliability is required since all broadcasts start the first segment of an L2CAP packet with the same sequence bit.

1.3 SCOPE

The following features are outside the scope of L2CAP's responsibilities:

- L2CAP does not transport audio designated for SCO links.
- L2CAP does not enforce a reliable channel or ensure data integrity, that is, L2CAP performs no retransmissions or checksum calculations.
- L2CAP does not support a reliable multicast channel. See Section 4.2.
- · L2CAP does not support the concept of a global group name.

252

Introduction
page 253 of 1082

Logical Link Control and Adaptation Protocol Specification

Bluetooth.

2 GENERAL OPERATION

The Logical Link Control and Adaptation Protocol (L2CAP) is based around the concept of *'channels'*. Each one of the end-points of an L2CAP channel is referred to by a *channel identifier*.

2.1 CHANNEL IDENTIFIERS

Channel identifiers (CIDs) are local names representing a logical channel endpoint on the device. Identifiers from 0x0001 to 0x003F are reserved for specific L2CAP functions. The null identifier (0x0000) is defined as an illegal identifier and must never be used as a destination end-point. Implementations are free to manage the remaining CIDs in a manner best suited for that particular implementation, with the provision that the same CID is not reused as a local L2CAP channel endpoint for multiple simultaneous L2CAP channels between a local device and some remote device. Table 2.1 summarizes the definition and partitioning of the CID name space.

CID assignment is relative to a particular device and a device can assign CIDs independently from other devices (unless it needs to use any of the reserved CIDs shown in the table below). Thus, even if the same CID value has been assigned to (remote) channel endpoints by several remote devices connected to a single local device, the local device can still uniquely associate each remote CID with a different device.

CID	Description		
0x0000	Null identifier		
0x0001	Signalling channel		
0x0002	Connectionless reception channel		
0x0003-0x003F	Reserved		
0x0040-0xFFFF	Dynamically allocated		

Table 2.1: CID Definitions

2.2 OPERATION BETWEEN DEVICES

Figure 2.1 on page 254 illustrates the use of CIDs in a communication between corresponding peer L2CAP entities in separate devices. The connection-oriented data channels represent a connection between two devices, where a CID identifies each endpoint of the channel. The connectionless channels restrict data flow to a single direction. These channels are used to support a channel 'group' where the CID on the source represents one or more remote devices. There are also a number of CIDs reserved for special purposes. The signalling channel is one example of a reserved channel. This channel is used to create and establish connection-oriented data channels and to negotiate changes in the characteristics of these channels. Support for a signalling chan-

General Operation

page 254 of 1082

Logical Link Control and Adaptation Protocol Specification

Bluetooth.

nel within an L2CAP entity is mandatory. Another CID is reserved for all incoming connectionless data traffic. In the example below, a CID is used to represent a group consisting of device #3 and #4. Traffic sent from this channel ID is directed to the remote channel reserved for connectionless data traffic.



Figure 2.1: Channels between devices

Table 2.2 describes the various channels and their source and destination identifiers. An 'allocated' channel is created to represent the local endpoint and should be in the range 0x0040 to 0xFFFF. Section 3 on page 258 describes the state machine associated with each connectionless channel. Section 4.1 on page 272 describes the packet format associated with bi-directional channels and Section 4.2 on page 273 describes the packet format associated with uni-directional channels.

Channel Type	Local CID	Remote CID
Connection-oriented	Dynamically allocated	Dynamically allocated
Connectionless data	Dynamically allocated	0x0002 (fixed)
Signalling	0x0001 (fixed)	0x0001 (fixed)

Table 2.2: Types of Channel Identifiers

2.3 OPERATION BETWEEN LAYERS

L2CAP implementations should follow the general architecture described below. L2CAP implementations must transfer data between higher layer protocols and the lower layer protocol. This document lists a number of services that should be exported by any L2CAP implementation. Each implementation must also support a set of signalling commands for use between L2CAP implementations. L2CAP implementations should also be prepared to accept certain types of events from lower layers and generate events to upper layers. How these events are passed between layers is an implementation-dependent process.

29 November 1999

General Operation

page 255 of 1082

Logical Link Control and Adaptation Protocol Specification

Bluetooth.



Figure 2.2: L2CAP Architecture

2.4 SEGMENTATION AND REASSEMBLY

Segmentation and reassembly (SAR) operations are used to improve efficiency by supporting a maximum transmission unit (MTU) size larger than the largest Baseband packet. This reduces overhead by spreading the network and transport packets used by higher layer protocols over several Baseband packets. All L2CAP packets may be segmented for transfer over Baseband packets. The protocol does not perform any segmentation and reassembly operations but the packet format supports adaptation to smaller physical frame sizes. An L2CAP implementation exposes the outgoing (i.e., the remote host's receiving) MTU and segments higher layer packets into 'chunks' that can be passed to the Link Manager via the Host Controller Interface (HCI), whenever one exists. On the receiving side, an L2CAP implementation receives 'chunks' from the HCI and reassembles those chunks into L2CAP packets using information provided through the HCI and from the packet header.

Higher Layer Protocol Layer
L2CAP MTU
L2CAP Layer
HCI Max Buffer
Link Manager
Baseband Protocol Layer

Figure 2.3: L2CAP SAR Variables

Segmentation and Reassembly is implemented using very little overhead in Baseband packets. The two L_CH bits defined in the first byte of Baseband

General Operation

page 256 of 1082

Logical Link Control and Adaptation Protocol Specification

Bluetooth.

payload (also called the frame header) are used to signal the start and continuation of L2CAP packets. L_CH shall be '10' for the first segment in an L2CAP packet and '01' for a continuation segment. An example use of SAR is shown in Figure 2.4.



Figure 2.4: L2CAP segmentation

2.4.1 Segmentation Procedures

The L2CAP maximum transmission unit (MTU) will be exported using an implementation specific service interface. It is the responsibility of the higher layer protocol to limit the size of packets sent to the L2CAP layer below the MTU limit. An L2CAP implementation will segment the packet into protocol data units (PDUs) to send to the lower layer. If L2CAP runs directly over the Baseband Protocol, an implementation may segment the packet into Baseband packets for transmission over the air. If L2CAP runs above the host controller interface (typical scenario), an implementation may send block-sized chunks to the host controller where they will be converted into Baseband packets. All L2CAP segments associated with an L2CAP packet must be passed through to the Baseband before any other L2CAP packet destined to the same unit may be sent.

2.4.2 Reassembly Procedures

The Baseband Protocol delivers ACL packets in sequence and protects the integrity of the data using a 16-bit CRC. The Baseband also supports reliable connections using an automatic repeat request (ARQ) mechanism. As the Baseband controller receives ACL packets, it either signals the L2CAP layer on the arrival of each Baseband packets, or accumulates a number of packets before the receive buffer fills up or a timer expires before signalling the L2CAP layer.

L2CAP implementations must use the length field in the header of L2CAP packets, see Section 4 on page 272, as a consistency check and discard any L2CAP packets that fail to match the length field. If channel reliability is not needed, packets with improper lengths may be silently discarded. For reliable channels, L2CAP implementations must indicate to the upper layer that the channel has become unreliable. Reliable channels are defined by having an infinite flush timeout value as specified in Section 6.2 on page 290.

Figure 2.5 on page 257 Illustrates the use of segmentation and reassembly operations to transmit a single higher layer PDU. Note that while there is a one-to-one mapping between a high layer PDU and an L2CAP packet, the segment

General Operation

page 257 of 1082

Logical Link Control and Adaptation Protocol Specification

Bluetooth.

size used by the segmentation and reassembly routines is left to the implementation and may differ from the sender to the receiver.



Figure 2.5: Segmentation and Reassembly Services in a unit with an HCI¹

General Operation

29 November 1999

page 258 of 1082

Logical Link Control and Adaptation Protocol Specification

Bluetooth.

3 STATE MACHINE

This section describes the L2CAP connection-oriented channel state machine. The section defines the states, the events causing state transitions, and the actions to be performed in response to events. This state machine is only pertinent to bi-directional CIDs and is not representative of the signalling channel or the uni-directional channel.



Figure 3.1: L2CAP Layer Interactions

Figure 3.1 illustrates the events and actions performed by an implementation of the L2CAP layer. Client and Server simply represent the initiator of the request and the acceptor of the request respectively. An application-level Client would both initiate and accept requests. The naming convention is as follows. The interface between two layers (vertical interface) uses the prefix of the lower layer offering the service to the higher layer, e.g., L2CA. The interface between two entities of the same layer (horizontal interface) uses the prefix of the protocol (adding a P to the layer identification), e.g., L2CAP. Events coming from above are called Requests (Req) and the corresponding replies are called Confirms (Cfm). Events coming from below are called Indications (Ind) and the corresponding replies are called Pending (Pnd). The notation for Confirms and Responses assumes positive replies. Negative replies are denoted by a 'Neg' suffix such as L2CAP_ConnectCfmNeg.

While Requests for an action always result in a corresponding Confirmation (for the successful or unsuccessful satisfaction of the action), Indications do not always result into corresponding Responses. The latter is especially true, if the Indications are informative about locally triggered events, e.g., seeing the

For simplicity, the stripping of any additional HCI and USB specific information fields prior to the creation of the baseband packets (Air_1, Air_2, etc.) is not shown in the figure.

State Machine

page 259 of 1082

Logical Link Control and Adaptation Protocol Specification

Bluetooth.

LP_QoSViolationInd in Section 3.1.1 on page 259, or *L2CA_TimeOutInd* in Section 3.2.4 on page 264.



Figure 3.2: MSC of Layer Interactions

Figure 3.2 uses a message sequence chart (MSC) to illustrate the normal sequence of events. The two outer vertical lines represent the L2CA interface on the initiator (the device issuing a request) and the acceptor (the device responding to the initiator's request). Request commands at the L2CA interface result in Requests defined by the protocol. When the protocol communicates the request to the acceptor, the remote L2CA entity presents the upper protocol with an Indication. When the acceptor's upper protocol responds, the response is packaged by the protocol and communicated back the to initiator. The result is passed back to the initiator's upper protocol using a Confirm message.

3.1 EVENTS

Events are all incoming messages to the L2CA layer along with timeouts. Events are partitioned into five categories: Indications and Confirms from lower layers, Requests and Responses from higher layers, data from peers, signal Requests and Responses from peers, and events caused by timer expirations.

3.1.1 Lower-Layer Protocol (LP) to L2CAP events

LP_ConnectCfm

Confirms the request (see *LP_ConnectReq* in Section 3.2.1) to establish a lower layer (Baseband) connection. This includes passing the authentication challenge if authentication is required to establish the physical link.

LP_ConnectCfmNeg

Confirms the failure of the request (see *LP_ConnectReq* in Section 3.2.1) to establish a lower layer (Baseband) connection failed. This could be because

State Machine

page 260 of 1082

Logical Link Control and Adaptation Protocol Specification

Bluetooth.

the device could not be contacted, refused the request, or the LMP authentication challenge failed.

LP_ConnectInd

Indicates the lower protocol has successfully established connection. In the case of the Baseband, this will be an ACL link. An L2CAP entity may use to information to keep track of what physical links exist.

LP_DisconnectInd

Indicates the lower protocol (Baseband) has been shut down by LMP commands or a timeout event.

LP_QoSCfm

Confirms the request (see LP_QoSReq in Section 3.2.1) for a given quality of service.

LP_QoSCfmNeg

Confirms the failure of the request (see *LP_QoSReq* in Section 3.2.1) for a given quality of service.

LP_QoSViolationInd

Indicates the lower protocol has detected a violation of the QoS agreement specified in the previous *LP_QoSReq* (see Section 3.2.1).

3.1.2 L2CAP to L2CAP Signalling events

L2CAP to L2CAP signalling events are generated by each L2CAP entity following the exchange of the corresponding L2CAP signalling PDUs, see Section 5. L2CAP signalling PDUs, like any other L2CAP PDUs, are received from a lower layer via a lower protocol indication event. For simplicity of the presentation, we avoid a detailed description of this process, and we assume that signalling events are exchanged directly between the L2CAP peer entities as shown in Figure 3.1 on page 258.

L2CAP_ConnectReq

A Connection Request packet has been received.

L2CAP_ConnectRsp

A Connection Response packet has been received with a positive result indicating that the connection has been established.

L2CAP_ConnectRspPnd

A Connection Response packet has been received indicating the remote endpoint has received the request and is processing it.

L2CAP_ConnectRspNeg

A Connection Response packet has been received, indicating that the connection could not be established.

L2CAP_ConfigReq

State Machine

Logical Link Control and Adaptation Protocol Specification

Bluetooth.

A Configuration Request packet has been received indicating the remote endpoint wishes to engage in negotiations concerning channel parameters.

L2CAP_ConfigRsp

A Configuration Response packet has been received indicating the remote endpoint agrees with all the parameters being negotiated.

L2CAP_ConfigRspNeg

A Configuration Response packet has been received indicating the remote endpoint does not agree to the parameters received in the response packet.

L2CAP_DisconnectReq

A Disconnection Request packet has been received and the channel must initiate the disconnection process. Following the completion of an L2CAP channel disconnection process, an L2CAP entity should return the corresponding local CID to the pool of 'unassigned' CIDs.

L2CAP_DisconnectRsp

A Disconnection Response packet has been received. Following the receipt of this signal, the receiving L2CAP entity may return the corresponding local CID to the pool of unassigned CIDs. There is no corresponding negative response because the Disconnect Request must succeed.

3.1.3 L2CAP to L2CAP Data events

L2CAP_Data

A Data packet has been received.

3.1.4 Upper-Layer to L2CAP events

L2CA_ConnectReq

Request from upper layer for the creation of a channel to a remote device.

L2CA_ConnectRsp

Response from upper layer to the indication of a connection request from a remote device (see L2CA_ConnectInd in Section 3.2.4).

L2CA_ConnectRspNeg

Negative response (rejection) from upper layer to the indication of a connection request from a remote device (see *L2CA_ConnectInd* in Section 3.2.4).

L2CA_ConfigReq

Request from upper layer to (re)configure the channel.

L2CA_ConfigRsp

Response from upper layer to the indication of a (re) configuration request (see *L2CA_ConfigInd* in Section 3.2.4).

L2CA_ConfigRspNeg

page 262 of 1082

Logical Link Control and Adaptation Protocol Specification

Bluetooth.

A negative response from upper layer to the indication of a (re) configuration request (see *L2CA_ConfigInd* in Section 3.2.4).

L2CA_DisconnectReq

Request from upper layer for the immediate disconnection of a channel.

L2CA_DisconnectRsp

Response from upper layer to the indication of a disconnection request (see *L2CA_DisconnectInd* in Section 3.2.4). There is no corresponding negative response, the disconnect indication must always be accepted.

L2CA_DataRead

Request from upper layer for the transfer of received data from L2CAP entity to upper layer.

L2CA_DataWrite

Request from upper layer for the transfer of data from the upper layer to L2CAP entity for transmission over an open channel.

3.1.5 Timer events

RTX

The Response Timeout eXpired (RTX) timer is used to terminate the channel when the remote endpoint is unresponsive to signalling requests. This timer is started when a signalling request (see Section 5 on page 275) is sent to the remote device. This timer is disabled when the response is received. If the initial timer expires, a duplicate Request message may be sent or the channel identified in the request may be disconnected. If a duplicate Request message is sent, the RTX timeout value must be reset to a new value at least double the previous value.

Implementations have the responsibility to decide on the maximum number of Request retransmissions performed at the L2CAP level before disconnecting the channel. The decision should be based on the flush timeout of the signalling link. The longer the flush timeout, the more retransmissions may be performed at the physical layer and the reliability of the channel improves, requiring fewer retransmissions at the L2CAP level. For example, if the flush timeout is infinite, no retransmissions should be performed at the L2CAP level.

The value of this timer is implementation-dependent but the minimum initial value is 1 second and the maximum initial value is 60 seconds. One RTX timer MUST exist for each outstanding signalling request, including each Echo Request. The timer disappears on the final expiration, when the response is received, or the physical link is lost. The maximum elapsed time between the initial start of this timer and the initiation of channel disconnection (if no response is received) is 60 seconds.

ERTX

The Extended Response Timeout eXpired (ERTX) timer is used in place of the RTX timer when it is suspected the remote endpoint is performing addi-

262

State Machine

page 263 of 1082

Logical Link Control and Adaptation Protocol Specification

Bluetooth.

tional processing of a request signal. This timer is started when the remote endpoint responds that a request is pending, e.g., when an

L2CAP_ConnectRspPnd event is received. This timer is disabled when the formal response is received or the physical link is lost. If the initial timer expires, a duplicate Request may be sent or the channel may be disconnected. If a duplicate Request is sent, the particular ERTX timer disappears, replaced by a new RTX timer and the whole timing procedure restarts as described previously for the RTX timer.

The value of this timer is implementation-dependent but the minimum initial value is 60 seconds and the maximum initial value is 300 seconds. Similar to RTX, there MUST be at least one ERTX timer for each outstanding request that received a Pending response. There should be at most one (RTX or ERTX) associated with each outstanding request. The maximum elapsed time between the initial start of this timer and the initiation of channel disconnection (if no response is received) is 300 seconds.

3.2 ACTIONS

Actions are partitioned into five categories: Confirms and Indications to higher layers, Request and Responses to lower layers, Requests and Responses to peers, data transmission to peers, and setting timers.

3.2.1 L2CAP to Lower Layer actions

LP_ConnectReq

L2CAP requests the lower protocol to create a connection. If a physical link to the remote device does not exist, this message must be sent to the lower protocol to establish the physical connection. Since no more than a single ACL link between two devices is assumed, see Section 1.2 on page 252, additional L2CAP channels between these two devices must share the same baseband ACL link.

Following the processing of the request, the lower layer returns with an LP_ConnectCfm or an LP_ConnectCfmNeg to indicate whether the request has been satisfied or not, respectively.

LP_QoSReq

L2CAP requests the lower protocol to accommodate a particular QoS parameter set. Following the processing of the request, the lower layer returns with an *LP_QoSCfm* or an *LP_QoSCfmNeg* to indicate whether the request has been satisfied or not, respectively

LP_ConnectRsp

A positive response accepting the previous connection indication request (see *LP_ConnectInd* in Section 3.1.1).

LP_ConnectRspNeg

A negative response denying the previous connection indication request (see *LP_ConnectInd* in Section 3.1.1).

State Machine

page 264 of 1082

Logical Link Control and Adaptation Protocol Specification

Bluetooth.

3.2.2 L2CAP to L2CAP Signalling actions

This section contains the same names identified in Section 3.1.2 except the actions refer to the transmission, rather than reception, of these messages.

3.2.3 L2CAP to L2CAP Data actions

This section is the counterpart of Section 3.1.3. Data transmission is the action performed here.

3.2.4 L2CAP to Upper Layer actions

L2CA_ConnectInd

Indicates a Connection Request has been received from a remote device (see *L2CA_ConnectReg* in Section 3.1.4).

L2CA_ConnectCfm

Confirms that a Connection Request has been accepted (see (*L2CAP_ConnectReq* in Section 3.1.4) following the receipt of a Connection message from the remote device.

L2CA_ConnectCfmNeg

Negative confirmation (failure) of a Connection Request (see L2CA_ConnectReq in Section 3.1.4). An RTX timer expiration (see Section 3.1.5 and L2CA_TimeOutInd below) for an outstanding Connect Request can substitute for a negative Connect Response and result in this action.

L2CA_ConnectPnd

Confirms that a Connection Response (pending) has been received from the remote device.

L2CA_ConfigInd

Indicates a Configuration Request has been received from a remote device.

L2CA_ConfigCfm

Confirms that a Configuration Request has been accepted (see L2CA_ConfigReq in Section 3.1.4) following the receipt of a Configuration Response from the remote device.

L2CA_ConfigCfmNeg

Negative confirmation (failure) of a Configuration Request (see *L2CA_ConfigReq* in Section 3.1.4). An RTX timer expiration (see Section 3.1.5 and *L2CA_TimeOutInd* below) for an outstanding Connect Request can substitute for a negative Connect Response and result in this action.

State Machine

page 265 of 1082

Logical Link Control and Adaptation Protocol Specification

Bluetooth.

L2CA_DisconnectInd

Indicates a Disconnection Request has been received from a remote device or the remote device has been disconnected because it has failed to respond to a signalling request. See Section 3.1.5

L2CA_DisconnectCfm

Confirms that a Disconnect Request has been processed by the remote device (see *L2CA_DisconnectReq* in Section 3.1.4) following the receipt of a Disconnection Response from the remote device. An RTX timer expiration (see Section 3.1.5 and *L2CA_TimeOutInd* below) for an outstanding Disconnect Request can substitute for a Disconnect Response and result in this action. Upon receiving this event the upper layer knows the L2CAP channel has been terminated. There is no corresponding negative confirm.

L2CA_TimeOutInd

Indicates that a RTX or ERTX timer has expired. This indication will occur an implementation-dependant number of times before the L2CAP implementation will give up and send a L2CA_DisconnectInd.

L2CA_QoSViolationInd

Indicates that the quality of service agreement has been violated.

3.3 CHANNEL OPERATIONAL STATES

· CLOSED

In this state, there is no channel associated with this CID. This is the only state when a link level connection (Baseband) may not exist. Link disconnection forces all other states into the CLOSED state.

W4_L2CAP_CONNECT_RSP

In this state, the CID represents a local end-point and an L2CAP_ConnectReq message has been sent referencing this endpoint and it is now waiting for the corresponding L2CAP_ConnectRsp message.

W4_L2CA_CONNECT_RSP

In this state, the remote end-point exists and an *L2CAP_ConnectReq* has been received by the local L2CAP entity. An L2CA_ConnectInd has been sent to the upper layer and the part of the local L2CAP entity processing the received *L2CAP_ConnectReq* waits for the corresponding response. The response may require a security check to be performed.

CONFIG

In this state, the connection has been established but both sides are still negotiating the channel parameters. The Configuration state may also be entered when the channel parameters are being renegotiated. Prior to entering the CONFIG state, all outgoing data traffic should be suspended since the traffic parameters of the data traffic are to be renegotiated. Incoming data traffic must be accepted until the remote channel endpoint has entered the CONFIG state.

State Machine

page 266 of 1082

Logical Link Control and Adaptation Protocol Specification

Bluetooth.

In the CONFIG state, both sides must issue L2CAP_ConfigReq messages – if only defaults are being used, a null message should be sent, see Section 5.4 on page 280. If a large amount of parameters need to be negotiated, multiple messages may be sent to avoid any MTU limitations and negotiate incrementally – see Section 6 on page 289 for more details.

Moving from the CONFIG state to the OPEN state requires both sides to be ready. An L2CAP entity is ready when it has received a positive response to its final request and it has positively responded to the final request from the remote device.

OPEN

In this state, the connection has been established and configured, and data flow may proceed.

W4_L2CAP_DISCONNECT_RSP

In this state, the connection is shutting down and an L2CAP_DisconnectReq message has been sent. This state is now waiting for the corresponding response.

W4_L2CA_DISCONNECT_RSP

In this state, the connection on the remote endpoint is shutting down and an L2CAP_DisconnectReq message has been received. An

L2CA_DisconnectInd has been sent to the upper layer to notify the owner of the CID that the remote endpoint is being closed. This state is now waiting for the corresponding response from the upper layer before responding to the remote endpoint.

3.4 MAPPING EVENTS TO ACTIONS

Table 3.1 defines the actions taken in response to events that occur in a particular state. Events that are not listed in the table, nor have actions marked N/C (for no change), are assumed to be errors and silently discarded.

Data input and output events are only defined for the Open and Configuration states. Data may not be received during the initial Configuration state, but may be received when the Configuration state is re-entered due to a reconfiguration process. Data received during any other state should be silently discarded.

266

State Machine

page 267 of 1082

Logical Link Control and Adaptation Protocol Specification

Bluetooth.

Event	Current State	Action	New State
LP_ConnectCfm	CLOSED	Flag physical link as up and initiate the L2CAP connection.	CLOSED
LP_ConnectCfmNeg	CLOSED	Flag physical link as down and fail any outstanding service connection requests by sending an L2CA_ConnectCfmNeg message to the upper layer.	CLOSED
LP_ConnectInd	CLOSED	Flag link as up.	CLOSED
LP_DisconnectInd	CLOSED	Flag link as down.	CLOSED
LP_DisconnectInd	Any except CLOSED	Send upper layer L2CA_DisconnectInd message.	CLOSED
LP_QoSViolationInd	Any but OPEN	Discard	N/C
LP_QoSViolationInd	OPEN	Send upper layer L2CA_QoSViolationInd message. If service level is guaranteed, terminate the channel.	OPEN or W4_L2CA_ DISCONNECT _RSP
L2CAP_ConnectReq	CLOSED. (CID dynamically allo- cated from free pool.)	Send upper layer L2CA_ConnectInd. Option- ally: Send peer L2CAP_ConnectRspPnd	W4_L2CA_ CONNECT_ RSP
L2CAP_ConnectRsp	W4_L2CAP_CON NECT_RSP	Send upper layer L2CA_ConnectCfm mes- sage. Disable RTX timer.	CONFIG
L2CAP_ConnectRsp Pnd	W4_L2CAP_CON NECT_RSP	Send upper layer L2CA_ConnectPnd mes- sage. Disable RTX timer and start ERTX timer.	N/C
L2CAP_ConnectRsp Neg	W4_L2CAP_CON NECT_RSP	Send upper layer L2CA_ConnectCfmNeg message. Return CID to free pool. Disable RTX/ERTX timers.	CLOSED
L2CAP_ConfigReq	CLOSED	Send peer L2CAP_ConfigRspNeg message.	N/C
L2CAP_ConfigReq	CONFIG	Send upper layer L2CA_ConfigInd message.	N/C

Table 3.1: L2CAP Channel State Machine

page 268 of 1082

Logical Link Control and Adaptation Protocol Specification

Bluetooth.

Event	Current State	Action	New State
L2CAP_ConfigReq	OPEN	Suspend data transmission at a convenient point. Send upper layer L2CA_ConfigInd message.	CONFIG
L2CAP_ConfigRsp	CONFIG	Send upper layer L2CA_ConfigCfm message. Disable RTX timer. If an L2CAP_ConfigReq message has been received and positively responded to, then enter OPEN state, otherwise remain in CONFIG state.	N/C or OPEN
L2CAP_ConfigRsp Neg	CONFIG	Send upper layer L2CA_ConfigCfmNeg mes- sage. Disable RTX timer.	N/C
L2CAP_Disconnect Req	CLOSED	Send peer L2CAP_DisconnectRsp message.	N/C
L2CAP_Disconnect Req	Any except CLOSED	Send upper layer L2CA_ DisconnectInd message.	W4_L2CA_ DISCONNECT _RSP
L2CAP_Disconnect Rsp	W4_L2CAP_ DISCONNECT_ RSP	Send upper layer L2CA_DisconnectCfm mes- sage. Disable RTX timer.	CLOSED
L2CAP_Data	OPEN or CONFIG	If complete L2CAP packet received, send upper layer L2CA_Read confirm.	N/C
L2CA_ConnectReq	CLOSED (CID dynamically allocated from free pool)	Send peer LP2CAP_ConnectReq message. Start RTX timer.	W4_L2CAP_ CONNECT_RS P
L2CA_ConnectRsp	W4_L2CA_CONN ECT_RSP	Send peer L2CAP_ ConnectRsp message.	CONFIG
L2CA_ConnectRsp Neg	W4_L2CA_CONN ECT_RSP	Send peer L2CAP_ConnectRspNeg message. Return CID to free pool.	CLOSED
L2CA_ConfigReq	CLOSED	Send upper layer L2CA_ ConfigCfmNeg message.	N/C
L2CA_ConfigReq	CONFIG	Send peer L2CAP_ConfigReq message. Start RTX timer.	N/C

Table 3.1: L2CAP Channel State Machine

L

State Machine

page 269 of 1082

Logical Link Control and Adaptation Protocol Specification

Bluetooth.

Event	Current State	Action	New State
L2CA_ConfigReq	OPEN	Suspend data transmission at a convenient point. Send peer L2CAP_ConfigReq message. Start RTX timer.	CONFIG
L2CA_ConfigRsp	CONFIG	Send peer L2CAP_ConfigRsp message. If all outstanding L2CAP_ConfigReq mes- sages have received posi- tive responses then move in OPEN state. Otherwise, remain in CONFIG state.	N/C or OPEN
L2CA_ConfigRspNeg	CONFIG	Send peer L2CAP_ ConfigRspNeg message.	N/C
L2CA_Disconnect Req	OPEN or CONFIG	Send peer L2CAP_DisconnectReq message. Start RTX timer.	W4_L2CAP_ DISCONNECT _RSP
L2CA_DisconnectRsp	W4_L2CA_ DISCONNECT_ RSP	Send peer L2CAP_DisconnectRsp message. Return CID to free pool.	CLOSED
L2CA_DataRead	OPEN	If payload complete, trans- fer payload to InBuffer.	OPEN
L2CA_DataWrite	OPEN	Send peer L2CAP_Data message.	OPEN
Timer_RTX	Any	Send upper layer L2CA_TimeOutInd message. If final expiration, return CID to free pool else re-send Request.	CLOSED
Timer_ERTX	Any	Send upper layer L2CA_TimeOutInd message. If final expiration, return CID to free pool else re-send Request.	CLOSED

Table 3.1: L2CAP Channel State Machine

Figure 3.3 illustrates a simplified state machine and typical transition path taken by an initiator and acceptor. The state machine shows what events cause state transitions and what actions are also taken while the transitions occur. Not all the events listed in Table 3.1 are included in the simplified State Machine to avoid cluttering the figure.

I

I

Logical Link Control and Adaptation Protocol Specification

Bluetooth.



Figure 3.3: State Machine Example

Figure 3.4 presents another illustration of the events and actions based around the messages sequences being communicated between two devices. In this example, the initiator is creating the first L2CAP channel between two devices. Both sides start in the CLOSED state. After receiving the request from the upper layer, the entity requests the lower layer to establish a physical link. If no physical link exists, LMP commands are used to create the physical link between the devices. Once the physical link is established, L2CAP signals may be sent over it.

Figure 3.4 is an example and not all setup sequences will be identical to the one illustrated below.

270

State Machine

page 271 of 1082

Logical Link Control and Adaptation Protocol Specification

Bluetooth.



Figure 3.4: Message Sequence Chart of Basic Operation

State Machine

29 November 1999

page 272 of 1082

Logical Link Control and Adaptation Protocol Specification

Bluetooth.

4 DATA PACKET FORMAT

L2CAP is packet-based but follows a communication model based on *channels*. A channel represents a data flow between L2CAP entities in remote devices. Channels may be connection-oriented or connectionless. All packet fields use Little Endian byte order.

4.1 CONNECTION-ORIENTED CHANNEL

Figure 4.1 illustrates the format of the L2CAP packet (also referred to as the L2CAP PDU) within a connection-oriented channel.

-	L2CAP Header	
Length	Channel (D	Information (payload)
LSB 16	16	MSB

Figure 4.1: L2CAP Packet (field sizes in bits)

The fields shown are:

Length: 2 octets (16 bits)

Length indicates the size of information payload in bytes, excluding the length of the L2CAP header. The length of an information payload can be up to 65535 bytes. The Length field serves as a simple integrity check of the reassembled L2CAP packet on the receiving end.

Channel ID: 2 octets

The channel ID identifies the destination channel endpoint of the packet. The scope of the channel ID is relative to the device the packet is being sent to.

Information: 0 to 65535 octets

This contains the payload received from the upper layer protocol (outgoing packet), or delivered to the upper layer protocol (incoming packet). The minimum supported MTU for connection-oriented packets (MTU_{cno}) is negotiated during channel configuration (see Section 6.1 on page 289). The minimum supported MTU for the signalling packet (MTU_{sig}) is 48 bytes (see Section 5 on page 275).

272

Data Packet Format

Logical Link Control and Adaptation Protocol Specification

Bluetooth.

4.2 CONNECTIONLESS DATA CHANNEL

In addition to connection-oriented channels, L2CAP also exports the concept of a group-oriented channel. Data sent to the 'group' channel is sent to all members of the group in a best-effort manner. Groups have no quality of service associated with them. Group channels are unreliable; L2CAP makes no guarantee that data sent to the group successfully reaches all members of the group. If reliable group transmission is required, it must be implemented at a higher layer.

Transmissions to a group must be non-exclusively sent to all members of that group. The local device cannot be a member of the group, and higher layer protocols are expected to loopback any data traffic being sent to the local device. Non-exclusive implies non-group members may receive group transmissions and higher level (or link level) encryption can be used to support private communication.



Figure 4.2: Connectionless Packet

The fields shown are:

Length: 2 octets

Length indicates the size of information payload plus the PSM field in bytes, excluding the length of the L2CAP header.

Channel ID: 2 octets

Channel ID (0x0002) reserved for connectionless traffic.

Protocol/Service Multiplexer (PSM): 2 octets (minimum)

The PSM field is based on the ISO 3309 extension mechanism for address fields. All content of the PSM field, referred to as the PSM value, must be ODD, that is, the least significant bit of the least significant octet must be '1'. Also, all PSM values must be assigned such that the least significant bit of the most significant octet equals '0'. This allows the PSM field to be extended beyond 16 bits. The PSM value definitions are specific to L2CAP and assigned by the Bluetooth SIG. For more information on the PSM field see Section 5.2 on page 278.

Data Packet Format

page 274 of 1082

Logical Link Control and Adaptation Protocol Specification

Bluetooth.

Information: 0 to 65533 octets

l

The payload information to be distributed to all members of the group. Implementations must support a minimum connectionless MTU (MTU_{cnl}) of 670 octets, unless explicitly agreed upon otherwise, e.g., for single operation devices that are built to comply to a specific Bluetooth profile that dictates the use of a specific MTU for connectionless traffic that is less than MTU_{cnl}.

The L2CAP group service interface provides basic group management mechanisms including creating a group, adding members to a group, and removing members from a group. There are no pre-defined groups such as 'all radios in range'.

page 275 of 1082

Logical Link Control and Adaptation Protocol Specification

Bluetooth.

5 SIGNALLING

This section describes the signalling commands passed between two L2CAP entities on remote devices. All signalling commands are sent to CID 0x0001. The L2CAP implementation must be able to determine the Bluetooth address (BD_ADDR) of the device that sent the commands. Figure 5.1 illustrates the general format of all L2CAP packets containing signalling commands. Multiple commands may be sent in a single (L2CAP) packet and packets are sent to CID 0x0001. MTU Commands take the form of Requests and Responses. All L2CAP implementations must support the reception of signalling packets whose MTU (MTU_{sig}) does not exceed 48 bytes. L2CAP implementations should not use signalling packets beyond this size without first testing whether the implementation can support larger signalling packets.



Figure 5.1: Signalling Command Packet Format

Figure 5.2 displays the general format of all signalling commands.

LSB	e)//de	a field	-)	- Jugo	MSB
	Code	Identifier	Ler	ngth	
		da	ta		

Figure 5.2: Command format

The fields shown are:

Code: 1 octet

The Code field is one octet long and identifies the type of command. When a packet is received with an unknown Code field, a Command Reject packet (defined in Section 5.1 on page 277) is sent in response.

Up-to-date values of assigned Codes are specified in the latest Bluetooth 'Assigned Numbers' document (page 1009). Table 5.1 on page 276 lists the codes defined by this document. All codes are specified with the most significant bit in the left-most position.

Signalling

page 276 of 1082

Bluetooth

Logical Link Control and Adaptation Protocol Specification

Code	Description	
0x00	RESERVED	
0x01	Command reject	
0x02	Connection request	
0x03	Connection response	
0x04	Configure request	
0x05	Configure response	
0x06	Disconnection request	
0x07	Disconnection response	
0x08	Echo request	
0x09	Echo response	
0x0A	Information request	
0x0B	Information response	

Table 5.1: Signalling Command Codes

Identifier: 1 octet

The Identifier field is one octet long and helps matching a request with the reply. The requesting device sets this field and the responding device uses the same value in its response. A different Identifier must be used for each original command. Identifiers should not be recycled until a period of 360 seconds has elapsed from the initial transmission of the command using the identifier. On the expiration of a RTX or ERTX timer, the same identifier should be used if a duplicate Request is re-sent as stated in Section 3.1.5 on page 262. A device receiving a duplicate request should reply with a duplicate response. A command response with an invalid identifier is silently discarded. Signalling identifier 0x0000 is defined to be an illegal identifier and shall never be used in any command.

Length: 2 octets

The Length field is two octets long and indicates the size in octets of the data field of the command only, i.e., it does not cover the Code, Identifier, and Length fields.

Data: 0 or more octets

The Data field is variable in length and discovered using the Length field. The Code field determines the format of the Data field.

Signalling

Logical Link Control and Adaptation Protocol Specification

Bluetooth.

5.1 COMMAND REJECT (CODE 0x01)

A Command Reject packet is sent in response to a command packet with an unknown command code or when sending the corresponding Response is inappropriate. Figure 5.3 displays the format of the packet. The Identifier should match the Identifier of the packet containing the unidentified code field. Implementations must always send these packets in response to unidentified signalling packets.

When multiple commands are included in an L2CAP packet and the packet exceeds the MTU of the receiver, a single Command Reject packet is sent in response. The identifier should match the first Request command in the L2CAP packet. If only Responses are recognized, the packet shall be silently discarded.

LSB	byteu	byten	bytez	byte3	MSB
-	Code=0x01	Identifier	Ler	ngth	
-	Rea	son	Data (c	ptional)	

Figure 5.3: Command Reject Packet

- Length = 0x0002 or more octets
- Reason: 2 octets

The Reason field describes why the Request packet was rejected.

Reason value	Description	
0x0000	Command not understood	1
0x0001	Signalling MTU exceeded	
0x0002	Invalid CID in request	
Other	Reserved	

Table 5.2: Reason Code Descriptions

Data: 0 or more octets

The length and content of the Data field depends on the Reason code. If the Reason code is 0x0000, "Command not understood", no Data field is used. If the Reason code is 0x0001, "Signalling MTU Exceeded", the 2-octet Data field represents the maximum signalling MTU the sender of this packet can accept.

If a command refers to an invalid channel then the Reason code 0x0002 will be returned. Typically a channel is invalid because it does not exist. A 4-octet data field on the command reject will contain the local (first) and remote (second) channel endpoints (relative to the sender of the Command Reject) of the disputed channel. The latter endpoints are obtained from the corresponding rejected command. If the rejected command contains only one of the channel endpoints, the other one is replaced by the null CID 0x0000.

Signalling

page 278 of 1082

Bluetooth.

Logical Link Control and Adaptation Protocol Specification

Reason value	Data Length	Data value
0x0000	0 octets	N/A
0x0001	2 octets	Actual MTU
0x0002	4 octets	Requested CID

Table 5.3: Reason Data values

5.2 CONNECTION REQUEST (CODE 0x02)

Connection request packets are sent to create a channel between two devices. The channel connection must be established before configuration may begin. Figure 5.4 illustrates a Connection Request packet.

LSB	oyico	Syle i	0,102	0,100	MSB
	Code=0x02	Identifier	Ler	ngth	
1.1	PS	м	Source	e CID	3

Figure 5.4: Connection Request Packet

- Length = 0x0004 or more octets
- Protocol/Service Multiplexor (PSM): 2 octets (minimum)

The PSM field is two octets (minimum) in length. The structure of the PSM field is based on the ISO 3309 extension mechanism for address fields. All PSM values must be ODD, that is, the least significant bit of the least significant octet must be '1'. Also, all PSM values must be assigned such that the least significant bit of the most significant octet equals '0'. This allows the PSM field to be extended beyond 16 bits. PSM values are separated into two ranges. Values in the first range are assigned by the Bluetooth SIG and indicate protocols. The second range of values are dynamically allocated and used in conjunction with the Service Discovery Protocol (SDP). The dynamically assigned values may be used to support multiple implementations of a particular protocol, e.g., RFCOMM, residing on top of L2CAP or for prototyping an experimental protocol.

PSM value	Description
0x0001	Service Discovery Protocol
0x0003	RFCOMM
0x0005	Telephony Control Protocol
<0x1000	RESERVED
[0x1001-0xFFFF]	DYNAMICALLY ASSIGNED

Table 5.4: Defined PSM Values

Signalling

29 November 1999

page 279 of 1082

Logical Link Control and Adaptation Protocol Specification

Bluetooth.

Source CID (SCID): 2 octets

The source local CID is two octets in length and represents a channel endpoint on the device sending the request. Once the channel has been configured, data packets flowing from the sender of the request must be send to this CID. In this section, the Source CID represents the channel endpoint on the device sending the request and receiving the response, while the Destination CID represents the channel endpoint on the device receiving the request and sending the response.

5.3 CONNECTION RESPONSE (CODE 0x03)

When a unit receives a Connection Request packet, it must send a Connection Response packet. The format of the connection response packet is shown in Figure 5.5.

LSB	byteu	byter	Dytez.	bytes	MSB
	Code=0x03	Identifier	Ler	ngth	
	Destinat	ion CID	Source	e CID	-
	Res	sult	Sta	atus	

Figure 5.5: Connection Response Packet

- Length = 0x0008 octets
- Destination Channel Identifier (DCID): 2 octets

The field contains the channel end-point on the device sending this Response packet.

Source Channel Identifier (SCID): 2 octets

The field contains the channel end-point on the device receiving this Response packet.

page 280 of 1082

Logical Link Control and Adaptation Protocol Specification

Bluetooth.

Result: 2 octets

The result field indicates the outcome of the connection request. The result value of 0x0000 indicates success while a non-zero value indicates the connection request failed. A logical channel is established on the receipt of a successful result. Table 5.5 defines values for this field. If the result field is not zero, the DCID and SCID fields should be ignored.

Value	Description
0x0000	Connection successful.
0x0001	Connection pending
0x0002	Connection refused – PSM not supported.
0x0003	Connection refused – security block.
0x0004	Connection refused - no resources available.
Other	Reserved.

Table 5.5: Result values

Status: 2 octets

Only defined for Result = Pending. Indicates the status of the connection.

Value	Description	
0x0000	No further information available	
0x0001	Authentication pending	
0x0002	Authorization pending	
Other	Reserved	

Table 5.6: Status values

5.4 CONFIGURATION REQUEST (CODE 0x04)

Configuration Request packets are sent to establish an initial logical link transmission contract between two L2CAP entities and also to re-negotiate this contract whenever appropriate. During a re-negotiation session, all data traffic on the channel should be suspended pending the outcome of the negotiation. Each configuration parameter in a Configuration Request is related exclusively either with the outgoing or the incoming data traffic but not both of them. In Section 6 on page 289, the various configuration parameters and their relation

to the outgoing or incoming data traffic are presented. If an L2CAP entity receives a Configuration Request while it is waiting for a response it must not block sending the Configuration Response, otherwise the configuration process may deadlock.

If no parameters need to be negotiated, no options need to be inserted and the C-bit should be cleared. L2CAP entities in remote devices MUST negotiate all parameters defined in this document whenever the default values are not

280

29 November 1999

Signalling

page 281 of 1082

Logical Link Control and Adaptation Protocol Specification

Bluetooth.

acceptable. Any missing configuration parameters are assumed to have their most recently (mutually) explicitly or implicitly accepted values. Event if all default values are acceptable, a Configuration Request packet with no options MUST be sent. Implicitly accepted values are any default values for the configuration parameters specified in this document that have not been explicitly negotiated for the specific channel under configuration.

Each configuration parameter is one-directional and relative to the direction implied by the sender of a Configuration Request. If a device needs to establish the value of a configuration parameter in the opposite direction than the one implied by a Configuration Request, a new Configuration Request with the desired value of the configuration parameter in it needs to be sent in the direction opposite the one used for the original Connection Request.

The decision on the amount of time (or messages) spent arbitrating the channel parameters before terminating the negotiation is left to the implementation but it shall not last more than 120 seconds.

LSB	uyieu	bylet	Dyte2	bytes	MSB
11	Code=0x04	Identifier	Ler	ngth	
	Destinat	ion CID	Fla	ags	
	1.5	Opti	ons		

Figure 5.6 defines the format of the Configuration Request packet.

Figure 5.6: Configuration Request Packet

- Length = 0x0004 or more octets
- Destination CID (DCID): 2 octets

The field contains the channel end-point on the device receiving this Request packet.

Flags: 2 octets

Figure 5.7 display the two-octet Flags field. Note the most significant bit is shown on the left.

MSB	LSB
Reser	rved C
1 10.04	

Figure 5.7: Configuration Request Flags field format

C – more configuration requests will follow when set to 1. This flag indicates that the remote device should not enter OPEN state after agreeing to these parameters because more parameter negotiations are being sent. Segment-

Signalling

page 282 of 1082

Logical Link Control and Adaptation Protocol Specification

Bluetooth.

ing the Configuration Request packet is necessary if the parameters exceed the $\mathrm{MTU}_{\mathrm{sig}}$

Other flags are reserved and should be cleared. L2CAP implementations should ignore these bits.

Configuration Options

The list of the parameters and their values to be negotiated. These are defined in Section 6 on page 289. Configuration Requests may contain no options (referred to as an empty or null configuration request) and can be used to request a response. For an empty configuration request the length field is set to 0x0004.

Signalling

page 283 of 1082

Logical Link Control and Adaptation Protocol Specification

Bluetooth.

5.5 CONFIGURE RESPONSE (CODE 0X05)

Configure Response packets MUST be sent in reply to Configuration Request packets. Each configuration parameter value (if any is present) in a Configuration Response reflects an 'adjustment' to a configuration parameter value that has been sent (or, in case of default values, implied) in the corresponding Configuration Request. Thus, for example, if a configuration parameter in a Configuration Request relates to traffic flowing from device A to device B, the sender of the Configuration Response will only adjust (if needed) this value again for the same traffic flowing from device A to device B. The options sent in the Response depend on the value in the Result field. Figure 5.8 defines the format of the Configuration Response packet.

LSB	pyteo	byter	byte2	bytea	MSB
	Code=0x05	Identifier	Ler	ngth	
	Source	e CID	Fla	ogs	
	Res	sult	Co	nfig	

Figure 5.8: Configuration Response Packet

- Length = 0x0006 or more octets
- Source CID (SCID): 2 octets

The field contains the channel end-point on the device receiving this Response packet. The device receiving the Response must check that the Identifier field matches the same field in the corresponding configuration request command and the SCID matches its local CID paired with the original DCID.

Flags: 2 octets

Figure 5.9 displays the two-octet Flags field. Note the most significant bit is shown on the left.

Reserved C

Figure 5.9: Configuration Response Flags field format

C – more configuration responses will follow when set to 1. This flag indicates that the parameters included in the response are a partial subset of parameters being sent by the device sending the Response packet.

Other flags are reserved and should be cleared. L2CAP implementations should ignore these bits.

Signalling

29 November 1999

page 284 of 1082

Logical Link Control and Adaptation Protocol Specification

Bluetooth.

Result: 2 octets

The Result field indicates whether or not the Request was acceptable. See Table 5.7 for possible result codes.

Result	Description
0x0000	Success
0x0001	Failure – unacceptable parameters
0x0002	Failure - rejected (no reason provided)
0x0003	Failure – unknown options
Other	RESERVED

Table 5.7: Configuration Response Result codes

Configuration Options

This field contains the list of parameters being negotiated. These are defined in Section 6 on page 289. On a successful result, these parameters contain the return values for any wild card parameters (see Section 6.3 on page 291) contained in the request.

On an unacceptable parameters failure (Result=0x0001) the rejected parameters should be sent in the response with the values that would have been accepted if sent in the original request. Any missing configuration parameters are assumed to have their most recently (mutually) accepted values and they too can be included in the Configuration Response if need to be changed. Recall that, each configuration parameter is one-directional and relative to the direction implied by the sender of a Configuration Request. Thus, if the sender of the Configuration Response needs to establish the value of a configuration parameter in the opposite direction than the one implied by an original Configuration Request, a new Configuration Request with the desired value of the configuration parameter in it needs to be sent in the direction opposite the one used for the original Connection Request.

On an unknown option failure (Result=0x0003), the option types not understood by the recipient of the Request must be included in the Response. Note that hints (defined in Section 6 on page 289), those options in the Request that are skipped if not understood, must not be included in the Response and must not be the sole cause for rejecting the Request.

The decision on the amount of time (or messages) spent arbitrating the channel parameters before terminating the negotiation is left to the implementation.

Logical Link Control and Adaptation Protocol Specification

Bluetooth.

5.6 DISCONNECTION REQUEST (CODE 0x06)

Terminating an L2CAP channel requires that a disconnection request packet be sent and acknowledged by a disconnection response packet. Disconnection is requested using the signalling channel since all other L2CAP packets sent to the destination channel automatically get passed up to the next protocol layer. Figure 5.10 displays a disconnection packet request. The receiver must ensure both source and destination CIDs match before initiating a connection disconnection. Once a Disconnection Request is issued, all incoming data in transit on this L2CAP channel will be discarded and any new additional outgoing data is not allowed. Once a disconnection request for a channel has been received, all data queued to be sent out on that channel may be discarded.

LSB	byteo	byter	bytez	byte3	MSB
	Code=0x06	Identifier	Ler	ngth	
4.15	Destinat	ion CID	Source	e CID	

Figure 5.10: Disconnection Request Packet

- Length = 0x0004 octets
- Destination CID (DCID): 2 octets

This field specifies the end-point of the channel to be shutdown on the device receiving this request.

Source CID (SCID): 2 octets

This field specifies the end-point of the channel to be shutdown on the device sending this request.

The SCID and DCID are relative to the sender of this request and must match those of the channel to be disconnected. If the DCID is not recognized by the receiver of this message, a CommandReject message with 'invalid CID' result code must be sent in response. If the receivers finds a DCID match but the SCID fails to find the same match, the request should be silently discarded.

Signalling

page 286 of 1082

Logical Link Control and Adaptation Protocol Specification

Bluetooth.

5.7 DISCONNECTION RESPONSE (CODE 0x07)

Disconnection responses should be sent in response to each disconnection request.

LSB	byteo	byter	Dytez	Dyteo	MSB
	Code=0x07	Identifier	Ler	ngth	-
1.1	Destinat	ion CID	Source	e CID	1

Figure 5.11: Disconnection Response Packet

- Length = 0x0004 octets
- Destination CID (DCID): 2 octets

This field identifies the channel end-point on the device sending the response.

Source CID (SCID): 2 octets

This field identifies the channel end-point on the device receiving the response.

The DCID and the SCID (which are relative to the sender of the request), and the Identifier fields must match those of the corresponding disconnection request command. If the CIDs do not match, the response should be silently discarded at the receiver.

5.8 ECHO REQUEST (CODE 0x08)

Echo requests are used to solicit a response from a remote L2CAP entity. These requests may be used for testing the link or passing vendor specific information using the optional data field. L2CAP entities MUST respond to wellformed Echo Request packets with an Echo Response packet. The Data field is optional and implementation-dependent. L2CAP entities should ignore the contents of this field.

LSB			10,000	in the second	MSB
	Code=0x08	Identifier	Ler	ngth	
	Data (optional)				

Figure 5.12: Echo Request Packet

286

Signalling

page 287 of 1082

Logical Link Control and Adaptation Protocol Specification

Bluetooth.

5.9 ECHO RESPONSE (CODE 0x09)

Echo responses are sent upon receiving Echo Request packets. The identifier in the response MUST match the identifier sent in the Request. The optional and implementation-dependent data field may contain the contents of the data field in the Request, different data, or no data at all.

LSB	59.00	U).UI	01.02	by too	MSB
-1	Code=0x09	Identifier	Ler	ngth	
		Data (o	ptional)		

Figure 5.13: Echo Response Packet

5.10 INFORMATION REQUEST (CODE 0X0A)

Information requests are used to solicit implementation-specific information from a remote L2CAP entity. L2CAP entities MUST respond to well-formed Information Request packets with an Information Response packet.

LSB	Dyteo	Dyter	Dytez	DAIRO.	MSB
	Code=0x0A	Identifier	Ler	igth	
	InfoType				-

Figure 5.14: Information Request Packet

- Length = 0x0002 octets
- InfoType: 2 octets

The InfoType defines the type of implementation-specific information being solicited.

Value	Description	
0x0001	Connectionless MTU	
Other	Reserved	

Table 5.8: InfoType definitions

page 288 of 1082

Logical Link Control and Adaptation Protocol Specification

Bluetooth.

5.11 INFORMATION RESPONSE (CODE 0X0B)

Information responses are sent upon receiving Information Request packets. The identifier in the response MUST match the identifier sent in the Request. The optional data field may contain the contents of the data field in the Request, different data, or no data at all.

LSB	Dyteo	Dyter	Dytez	Dyteo	MSB
	Code=0x0B	Identifier	Len	gth	1.1
	InfoType Result				
		Data (o	otional)		1

Figure 5.15: Information Response Packet

InfoType: 2 octets

Same value sent in the request.

Result: 2 octets

The Result contains information about the success of the request. If result is "Success", the data field contains the information as specified in Table 5.10. If result is "Not supported", no data should be returned.

Value	Description	
0x0000	Success	1
0x0001	Not supported	
Other	Reserved	

Table 5.9: Information Response Result values

Data: 0 or more octets

The contents of the Data field depends on the InfoType. For the Connection MTU request, the data field contains the remote entity's 2-octet acceptable connectionless MTU.

InfoType	Data	Data Length (in octets)
0x0001	Connectionless MTU	2

Table 5.10: Information Response Data fields

Signalling
page 289 of 1082

Logical Link Control and Adaptation Protocol Specification

Bluetooth.

6 CONFIGURATION PARAMETER OPTIONS

Options are a mechanism to extend the ability to negotiate different connection requirements. Options are transmitted in the form of information elements comprised an option type, an option length, and one or more option data fields. Figure 6.1 illustrates the format of an option.

LSB			MSB
type	length	optio	n data
byte 0	byte 1	byte 2	byte 3

Figure 6.1: Configuration option format

Type: 1 octet

The option type field defines the parameters being configured. The most significant bit of the type determines the action taken if the option is not recognized. The semantics assigned to the bit are defined below.

- 0 option must be recognized; refuse the configuration request
- 1 option is a hint; skip the option and continue processing
- Length: 1 octet

The length field defines the number of octets in the option payload. So an option type with no payload has a length of 0.

Option data

The contents of this field are dependent on the option type.

6.1 MAXIMUM TRANSMISSION UNIT (MTU)

This option specifies the payload size the sender is capable of accepting. The type is 0x01, and the payload length is 2 bytes, carrying the two-octet MTU size value as the only information element (see Figure 6.2 on page 290).

Since all L2CAP implementations are capable to support a minimum L2CAP packet size, see Section 4 on page 272, MTU is not really a negotiated value but rather an informational parameter to the remote device that the local device can accommodate in this channel an MTU larger than the minimum required. In the unlikely case that the remote device is only willing to send L2CAP packets in this channel that are larger than the MTU announced by the local device, then this Configuration Request will receive a negative response in which the remote device will include the value of MTU that is indented to transmit. In this case, it is implementation specific on whether the local device will continue the configuration process or even maintain this channel.

The remote device in its positive Configuration Response will include the actual MTU to be used on this channel for traffic flowing into the local device which is

Configuration Parameter Options

page 290 of 1082

Logical Link Control and Adaptation Protocol Specification

Bluetooth.

minimum{ MTU in configReq, outgoing MTU capability of remote device }. The MTU to be used on this channel but for the traffic flowing in the opposite direction will be established when the remote device (with respect to this discussion) sends its own Configuration Request as explained in Section 5.4 on page 280.

type=0x01	length=2	MTU

Figure 6.2: MTU Option Format

Maximum Transmission Unit (MTU) Size: 2 octets

The MTU field represents the largest L2CAP packet payload, in bytes, that the originator of the Request can accept for that channel. The MTU is asymmetric and the sender of the Request shall specify the MTU it can receive on this channel if it differs from the default value. L2CAP implementations must support a minimum MTU size of 48 bytes. The default value is 672 bytes¹.

6.2 FLUSH TIMEOUT OPTION

This option is used to inform the recipient of the amount of time the originator's link controller / link manager will attempt to successfully transmit an L2CAP segment before giving up and flushing the packet. The type is 0x02 and the payload size is 2 octets.

	1	
type=0x02	length=2	Flush Timeout

Figure 6.3: Flush Timeout

Flush Timeout

This value represents units of time measured in milliseconds. The value of 1 implies no retransmissions at the Baseband level should be performed since the minimum polling interval is 1.25 ms. The value of all 1's indicates an infinite amount of retransmissions. This is also referred to as 'reliable channel'. In this case, the link manager shall continue retransmitting a segment until physical link loss occurs. This is an asymmetric value and the sender of the Request shall specify its flush timeout value if it differs from the default value of 0xFFFF.

^{1.} The default MTU was selected based on the payload carried by two Baseband DH5 packets (2*341=682) minus the Baseband ACL headers (2*2=4) and L2CAP header (6).

page 291 of 1082

Logical Link Control and Adaptation Protocol Specification

Bluetooth.

6.3 QUALITY OF SERVICE (QOS) OPTION

This option specifies a flow specification (flowSpec) similar to RFC 1363 [1]. If no QoS configuration parameter is negotiated the link should assume the default parameters discussed below. The QoS option is type 0x03.

When included in a Configuration Request, this option describes the outgoing traffic flow from the device sending the request to the device receiving it. When included in a positive Configuration Response, this option describes the incoming traffic flow agreement as seen from the device sending the response. When included in a negative Configuration Response, this option describes the pre-ferred incoming traffic flow from the perspective of the device sending the response.

L2CAP implementations are only required to support 'Best Effort' service, support for any other service type is optional. Best Effort does not require any guarantees. If no QoS option is placed in the request, Best Effort must be assumed. If any QoS guarantees are required then a QoS configuration request must be sent.

The remote device places information that depends on the value of the result field, see Section 5.5 on page 283, in its Configuration Response. If the request was for Guaranteed Service, the response shall include specific values for any wild card parameters (see Token Rate and Token Bucket Size descriptions) contained in the request. If the result is "Failure – unacceptable parameters", the response may include a list of outgoing flowspec parameters and parameter values that would make a new Connection Request from the local device acceptable by the remote device. Both explicitly referenced in a Configuration Request or implied configuration parameters can be included in a Configuration Response. Recall that any missing configuration parameters from a Configuration Request are assumed to have their most recently (mutually) accepted values. For both Best effort and Guaranteed service, when the QoS option appears in the Configuration Request.

0x03	length=22	Flags	service type
	Token	Rate	
-	Token Bucket	Size (byte:	s)
F	eak Bandwidth	(bytes/sec	ond)
	Latency (mic	roseconds))
T	Delay Variation (microseco	nds)

Figure 6.4: Quality of Service Flow Specification

Configuration Parameter Options

29 November 1999

page 292 of 1082

Logical Link Control and Adaptation Protocol Specification

Bluetooth.

Flags: 1 octet

Reserved for future use and must be set to 0.

Service Type: 1 octet

This field indicates the level of service required. Table 6.1 defines the different services available. If 'No traffic' is selected, the remainder of the fields may be ignored because there is no data being sent across the channel in the outgoing direction.

If 'Best effort', the default value, is selected, the remaining fields should be treated as hints by the remote device. The remote device may choose to ignore the fields, try to satisfy the hint but provide no response (QoS option omitted in the Response message), or respond with the settings it will try to meet.

Value	Description		
0x00	No traffic		
0x01	Best effort (Default)		
0x02	Guaranteed		
Other	Reserved		

Table 6.1: Service type definitions

Token Rate: 4 octets

The value of this field represents the rate at which traffic credits are granted in bytes per second. An application may send data at this rate continuously. Burst data may be sent up to the token bucket size (see below). Until that data burst has been drained, an application must limit itself to the token rate. The value 0x00000000 indicates no token rate is specified. This is the default value and implies indifference to token rate. The value 0xFFFFFFF represents a wild card matching the maximum token rate available. The meaning of this value depends on the semantics associated with the service type. For best effort, the value is a hint that the application wants as much bandwidth available at the time of the request.

Token Bucket Size: 4 octets

The value of this field represents the size of the token bucket in bytes. If the bucket is full, then applications must either wait or discard data. The value of 0x00000000 represents no token bucket is needed; this is the default value. The value 0xFFFFFFFF represents a wild card matching the maximum token bucket available. The meaning of this value depends on the semantics associated with the service type. For best effort, the value indicates the application wants a bucket as big as possible. For Guaranteed service the value represents the maximum buffer space available at the time of the request.

Peak Bandwidth: 4 octets

Configuration Parameter Options

page 293 of 1082

Logical Link Control and Adaptation Protocol Specification

Bluetooth.

The value of this field, expressed in bytes per second, limits how fast packets may be sent back-to-back from applications. Some intermediate systems can take advantage of this information, resulting in more efficient resource allocation. The value of 0x00000000 states that the maximum bandwidth is unknown, which is the default value.

Latency: 4 octets

The value of this field represents the maximum acceptable delay between transmission of a bit by the sender and its initial transmission over the air, expressed in microseconds. The precise interpretation of this number depends on the level of guarantee specified in the Class of Service. The value 0xFFFFFFFF represents a do not care and is the default value.

Delay Variation: 4 octets

The value of this field is the difference, in microseconds, between the maximum and minimum possible delay that a packet will experience. This value is used by applications to determine the amount of buffer space needed at the receiving side in order to restore the original data transmission pattern. The value 0xFFFFFFFF represents a do not care and is the default value.

6.4 CONFIGURATION PROCESS

Negotiating the channel parameters involves three steps:

- Informing the remote side of the non-default parameters that the local side will accept
- 2. Having the remote side agreeing or disagreeing to these values (including the default ones); steps (1) and (2) may iterate as needed
- Repeat steps (1) and (2) for the reverse direction from the (previous) remote side to the (previous) local side.

This process can be abstracted into a Request negotiation path and a Response negotiation path.

6.4.1 Request Path

The Request Path negotiates the incoming MTU, flush timeout, and outgoing flowspec. Table 6.2 defines the configuration options that may be placed in the Configuration Request message and their semantics.

Parameter	Description	
MTU	Incoming MTU information	
FlushTO	Outgoing flush timeout	
OutFlow	Outgoing flow information.	

Table 6.2: Parameters allowed in Request

Configuration Parameter Options

29 November 1999

page 294 of 1082

Logical Link Control and Adaptation Protocol Specification

Bluetooth.

6.4.2 Response Path

The Response Path negotiates the outgoing MTU (remote side's incoming MTU), the remote side's flush timeout, and incoming flowspec (remote side's outgoing flowspec). If a request-oriented parameter is not present in the Request message (reverts to default value), the remote side may negotiate for a non-default value by including the proposed value in a negative Response message.

Parameter	Description	
MTU	Outgoing MTU information	
FlushTO	Incoming flush timeout	
InFlow	Incoming flow information	

Table 6.3: Parameters allowed in Response

6.4.3 Configuration State Machine

The configuration state machine shown below depicts two paths. Before leaving the CONFIG state and moving into the OPEN state, both paths must reach closure. The request path requires the local device to receive a positive response to reach closure while the response path requires the local device to send a positive response to reach closure.



Figure 6.5: Configuration State Machine

"Appendix A: Configuration MSCs" on page 318 provides some configuration examples.

page 295 of 1082

Logical Link Control and Adaptation Protocol Specification

Bluetooth.

7 SERVICE PRIMITIVES

This section presents an abstract description of the services offered by L2CAP in terms of service primitives and parameters. The service interface is required for testing. The interface is described independently of any platform specific implementation. All data values use Little Endian byte ordering.

7.1 EVENT INDICATION

Description:

The use of this primitive requests a callback when the selected indication Event occurs.

Input Parameters:

Event	Type: uint	Size: 2 octets
Value	Description	
0x00	Reserved	
0x01	L2CA_ConnectInd	
0x02	L2CA_ConfigInd	
0x03	L2CA_DisconnectInd	
0x04	L2CA_QoSViolationInd	
other	Reserved for future use	-

Callback	Type: function	Size: N/A
Event	Callback Function Input Parameters	
L2CA_ConnectInd	BD_ADDR, CID, PSM, Identifier	
L2CA_ConfigInd	CID, OutMTU, InFlow, InFlushTO	
L2CA_DisconnectInd	CID	
L2CA_QoSViolationInd	BD_ADDR	

Output Parameters:

Result	Type: uint	Size: 2 octets
Value	Description	
0x0000	Event successfully registered	
0x0001	Event registration failed	

Service Primitives

29 November 1999

page 296 of 1082

Logical Link Control and Adaptation Protocol Specification

Bluetooth.

7.1.1 L2CA_ConnectInd Caliback

This callback function includes the parameters for the address of the remote device that issued the connection request, the local CID representing the channel being requested, the Identifier contained in the request, and the PSM value the request is targeting.

7.1.2 L2CA_ConfigInd Callback

This callback function includes the parameters indicating the local CID of the channel the request has been sent to, the outgoing MTU size (maximum packet that can be sent across the channel) and the flowspec describing the characteristics of the incoming data. All other channel parameters are set to their default values if not provided by the remote device.

7.1.3 L2CA_DisconnectInd Callback

This callback function includes the parameter indicating the local CID the request has been sent to.

7.1.4 L2CA_QoSViolationInd Callback

This callback function includes the parameter indicating the address of the remote Bluetooth device where the QoS contract has been violated.

7.2 CONNECT

Service	Input Parameters	Output Parameters
L2CA_ConnectReq	PSM, BD_ADDR	LCID, Result, Status

Description:

This primitive initiates the sending of an L2CA_ConnectReq message and blocks until a corresponding L2CA_ConnectCfm(Neg) or L2CA_TimeOutInd message is received.

The use of this primitive requests the creation of a channel representing a logical connection to a physical address. Input parameters are the target protocol (*PSM*) and remote device's 48-bit address (*BD_ADDR*). Output parameters are the local CID (*LCID*) allocated by the local L2CAP entity, and *Result* of the request. If the *Result* indicates success, the *LCID* value contains the identification of the local endpoint. Otherwise the *LCID* returned should be set to 0. If *Result* indicates a pending notification, the *Status* value may contain more information of what processing is delaying the establishment of the connection. Otherwise the *Status* value should be ignored.

page 297 of 1082

Logical Link Control and Adaptation Protocol Specification

Bluetooth.

Input Parameters:

PSM	Type: uint	Size: 2 octets
Value	Description	
0xXXXX	Target PSM provided for the connection	

BD_ADDR Type: unit Size: 6 octets

Value	Description
0xXXXXXXXXXXXXXX	Unique Bluetooth address of target device

Output Parameters:

LCID	Type: uint	Size: 2 octets
Value	Description	
0xXXXX Channel ID representing local end-point of the commu Result = 0x0000, otherwise set to 0.		nmunication channel if

Result Type: uint Size: 2 octets

Value	Description
0x0000	Connection successful and the CID identifies the local endpoint. Ignore Status parameter
0x0001	Connection pending. Check Status parameter for more information
0x0002	Connection refused because no service for the PSM has been registered
0x0003	Connection refused because the security architecture on the remote side has denied the request
0×EEEE	Connection timeout occurred. This is a result of a timer expiration indication being included in the connection confirm message

Status Type: uint

Size: 2 octets

Value	Description	
0x0000	No further information	
0x0001	Authentication pending	
0x0002	Authorization pending	

page 298 of 1082

Logical Link Control and Adaptation Protocol Specification

Bluetooth.

7.3 CONNECT RESPONSE

Service	Input Parameters	Output Parameters
L2CA_ConnectRsp	BD_ADDR, Identifier, LCID, Response, Status	Result

Description:

н

This primitive represents the L2CA_ConnectRsp.

The use of this primitive issues a response to a connection request event indication. Input parameters are the remote device's 48-bit address, Identifier sent in the request, local CID, the Response code, and the Status attached to the Response code. The output parameter is the Result of the service request.

This primitive must be called no more than once after receiving the callback indication. This primitive returns once the local L2CAP entity has validated the request. A successful return does indicate the response has been sent over the air interface.

Input Parameters:

BD_ADDR		Type: unit	Size: 6 octets
Value		Description	
0xXXXXXXX	xxxxx	Unique Bluetooth address of target dev	vice
Identifier		Type: uint	Size: 1 octets
Value Description		ption	
0xXX.	This value must match the value received in the L2CA_ConnectInd even described in Section 7.1.1 on page 296		L2CA_Connectind event
LCID		Type: uint	Size: 2 octets
Value	Description		
0xXXXX	Channel ID representing local end-point of the co		ommunication channel
Response		Type: uint	Size: 2 octets
Value Description		ption	hard the second
0x0000	Connection successful		
0x0001	0x0001 Connection pending		
0x0002	Connection refused – PSM not supported		
0x0003	Connection refused - security block		
0x0004	4 Connection refused – no resources available		0
0xXXXX	XX Other connection response code		

298

29 November 1999

page 299 of 1082

Logical Link Control and Adaptation Protocol Specification

Bluetooth.

Type: uint		Size: 2 octets
		19. ° A.

Value	Description
0x0000	No further information available
0x0001	Authentication pending
0x0002	Authorization pending
0xXXXX	Other status code

Output Parameters:

Status

Result	Type: uint	Size: 2 octets
Value	Description	
0x0000	Response successfully sent	
0x0001	Failure to match any outstanding connection request	

7.4 CONFIGURE

Service	Input Parameters	Output Parameters
L2CA_ConfigReq	CID, InMTU, OutFlow, OutFlushTO, LinkTO	Result, InMTU, OutFlow, OutFlushTO

Description:

This primitive initiates the sending of an L2CA_ConfigReq message and blocks until a corresponding L2CA_ConfigCfm(Neg) or L2CA_TimeOutInd message is received.

The use of this primitive requests the initial configuration (or reconfiguration) of a channel to a new set of channel parameters. Input parameters are the local CID endpoint, new incoming receivable MTU (InMTU), new outgoing flow specification, and flush and link timeouts. Output parameters composing the L2CA_ConfigCfm(Neg) message are the Result, accepted incoming MTU(InMTU), the remote side's flow requests, and flush and link timeouts. Note that the output results are returned only after the local L2CAP entity transitions out of the CONFIG state (even if this transition is back to the CONFIG state).

Input Parameters:

CID	Type: uint	Size: 2 octets
Value	Description	
0xXXXX	Local CID	

page 300 of 1082

Bluetooth.

Logical Link Control and Adaptation Protocol Specification

InMTU

InMTU	Type: uint	Size: 2 octets
Value	Description	
0xXXXX	Maximum transmission unit this channel can accept	

OutFlow

Type: Flow

Size: x octets

Value	Description
flowspec	Quality of service parameters dealing with the traffic characteristics of the outgoing data flow

OutFlushTO

L

Size 2 octets

Value	Description
0xXXXX	Number of milliseconds to wait before an L2CAP packet that cannot be acknowledged at the physical layer is dropped
0x0000	Request to use the existing flush timeout value if one exists, otherwise the default value (0xFFFF) will be used
0x0001	Perform no retransmissions at the Baseband layer
OXFFFF	Perform retransmission at the Baseband layer until the link timeout termi- nates the channel

LinkTO

Size 2 octets

Value	Description	
0xXXXX	Number of milliseconds to wait before terminating an unresponsive link	

Output Parameters:

Result

Size 2 octets

Value	Description	
0x0000	Configuration is successful. Parameters contain agreed upon values	
0x0001	Failure – invalid CID	
0x0002	Failure – unacceptable parameters	
0x0003	Failure – signalling MTU exceeded	
0x0004	Failure – unknown options	
0xEEEE	Configuration timeout occurred. This is a result of a timer expiration indica- tion being included in the configuration confirm	

Size 2 octets

Value	Description
0xXXXX	Maximum transmission unit that the remote unit will send across this channel (maybe less or equal to the InMTU input parameter).

300

InMTU

29 November 1999

page 301 of 1082

Logical Link Control and Adaptation Protocol Specification

Bluetooth.

Size 2 octets

OutFlow

Value	Description
FlowSpec	Quality of service parameters dealing with the traffic characteristics of the agreed-upon outgoing data flow if Result is successful. Otherwise this represents the requested Quality of Service

OutFlushTO

Size 2 octets

Value	Description
0xXXXX	Number of milliseconds before an L2CAP packet that cannot be acknowl- edged at the physical layer is dropped. This value is informative of the actual value that will be used for outgoing packets. It may be less or equal to the OutFlushTO parameter given as input.

7.5 CONFIGURATION RESPONSE

Service	Input Parameters	Output Parameters
L2CA_ConfigRsp	CID, OutMTU, InFlow	Result

Description:

This primitive represents the L2CAP_ConfigRsp.

The use of this primitive issues a response to a configuration request event indication. Input parameters include the local CID of the endpoint being configured, outgoing transmit MTU (which may be equal or less to the OutMTU parameter in the L2CA_ConfigInd event) and the accepted flowspec for incoming traffic. The output parameter is the Result value.

Input Parameters:

LCID		Type: uint	Size: 2 octets
Value	Description		
0xXXXX	Local channel identi	fier	
OutMTU		Type: uint	Size: 2 octets
Value	Description	1. 1. 1. T. T. T.	
0xXXXX	Maximum transmiss	ion unit this channel will sen	d
InFlow		Type: Flow	Size: x octets
Value	Description		
FlowSpec	Quality of service pa incoming data flow	rameters dealing with the tra	affic characteristics of the

Service Primitives

page 302 of 1082

Logical Link Control and Adaptation Protocol Specification

Bluetooth.

Output Parameters:

Result

Size 2 octets

Value	Description	
0x0000	Configuration is successful. Parameters contain agreed upon values	
0x0001	Configuration failed – unacceptable parameters	
0x0002	Configuration failed - rejected	
0x0003	Configuration failed – invalid CID	
0x0004	Configuration failed – unknown options	
0xXXXX	Reserved	

7.6 DISCONNECT

Service	Input Parameters	Output Parameters
L2CA_DisconnectReq	CID	Result

Description:

This primitive represents the L2CAP_DisconnectReq and the returned output parameters represent the corresponding L2CAP_DisconnectRsp or the RTX timer expiration.

The use of this primitive requests the disconnection of the channel. Input parameter is the *CID* representing the local channel endpoint. Output parameter is *Result*. *Result* is zero if a L2CAP_DisconnectRsp is received, otherwise a non-zero value is returned. Once disconnection has been requested, no process will be able to successfully read or write from the CID. Writes in progress should continue to be processed.

Input Parameters:

CID	Type: uint	Size: 2 octets
Value	Description	
0xXXXX	Channel ID representing local end-point of the co	mmunication channel

Output Parameters:

Result	Type: uint	Size: 2 octets
Value	Description	
0x0000	Disconnection successful. This is a result of the re- response message	ceipt of a disconnection
0xEEEE	Disconnection timeout occurred.	

302

ı

29 November 1999

page 303 of 1082

Logical Link Control and Adaptation Protocol Specification

Bluetooth.

7.7 WRITE

ervice	Input Parameters	Output Parameters
2CA DataWrite	CID, Length, OutBuffer	Size, Result

Description:

1

The use of this primitive requests the transfer of data across the channel. If the length of the data exceeds the OutMTU then only the first OutMTU bytes are sent This command may be used for both connection-oriented and connection-less traffic.

Input Parameters:

CID	Type: uint	Size: 2 octets
Value	Description	
0xXXXX	Channel ID representing local end-point of the c	communication channel
Length	Type: uint	Size: 2 octets
Value	Decorintion	States Street 1

value	Description	
0xXXXX	Size, in bytes, of the buffer where data to be transmitted are stored	

OutBuffer	Type: pointer	Size: N/A
Value	Description	
N/A	Address of the input buffer used to store the message	

Output Parameters:

Size	Type: uint	Size: 2 octets
Value	Description	
0xXXXX	The number of bytes transferred	

Result

Type: uint

Size: 2 octets

6.7296.500C		2
Value	Description	
0x0000	Successful write	
0x0001	Error – Flush timeout expired	
0x0002	Error - Link termination (perhaps this should be left to the indication)	

page 304 of 1082

Bluetooth.

Logical Link Control and Adaptation Protocol Specification

7.8 READ

Service	Input Parameters	Output Parameters	
L2CA_DataRead	CID, Length, InBuffer	Result, N	j

Description:

The use of this primitive requests for the reception of data. This request returns when data is available or the link is terminated. The data returned represents a single L2CAP payload. If not enough data is available, the command will block until the data arrives or the link is terminated. If the payload is bigger than the buffer, only the portion of the payload that fits into the buffer will be returned, and the remainder of the payload will be discarded. This command may be used for both connection-oriented and connectionless traffic.

Input Parameters:

CID	Type: uint	Size: 2 octets
Value	Description	
0xXXXX	CID	
Length	Type: uint	Size: 2 octets
Value	Description	
0xXXXX	Size, in bytes, of the buffer where received data a	are to be stored
InBuffer	Type: pointer	Size: N/A

Value	Description
N/A	Address of the buffer used to store the message

Output parameters:

Result

Value	Description	
0x0000	Success	
N	Type: uint	Size: 2 octets

Value	Description
0xXXXX	Number of bytes transferred to InBuffer

page 305 of 1082

Logical Link Control and Adaptation Protocol Specification

Bluetooth.

7.9 GROUP CREATE

Service	Input Parameters	Output Parameters
L2CA_GroupCreate	PSM	CID

Description:

The use of this primitive requests the creation of a CID to represent a logical connection to multiple devices. Input parameter is the *PSM* value that the outgoing connectionless traffic is labelled with, and the filter used for incoming traffic. Output parameter is the *CID* representing the local endpoint. On creation, the group is empty but incoming traffic destined for the PSM value is readable.

Input Parameters:

PSM	Type: uint	Size: 2 octets
Value	Description	
0xXXXX	Protocol/service multiplexer value	

Output Parameters:

CID	Type: uint	Size: 2 octets
Value	Description	
0xXXXX	Channel ID representing local end-point of the communication channel	

7.10 GROUP CLOSE

Service	Input Parameters	Output Parameters
L2CA_GroupClose	CID	Result

Description:

The use of this primitive closes down a Group.

Input Parameters:

CID	Type: uint	Size: 2 octets
Value	Description	
0xXXXX	Channel ID representing local end-point of the communication channel	

page 306 of 1082

Logical Link Control and Adaptation Protocol Specification

Bluetooth.

Output Parameters:

Result	Type: uint	Size: 2 octets
Value	Description	
0x0000	Successful closure of the channel	
0x0001	Invalid CID	

7.11 GROUP ADD MEMBER

Service	Input Parameters	Output Parameters
L2CA_GroupAddMember	CID, BD_ADDR	Result

Description:

The use of this primitive requests the addition of a member to a group. The input parameter includes the CID representing the group and the BD_ADDR of the group member to be added. The output parameter Result confirms the success or failure of the request.

Input Parameters:

CID	Type: uint	Size: 2 octets
Value	Description	
0xXXXX	Channel ID representing local end-point of the commun	nication channel

L

BD_ADDR	Type: uint	Size: 6 octets
Value	Description	
0xXXXXXXXXXXXXXXX	Remote device address	

Output Parameters:

Result	Type: uint	Size: 2 octets
Value	Description	
0x0000	Success	
0x0001	Failure to establish connection to remote device	
Other	Reserved	

page 307 of 1082

Logical Link Control and Adaptation Protocol Specification

Bluetooth.

7.12 GROUP REMOVE MEMBER

Service	Input Parameters	Output Parameters
L2CA_GroupRemoveMember	CID, BD_ADDR	Result

Description:

The use of this primitive requests the removal of a member from a group. The input parameters include the CID representing the group and BD_ADDR of the group member to be removed. The output parameter Result confirms the success or failure of the request.

Input Parameters:

CID	Type: uint	Size: 2 octets
Value	Description	
0xXXXX	Channel ID representing local end-point of the c	ommunication channel
BD_ADDR	Type: uint	Size: 6 octets

Value	Description
0xXXXXXXXXXXXXXXX	Unique Bluetooth address device to be removed

Output Parameters:

Result	Type: uint	Size: 2 octets
Value	Description	
0x0000	Success	
0x0001	Failure - device not a member of the group	
Other	Reserved	

page 308 of 1082

Logical Link Control and Adaptation Protocol Specification

Bluetooth.

7.13 GET GROUP MEMBERSHIP

Service	Input Parameters	Output Parameters
L2CA_GroupMembership	CID	Result, N, BD_ADDR_Lst

Description:

The use of this primitive requests a report of the members of a group. The input parameter CID represents the group being queried. The output parameter Result confirms the success or failure of the operation. If the Result is successful, BD_ADDR_Lst is a list of the Bluetooth addresses of the N members of the group.

Input Parameters:

CID	Type: uint	Size: 2 octets
Value	Description	
0xXXXX	DxXXXX Channel ID representing local end-point of the communication channel	

Output Parameters:

Result	Type: uint	Size: 2 octets
Value	Description	
0x0000	Success	
0x0001	Failure – group does not exist	
Other	Reserved	

N

Type: uint

Value	Description
0x0000-0xFFFF	The number of devices in the group identified by the channel end- point CID. If Result indicates failure, N should be set to 0

BD_ADDR_List

Type: pointer

Size: N/A

Size: 2 octets

Value	Description
0xXXXXXXXXXXXXXX	List of N unique Bluetooth addresses of the devices in the group identified by the channel end-point CID. If Result indicates failure, the all-zero address is the only address that should be returned

page 309 of 1082

Logical Link Control and Adaptation Protocol Specification

Bluetooth.

7.14 PING

Service	Input Parameters	Output Parameters
L2CA_Ping	BD_ADDR, ECHO_DATA, Length	Result, ECHO_DATA, Size

Description:

This primitive represents the initiation of an L2CA_EchoReq command and the reception of the corresponding L2CA_EchoRsp command.

Input Parameters:

BD_ADDR	Type: uint	Size: 6 octets
Value	Description	
0xXXXXXXXXXXXXX	Unique Bluetooth address of target device	ce.
ECHO_DATA	Type: pointer	Size: N/A
Value	Description	
N/A	The buffer containing the contents to be payload of the Echo Request command.	transmitted in the data
Length	Type: uint	Size: 2 octets
Value	Description	
0xXXXX	Size, in bytes, of the data in the buffer.	
Result Value	Type: uint Description	Size: 2 octets
	Description	
0x0001	Timeout occurred.	
ECHO_DATA	Type: pointer	Size: N/A
Value	Description	
N/A	The buffer containing the contents receive the Echo Response command.	ved in the data payload of
Size	Type: uint	Size: 2 octets
Value	Description	
OvXXXX	Size in bytes of the data in the buffer	

Service Primitives

page 310 of 1082

Bluetooth.

Logical Link Control and Adaptation Protocol Specification

7.15 GETINFO

Service	Input Parameters	Output Parameters	
L2CA_GetInfo	BD_ADDR, InfoType	Result, InfoData, Size	

Description:

ł

This primitive represents the initiation of an L2CA_InfoReq command and the reception of the corresponding L2CA_InfoRsp command.

Input Parameters:

BD_ADDR	Type: unit	Size: 6 octets
Value	Description	
0xXXXXXXXXXXXXXX	Unique Bluetooth address of target device	

InfoType	Type: unit	Size: 2 octets
Value	Description	
0x0001	Maximum connectionless MTU size	

Output Parameters:

Result	Type: uint	Size: 2 octets
Value	Description	
0x0000	Response received	
0x0001	Not supported	
0x0002	Informational PDU rejected, not supported by reme	ote device
0x0003	Timeout occurred	

InfoData

Type: pointer

 Value
 Description

 N/A
 The buffer containing the contents received in the data payload of the Information Response command.

 Size
 Type: uint
 Size: 2 octets

 Value
 Description

 0xXXXX
 Size, in bytes, of the data in the InfoData buffer.

I

Service Primitives

Size: N/A

page 311 of 1082

Logical Link Control and Adaptation Protocol Specification

Bluetooth.

7.16 DISABLE CONNECTIONLESS TRAFFIC

Service	Input Parameters	Output Parameters
L2CA_DisableCLT	PSM	Result

Description:

General request to disable the reception of connectionless packets. The input parameter is the *PSM* value indicating service that should be blocked. This command may be used to incrementally disable a set of PSM values. The use of the 'invalid' PSM 0x0000 blocks all connectionless traffic. The output parameter *Result* indicates the success or failure of the command. A limited device might support only general blocking rather than PSM-specific blocks and would fail to block a single non-zero PSM value.

Input Parameters:

PSM	Type: uint	Size: 2 octets
Value	Description	
0x0000	Block all connectionless traffic	
0xXXXX	Protocol/Service Multiplexer field to be blocked	

Output Parameters:

Result	Type: uint	Size: 2 octets
Value	Description	
0x0000	Successful	
0x0001	Failure – not supported	

page 312 of 1082

Logical Link Control and Adaptation Protocol Specification

Bluetooth.

7.17 ENABLE CONNECTIONLESS TRAFFIC

Service	Input Parameters	Output Parameters
L2CA_EnableCLT	PSM	Result

Description:

ł

1

I

General request to enable the reception of connectionless packets. The input parameter is the *PSM* value indicating the service that should be unblocked. This command may be used to incrementally enable a set of PSM values. The use of the 'invalid' PSM 0x0000 enables all connectionless traffic. The output parameter *Result* indicates the success or failure of the command. A limited device might support only general enabling rather than PSM-specific filters, and would fail to enable a single non-zero PSM value.

Input Parameters:

PSM	Type: uint	Size: 2 octets
Value	Description	
0x0000	Enable all connectionless traffic	
0xXXXX	Protocol/Service Multiplexer field to enable	

Output Parameters:

Result	Type: uint	Size: 2 octets
Value	Description	
0x0000	Successful	
0x0001	Failure – not supported	

page 313 of 1082

Logical Link Control and Adaptation Protocol Specification

Bluetooth.

8 SUMMARY

The Logical Link Control and Adaptation Protocol (L2CAP) is one of two link level protocols running over the Baseband. L2CAP is responsible for higher level protocol multiplexing, MTU abstraction, group management, and conveying quality of service information to the link level.

Protocol multiplexing is supported by defining channels. Each channel is bound to a single protocol in a many-to-one fashion. Multiple channels can be bound to the same protocol, but a channel cannot be bound to multiple protocols. Each L2CAP packet received on a channel is directed to the appropriate higher level protocol.

L2CAP abstracts the variable-sized packets used by the Baseband Protocol (page 33). It supports large packet sizes up to 64 kilobytes using a low-overhead segmentation-and-reassembly mechanism.

Group management provides the abstraction of a group of units allowing more efficient mapping between groups and members of the Bluetooth piconet. Group communication is connectionless and unreliable. When composed of only a pair of units, groups provide connectionless channel alternative to L2CAP's connection-oriented channel.

L2CAP conveys QoS information across channels and provides some admission control to prevent additional channels from violating existing QoS contracts.

Summary

29 November 1999

page 314 of 1082

Logical Link Control and Adaptation Protocol Specification

Bluetooth.

9 REFERENCES

 Internet Engineering Task Force, "A Proposed Flow Specification", RFC 1363, September 1992.

314

29 November 1999

References

page 315 of 1082

Logical Link Control and Adaptation Protocol Specification

Bluetooth.

10 LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.1:	L2CAP within protocol layers
Figure 1.2:	ACL Payload Header for single-slot packets
Figure 1.3:	ACL Payload Header for multi-slot packets
Figure 1.4:	L2CAP in Bluetooth Protocol Architecture
Figure 2.1:	Channels between devices
Figure 2.2:	L2CAP Architecture
Figure 2.3:	L2CAP SAR Variables
Figure 2.4:	L2CAP segmentation
Figure 2.5:	Segmentation and Reassembly Services in a unit
	with an HCI
Figure 3.1:	L2CAP Layer Interactions
Figure 3.2:	MSC of Layer Interactions
Figure 3.3:	State Machine Example
Figure 3.4:	Message Sequence Chart of Basic Operation
Figure 4.1:	L2CAP Packet (field sizes in bits)272
Figure 4.2:	Connectionless Packet
Figure 5.1:	Signalling Command Packet Format
Figure 5.2:	Command format
Figure 5.3:	Command Reject Packet
Figure 5.4:	Connection Request Packet
Figure 5.5:	Connection Response Packet
Figure 5.6:	Configuration Request Packet
Figure 5.7:	Configuration Request Flags field format
Figure 5.8:	Configuration Response Packet
Figure 5.9:	Configuration Response Flags field format
Figure 5.10:	Disconnection Request Packet
Figure 5.11:	Disconnection Response Packet
Figure 5.12:	Echo Request Packet
Figure 5.13:	Echo Response Packet
Figure 5.14:	Information Request Packet
Figure 5.15:	Information Response Packet
Figure 6.1:	Configuration option format
Figure 6.2:	MTU Option Format
Figure 6.3:	Flush Timeout
Figure 6.4:	Quality of Service Flow Specification
Figure 6.5:	Configuration State Machine
Figure I	Basic MTU exchange
Figure II	Dealing with Unknown Options
Figure III	Unsuccessful Configuration Request

List of Figures

I

page 316 of 1082

Logical Link Control and Adaptation Protocol Specification

Bluetooth.

11 LIST OF TABLES

I

Table 1.1:	Logical channel L_CH field contents
Table 2.1:	CID Definitions
Table 2.2:	Types of Channel Identifiers254
Table 3.1:	L2CAP Channel State Machine
Table 5.1:	Signalling Command Codes
Table 5.2:	Reason Code Descriptions
Table 5.3:	Reason Data values
Table 5.4:	Defined PSM Values
Table 5.5:	Result values
Table 5.6:	Status values
Table 5.7:	Configuration Response Result codes
Table 5.8:	InfoType definitions
Table 5.9:	Information Response Result values
Table 5.10:	Information Response Data fields
Table 6.1:	Service type definitions
Table 6.2:	Parameters allowed in Request
Table 6.3:	Parameters allowed in Response
Table I	Result of Second Link Timeout Request
Table II	Result of Second Flush Timeout Request

List of Tables

Logical Link Control and Adaptation Protocol Specification

Bluetooth.

TERMS AND ABBREVIATIONS

Baseband	Baseband Protocol
IETF	Internet Engineering Task Force
IP	Internet Protocol
IrDA	Infra-red Data Association
L_CH	Logical Channel
LC	Link Controller
LM	Link Manager
LMP	Link Manager Protocol
мти	Maximum Transmission Unit
PPP	Point-to-Point Protocol
Reliable	Characteristic of an L2CAP channel that has an infinite flush timeout
RFC	Request For Comments
SAR	Segmentation and Reassembly

Appendix

29 November 1999

page 318 of 1082

Logical Link Control and Adaptation Protocol Specification

Bluetooth.

APPENDIX A: CONFIGURATION MSCs

The examples in this appendix describe a sample of the multiple possible configuration scenarios that might occur. Currently, these are provided as suggestions and may change in the next update of the Specification.

Figure I illustrates the basic configuration process. In this example, the devices exchange MTU information. All other values are assumed to be default.



Figure I: Basic MTU exchange

Figure II on page 319 illustrates how two devices interoperate even though one device supports more options than the other does. Device A is an upgraded version. It uses a hypothetically defined option type 0x20 for link-level security. Device B rejects the command using the Configuration Response packet with result 'unknown parameter' informing Device A that option 0x20 is not understood. Device A then resends the request omitting option 0x20. Device B notices that it does not need to such a large MTU and accepts the request but includes in the response the MTU option informing Device A that Device B will not send an L2CAP packet with a payload larger than 0x80 octets over this channel. On receipt of the response, Device A could reduce the buffer allocated to hold incoming traffic.

Appendix

page 319 of 1082

Logical Link Control and Adaptation Protocol Specification

Bluetooth.



Figure II: Dealing with Unknown Options

Figure III on page 320 illustrates an unsuccessful configuration request. There are two problems described by this example. The first problem is that the configuration request is placed in an L2CAP packet that cannot be accepted by the remote device, due to its size. The remote device informs the sender of this problem using the Command Reject message. Device A then resends the configuration options using two smaller L2CAP_ConfigReq messages.

The second problem is an attempt to configure a channel with an invalid CID. For example device B may not have an open connection on that CID (0x01234567 in this example case).

Appendix

page 320 of 1082

Logical Link Control and Adaptation Protocol Specification





Figure III: Unsuccessful Configuration Request

320

Appendix

page 321 of 1082

Logical Link Control and Adaptation Protocol Specification

Bluetooth.

APPENDIX B: IMPLEMENTATION GUIDELINES

This section contains some guidelines for implementations. These guidelines are not part of the compliance tests. At the moment they are simply suggestions on how to solve some difficult problems.

RTX TIMER

Implementations should not start this timer on an L2CAP Connection Request packet unless the physical link has been established. Otherwise the Baseband paging mechanism might increase the cost of the request beyond that of the minimal timeout value. If an implementation performs some form of security check it is recommended that the connection pending response be sent back prior to any consultation with a security manager that might perform Baseband authentication commands. If any security check requires user interaction, the link might timeout waiting for the user to enter a PIN.

QOS MAPPING TO LM AND L2CAP IMPLEMENTATIONS

Token Rate

The Link Manager (LM) should ensure data is removed from the transmission buffer at this rate. The LM should ensure the polling interval is fast enough to support this data rate. The polling interval should be adjusted if the packet type changes. If the buffer overflows, and the service type is Guaranteed, a QoS violation should be reported. If the service type is Best Effort, and a Token Rate was non-zero, a QoS violation should also be reported.

Given a Token Rate of 0xFFFFFFF, and Service Type of Guaranteed, the LM should refuse any additional connections from remote devices and disable all periodic scans.

Token Bucket Size

L2CAP implementations should ensure that a buffer meeting the size request is allocated for the channel. If no buffer is available, and the service type is Guaranteed, the request should be rejected. If no appropriately sized buffer is available, and the service type is Best Effort, the largest available buffer should be allocated.

Peak Bandwidth

If the token bucket buffer overflows, a QoS violation should be raised.

page 322 of 1082

Logical Link Control and Adaptation Protocol Specification

Bluetooth.

Latency

The LM should ensure the polling interval is at least this value. If the polling interval necessary to support the token rate is less than this value, the smaller interval should be used. If this interval cannot be supported, a QoS violation should be raised.

Delay Variation

The LM may ignore this value because there is no clear mapping between L2CAP packet delays and the necessary polling interval without requiring the LM to comprehend the length field in L2CAP packets.

COLLISION TABLES

Current Value	Requested Value	Result
x	x	X
х	Y	If (X < Y) then X, else Y

Table I: Result of Second Link Timeout Request

Current Value	Requested Value	Result
N	0	N
N	N	Ν
N	M != N	Reject

Table II: Result of Second Flush Timeout Request

Appendix

Part E

SERVICE DISCOVERY PROTOCOL (SDP)

This specification defines a protocol for locating services provided by or available through a Bluetooth device.

page 324 of 1082

Service Discovery Protocol

Bluetooth.

29 November 1999
page 325 of 1082

Service Discovery Protocol

Bluetooth.

CONTENTS

-	Intro	oduction	7
	1.1	General Description	7
	1.2	Motivation	7
	1.3	Requirements	7
	1.4	Non-requirements and Deferred Requirements	3
	1.5	Conventions	3
		1.5.1 Bit And Byte Ordering Conventions	9
2	Ove	rview	2mg
	2.1	SDP Client-Server Interaction	C
	2.2	Service Record	2
	2.3	Service Attribute	4
	2.4	Attribute ID	5
	2.5	Attribute Value	5
	2.6	Service Class	6
		2.6.1 A Printer Service Class Example	3
	2.7	Searching for Services	7
		2.7.1 UUID	7
		2.7.2 Service Search Patterns	8
	2.8	Browsing for Services	8
		2.8.1 Example Service Browsing Hierarchy	9
3	Data	Representation	2000
	3.1	Data Element	-
	3.2	Data Element Type Descriptor	-
	3.3	Data Element Size Descriptor	2
	3.4	Data Element Examples	3
4	Prot	ocol Description	4
	4.1	Transfer Byte Order	44
	4.2	Protocol Data Unit Format	4
	4.3	Partial Responses and Continuation State	8
	4.4	Error Handling	6
		4.4.1 SDP ErrorResponse PDU	7
	4.5	ServiceSearch Transaction	3
		4.5.1 SDP ServiceSearchRequest PDU	3
		4.5.2 SDP ServiceSearchResponse PDU	3
	4.6	ServiceAttribute Transaction	-
		4.6.1 SDP_ServiceAttributeRequest PDU	-
		4.6.2 SDP_ServiceAttributeResponse PDU	2

29 November 1999

page 326 of 1082

arvice Discovery Protocol	Bluetooth
4.7 ServiceSearchAttribute Transaction	
4.7.1 SDP ServiceSearchAttributeRequest PDU.	
4.7.2 SDP_ServiceSearchAttributeResponse PDI	J
Service Attribute Definitions	
5.1 Universal Attribute Definitions	
5.1.1 ServiceRecordHandle Attribute	
5.1.2 ServiceClassIDList Attribute	
5.1.3 ServiceRecordState Attribute	
5.1.4 ServiceID Attribute	
5.1.5 ProtocolDescriptorList Attribute	
5.1.6 BrowseGroupList Attribute	
5.1.7 LanguageBaseAttributeIDList Attribute	
5.1.8 ServiceInfoTimeToLive Altribute	
5.1.9 ServiceAvailability Attribute	
5.1.10 BluetoothProfileDescriptorList Attribute	
5.1.11 DocumentationURL Attribute	
5.1.12 ClientExecutableURL Attribute	
5.1.13 IconURL Attribute	
5.1.14 ServiceName Attribute	
5.1.15 ServiceDescription Attribute	
5.1.16 ProviderName Attribute	
5.1.17 Reserved Universal Attribute IDs	
5.2 ServiceDiscoveryServer Service Class Attribute Def	initions367
5.2.1 ServiceRecordHandle Attribute	
5.2.2 ServiceClassIDList Attribute	
5.2.3 VersionNumberList Attribute	
5.2.4 ServiceDatabaseState Attribute	
5.2.5 Reserved Attribute IDs	
5.3 BrowseGroupDescriptor Service Class Attribute Def	initions 369
5.3.1 ServiceClassIDList Attribute	
5.3.2 GroupID Attribute	
5.3.3 Reserved Attribute IDs	
ppendix A – Background Information	

page 327 of 1082

Service Discovery Protocol

Bluetooth.

1 INTRODUCTION

1.1 GENERAL DESCRIPTION

The service discovery protocol (SDP) provides a means for applications to discover which services are available and to determine the characteristics of those available services.

1.2 MOTIVATION

Service Discovery in the Bluetooth environment, where the set of services that are available changes dynamically based on the RF proximity of devices in motion, is qualitatively different from service discovery in traditional network-based environments. The service discovery protocol defined in this specification is intended to address the unique characteristics of the Bluetooth environment. See "Appendix A – Background Information," on page 370, for further information on this topic.

1.3 REQUIREMENTS

The following capabilities have been identified as requirements for version 1.0 of the Service Discovery Protocol.

- SDP shall provide the ability for clients to search for needed services based on specific attributes of those services.
- 2. SDP shall permit services to be discovered based on the class of service.
- SDP shall enable browsing of services without a priori knowledge of the specific characteristics of those services.
- 4. SDP shall provide the means for the discovery of new services that become available when devices enter RF proximity with a client device as well as when a new service is made available on a device that is in RF proximity with the client device.
- 5. SDP shall provide a mechanism for determining when a service becomes unavailable when devices leave RF proximity with a client device as well as when a service is made unavailable on a device that is in RF proximity with the client device.
- SDP shall provide for services, classes of services, and attributes of services to be uniquely identified.
- SDP shall allow a client on one device to discover a service on another device without consulting a third device.
- 8. SDP should be suitable for use on devices of limited complexity.
- SDP shall provide a mechanism to incrementally discover information about the services provided by a device. This is intended to minimize the quantity

Introduction

page 328 of 1082

Service Discovery Protocol

Bluetooth.

of data that must be exchanged in order to determine that a particular service is not needed by a client.

- 10.SDP should support the caching of service discovery information by intermediary agents to improve the speed or efficiency of the discovery process.
- 11.SDP should be transport independent.
- 12.SDP shall function while using L2CAP as its transport protocol.
- 13.SDP shall permit the discovery and use of services that provide access to other service discovery protocols.
- 14.SDP shall support the creation and definition of new services without requiring registration with a central authority.

1.4 NON-REQUIREMENTS AND DEFERRED REQUIREMENTS

The Bluetooth SIG recognizes that the following capabilities are related to service discovery. These items are not addressed in SDP version 1.0. However, some may be addressed in future revisions of the specification.

- SDP 1.0 does not provide access to services. It only provides access to information about services.
- 2. SDP 1.0 does not provide brokering of services.
- 3. SDP 1.0 does not provide for negotiation of service parameters.
- 4. SDP 1.0 does not provide for billing of service use.
- SDP 1.0 does not provide the means for a client to control or change the operation of a service.
- SDP 1.0 does not provide an event notification when services, or information about services, become unavailable.
- SDP 1.0 does not provide an event notification when attributes of services are modified.
- This specification does not define an application programming interface for SDP.
- SDP 1.0 does not provide support for service agent functions such as service aggregation or service registration.

328

Introduction

page 329 of 1082

Service Discovery Protocol

Bluetooth.

1.5 CONVENTIONS

1.5.1 Bit And Byte Ordering Conventions

When multiple bit fields are contained in a single byte and represented in a drawing in this specification, the more significant (high-order) bits are shown toward the left and less significant (low-order) bits toward the right.

Multiple-byte fields are drawn with the more significant bytes toward the left and the less significant bytes toward the right. Multiple-byte fields are transferred in network byte order. See Section 4.1 Transfer Byte Order on page 344.

Introduction

29 November 1999

page 330 of 1082

Service Discovery Protocol

Bluetooth.

2 OVERVIEW



2.1 SDP CLIENT-SERVER INTERACTION



The service discovery mechanism provides the means for client applications to discover the existence of services provided by server applications as well as the attributes of those services. The attributes of a service include the type or class of service offered and the mechanism or protocol information needed to utilize the service.

As far as the Service Discovery Protocol (SDP) is concerned, the configuration shown in Figure 1 may be simplified to that shown in Figure 2.





29 November 1999	Overview

page 331 of 1082

Service Discovery Protocol

Bluetooth.

SDP involves communication between an SDP server and an SDP client. The server maintains a list of service records that describe the characteristics of services associated with the server. Each service record contains information about a single service. A client may retrieve information from a service record maintained by the SDP server by issuing an SDP request.

If the client, or an application associated with the client, decides to use a service, it must open a separate connection to the service provider in order to utilize the service. SDP provides a mechanism for discovering services and their attributes (including associated service access protocols), but it does not provide a mechanism for utilizing those services (such as delivering the service access protocols).

There is a maximum of one SDP server per Bluetooth device. (If a Bluetooth device acts only as a client, it needs no SDP server.) A single Bluetooth device may function both as an SDP server and as an SDP client. If multiple applications on a device provide services, an SDP server may act on behalf of those service providers to handle requests for information about the services that they provide.

Similarly, multiple client applications may utilize an SDP client to query servers on behalf of the client applications.

The set of SDP servers that are available to an SDP client can change dynamically based on the RF proximity of the servers to the client. When a server becomes available, a potential client must be notified by a means other than SDP so that the client can use SDP to query the server about its services. Similarly, when a server leaves proximity or becomes unavailable for any reason, there is no explicit notification via the service discovery protocol. However, the client may use SDP to poll the server and may infer that the server is not available if it no longer responds to requests.

Additional information regarding application interaction with SDP is contained in the Bluetooth Service Discovery Profile document.

Overview

page 332 of 1082

Service Discovery Protocol

Bluetooth.

2.2 SERVICE RECORD

A service is any entity that can provide information, perform an action, or control a resource on behalf of another entity. A service may be implemented as software, hardware, or a combination of hardware and software.

All of the information about a service that is maintained by an SDP server is contained within a single service record. The service record consists entirely of a list of service attributes.

Service Record	-	
Service Attribute 1		
Service Attribute 2		
Service Attribute 3		
And		
Service Attribute N		

Figure 2.3: Service Record

A service record handle is a 32-bit number that uniquely identifies each service record within an SDP server. It is important to note that, in general, each handle is unique only within each SDP server. If SDP server S1 and SDP server S2 both contain identical service records (representing the same service), the service record handles used to reference these identical service records are completely independent. The handle used to reference the service on S1 will be meaningless if presented to S2.

The service discovery protocol does not provide a mechanism for notifying clients when service records are added to or removed from an SDP server. While an L2CAP (Logical Link Control and Adaptation Protocol) connection is established to a server, a service record handle acquired from the server will remain valid unless the service record it represents is removed. If a service is removed from the server, further requests to the server (during the L2CAP connection in which the service record handle was acquired) using the service's (now stale) record handle will result in an error response indicating an invalid service record handle. An SDP server must ensure that no service record handle values are re-used while an L2CAP connection remains established. Note that service record handles are known to remain valid across successive L2CAP connections while the ServiceDatabaseState attribute value remains unchanged. See the ServiceRecordState and ServiceDatabaseState attributes in Section 5 Service Attribute Definitions on page 358.

There is one service record handle whose meaning is consistent across all SDP servers. This service record handle has the value 0x00000000 and is a

332

29 November 1999

Overview

page 333 of 1082

Service Discovery Protocol

Bluetooth.

handle to the service record that represents the SDP server itself. This service record contains attributes for the SDP server and the protocol it supports. For example, one of its attributes is the list of SDP protocol versions supported by the server. Service record handle values 0x00000001-0x0000FFFF are reserved.

page 334 of 1082

Service Discovery Protocol

Bluetooth.

2.3 SERVICE ATTRIBUTE

Each service attribute describes a single characteristic of a service. Some examples of service attributes are:

ServiceClassIDList	Identifies the type of service represented by a service record. In other words, the list of classes of which the service is an instance
ServiceID	Uniquely identifies a specific instance of a service
ProtocolDescriptorList	Specifies the protocol stack(s) that may be used to utilize a service
ProviderName	The textual name of the individual or organization that pro- vides a service
IconURL	Specifies a URL that refers to an icon image that may be used to represent a service
ServiceName	A text string containing a human-readable name for the service
ServiceDescription	A text string describing the service

See Section 5.1 Universal Attribute Definitions on page 358, for attribute definitions that are common to all service records. Service providers can also define their own service attributes.

A service attribute consists of two components: an attribute ID and an attribute value.

Service Attribute	
Attribute ID	
Attribute Value	

Figure 2.4: Service Attribute

Overview

page 335 of 1082

Service Discovery Protocol

Bluetooth.

2.4 ATTRIBUTE ID

An attribute ID is a 16-bit unsigned integer that distinguishes each service attribute from other service attributes within a service record. The attribute ID also identifies the semantics of the associated attribute value.

A service class definition specifies each of the attribute IDs for a service class and assigns a meaning to the attribute value associated with each attribute ID.

For example, assume that service class C specifies that the attribute value associated with attribute ID 12345 is a text string containing the date the service was created. Assume further that service A is an instance of service class C. If service A's service record contains a service attribute with an attribute ID of 12345, the attribute value must be a text string containing the date that service A was created. However, services that are not instances of service class C may assign a different meaning to attribute ID 12345.

All services belonging to a given service class assign the same meaning to each particular attribute ID. See Section 2.6 Service Class on page 336.

In the Service Discovery Protocol, an attribute ID is often represented as a data element. See Section 3 Data Representation on page 341.





2.5 ATTRIBUTE VALUE

The attribute value is a variable length field whose meaning is determined by the attribute ID associated with it and by the service class of the service record in which the attribute is contained. In the Service Discovery Protocol, an attribute value is represented as a data element. (See Section 3 Data Representation on page 341.) Generally, any type of data element is permitted as an attribute value, subject to the constraints specified in the service class definition that assigns an attribute ID to the attribute and assigns a meaning to the attribute value. See Section 5 Service Attribute Definitions on page 358, for attribute value examples.

page 336 of 1082

Bluetooth.

Service Discovery Protocol

2.6 SERVICE CLASS

Each service is an instance of a service class. The service class definition provides the definitions of all attributes contained in service records that represent instances of that class. Each attribute definition specifies the numeric value of the attribute ID, the intended use of the attribute value, and the format of the attribute value. A service record contains attributes that are specific to a service class as well as universal attributes that are common to all services.

Each service class is also assigned a unique identifier. This service class identifier is contained in the attribute value for the ServiceClassIDList attribute, and is represented as a UUID (see Section 2.7.1 UUID on page 337). Since the format and meanings of many attributes in a service record are dependent on the service class of the service record, the ServiceClassIDList attribute is very important. Its value should be examined or verified before any class-specific attributes are used. Since all of the attributes in a service record must conform to all of the service's classes, the service class identifiers contained in the ServiceClassIDList attribute are related. Typically, each service class is a subclass of another class whose identifier is contained in the list. A service subclass definition differs from its superclass in that the subclass contains additional attribute definitions that are specific to the subclass. The service class identifiers in the ServiceClassIDList attribute are listed in order from the most specific class to the most general class.

When a new service class is defined that is a subclass of an existing service class, the new service class retains all of the attributes defined in its superclass. Additional attributes will be defined that are specific to the new service class. In other words, the mechanism for adding new attributes to some of the instances of an existing service class is to create a new service class that is a subclass of the existing service class.

2.6.1 A Printer Service Class Example

A color postscript printer with duplex capability might conform to 4 Service-Class definitions and have a ServiceClassIDList with UUIDs (See Section 2.7.1 UUID on page 337.) representing the following ServiceClasses:

DuplexColorPostscriptPrinterServiceClassID, ColorPostscriptPrinterServiceClassID, PostscriptPrinterServiceClassID, PrinterServiceClassID

Note that this example is only illustrative. This may not be a practical printer class hierarchy.

29 November 1999

Overview

Service Discovery Protocol

Bluetooth.

2.7 SEARCHING FOR SERVICES

Once an SDP client has a service record handle, it may easily request the values of specific attributes, but how does a client initially acquire a service record handle for the desired service records? The Service Search transaction allows a client to retrieve the service record handles for particular service records based on the values of attributes contained within those service records.

The capability search for service records based on the values of arbitrary attributes is not provided. Rather, the capability is provided to search only for attributes whose values are Universally Unique Identifiers¹ (UUIDs). Important attributes of services that can be used to search for a service are represented as UUIDs.

2.7.1 UUID

A UUID is a universally unique identifier that is guaranteed to be unique across all space and all time. UUIDs can be independently created in a distributed fashion. No central registry of assigned UUIDs is required. A UUID is a 128-bit value.

To reduce the burden of storing and transferring 128-bit UUID values, a range of UUID values has been pre-allocated for assignment to often-used, registered purposes. The first UUID in this pre-allocated range is known as the Bluetooth Base UUID and has the value 00000000-0000-1000-7007-00805F9B34FB, from the Bluetooth Assigned Numbers document. UUID values in the pre-allocated range have aliases that are represented as 16-bit or 32-bit values. These aliases are often called 16-bit and 32-bit UUIDs, but it is important to note that each actually represents a 128-bit UUID value.

The full 128-bit value of a 16-bit or 32-bit UUID may be computed by a simple arithmetic operation.

128 bit value = 16 bit value * 296 + Bluetooth Base_UUID

128 bit value = 32 bit value * 296 + Bluetooth Base UUID

A 16-bit UUID may be converted to 32-bit UUID format by zero-extending the 16-bit value to 32-bits. An equivalent method is to add the 16-bit UUID value to a zero-valued 32-bit UUID.

Note that two 16-bit UUIDs may be compared directly, as may two 32-bit UUIDs or two 128-bit UUIDs. If two UUIDs of differing sizes are to be compared, the shorter UUID must be converted to the longer UUID format before comparison.

 The format of UUIDs is defined by the International Organization for Standardization in ISO/ IEC 11578:1996. "Information technology – Open Systems Interconnection – Remote Procedure Call (RPC)"

Overview

Service Discovery Protocol

Bluetooth.

2.7.2 Service Search Patterns

A service search pattern is a list of UUIDs used to locate matching service records. A service search pattern is said to match a service record if each and every UUID in the service search pattern is contained within any of the service record's attribute values. The UUIDs need not be contained within any specific attributes or in any particular order within the service record. The service search pattern matches if the UUIDs it contains constitute a subset of the UUIDs in the service record's attribute values. The only time a service search pattern does not match a service record is if the service search pattern contains at least one UUID that is not contained within the service record's attribute values. Note also that a valid service search pattern must contain at least one UUID.

2.8 BROWSING FOR SERVICES

Normally, a client searches for services based on some desired characteristic(s) (represented by a UUID) of the services. However, there are times when it is desirable to discover which types of services are described by an SDP server's service records without any a priori information about the services. This process of looking for any offered services is termed browsing. In SDP, the mechanism for browsing for services is based on an attribute shared by all service classes. This attribute is called the BrowseGroupList attribute. The value of this attribute contains a list of UUIDs. Each UUID represents a browse group with which a service may be associated for the purpose of browsing.

When a client desires to browse an SDP server's services, it creates a service search pattern containing the UUID that represents the root browse group. All services that may be browsed at the top level are made members of the root browse group by having the root browse group's UUID as a value within the BrowseGroupList attribute.

Normally, if an SDP server has relatively few services, all of its services will be placed in the root browse group. However, the services offered by an SDP server may be organized in a browse group hierarchy, by defining additional browse groups below the root browse group. Each of these additional browse groups is described by a service record with a service class of BrowseGroupDescriptor.

A browse group descriptor service record defines a new browse group by means of its Group ID attribute. In order for a service contained in one of these newly defined browse groups to be browseable, the browse group descriptor service record that defines the new browse group must in turn be browseable. The hierarchy of browseable services that is provided by the use of browse group descriptor service records allows the services contained in an SDP server to be incrementally browsed and is particularly useful when the SDP server contains many service records.

29 November 1999

page 339 of 1082

Service Discovery Protocol

Bluetooth.

2.8.1 Example Service Browsing Hierarchy

Here is a fictitious service browsing hierarchy that may illuminate the manner in which browse group descriptors are used. Browse group descriptor service records are identified with (G); other service records with (S).



Figure 2.6:

This table shows the services records and service attributes necessary to implement the browse hierarchy.

Service Name	Service Class	Attribute Name	Attribute Value
Entertainment	BrowseGroupDescriptor	BrowseGroupList	PublicBrowseRoot
		GroupID	EntertainmentID
News	BrowsegroupDescriptor	BrowseGroupList	PublicBrowseRoot
		GroupID	NewsID
Reference	BrowseGroupDescriptor	BrowseGroupList	PublicBrowseRoot
		GroupID	ReferenceID
Games	BrowseGroupDescriptor	BrowseGroupList	EntertainmentID
		GroupID	GamesID
Movies	BrowseGroupDescriptor	BrowseGroupList	EntertainmentID
		GroupID	MoviesID
Starcraft	Video Game Class ID	BrowseGroupList	GamesID

Table 2.1:

Overview

page 340 of 1082

Service Discovery Protocol

Bluetooth.

A Bug's Life	Movie Class ID	BrowseGroupList	MovielD
Dictionary Z	Dictionary Class ID	BrowseGroupList	ReferenceID
Encyclopedia X	Encyclopedia Class ID	BrowseGroupList	ReferenceID
New York Times	Newspaper ID	BrowseGroupList	NewspaperID
London Times	Newspaper ID	BrowseGroupList	NewspaperID
Local Newspaper	Newspaper ID	BrowseGroupList	NewspaperID

340

29 November 1999

Overview

page 341 of 1082

Service Discovery Protocol

Bluetooth.

3 DATA REPRESENTATION

Attribute values can contain information of various types with arbitrary complexity; thus enabling an attribute list to be generally useful across a wide variety of service classes and environments.

SDP defines a simple mechanism to describe the data contained within an attribute value. The primitive construct used is the data element.

3.1 DATA ELEMENT

A data element is a typed data representation. It consists of two fields: a header field and a data field. The header field, in turn, is composed of two parts: a type descriptor and a size descriptor. The data is a sequence of bytes whose length is specified in the size descriptor (described in Section 3.3 Data Element Size Descriptor on page 342) and whose meaning is (partially) specified by the type descriptor.

3.2 DATA ELEMENT TYPE DESCRIPTOR

A data element type is represented as a 5-bit type descriptor. The type descriptor is contained in the most significant (high-order) 5 bits of the first byte of the data element header. The following types have been defined.

Type Descriptor Value	Valid Size Descriptor Values	Type Description		
0	0	Nil, the null type		
1	0, 1, 2, 3, 4	Unsigned Integer		
2	0, 1, 2, 3, 4	Signed twos-complement integer		
3	1, 2, 4	UUID, a universally unique identifier		
4	5, 6, 7	Text string		
5	0	Boolean		
6	5, 6, 7	Data element sequence, a data element whose data fie is a sequence of data elements		
7	5, 6, 7	Data element alternative, data element whose data field is a sequence of data elements from which one data element is to be selected.		
8	5, 6, 7	URL, a uniform resource locator		
9-31		Reserved		

Table 3.1:

page 342 of 1082

Service Discovery Protocol

Bluetooth.

3.3 DATA ELEMENT SIZE DESCRIPTOR

The data element size descriptor is represented as a 3-bit size index followed by 0, 8, 16, or 32 bits. The size index is contained in the least significant (low-order) 3 bits of the first byte of the data element header. The size index is encoded as follows.

Size Index	Additional bits	Data Size
0	0	1 byte. Exception: if the data element type is nil, the data size is 0 bytes.
1	0	2 bytes
2	0	4 bytes
3	0	8 bytes
4	0	16 bytes
5	8	The data size is contained in the additional 8 bits, which are inter- preted as an unsigned integer.
6	16	The data size is contained in the additional 16 bits, which are interpreted as an unsigned integer.
7	32	The data size is contained in the additional 32 bits, which are interpreted as an unsigned integer.

Table 3.2:

342

Data Representation

page 343 of 1082

Service Discovery Protocol

Bluetooth.

3.4 DATA ELEMENT EXAMPLES



Data Representation

29 November 1999

page 344 of 1082

Service Discovery Protocol

Bluetooth.

4 PROTOCOL DESCRIPTION

SDP is a simple protocol with minimal requirements on the underlying transport. It can function over a reliable packet transport (or even unreliable, if the client implements timeouts and repeats requests as necessary).

SDP uses a request/response model where each transaction consists of one request protocol data unit (PDU) and one response PDU. However, the requests may potentially be pipelined and responses may potentially be returned out of order.

In the specific case where SDP utilises the Bluetooth L2CAP transport protocol, multiple SDP PDUs may be sent in a single L2CAP packet, but only one L2CAP packet per connection to a given SDP server may be outstanding at a given instant. Limiting SDP to sending one unacknowledged packet provides a simple form of flow control.

The protocol examples found in Appendix B – Example SDP Transactions, may be helpful in understanding the protocol transactions.

4.1 TRANSFER BYTE ORDER

The service discovery protocol transfers multiple-byte fields in standard network byte order (Big Endian), with more significant (high-order) bytes being transferred before less-significant (low-order) bytes.

4.2 PROTOCOL DATA UNIT FORMAT

Every SDP PDU consists of a PDU header followed by PDU-specific parameters. The header contains three fields: a PDU ID, a Transaction ID, and a ParameterLength. Each of these header fields is described here. Parameters may include a continuation state parameter, described below; PDU-specific parameters for each PDU type are described later in separate PDU descriptions.

Header:	PDU ID	Transaction ID	ParameterLength
	←1 bvte→	-2 bytes-	→ 2 bytes →
Baramatani	←1 byte→+	2 bytes-	→ 2 bytes →

Figure 4.1:

344

29 November 1999

Protocol Description

page 345 of 1082

Service Discovery Protocol

Bluetooth.

PDU ID:

Size: 1 Byte

Value	Parameter Description
N	The PDU ID field identifies the type of PDU. I.e. its meaning and the specific parameters.
0x00	Reserved
0x01	SDP_ErrorResponse
0x02	SDP_ServiceSearchRequest
0x03	SDP_ServiceSearchResponse
0x04	SDP_ServiceAttributeRequest
0x05	SDP_ServiceAttributeResponse
0x06	SDP_ServiceSearchAttributeRequest
0x07	SDP_ServiceSearchAttributeResponse
0x07-0xFF	Reserved

TransactionID:

Size: 2 Bytes

Value	Parameter Description
N	The TransactionID field uniquely identifies request PDUs and is used to match response PDUs to request PDUs. The SDP client can choose any value for a request's TransactionID provided that it is different from all outstanding requests. The TransactionID value in response PDUs is required to be the same as the request that is being responded to. Range: 0x0000 – 0xFFF

ParameterLength:

Size: 2 Bytes

Value Parameter Description	
N	The ParameterLength field specifies the length (in bytes) of all parame- ters contained in the PDU. Range: 0x0000 – 0xFFFF

Service Discovery Protocol

Bluetooth.

4.3 PARTIAL RESPONSES AND CONTINUATION STATE

Some SDP requests may require responses that are larger than can fit in a single response PDU. In this case, the SDP server will generate a partial response along with a continuation state parameter. The continuation state parameter can be supplied by the client in a subsequent request to retrieve the next portion of the complete response. The continuation state parameter is a variable length field whose first byte contains the number of additional bytes of continuation information in the field. The format of the continuation information is not standardized among SDP servers. Each continuation state parameter is meaningful only to the SDP server that generated it.



Figure 4.2: Continuation State Format

After a client receives a partial response and the accompanying continuation state parameter, it can re-issue the original request (with a new transaction ID) and include the continuation state in the new request indicating to the server that the remainder of the original response is desired. The maximum allowable value of the InfoLength field is 16 (0x10).

Note that an SDP server can split a response at any arbitrary boundary when it generates a partial response. The SDP server may select the boundary based on the contents of the reply, but is not required to do so.

4.4 ERROR HANDLING

Each transaction consists of a request and a response PDU. Generally, each type of request PDU has a corresponding type of response PDU. However, if the server determines that a request is improperly formatted or for any reason the server cannot respond with the appropriate PDU type, it will respond with an SDP_ErrorResponse PDU.



Figure 4.3:

346

29 November 1999 Protocol Description

Service Discovery Protocol

Bluetooth.

4.4.1 SDP_ErrorResponse PDU

PDU Type	PDU ID	Parameters	
SDP_ErrorResponse	0x01	ErrorCode, ErrorInfo	

Description:

The SDP server generates this PDU type in response to an improperly formatted request PDU or when the SDP server, for whatever reason, cannot generate an appropriate response PDU.

PDU Parameters:

ErrorCode:

Size: 2 Bytes

Value	Parameter Description	
N The ErrorCode identifies the reason that an SDP_ErrorResp was generated.		
0x0000	Reserved	
0x0001	Invalid/unsupported SDP version	
0x0002	Invalid Service Record Handle	
0x0003	Invalid request syntax	
0x0004	Invalid PDU Size	
0x0005	Invalid Continuation State	
0x0006	Insufficient Resources to satisfy Request	
0x0007-0xFFFF	Reserved	

ErrorInfo:

ь

Size: N Bytes

Value Parameter Description	
Error-specific	ErrorInfo is an ErrorCode-specific parameter. Its interpretation depends on the ErrorCode parameter. The currently defined ErrorCode values do not specify the format of an ErrorInfo field.

page 348 of 1082

Service Discovery Protocol

Bluetooth.

4.5 SERVICESEARCH TRANSACTION



Figure 4.4:

4.5.1 SDP_ServiceSearchRequest PDU

PDU Type	PDU ID	Parameters
SDP_ServiceSearchRequest	0x02	ServiceSearchPattern, MaximumServiceRecordCount, ContinuationState

Description:

The SDP client generates an SDP_ServiceSearchRequest to locate service records that match the service search pattern given as the first parameter of the PDU. Upon receipt of this request, the SDP server will examine its service record data base and return an SDP_ServiceSearchResponse containing the service record handles of service records that match the given service search pattern.

Note that no mechanism is provided to request information for all service records. However, see Section 2.8 Browsing for Services on page 338 for a description of a mechanism that permits browsing for non-specific services without a priori knowledge of the services.

PDU Parameters:

ServiceSearchPattern:

Size: Varies

Value	Parameter Description	
Data Element Sequence	The ServiceSearchPattern is a data element sequence where each ele- ment in the sequence is a UUID. The sequence must contain at least one UUID. The maximum number of UUIDs in the sequence is 12 [*] . The list of UUIDs constitutes a service search pattern.	

*. The value of 12 has been selected as a compromise between the scope of a service search and the size of a search request PDU. It is not expected that more than 12 UUIDs will be useful in a service search pattern.

348

29 November 1999

Protocol Description

page 349 of 1082

Service Discovery Protocol

Bluetooth.

Size: 2 Bytes

MaximumServiceRecordCount:

Value	Parameter Description		Parameter Description	
N	MaximumServiceRecordCount is a 16-bit count specifying the maximum number of service record handles to be returned in the response(s) to this request. The SDP server should not return more handles than this value specifies. If more than N service records match the request, the SDP server determines which matching service record handles to return in the response(s). Range: 0x0001-0xFFFF			

ContinuationState:

Size: 1 to 17 Bytes

Value	Parameter Description
Continuation State	ContinuationState consists of an 8-bit count, N, of the number of bytes of continuation state information, followed by the N bytes of continua- tion state information that were returned in a previous response from the server. N is required to be less than or equal to 16. If no continua- tion state is to be provided in the request, N is set to 0.

4.5.2 SDP_ServiceSearchResponse PDU

PDU Type	PDU ID	Parameters
SDP_ServiceSearchResponse	0x03	TotalServiceRecordCount, CurrentServiceRecordCount, ServiceRecordHandleList, ContinuationState

Description:

The SDP server generates an SDP_ServiceSearchResponse upon receipt of a valid SDP_ServiceSearchRequest. The response contains a list of service record handles for service records that match the service search pattern given in the request. Note that if a partial response is generated, it must contain an integral number of complete service record handles; a service record handle value may not be split across multiple PDUs.

Protocol Description

page 350 of 1082

Service Discovery Protocol

Bluetooth.

Size: 2 Bytes

PDU Parameters:

TotalServiceRecordCount:

Value	Parameter Description	
N	The TotalServiceRecordCount is an integer containing the number of service records that match the requested service search pattern. If no service records match the requested service search pattern, this parameter is set to 0. N should never be larger than the MaximumServiceRe- cordCount value specified in the SDP_ServiceSearchRequest. When multiple partial responses are used, each partial response contains the same value for TotalServiceRecordCount. Range: 0x0000-0xEEEF	

CurrentServiceRecordCount:

Size: 2 Bytes

Value	Parameter Description
N	The CurrentServiceRecordCount is an integer indicating the number of service record handles that are contained in the next parameter. If no service records match the requested service search pattern, this parameter is set to 0. N should never be larger than the TotalServiceRecord-Count value specified in the current response. Range: 0x0000-0xFFFF

ServiceRecordHandleList:

Size: (CurrentServiceRecordCount*4) Bytes

Value	Parameter Description	
List of 32-bit handles	The ServiceRecordHandleList contains a list of service record handles. The number of handles in the list is given in the CurrentServiceRecord- Count parameter. Each of the handles in the list refers to a service record that matches the requested service search pattern. Note that this list of service record handles does not have the format of a data ele- ment. It contains no header fields, only the 32-bit service record han- dles.	

ContinuationState:

Size: 1 to 17 Bytes

Value	Parameter Description
Continuation State	ContinuationState consists of an 8-bit count, N, of the number of bytes of continuation state information, followed by the N bytes of continua- tion information. If the current response is complete, this parameter consists of a single byte with the value 0. If a partial response is con- tained in the PDU, the ContinuationState parameter may be supplied in a subsequent request to retrieve the remainder of the response.

page 351 of 1082

Service Discovery Protocol

Bluetooth.

4.6 SERVICEATTRIBUTE TRANSACTION





4.6.1 SDP_ServiceAttributeRequest PDU

PDU Type	PDU ID	Parameters
SDP_ServiceAttributeRequest	0x04	ServiceRecordHandle, MaximumAttributeByteCount, AttributeIDList, ContinuationState

Description:

The SDP client generates an SDP_ServiceAttributeRequest to retrieve specified attribute values from a specific service record. The service record handle of the desired service record and a list of desired attribute IDs to be retrieved from that service record are supplied as parameters.

Command Parameters:

ServiceRecordHandle:

Size: 4 Bytes

Value	Parameter Description		
32-bit handle	The ServiceRecordHandle parameter specifies the service record from which attribute values are to be retrieved. The handle is obtained via a previous SDP_ServiceSearch transaction.		

MaximumAttributeByteCount:

Size: 2 Bytes

Value	Parameter Description
N	MaximumAttributeByteCount specifies the maximum number of bytes of attribute data to be returned in the response(s) to this request. The SDP server should not return more than N bytes of attribute data in the response(s). If the requested attributes require more than N bytes, the SDP server determines how to truncate the list. Range: 0x0007-0xFFFF

Protocol Description

page 352 of 1082

Service Discovery Protocol

Bluetooth. Size: Varies

AttributeIDList:

Value	Parameter Description		
Data Element Sequence	The AttributeIDList is a data element sequence where each element in the list is either an attribute ID or a range of attribute IDs. Each attribute ID is encoded as a 16-bit unsigned integer data element. Each attribute ID range is encoded as a 32-bit unsigned integer data element, where the high order 16 bits are interpreted as the beginning attribute ID of the range and the low order 16 bits are interpreted as the ending attribute ID of the range. The attribute IDs contained in the AttributeIDList must be listed in ascending order without duplication of any attribute ID values. Note that all attributes may be requested by specifying a range of 0x0000-0xFFFF.		

ContinuationState:

Size: 1 to 17 Bytes

Value	Parameter Description
Continuation State	ContinuationState consists of an 8-bit count, N, of the number of bytes of continuation state information, followed by the N bytes of continua- tion state information that were returned in a previous response from the server. N is required to be less than or equal to 16. If no continua- tion state is to be provided in the request, N is set to 0.

4.6.2 SDP_ServiceAttributeResponse PDU

PDU Type	PDU ID	Parameters
SDP_ServiceAttributeResponse	0x05	AttributeListByteCount, AttributeList, ContinuationState

Description:

The SDP server generates an SDP_ServiceAttributeResponse upon receipt of a valid SDP_ServiceAttributeRequest. The response contains a list of attributes (both attribute ID and attribute value) from the requested service record.

PDU Parameters:

AttributeListByteCount:

Size: 2 Bytes

Value	Parameter Description		
N	The AttributeListByteCount contains a count of the number of bytes in the AttributeList parameter. N must never be larger than the Maximu- mAttributeByteCount value specified in the SDP_ServiceAttributeRequest.		
	Range: 0x0002-0xFFFF		

352

29 November 1999

Protocol Description

page 353 of 1082

Service Discovery Protocol

Bluetooth.

AttributeList:

Size: AttributeListByteCount

Value	Parameter Description		
Data Element Sequence	The AttributeList is a data element sequence containing attribute IDs and attribute values. The first element in the sequence contains the attribute ID of the first attribute to be returned. The second element in the sequence contains the corresponding attribute value. Successive pairs of elements in the list contain additional attribute ID and value pairs. Only attributes that have non-null values within the service record and whose attribute IDs were specified in the SDP_ServiceAttributeRequest are contained in the AttributeList. Neither an attribute ID nor an attribute value is placed in the AttributeList for attributes in the service record that have no value. The attributes are listed in ascending order of attribute ID value.		

ContinuationState:

Size: 1 to 17 Bytes

Value	Parameter Description		
Continuation State	ContinuationState consists of an 8-bit count, N, of the number of bytes of continuation state information, followed by the N bytes of continua- tion information. If the current response is complete, this parameter consists of a single byte with the value 0. If a partial response is given, the ContinuationState parameter may be supplied in a subsequent request to retrieve the remainder of the response.		

Service Discovery Protocol

Bluetooth.

4.7 SERVICESEARCHATTRIBUTE TRANSACTION



Figure 4.6:

4.7.1 SDP_ServiceSearchAttributeRequest PDU

PDU Type	PDU ID	Parameters
SDP_ServiceSearchAttributeRequest	0x06	ServiceSearchPattern, MaximumAttributeByteCount, AttributeIDList, ContinuationState

Description:

The SDP_ServiceSearchAttributeRequest transaction combines the capabilities of the SDP_ServiceSearchRequest and the SDP_ServiceAttributeRequest into a single request. As parameters, it contains both a service search pattern and a list of attributes to be retrieved from service records that match the service search pattern. The SDP_ServiceSearchAttributeRequest and its response are more complex and may require more bytes than separate SDP_ServiceSearch and SDP_ServiceAttribute transactions. However, using SDP_ServiceSearchAttributeRequest may reduce the total number of SDP transactions, particularly when retrieving multiple service records.

Note that the service record handle for each service record is contained in the ServiceRecordHandle attribute of that service and may be requested along with other attributes.

page 355 of 1082

Service Discovery Protocol

PDU Parameters:

ServiceSearchPattern:

Size: Varies

Bluetooth.

Value	Parameter Description
Data Element Sequence	The ServiceSearchPattern is a data element sequence where each ele- ment in the sequence is a UUID. The sequence must contain at least one UUID. The maximum number of UUIDs in the sequence is 12 [*] . The list of UUIDs constitutes a service search pattern.

*. The value of 12 has been selected as a compromise between the scope of a service search and the size of a search request PDU. It is not expected that more than 12 UUIDs will be useful in a service search pattern.

MaximumAttributeByteCount:

Size: 2 Bytes

Value	Parameter Description
N	MaximumAttributeByteCount specifies the maximum number of bytes of attribute data to be returned in the response(s) to this request. The SDP server should not return more than N bytes of attribute data in the response(s). If the requested attributes require more than N bytes, the SDP server determines how to truncate the list. Range: 0x0009-0xFFFF

AttributeIDList:

Size: Varies

Value	Parameter Description
Data Element Sequence	The AttributeIDList is a data element sequence where each element in the list is either an attribute ID or a range of attribute IDs. Each attribute ID is encoded as a 16-bit unsigned integer data element. Each attribute ID range is encoded as a 32-bit unsigned integer data element, where the high order 16 bits are interpreted as the beginning attribute ID of the range and the low order 16 bits are interpreted as the ending attribute ID of the range. The attribute IDs contained in the AttributeIDList must be listed in ascending order without duplication of any attribute ID values. Note that all attributes may be requested by specifying a range of 0x0000-0xFFFF.

ContinuationState:

Size: 1 to 17 Bytes

Value	Parameter Description
Continuation State	ContinuationState consists of an 8-bit count, N, of the number of bytes of continuation state information, followed by the N bytes of continuation state information that were returned in a previous response from the server. N is required to be less than or equal to 16. If no continuation state is to be provided in the request, N is set to 0.

page 356 of 1082

Service Discovery Protocol

Bluetooth.

4.7.2 SDP_ServiceSearchAttributeResponse PDU

PDU Type	PDU ID	Parameters
SDP_ServiceSearchAttributeResponse	0x07	AttributeListsByteCount, AttributeLists, ContinuationState

Description:

The SDP server generates an SDP_ServiceSearchAttributeResponse upon receipt of a valid SDP_ServiceSearchAttributeRequest. The response contains a list of attributes (both attribute ID and attribute value) from the service records that match the requested service search pattern.

PDU Parameters:

AttributeListsByteCount:

Size: 2 Bytes

Value	Parameter Description
N	The AttributeListsByteCount contains a count of the number of bytes in the AttributeLists parameter. N must never be larger than the Maximu- mAttributeByteCount value specified in the SDP_ServiceSearchAttributeRequest. Range: 0x0002-0xFFFF

AttributeLists:

Size: Varies

Value	Parameter Description
Data Element Sequence	The AttributeLists is a data element sequence where each element in turn is a data element sequence representing an attribute list. Each attribute list contains attribute IDs and attribute values from one service record. The first element in each attribute list contains the attribute ID of the first attribute to be returned for that service record. The second element in each attribute list contains the corresponding attribute value. Successive pairs of elements in each attribute list contain additional attribute ID and value pairs. Only attributes that have non-null values within the service record and whose attribute IDs were specified in the SDP_ServiceSearchAttributeRequest are contained in the AttributeLists for attributes in the service record that have no value. Within each attribute list, the attributes are listed in ascending order of attribute ID value.

page 357 of 1082

Service Discovery Protocol

Bluetooth.

ContinuationState:

Size: 1 to 17 Bytes

Value	Parameter Description
Continuation State	ContinuationState consists of an 8-bit count, N, of the number of bytes of continuation state information, followed by the N bytes of continua- tion information. If the current response is complete, this parameter consists of a single byte with the value 0. If a partial response is given the ContinuationState parameter may be supplied in a subsequent request to retrieve the remainder of the response.

page 358 of 1082

Service Discovery Protocol

Bluetooth.

5 SERVICE ATTRIBUTE DEFINITIONS

The service classes and attributes contained in this document are necessarily a partial list of the service classes and attributes supported by SDP. Only service classes that directly support the SDP server are included in this document. Additional service classes will be defined in other documents and possibly in future revisions of this document. Also, it is expected that additional attributes will be discovered that are applicable to a broad set of services; these may be added to the list of Universal attributes in future revisions of this document.

5.1 UNIVERSAL ATTRIBUTE DEFINITIONS

Universal attributes are those service attributes whose definitions are common to all service records. Note that this does not mean that every service record must contain values for all of these service attributes. However, if a service record has a service attribute with an attribute ID allocated to a universal attribute, the attribute value must conform to the universal attribute's definition.

Only two attributes are required to exist in every service record instance. They are the ServiceRecordHandle (attribute ID 0x0000) and the ServiceClassIDList (attribute ID 0x0001). All other service attributes are optional within a service record.

5.1.1 ServiceRecordHandle Attribute

Attribute Name	Attribute ID	Attribute Value Type
ServiceRecordHandle	0x0000	32-bit unsigned integer

Description:

A service record handle is a 32-bit number that uniquely identifies each service record within an SDP server. It is important to note that, in general, each handle is unique only within each SDP server. If SDP server S1 and SDP server S2 both contain identical service records (representing the same service), the service record handles used to reference these identical service records are completely independent. The handle used to reference the service on S1 will, in general, be meaningless if presented to S2.

Service Discovery Protocol

Bluetooth.

5.1.2 ServiceClassIDList Attribute

Attribute Name	Attribute ID	Attribute Value Type
ServiceClassIDList	0x0001	Data Element Sequence

Description:

The ServiceClassIDList attribute consists of a data element sequence in which each data element is a UUID representing the service classes that a given service record conforms to. The UUIDs are listed in order from the most specific class to the most general class. The ServiceClassIDList must contain at least one service class UUID.

5.1.3 ServiceRecordState Attribute

Attribute Name	Attribute ID	Attribute Value Type
ServiceRecordState	0x0002	32-bit unsigned integer

Description:

The ServiceRecordState is a 32-bit integer that is used to facilitate caching of ServiceAttributes. If this attribute is contained in a service record, its value is guaranteed to change when any other attribute value is added to, deleted from or changed within the service record. This permits a client to check the value of this single attribute. If its value has not changed since it was last checked, the client knows that no other attribute values within the service record have changed.

5.1.4 ServiceID Attribute

Attribute Name	Attribute ID	Attribute Value Type
ServiceID	0x0003	UUID

Description:

The ServiceID is a UUID that universally and uniquely identifies the service instance described by the service record. This service attribute is particularly useful if the same service is described by service records in more than one SDP server.

Bluetooth

Service Discovery Protocol

5.1.5 ProtocolDescriptorList Attribute

Attribute Name	Attribute ID	Attribute Value Type
ProtocolDescriptorList	0x0004	Data Element Sequence or Data Element Alternative

Description:

The ProtocolDescriptorList attribute describes one or more protocol stacks that may be used to gain access to the service described by the service record.

If the ProtocolDescriptorList describes a single stack, it takes the form of a data element sequence in which each element of the sequence is a protocol descriptor. Each protocol descriptor is, in turn, a data element sequence whose first element is a UUID identifying the protocol and whose successive elements are protocol-specific parameters. Potential protocol-specific parameters are a protocol version number and a connection-port number. The protocol descriptors are listed in order from the lowest layer protocol to the highest layer protocol used to gain access to the service.

If it is possible for more than one kind of protocol stack to be used to gain access to the service, the ProtocolDescriptorList takes the form of a data element alternative where each member is a data element sequence as described in the previous paragraph.

Protocol Descriptors

A protocol descriptor identifies a communications protocol and provides protocol-specific parameters. A protocol descriptor is represented as a data element sequence. The first data element in the sequence must be the UUID that identifies the protocol. Additional data elements optionally provide protocol-specific information, such as the L2CAP protocol/service multiplexer (PSM) and the RFCOMM server channel number (CN) shown below.

ProtocolDescriptorList Examples

These examples are intended to be illustrative. The parameter formats for each protocol are not defined within this specification.

In the first two examples, it is assumed that a single RFCOMM instance exists on top of the L2CAP layer. In this case, the L2CAP protocol specific information (PSM) points to the single instance of RFCOMM. In the last example, two different and independent RFCOMM instances are available on top of the L2CAP layer. In this case, the L2CAP protocol specific information (PSM) points to a distinct identifier that distinguishes each of the RFCOMM instances. According to the L2CAP specification, this identifier takes values in the range 0x1000-0xFFFF.

Service Attribute Definitions
page 361 of 1082

Service Discovery Protocol

Bluetooth.

IrDA-like printer

((L2CAP, PSM=RFCOMM), (RFCOMM, CN=1), (PostscriptStream))

IP Network Printing

((L2CAP, PSM=RFCOMM), (RFCOMM, CN=2), (PPP), (IP), (TCP), (IPP))

Synchronization Protocol Descriptor Example

((L2CAP, PSM=0x1001), (RFCOMM, CN=1), (Obex), (vCal))

((L2CAP, PSM=0x1002), (RFCOMM, CN=1), (Obex),

(otherSynchronisationApplication))

5.1.6 BrowseGroupList Attribute

Attribute Name	Attribute ID	Attribute Value Type
BrowseGroupList	0x0005	Data Element Sequence

Description:

The BrowseGroupList attribute consists of a data element sequence in which each element is a UUID that represents a browse group to which the service record belongs. The top-level browse group ID, called PublicBrowseRoot and representing the root of the browsing hierarchy, has the value 00001002-0000-1000-7007-00805F9B34FB (UUID16: 0x1002) from the Bluetooth Assigned Numbers document.

5.1.7 LanguageBaseAttributeIDList Attribute

Attribute Name	Attribute ID	Attribute Value Type
LanguageBaseAttributeIDList	0x0006	Data Element Sequence

Description:

In order to support human-readable attributes for multiple natural languages in a single service record, a base attribute ID is assigned for each of the natural languages used in a service record. The human-readable universal attributes are then defined with an attribute ID offset from each of these base values, rather than with an absolute attribute ID.

The LanguageBaseAttributeIDList attribute is a list in which each member contains a language identifier, a character encoding identifier, and a base attribute

page 362 of 1082

Service Discovery Protocol

Bluetooth.

ID for each of the natural languages used in the service record. The Language-BaseAttributeIDList attribute consists of a data element sequence in which each element is a 16-bit unsigned integer. The elements are grouped as triplets (threes).

The first element of each triplet contains an identifier representing the natural language. The language is encoded according to ISO 639:1988 (E/F): "Code for the representation of names of languages".

The second element of each triplet contains an identifier that specifies a character encoding used for the language. Values for character encoding can be found in IANA's database², and have the values that are referred to as MIBEnum values. The recommended character encoding is UTF-8.

The third element of each triplet contains an attribute ID that serves as the base attribute ID for the natural language in the service record. Different service records within a server may use different base attribute ID values for the same language.

To facilitate the retrieval of human-readable universal attributes in a principal language, the base attribute ID value for the primary language supported by a service record must be 0x0100. Also, if a LanguageBaseAttributeIDList attribute is contained in a service record, the base attribute ID value contained in its first element must be 0x0100.

5.1.8 ServiceInfoTimeToLive Attribute

Attribute Name	Attribute ID	Attribute Value Type
ServiceInfoTimeToLive	0x0007	32-bit unsigned integer

Description:

The ServiceTimeToLive attribute is a 32-bit integer that contains the number of seconds for which the information in a service record is expected to remain valid and unchanged. This time interval is measured from the time that the attribute value is retrieved from the SDP server. This value does not imply a guarantee that the service record will remain available or unchanged. It is simply a hint that a client may use to determine a suitable polling interval to revalidate the service record contents.

2. See http://www.isi.edu/in-notes/iana/assignments/character-sets

Service Discovery Protocol

Bluetooth.

5.1.9 ServiceAvailability Attribute

Attribute Name	Attribute ID	Attribute Value Type
ServiceAvailability	0x0008	8-bit unsigned integer

Description:

The ServiceAvailability attribute is an 8-bit unsigned integer that represents the relative ability of the service to accept additional clients. A value of 0xFF indicates that the service is not currently in use and is thus fully available, while a value of 0x00 means that the service is not accepting new clients. For services that support multiple simultaneous clients, intermediate values indicate the relative availability of the service on a linear scale.

For example, a service that can accept up to 3 clients should provide Service-Availability values of 0xFF, 0xAA, 0x55, and 0x00 when 0, 1, 2, and 3 clients, respectively, are utilising the service. The value 0xAA is approximately (2/3) * 0xFF and represents 2/3 availability, while the value 0x55 is approximately (1/ 3)*0xFF and represents 1/3 availability. Note that the availability value may be approximated as

(1 - (current_number_of_clients / maximum_number_of_clients))* 0xFF

When the maximum number of clients is large, this formula must be modified to ensure that ServiceAvailability values of 0x00 and 0xFF are reserved for their defined meanings of unavailability and full availability, respectively.

Note that the maximum number of clients a service can support may vary according to the resources utilised by the service's current clients.

A non-zero value for ServiceAvailability does not guarantee that the service will be available for use. It should be treated as a hint or an approximation of availability status.

5.1.10 BluetoothProfileDescriptorList Attribute

Attribute Name	Attribute ID	Attribute Value Type
BluetoothProfileDescriptorList	0x0009	Data Element Sequence

Description:

The BluetoothProfileDescriptorList attribute consists of a data element sequence in which each element is a profile descriptor that contains information about a Bluetooth profile to which the service represented by this service record conforms. Each profile descriptor is a data element sequence whose

page 364 of 1082

Service Discovery Protocol

Bluetooth.

first element is the UUID assigned to the profile and whose second element is a 16-bit profile version number.

Each version of a profile is assigned a 16-bit unsigned integer profile version number, which consists of two 8-bit fields. The higher-order 8 bits contain the major version number field and the lower-order 8 bits contain the minor version number field. The initial version of each profile has a major version of 1 and a minor version of 0. When upward compatible changes are made to the profile, the minor version number will be incremented. If incompatible changes are made to the profile, the major version number will be incremented.

5.1.11 DocumentationURL Attribute

Attribute Name	Attribute ID	Attribute Value Type
DocumentationURL	0x000A	URL

Description:

This attribute is a URL which points to documentation on the service described by a service record.

5.1.12 ClientExecutableURL Attribute

Attribute Name	Attribute ID	Attribute Value Type
ClientExecutableURL	0x000B	URL

Description:

This attribute contains a URL that refers to the location of an application that may be used to utilize the service described by the service record. Since different operating environments require different executable formats, a mechanism has been defined to allow this single attribute to be used to locate an executable that is appropriate for the client device's operating environment. In the attribute value URL, the first byte with the value 0x2A (ASCII character '*') is to be replaced by the client application with a string representing the desired operating environment before the URL is to be used.

The list of standardized strings representing operating environments is contained in the Bluetooth Assigned Numbers document.

For example, assume that the value of the ClientExecutableURL attribute is http://my.fake/public/*/client.exe. On a device capable of executing SH3 WindowsCE files, this URL would be changed to http://my.fake/public/sh3microsoft-wince/client.exe. On a device capable of executing Windows 98 binaries, this URL would be changed to http://my.fake/public/i86-microsoftwin98/client.exe.

page 365 of 1082

Service Discovery Protocol

Bluetooth.

5.1.13 IconURL Attribute

Attribute Name	Attribute ID	Attribute Value Type
IconURL	0x000C	URL

Description:

This attribute contains a URL that refers to the location of an icon that may be used to represent the service described by the service record. Since different hardware devices require different icon formats, a mechanism has been defined to allow this single attribute to be used to locate an icon that is appropriate for the client device. In the attribute value URL, the first byte with the value 0x2A (ASCII character '*') is to be replaced by the client application with a string representing the desired icon format before the URL is to be used.

The list of standardized strings representing icon formats is contained in the Bluetooth Assigned Numbers document.

For example, assume that the value of the IconURL attribute is http://my.fake/ public/icons/*. On a device that prefers 24 x 24 icons with 256 colors, this URL would be changed to http://my.fake/public/icons/24x24x8.png. On a device that prefers 10 x 10 monochrome icons, this URL would be changed to http:// my.fake/public/icons/10x10x1.png.

5.1.14 ServiceName Attribute

Attribute Name	Attribute ID Offset	Attribute Value Type	
ServiceName	0x0000	String	

Description:

The ServiceName attribute is a string containing the name of the service represented by a service record. It should be brief and suitable for display with an Icon representing the service. The offset 0x0000 must be added to the attribute ID base (contained in the LanguageBaseAttributeIDList attribute) in order to compute the attribute ID for this attribute.

page 366 of 1082

Service Discovery Protocol

Bluetooth.

5.1.15 ServiceDescription Attribute

Attribute Name	Attribute ID Offset	Attribute Value Type	
ServiceDescription	0x0001	String	

Description:

This attribute is a string containing a brief description of the service. It should be less than 200 characters in length. The offset 0x0001 must be added to the attribute ID base (contained in the LanguageBaseAttributeIDList attribute) in order to compute the attribute ID for this attribute.

5.1.16 ProviderName Attribute

Attribute Name	Attribute ID Offset	Attribute Value Type	
ProviderName	0x0002	String	

Description:

This attribute is a string containing the name of the person or organization providing the service. The offset 0x0002 must be added to the attribute ID base (contained in the LanguageBaseAttributeIDList attribute) in order to compute the attribute ID for this attribute.

5.1.17 Reserved Universal Attribute IDs

Attribute IDs in the range of 0x000D-0x01FF are reserved.

Service Discovery Protocol

Bluetooth.

5.2 SERVICEDISCOVERYSERVER SERVICE CLASS ATTRIBUTE DEFINITIONS

This service class describes service records that contain attributes of service discovery server itself. The attributes listed in this section are only valid if the ServiceClassIDList attribute contains the

ServiceDiscoveryServerServiceClassID. Note that all of the universal attributes may be included in service records of the ServiceDiscoveryServer class.

5.2.1 ServiceRecordHandle Attribute

Described in the universal attribute definition for ServiceRecordHandle.

Value

A 32-bit integer with the value 0x000000000.

5.2.2 ServiceClassIDList Attribute

Described in the universal attribute definition for ServiceClassIDList.

Value

A UUID representing the ServiceDiscoveryServerServiceClassID.

5.2.3 VersionNumberList Attribute

Attribute Name	Attribute ID	Attribute Value Type
VersionNumberList	0x0200	Data Element Sequence

Description:

The VersionNumberList is a data element sequence in which each element of the sequence is a version number supported by the SDP server.

A version number is a 16-bit unsigned integer consisting of two fields. The higher-order 8 bits contain the major version number field and the low-order 8 bits contain the minor version number field. The initial version of SDP has a major version of 1 and a minor version of 0. When upward compatible changes are made to the protocol, the minor version number will be incremented. If incompatible changes are made to SDP, the major version number will be incremented. This guarantees that if a client and a server support a common major version number, they can communicate if each uses only features of the specification with a minor version number that is supported by both client and server.

Service Discovery Protocol

Bluetooth.

5.2.4 ServiceDatabaseState Attribute

Attribute Name	Attribute ID	Attribute Value Type
ServiceDatabaseState	0x0201	32-bit unsigned integer

Description:

The ServiceDatabaseState is a 32-bit integer that is used to facilitate caching of service records. If this attribute exists, its value is guaranteed to change when any of the other service records are added to or deleted from the server's database. If this value has not changed since the last time a client queried its value, the client knows that a) none of the other service records maintained by the SDP server have been added or deleted; and b) any service record handles acquired from the server are still valid. A client should query this attribute's value when a connection to the server is established, prior to using any service record handles acquired during a previous connection.

Note that the ServiceDatabaseState attribute does not change when existing service records are modified, including the addition, removal, or modification of service attributes. A service record's ServiceRecordState attribute indicates when that service record is modified.

5.2.5 Reserved Attribute IDs

Attribute IDs in the range of 0x0202-0x02FF are reserved.

page 369 of 1082

Service Discovery Protocol

Bluetooth.

5.3 BROWSEGROUPDESCRIPTOR SERVICE CLASS ATTRIBUTE DEFINITIONS

This service class describes the ServiceRecord provided for each Browse-GroupDescriptor service offered on a Bluetooth device. The attributes listed in this section are only valid if the ServiceClassIDList attribute contains the BrowseGroupDescriptorServiceClassID. Note that all of the universal attributes may be included in service records of the BrowseGroupDescriptor class.

5.3.1 ServiceClassIDList Attribute

Described in the universal attribute definition for ServiceClassIDList.

Value

A UUID representing the BrowseGroupDescriptorServiceClassID.

5.3.2 GroupID Attribute

Attribute Name	Attribute ID	Attribute Value Type
GroupID	0x0200	UUID

Description:

This attribute contains a UUID that can be used to locate services that are members of the browse group that this service record describes.

5.3.3 Reserved Attribute IDs

Attribute IDs in the range of 0x0201-0x02FF are reserved.

page 370 of 1082

Service Discovery Protocol

Bluetooth.

APPENDIX A – BACKGROUND INFORMATION

A.1. Service Discovery

As computing continues to move to a network-centric model, finding and making use of services that may be available in the network becomes increasingly important. Services can include common ones such as printing, paging, FAXing, and so on, as well as various kinds of information access such as teleconferencing, network bridges and access points, eCommerce facilities, and so on — most any kind of service that a server or service provider might offer. In addition to the need for a standard way of discovering available services, there are other considerations: getting access to the services (finding and obtaining the protocols, access methods, "drivers" and other code necessary to utilize the service), controlling access to the services, advertising the services, choosing among competing services, billing for services, and so on. This problem is widely recognized; many companies, standards bodies and consortia are addressing it at various levels in various ways. Service Location Protocol (SLP), JiniTM, and SalutationTM, to name just a few, all address some aspect of service discovery.

A.2. Bluetooth Service Discovery

Bluetooth Service Discovery Protocol (SDP) addresses service discovery specifically for the Bluetooth environment. It is optimized for the highly dynamic nature of Bluetooth communications. SDP focuses primarily on discovering services available from or through Bluetooth devices. SDP does not define methods for accessing services; once services are discovered with SDP, they can be accessed in various ways, depending upon the service. This might include the use of other service discovery and access mechanisms such as those mentioned above; SDP provides a means for other protocols to be used along with SDP in those environments where this can be beneficial. While SDP can coexist with other service discovery protocols, it does not require them. In Bluetooth environments, services can be discovered using SDP and can be accessed using other protocols defined by Bluetooth.

370

29 November 1999

page 371 of 1082

Service Discovery Protocol

Bluetooth.

APPENDIX B – EXAMPLE SDP TRANSACTIONS

The following are simple examples of typical SDP transactions. These are meant to be illustrative of SDP flows. The examples do not consider:

- Caching (in a caching system, the SDP client would make use of the ServiceRecordState and ServiceDatabaseState attributes);
- Service availability (if this is of interest, the SDP client should use the ServiceAvailability and/or ServiceTimeToLive attributes);
- SDP versions (the VersionNumberList attribute could be used to determine compatible SDP versions);
- SDP Error Responses (an SDP error response is possible for any SDP request that is in error); and
- Communication connection (the examples assume that an L2CAP connection is established).

The examples are meant to be illustrative of the protocol. The format used is ObjectName[ObjectSizeInBytes] {SubObjectDefinitions}, but this is not meant to illustrate an interface. The ObjectSizeInBytes is the size of the object in decimal. The SubObjectDefinitions (inside of {} characters) are components of the immediately enclosing object. Hexadecimal values shown as lower-case letters, such as for transaction IDs and service handles, are variables (the particular value is not important for the illustration, but each such symbol always represents the same value). Comments are included in this manner: /* comment text */.

B.1. SDP Example 1 – ServiceSearchRequest

The first example is that of an SDP client searching for a generic printing service. The client does not specify a particular type of printing service. In the example, the SDP server has two available printing services. The transaction illustrates:

- 1. SDP client to SDP server: SDP_ServiceSearchRequest, specifying the PrinterServiceClassID (represented as a DataElement with a 32-bit UUID value of ppp...ppp) as the only element of the ServiceSearchPattern. The PrinterServiceClassID is assumed to be a 32-bit UUID and the data element type for it is illustrated. The TransactionID is illustrated as tttt.
- SDP server to SDP client: SDP_ServiceSearchResponse, returning handles to two printing services, represented as qqqqqqqq for the first printing service and rrrrrrr for the second printing service. The Transaction ID is the same value as supplied by the SDP client in the corresponding request (trtt).

```
/* Sent from SDP Client to SDP server */
SDP_ServiceSearchRequest[15] {
    PDUID[1] {
```

Appendix

29 November 1999

371

page 372 of 1082

```
Bluetooth.
```

```
Service Discovery Protocol
```

```
0x02
 3
  TransactionID[2] {
   Oxtttt
 ParameterLength[2] {
    A000x0
 ServiceSearchPattern[7]
   DataElementSequence[7] {
     0b00110 0b101 0x05
     UUID[5] {
       /* PrinterServiceClassID */
        0b00011 0b010 0xpppppppp
  3
 MaximumServiceRecordCount[2] {
   0x0003
 3
 ContinuationState[1] {
   /* no continuation state */
   0x00
/* Sent from SDP server to SDP client */
SDP ServiceSearchResponse[16] {
  PDUID[1] {
    0x03
  1
  TransactionID[2] {
   Oxtttt
  ParameterLength[2] {
   0x000D
 TotalServiceRecordCount[2] {
 0x0002
  3
 CurrentServiceRecordCount[2] {
    0x0002
 ServiceRecordHandleList[8] {
   /* print service 1 handle */
   0xdddddddd
    /* print service 2 handle */
   Oxrrrrrrrr
 ContinuationState[1] {
   /* no continuation state */
   0x00
```

Service Discovery Protocol

Bluetooth.

B.2. SDP Example 2 – ServiceAttributeTransaction

The second example continues the first example. In Example 1, the SDP client obtained handles to two printing services. In Example 2, the client uses one of those service handles to obtain the ProtocolDescriptorList attribute for that printing service. The transaction illustrates:

- SDP client to SDP server: SDP_ServiceAttributeRequest, presenting the previously obtained service handle (the one denoted as qqqqqqqq) and specifying the ProtocolDescriptorList attribute ID (AttributeID 0x0004) as the only attribute requested (other attributes could be retrieved in the same transaction if desired). The TransactionID is illustrated as uuuu to distinguish it from the TransactionID of Example 1.
- 2. SDP server to SDP client: SDP_ServiceAttributeResponse, returning the ProtocolDescriptorList for the specified printing service. This protocol stack is assumed to be ((L2CAP), (RFCOMM, 2), (PostscriptStream)). The ProtocolDescriptorList is a data element sequence in which each element is, in turn, a data element sequence whose first element is a UUID representing the protocol, and whose subsequent elements are protocol-specific parameters. In this example, one such parameter is included for the RFCOMM protocol, an 8-bit value indicating RFCOMM server channel 2. The Transaction ID is the same value as supplied by the SDP client in the corresponding request (uuuu). The Attributes returned are illustrated as a data element sequence where the protocol descriptors are 32-bit UUIDs and the RFCOMM server channel is a data element with an 8-bit value of 2.

```
/* Sent from SDP Client to SDP server */
SDP ServiceAttributeRequest[17] {
 PDUID[1] (
    0x04
 TransactionID[2]
    0xuuuu
  ParameterLength[2] {
    0x000C
 ServiceRecordHandle[4]
    Dxqqqqqqqq
 MaximumAttributeByteCount[2]
    0x0080
 AttributeIDList[5] {
   DataElementSequence[5]
     0b00110 0b101 0x03
     AttributeID[3] {
        0b00001 0b001 0x0004
```

373

29 November 1999

page 374 of 1082

Service Discovery Protocol

```
Bluetooth.
```

```
ContinuationState[1] {
   /* no continuation state */
   0x00
/* Sent from SDP server to SDP client */
SDP ServiceAttributeResponse[36] (
  PDUID[1] {
   0x05
 TransactionID[2] {
   Oxuuuu
 ParameterLength[2] (
   0x0021
 AttributeListByteCount[2] {
   0x001E
 AttributeList[30] {
   DataElementSequence[30] {
     0b00110 0b101 0x1C
     Attribute[28] {
       AttributeID[3] {
         0b00001 0b001 0x0004
        AttributeValue[25] {
         /* ProtocolDescriptorList */
         DataElementSequence[25] {
          0b00110 0b101 0x17
           /* L2CAP protocol descriptor */
           DataElementSequence[7] {
              0b00110 0b101 0x05
             UUID[5] {
               /* L2CAP Protocol UUID */
               0b00011 0b010 <32-bit L2CAP UUID>
            /* RFCOMM protocol descriptor */
           DataElementSequence[9] {
            0b00110 0b101 0x07
            UUID[5] {
               /* RFCOMM Protocol UUID */
               Ob00011 Ob010 <32-bit RFCOMM UUID>
             /* parameter for server 2 */
             Uint8[2] {
               0b00001 0b000 0x02
            /* PostscriptStream protocol descriptor */
            DataElementSequence[7] {
              0b00110 0b101 0x05
              UUID[5] {
               /* PostscriptStream Protocol UUID */
               0b00011 0b010 <32-bit PostscriptStream UUID>
```

29 November 1999

page 375 of 1082

Bluetooth.



Appendix

29 November 1999